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Presentation of financiat intarmatian

The financial staternents for the year ended

31 March 2022 have been prepared on Lhe historical
cost basis, except for the revaluation of properties,
investmentis classified as fair value thraugh prodit

or lpss and derivatives. The financial statements
are prepared in accordance with UK-adopled
tnternational Accounting Standards and the relevant
legal requirements of the Companies Act 20048
I'{FRS'). On 31 December 2020 EU-adopled IFRS
was brought into UK law and became UX-adopted
International Accounting $tandards., with future
changes 10 IFRS being subject 1o endorsement by
the UK Endarsement 8oard. The consotidated
financial statements have transitioned {o UK-
adopted international Accounting Standards far the
year ended 31 March 2022, This change conslitutes
a change in accounting {framework. However, there
is ngimpacton recngnilionl measurement or
disclosure in the year reparted as a result of the
change in framewark. In the cucrent financial year

the Graup has adopted a number of minar
amendments to standards effective in the year
issued by the IASB, none of which have had a
materialimpact on the Group. The accounting
policies used are olherwise consistant with those
contained in the Group's previous Annual Report
and Accaunts for the year ended 31 March 2021
The Group’s inferests in joint ventures and funds
ara shown a5 a single Une item on the income
statement and balance sheet and all subsidiaries
are consolidated at 100%.

Managemeni considers thg business pringipalty
on 3 proportionatly consolidated basis when selting
the strategy. determining annual prianties, making
investment and financing decisions and reviewing
performance. This includes (he Groug's share of
joint ventures and funds on a line-by-line basis and
excludes non-controlling interests in the Group's
subsidizries. The financial key performance
indicators are also presented o this basis. Reler
to the Financial review for a discussion of the IFRS

results, We supplement cyr IFRS figures with
non-GAAR measures, which management uses
internally. IFRS measures are \abealled as such.
See our supplementary disciosures which start

on page 233 for reconolialions, in zddition to Nale 2
in the financial statements and the glossary tound
a3t brivshland comfglessary.

integrated reparting

We inlegrate social and environmental information
throughaut this Report in line with the international
Integrated Reporting Framewark. This reflects

how our industry-leading sustainability strategy

15 inlegrated inta our business, delivering lasting
value for all our stakeholders. We publish additionat
sotial and environmental dala in our Susltainability !
Accounts found at britishland.com/data.

This Report was signed off by the Board

on 7 May 2022,
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Places People Prefer

Our purpose is to create and manage outstanding
places which deliver positive outcomes for all our
stakeholders on a long term, sustainable basis.

We do this by understanding the evolving needs
of the people and the organisations who use
our places, and the communities who live
arcund them.

The deep connections we create between our
customers, communities, partners and people
help our places to thrive.

Visit britishiand.com for mere information




2022 KEY FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Financial highlights

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Underlying EPS Idiluted) Underlying Profit EPRA NTA per share Dividend per share
2021:18.8p 2021: £201m 202): 648p 2021:15.04p
IFRS EPS IFRS profit after tax \FRS net assets ts under q nt

103.3p

2021: (1112l

£960m

2023: €61,083Im

“Operational highlights —

£6,733m

2021 €5.983m

$14.3b

2021:£12.70n

"Stakeholder outcomes

39m sq ft

leasing activity

Qur strangest performance in
10 years

1.7m sq ft

cammitted davelepments

including 585,000 sq ft
at Canada Water

14.8%

total accouniting return

Driven by the EPRA NTA per
share uplift of 12.2%

23.949

beneficiaries fromour
community activities

Focused on education,
employment, local business,
wellbeing and connecting local
people and organisations

6.8%

valuation gain across
the portfolio

Oriven by an uplilt of 20.7%
in retail parks and 11.7% in
Campus developments

$£1.3bn

gross development value of
urban logistics pipeline

Assembled in 12 months

632

kg CO,e per sqm
average embadied carbonin

office developments

Prioritising re-use of existing
materials and pilating more
sustainable alternatves

£2.2bn

capital activity

Including £290m from Canada
Water and £694m from
Paddington Centrat

{post year endi

A

senjor unsecured credit rating

With E1.1bn of financing activily
during the year

2 British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022

5-star
GRESB rating

Including a 5 star rating in both
standing assels and
developments

69%

staff engagement score

With 83% recommending
British Land as a place to work
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Reasons to invest in British Land

Focus on value creation

We focus on opportunities where we can leverage our competitive
strengths in active asset management and development to create
value. We identify key themes in our markets and invest behind
them. To do this, we make timely decisians to recycle capital out of
matyre assets and into developrinent and value accretive acquisitions.

Read ahout our Strategy an pages 16-27

Attractive development pipeline

We have created a strong pipeline of development epportunities
within gur portfolio which is a key driver of value creation. The totat
pipeline covers 11.4m sq ft including 5m sq ft at Canada Water, a
E£5.6bn redevelopment scheme, and 2.8m sq f1 of

opportunities with a gross development value of

Read more about our developments on pages 20-21

Strong balance sheet

Qur teverage is low and we benefit from a diverse and ftexible
pool of finance. Our dividend is set as a percentage of Underlying
Earnings per share; this provides further flexibility, enabling us
te make timely decisions on asset disposals, providing capital

to progress our strategy.

Read about our financial policies and principles an pages §1-83

Best in class platform

Qur expertise acrass development and active asset management,
including masterplanning, sustainability, leasing, property
management and our ability to work in partnership enables
pivot towards areas of growth in aur markets and means
unlock value from the most complex opportunities.

Read about our peaple on page 17 and pages 35-37

Excellent ESG track record

Sustzinability is ingrained in everything we do. Environmental
considerations are an important part of our decision making
process as we seek to minimise our carbon footprint. We forge
streng relationships with our local communities and autharities
and have a good track record of creating opportunities for local
people at our places. This is an important driver of value for

Read about our pipeline of developments on pages 20-21 and our decision
making process on page 100

British Land Annual Repori and Accounts 2022 3



REASONS TO INVEST IN BRITISH LAND continued

Canada Water:
our investment
case in action

Focus on value
creation

The Canada Water Masterplan will create
an estimated £2bn of value for the jaint
venture by the time it completes in 2030.
We have been planning this 53 acre
redevelopment project since 2013 and this
year, to accelerate its delivery, we formed
a joint venture with AustralianSuper who
share our vision for the Masterplan

Read abaul our strategy on pages 16-27

image is a CGI
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Best in class
platform

Our expertise across investment,

planning, development, assel management,
sustainability and financing makes us a
preferred partner for institutional capitat,
helping us to attract AustralianSuger to

the scheme, We will continue to use our
platform to develop and manage the
Masterptan an behalf of the joint venture

Read about our people on pages 17 and 35-37



Attractive
development pipeline

Our strong pipeline of opportunities at
Canada Water will be a key driver of value
creation. We are on site with Phase 1 of
our Masterplan but have identified a
further 4.5m sq it of mixed yse
development oppartunities.

Read more about our developments on
pages 20-21

Excellent ESG
track record

Understanding the environmental impacl
of our buildings is ingrained in what we do.
At Canada Water, we are piloting more
sustainable building materiats such as
Earth Friendly Concrete to minimise our
carhon emissions in ling with our 2030
Sustainability strategy. Qur strong track
record of cammunity engagement was key
to achieving planning for this scheme and
we continue to support local people for
example through affordable space, helping
young entrepreneurs grow their business.

Read about our pipaline af developments on
pages 20-21 and our decision making process
on pages 100

The British Land Company PLC 0042192

Strong balance
sheet

The sale of 50% of our interest in the
Canada Water Masterplan has released
capital to progress our strategy. As

we prioritise developrnent, working in
partnership is an impartant part of our
approach to managing risk as well as
providing access to new opportunities.

Read about eur financial policies and principles
on pages 8i-83

British Land Appual Report ang Accounts 2022
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OUR PORTFOLIO

Kknowtedge Cuarter

Haxton & Shoreditch

The British Land Carnpany PLE 00621920

Broadgate

B Ferigs cos e toeion 32 acre office-led
tation :
Campus adjacent
Regent's Place 51 Bancras to Li-fer onlt
13 acre office-led Siation siti 5y ISPE "
Campus in London’s [ O busuare a l"’“h" N reet Station
Knowledge Quarter Aegenr's Statign Toch balt oundabey
Fark Warren Gld Streer
e} o]
Efguare Street Farngdon Shoreditch
Road [} @  HighSueet [e)
Pagdingion O o]
Staiion Fhe Wast End Mocrgai
Q= Bond Creativa hub eargaie G (8]
Streai = E
=] I'e) Tclfen;:m The tity Liverpoal S
Daford Sohe Court Road Sieeat Siatian i
Circus Blackiriars
Mayfair o ©
Piccadilly
Circas $
& o]
o
&
South Bank
Canada Water ¢
Masterplan 0

11 acre office-led
Campus close ta
Paddington Station

We provide world class Campuses
where people and businesses
can thrive,

Cur Campuses comtine well cannected,
high quality and sustainable buildings
with an aitractive public realm where
businasses can cluster together tp
drive growth and innovation.

We are delivering a fourth Campus
at Canada Water and have identified
opportynities to take this successful

. modet gutside London, targeting centres
of innovation such as Oxford, Cambridge
and well established research parks.

We create value Ihrough developrment and
have assembled an B.6m sq ft develapment
pipeline across our Campuses, with 1.7m,
sq ft already committed.

[ British Land Annual Repart and Accounts 2022

53 acre redevelopment
scheme in zone 2

§.6m sq ft pipeline of Campus developments

Priestley Centre. Surrey
Research Park

2-3 Finsbury Avenue. Canada Water

Broadgate

Some images are CGls

Read mare about our strategy on pages 16-27



Retail & Fulfilment

Our Retail & Fulfilment

peortiolic focuses on formats which
complement the growth of online.
A key focus is urban logistics in London.
In 12 months we have assembled a
develcpment-led pipetine of apportunitivs
wilh a gross development valve of £1.3bn
which align to our expertise in delivering
complex projects in Lendan.

This complements our retail parks business
where we are the UK no. 1 owner and
operator in the sector which has emerged
as the preferred format for retalers.

Qur portfolic of shopping centres includes
well located apen air schemes, as well as
traditional-covered centres—mme —_

Portfolio highlights -~

$£14.3bn

managed assets

£10.5bn

owned assets

22.2m

5q ft of floor space

£458m

annualised rent

11.4m

sq ft development pipeline

$£1.3bn

gross development value of
Urban logistics pipeline

! Traditional covered
schemes

Open air schemes

primarily retail parks

Pipetine urban
logistics

Innovation Campuses

opportunity

United Kingdom

The British Land Cempany PLC 00621920

Retail & Fulfilment
A madern, well located
UK network

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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HOW WE BELIVER VALUE The British Land Campany PLC 00621720

Qur purpose is to create and
Places manage Places People Prefer
People

Prefer

Our inputs —> Our competitive strengths —>
in development and active
asset management

People

- Breadth and depth of our expertise

- Diverse and inclusive environment

- Culture of teamwork and collaboration

Portfolio
e e e el Well.connected, high quality Londan Camguses
~ Prime portiolio of well (ocated retail parks
- Altractive development pipeline focused on
Campuses and urban logistics in London

Relationships

- Close customer relationships _ i n
- Successiyl joint venture partnerships Operations &
- Sirong links with local communities placemaking

- Trusted partner for local autharities
- Goaod relationships with key suppliers

Financial strength

- Strong balance sheet

- Diverse and flexible saurces of finance

- Successful partnerships which mitigate risk

Our values underpin everything we do:

Bring your Listen and Be smarter Build for
whole self understand together the future

& British Land Aanval Report and Accounts 2622
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Delivering value for
our stakeholders

Investors

We larget an average toial accounting
return [TAR} of 8-10% through the cycle by
focusing our capital en opportunities which
levarage our skill set in asset management
and development to create value,

14.8% TAR
People

Woe creale a diverse andg inclusive
environment which enables our people
to achieve their potential. Our portfolio
includes some of the mosi exciting
opporiunities in real esiate, enabling us
to attract the best talent in the industry.

[69%

engagement score

Customers

We deliver great places that help our
cuslomers to thrive. We provide themn
with the flexibitity to grow with us and
are a trusted partner for the long term.

39m sq ft

leasing

Source growth &
value opportunities
We focus on opperiunities
where we can create value
through our strengths in
asset management and
development. We pursue
value accrelive acquisitions
in the market and create
development cpportunities
within our portfolio.

Actively manage

& develop

We provide high quality,
madern and sustainable
space which we manage
ourselves to respond to
customers’ needs. We
provide the flexibility for
customers to grow with us
and we redevelop our space
1e drive incremental returns.
All our developments are
net zero carbon,

Recycle capital

We actively recycle capitat
out of mature assels and
into appartunities where

we can create value through
development and asset
management. We work

with parkners to mitigate
financial risk and access the
best opportunities and we
supplement returns with
management fees from
joint projects.

Sustainability

Sustainability is ingrained in everything we do. Qur strang track record in enviranmental
and social sustainability drives value for our business and delivers positive outcomes for

aur stakeholders.

Read about aur strategy on pages 16-27

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Communities

We deliver places which connect local people,
create opportunities and suppark wellbeing
to make a positive local contributicn.

354

supparted into employment

Partners & suppliers

We develop long term relationships with
suppliers, local authorities and partners
1o daliver projecls which are successful
for all stakeholders.

71%
main contractor spend within local
London baroughs

Read about our stakeholders on pages 32-34



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Tim Score
Chairman

Our strategy, focused on our
competitive strengths, has
delivered strong returns

for our business

“Qur platform at British Land
is unique”

Dear Shareholders

One year ago, our Chief Execulive. Simon
Carter, sel ow 2 clear strategy to focus
our business cn what British Land does
best - development and active asset
management. Our platform at British

Land is unigue: we have delivered some

of the highest qualily and most complex
davelopments in London and we have 2
full suite of aperational capabilities ranging
from investiment to planning, developrnent,
asset management and sustainatilily.
These are strong competitive advantages
which we align to growth areas in

our markets.

10 British Land Aanuval Report and Accaunts 2022
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Strategic and operational
progress

The oppartunities which currently best
match our sirengths include delivering the
best, most sustainable workspace into a
market that s gravitating towards gualily.
Our Campus model. which combines
modern, susfainable workspace with
engaging places to spend time outside

the office is a key advantage in this respeci,
underpinning a record year for leasing.
Building on this approach, this year we have
acquired our hirst Camnpus assets aulside
London, where we see a real opportunity

to deliver a sirmilar propesition in markets
where supply is very consirained.

We have also targeted opportunities in
urban togistics, where aur ability to develop
complex schemes means we ¢an unlack
valua by repurposing or intensifying exisling
butldings which athers may be unable to do.
From a sianding siart, our urban logistics
pipeline is now £1.3bn in gross development
value and 15 fecused on Londan,

We anticipated retail parks would become
the preferred format for retailers and
coniinued to imvest in and to actively
manage these assets, which have
delivered 20.7% uplift over the year.



Under pinning our approach is an active
programme of capital recycling. We agreed
a jeint venture at Canada Water with
AustralianSuper, enabling us 1o accelerate
the delivery of our Masterplan, enhancing
aur returns but also helping ta manage the
risk associated with a project of this scale.
Post year end, we sold a 75% interestin
the majerity of our assets al Paddington
Central, creating a new joinl venture where
we have joint control and releasing capital
lo target growth opporlunities elsewhere.
Qverall, our approach has delivered 2 total
accounting return of 14.8%.

Supporting Ukraine

To support these affected by the war
tn Ukraine wa donated £25,000 tc the
Disaster Emergency Committea which
included matching personal donations
from pur peapie. We also donated
£5,000 1o the Wkrainian Cathedral in
Marylebone, ¢close to our head office.

Al Paddington Ceniral, we pledged
£30.000 fundging for a scheme ta
support the Ukrainian Institute setting
up an English Language Schooal for
refugees and have donated space Lo
host classrooms at Storey Club. At a
numbper of assets, we have rolled out
specilic QR codes to enable people ic
make donations to the British Red
Cross easity.

Continued focus on ESG

Despite the disruptians of the pandemic, we
have maintained our focus on sustainability.
We delivered our second net zero carbon .
developrent at 1 Triton Square and are on
site at Canada Water, which will be one of
London’s most sustainable redevelopment
projects ever. | continue (o believe that
sustainability represents a real competitive
advantage for our business: we ran

‘whole {ife’ carbon assessments on

cur developments long before that was
standard practice and we are now reaping
the benefit as mare and more businesses
want sustainabte space. You can read more
about this appreach on pages 38-59.

On the standing portfolio. we have
completed net zero assel audits al our
{argest assets and have a clear plan to
improve efficiency building by building.
On pages 4%-59 we have provided full

disclosure on the climate-related risks and

opportunities for our business, in line with
TCFD requirements and the implications of
the scenario testing are being inlegrated
within our tong term strategic planning.

On the scaial side, our programmes have
continued to facus an Lthose who have

been impacted by Covid-19. One of gur
strongest social contributions is connecting
customers with community partners,
because they have a real willingness and
abitily to provide support in key areas like
educatian, employment and local business.

The British Land Company PLC 00421520

The community funds we launched at
Broadgate and Paddington, funded and
led by our customers, are testament

to that. This year we also launched the
New Diarama Theatre at Broadgate, with
20,000 sq ft of Iree space for arlistic use,
supporting the recavery of the arts and
encouraging people to return to London
post pandemic.

Qur people

Qur strategy is facused on our competitive
strengths, so our people are critical to its
success. We know that te be most effective,
we need o cultivate a truly diverse and
inclusive culture, so this year we launched
our Diversity, Equality & Inclusion Strategy,
setling cut cemmitments to drive this
agenda at British [Land between now and
2030; you can read more about this on
pages 35-37. | was pleased that this

year we ranked 15" in the FTSE Women
Leaders Review for women on boards and in
leadership posilions and we have exceeded
the recommendatians ¢n Soard diversity
made by the Parker Review.

As the impact of Covid-19 has continued
throughout the year, the wellbeing of our
penple has been our priority and we have
an established framework to suppart this,
focusing on mental health. We have been
delighted ta see our own office return to
life, Like our occupiers, we believe that
physically working together is critical to
our success and we are already seeing
the benefit of that,

Broadgate

We are delighted that
1 Broadgate is fully
let for placed under
option], four years
ahead of completion.
The strang
suslainability
credentials of this
building ware a key
tactor in attracting
occupiers JLL and
Allen & Overy

Image is a CGI
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT continued

Financial position

Our strong financial position has supported
our strategy, enabling us toinvestin
opporiunities which will create long term
value far our busingss. Ta maintain this
momentum, we are actively recycling
capital out of mature assets, moest recently
crystallising £494m of value from the part
sale of Paddinglon Central post year end,
which reduced loan te value to 28.4%

lon 2 pro forma basisl.

Development is a key driver of returns and
central (o our strategy, but we take a very
measured approach to new commitments.
1n addition to focusing on areas of sirength,
we increasingly work in partnership te

share rish and access the best opgortunilies,

with new joint ventures agreed at Canada
Water and post year end, at Paddinglon.
We act quickly (o fix developmeni cosis
and have benelfited from this in the current
environment, with $1% of committed __
development costs atready fixed. Our
strang relationships with contractars,
built up ever many years also position

us well on our future cammitments,

We were alse pleased that our debt
transaction for 100 Liverpoot Street has
been voted Financing Deal of the Year:
UK by Real Estate Capital Europe. This
was our first "Green Loan” and an
exceilent precedent.

Peterhouse
'[ech nology Park

B.25 acre site just
outside Cambridge
centre comprising four
buildings which are
fully let to ARM for its
global headquarters.
Acquired for £75m.

12

The Board

This year we strengthened our Board with
twa new appointments. Bhavesh Mistry
joined the Board as CFO from Tesco in July
2021 and we are already benefiting fram the
fresh parspective he brings to our business,
We were alse delighted Lo welcome Mark
Aedy Lo the Board in September 2021,

Micholas Macpherson has decided not Lo
seek re-etection at the AGM in July 2022 at
the canclusion of which he will stand down.
Nicholas has served with distinction on the
Board since 2016 and we thank fnm for his
valuable contributions.

Outlook

We have made strong pregress in the
tirst year af our stralegy and have clearly
eslablished the building blocks which will
create value going forward.

We have laid the feundations to take

" aurCarpus madel outside 1Griddn with
acquisilions in Cambridge and Guildford,
and continue to assess similar opportunities
in established hubs of innovation. We have
assembled 2 significani pipeline in urban
logistics and our expertise in complex
development and asset managemeni
pasitions us well ta build on this. In addition,
our platferm provides an excelient base
from which ia embark on new opporiunities;
at Canada Water, for example. we have the
scope to do that, with education, heatthcare
and residential all exciting potential
growth markets

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Hawever, we are very aware that global
events and their repercussions in our
markels pose a potential challenge for us.
Escalating prices impact our occupiers,
consumers and our own development
aciivily. We are taking actions ta iitigate
these risks and (ooking farward, we benefit
fram very strong relationiships throughout
oyr supply chain,

We have assembled some highly compelling
opporiunities across our business. We have
the financal strength to deliver on these
and the skill sel [o do so exceplionally well,
so we look forward with confidence. On
behalf of the Board. | would like to extend
my thanks o the whole British Land team
far the huge contribution they have made
this year, which an¢e again, has often been
achieved in challenging circumstances.

Tim Score
Non-Execulive Chairman

Read our Chairman’s intraduclion to corporale
governance on page 97



- CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Simon Carter
Chief Exacutive

Delivery against strategy
driving strong performance

We have a clear strategy io exploit our
compelitive strengths in active management
and sustainable development to drive value
for our shareholders across our Campuses,
Retail Parks and London Urban Logistics.
Cur platform makes us the partner of
choice for institutionzal investors, enabling
us ta recycle capital, earn fees and
crystallise returns. The success of this
approach is reflected in the strength of
our leasing, where our Campus model

is an important differentiator, and by the
exceptional performance of our Retail
Parks. In Urban Logistics. we have
assembled a development pipeline over
the lask year wilh a gross development
value of £1.3bn focused in London where
the market dynamics are very favourable.
Our strategy and operational perfermance
has delivered a totat accaunting return of
14.8% for the year.

Operational performance

Campus leasing activity was strong at 1.7m
s5q ft of lettings and renewals, 5.4% abead
of ERV. This includes letting or placing
under option atl the cffice space at our

1 Broadgate development, securing £13.7m
of renl. Post year end, we were pleased to
have placed a further 103,008 sq ft under
affer at aur Norton Folgate development.
representing another £7.5m of rent. Today,
businesses have high expectations for
their workspace with demand focused

on the best space, with an emphasis on
susiainability, wellness, shared and [lexible
space and excellent transport connections.
Qur Campus model delivers against these
customer demands making it the premier
office portfolio across Londen, Campuses
were up 5.4% invalue, driven by our
successful teasing activity ang

inwards yietd shift of 11bps,

The British Land Campany PLC 00521920

In Retail & Fulfilment, lettings and renewals
covered 2.2m sq fi of space, including 1.5m
sq ft of lang term deats, overall 2.8% ahead
of ERV. Retail Parks, where we are the UK
number 1 owner and operater, accounted
for 60% of that activity. They are the
preferred farmat for retailers, reflecting
their anline channel compatibility and
affordability, underpinning improved
occupational demand. As a result,

Retail Parks delivered 151 bps of yield
compression, driving values up 20.7%.

This performance is a streng endorsement
of the value proposition we identified

early, following which we agreed £400m

of acquisitions of Retail Parks. Shopping
centre values were down 6.1% although
the rate of decline decelerated in the
second hall.

Strategy

We focus aur sctivities on two strategic
themes which play best to our skill set and
where we currently see the most attractive
oppertunities ¢ drive future returns:

- Campuses - Jynamic neighbourhoods
focused on customers in growth and
innovation sectors including technclogy.
science, engineering and health; and

- Retait & Fulfilment - retail parks and
urban logistics aligned ta the grawth
of convenience, online and last
mite fulfilment

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022 13



CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW continued
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Progress against the Priorities for our business
Avyear ago, we identified four clear priorities for our business. We have telivered strong progress in each area since the start of the
financial year which is summarised helow:

Priority

Progress in 22

O

Realising the potential of
our Campuses

New jaint venture with AusiralianSuper at Canada Water accelerating detivery and returns from
the Masterplan '

- Acquired £102m ol assets outside of London aligned (o grawth and innovation including

Petarhouse Technalogy Park in Cambridge, The Priestiey Centre and Waterside Hause in Guildlord
Attracted innovative and grawing businesses to our Campuses including lettings of 134,000 sq ft to
JLL and 254,000 sq it to Allen & Overy 2t 1 Braadgate and 315,000 sq ft to Meta at 1 Tritan Square
Starey accupancy improved to 8%

O

Progressing value
accretive development

1

t

r

Delivered 1 Triton Square, our secend net zero development, fully (et ko Meta

On site with 1.7m sq [t of net zerc development, with new commitments including Phase 1 of Canada
Water and Phase 2 at Aldgate, gur first build o rent residential development

On site at The Priestiey Centre, Guildford, ur first lab enabled office

91% of costs fixed across committed developments; benefitting fram excellent, tong term relationships
with Tier | contractoes

1.3m sq [t planning consents receivad in the year with a further 2.5m sq it under submission {based on
gross areal

O

Targeting the

Assembled an urban logistics development pipeline with a gross development value of £1 3bn including
acquisition of 3 12.5 acre site in Wembley for £157m
£350m retail park acquisitions in the year including the remaining 22% in HUT at €148m GAY and NIY of

opportunities in
Retail & Fulfilment

8% takmg ouwr awnership to 100%
Increased retail park eccupancy by 270bps to 97.4%

O

Active capital recycling

Tatal capital activity of £2 2bn
- E494m sate of 75% of majority of asseis at Paddington Central post year end
- £2%0m sate of 50% in the Canada Water Masterplan

- £643m Ratait & Fullilment acquisitions
— £102m additions to aur Campuses portfalia
- £1.1bn of linancing actiwty i the year

Campuses

The key theme underpinning our focus on
Campuses is that demand will gravitate to
the bast, most sustainable space. Building
on our success at Broadgate. Regent's
Place and Paddington Central, we are
delivering a fourth Campus at Canada
Water, 3 53 acre developmeni opportunity.
In order to accelerate the delivery and
returns of that scheme we sold 50% of

our share to AusiralianSuper for £290m

in March 2022 creating a new joint vanture
with a partner who shares our vision for
Canada Water. This praject will be a key
driver of value for our businass; Phase
delivers an 1RR for British Land of ¢.11%
and the whole project is expecied to deliver
c. £2bn of value for British Land and
AustralianSuper, equaling to an IRR in the
low teens. In Aprit 2022, we alse announced
that we had exchanged on the sale of 75%
of the majarity of assets in Paddington
Central. This has been an excellent
invesiment for Brtish Land, delivering

a total property return of ?% per annum
since acquisition. The proceeds from

Lhis transaction will be invested in value
accretive development opportunities across
aur portfolio, as well as the other growih
areas we have identified.

Wa continue to avalve our Campus model
1o align with high growth and innovation
sectors, Qur model is particularly attractive

1o businesses which tike ta cluster togather,

in sectors such as technolagy, science

and engineering. Regent’s Place, given its
lacation in the Knowledge Quarter provides
an exciting oppartunity in this regard.

We zis0 see the petential Lo drive value

by taking the Campus model cutside of
London. We are largeting developmeant
opportunities in inngvation hubs such 35
the Golden Triangle and made £102m af
acquisitions in Cambridge and Guildlord

in the year. These are opporwnities which
play to our Campus skills, including asset
management, development, placemaking
and communitly engagement. We are on
site with our first lab enabled office at

The Priestley Centre which is one of two
properties we acquired on Surrey Research
Park, together totalling £27m and in
Cambridge, we acquired the Peterhouse
Technology Park for £75m in August.

Retail & Fulfitment

In Retail, ast year, we identified a value
opportunity in Retait Parks reflecting
attractive relative yelds coupled with
custamer preference for this farmat.
Our portfolio is now valued at £2.1bn
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which includes acquisitions of £350m in the
year [in addition e the E49m in FY211. This
timely investmeant meant we benefitted lrom
significant yield compression to deliver a
31.6% total properly return o the retail
park portiolio as a whole. We expect to
make further, selective acquisitions given
aur compelitive advantage in sourcing,
underwriting and assel managing but

we will maintain qur discipune on returns.

In Urban Lagistics, the chranic shortage
of space in Landon is the key therme
underpinning our facus on this part of the
market, Jemand is strong reflecting the
growth of e-cammerce and in particutar
rising cansumer expectations for same
day/next day delivery. This has been
supplemented by new saurces of demand
such as “quick commerce” and ‘dark
kitchens”. Supply of the right kind of
space in London is highly constrained and
requires innovative sofutions to increase
density and repurpose space which plays
well to our skill setin site assembly,
planning and delivering complex
developments in Central London

in the first year of our strategy. we have
esiablished o pipeline of urban logistics
development opportunities Iotalling £1.3bn



of gross development vatue which focuses
on London and will deliver a sizeable
platform for British Land in this exciting
growth market. Hannah Close in Wemblay,
our most recent acquisition, (s an excellent
example of how even in a highly competilive
market, we can leverage our skills in
planning and development to intensify
existing buildings through multi-storey
development to create value. We also invest
in repurpesing epportunities including the
Finsbury Square car park, centrally located
in the City as well as other nppnrtunities
across our portfolio. Overald, the blended
forecast {RR rom acquisition for our urban
togestics opportunities is ¢ 15% which is at
the top end of our target range of 10%-15%.

Capital allocation and

balance sheet

A key priority for gur business is to actively
recycle capital. We have demonstrated

our nimble and value driven approach
with'€1.2bn of asset sales and £747m of
acquisitions, The recent Paddingtan Central
transaction has further strengihened our
halance sheet with pro forma loan to value
now 3t 28.4%. well posilicned in current
markets. Qur performance demonstrales
that we are allotating capital smartly,

with strong valuation uplifts on our
developments and our Retait Parks.

We targei an average tolat accounting
return of 8-10% ihrough the cycle. This is
based on a tolal property return of around
7-8%. adjusted for administration costs and
the positive impact of teverage. We seek to
create value through active management
ang development. We target develapment
IRRs of 10-15% compared lo our slanding
investments where returns and risks are
typically lower. We will remain focused on
actively recycling capital and will look to
crystallise value from mature and lower
returning assets and reinvest into higher
returning epportunities.

We maintain good lang term relationships
with debt providers across the markets and
have completed £1.1bn of financing activity
in the year. This included a five year ‘Green
Lean’ in cur Broaggale joimt venture,
secured on 100 Liverpool Streei which

was voled Financing Deal of the Year: UK
by Real Estate Capital Europe for 202t.

We are pleased to be announcing a full
year dividend af 21.92p_in line with our
policy of setting the dividend at 80% of
Underiying £PS

Qur people

We are delighted to see our people back in
the office. Like $0 many of cur customers,
we conlinue [2 recagnise the benefits that

hybrid working brings and to support our
people with more flexible arrangements,
whilst also reaping the benefits of working
mere collaboratively when together in

the cffice.

| recognise the important contribution that
diversity plays in delivering our strategy so
was pleased that we ranked 15" in the FTSE
Women Leadership Raview for FTSE 100
women representation and we have
exceeded the recarnmendations of

the Parker Review on ethnic diversily

at Board level. We were also pleased to

be the lirst UK REIT to achieve Disability
Smart Accreditation from the Business
Cisabitity Forum.

Bhavesh Misiry joined us as Chief Financial
Officer in July 2021 and we are already
benefitting from the fresh perspective he
brings. We were also pleased to welcome
Mark Aedy to the Board as a Non-Exacutive
Director in September 2021. Nicholas
Macpherson has decided not to seek
re-election as a Non-Executive Director at
the AGM in July 2022, at the conclusion of
which he will stand down frem the Board.
Nicholas has served wilh distinction on the
Board since joining it in 20146 and we thank
him far his valuable contributien.

Outlook

We are mindful that the year ahead will be
impacted by heighiened macroeconomic
and geg-golitical uncertainty. In the context
of higher inflation, we are seeing investars
rotate out of bonds and increase their
allocations to real estate, particularly in
subsectors with strong pricing power and
affordable rents. We are well positioned

in this respect across beth Campuses and
in Retail & Fulfitment. In addition, we are
pleased with our financial position and that
our strong momentum has conlinued into
the new financial year.

Our Campus offering provides customers
in London with best-in-class space where
we expect demand to remain streng,
particularly from the growing, innevative
businesses we are targeting. Rents typically
represent a small propartion of salary
costs, meaning demand is less sensitive

to price and for prime London office space,
vacancy remains low and naw supply is
constrainad. Reflecting these dynamics,
and continued gravitation to the best space,
our central case is for rental growth an our
Campuses of 1-3% wilh the potential for
some further yield compression.

We expect the strong occupational demand
for gur Campus developments to centinue,
reflecting their market leading suslainability
credentials. We target BREEAM Outstanding
ratings on developments and just % cf
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available London cffice buildings

arg BREEAM Qutstanding. This year
construciion cost inflation is likely to

be between 8-10% and we are pleased to
have fixed 91% of the cost on our commitied
development programme of 1.7m sq ft.
Forecasting is difficult with elevated
uncertainty, but our base case is for
construction cost inflatien to maderate

10 4-5% over the next 18 months as
commodity, transportation and energy
prices continue to increase bui at a lower
rate and capacity in the construction
industry slowly increases. The attractive
IRRs we are {grecasting on our development
pipeline af 10-15% incorporate these levels
of construction cost inflation and additionat
contingencies. Higher land values mean
that returns from (London development

are maore insulated to cost inflation than
development in other parts of the cauntry
and we anticipate being able 10 achieve

the modest increase in rents needed to
offset any further cost inflation above

our base case.

In Retail Parks, we attract a broag tenant
base and space is more affordable than
alternative formats, thereby making them
attractive for retailers facing increased
margin pressures due ta rising input prices
and labour costs; supply is relatively tight,
with retail parks accounling for around
10% af the total retail market and vacancy
falling. We expect the value play apportunity
in retail packs ta continue and our ability to
unteck value through asset management
means we are well placed to make further
acquisitians whilst retaining a strong focus
on returns. OQverall, we expeci rents to

be stable wilh some growth for smaller,
well-located parks with further yield
compression likely. For shopping centres,
we have seen ERV decline moderaking, and
yields were flat in the second hall of the
year. We expect that yields could compress
for the best centres, given increasing
investor interest delivering attractive
medium term returns.

In Urban Logistics, the market in London
is chronically undersupplied and demand
remains strang, underpinned by the
continued growth of same day delivery.
We expect strong rental growth of

over 5% p.a. with stable yields - a good
backdrop for delivering new space via our
repurposing and intensitication strategy.

tarvim

Simon Carter
Chief Executive
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Qur strategy is to create value

by focusing on opportunities where we can

leverage our competitive strengths in active
asset management and development.

[ Our key focus areas: |

Campuses

T * " Our Campuses combine well ~~ " Condon Campuses: " Innovation Campuses --
connecked, high quality and Our Campuses are animportant  outside Londan:
sustainable buildings with differentiatar for us. With our expertise in planning,

development and asset
management. we see a clear
oppartunity to take our Campus
madel to key hubs of innavation
tike Oxford and Cambridge.

an altractive public realm
and greal amenities.

Businesses are able to cluster
together and expand and their

As the market gravitates towards  employees benefit from the retait,
the best space our Campus model  leisure and open space that

is an imgortant advaniage. surrounds them.

*

Retail & Fulfilment

Qur Retail & Fullilment portfolic  Retail parks: Urban {ogistics:
is focused on retail parks which We are the market leader in UK Dur strategy is to intensify and
complement the growth of online.  retail parks. which have emerged  repurpose existing buildings 1o

g as the preferred format for deliver new urban logistics space
We are also building a . . , P
- retailers due (o their lower in Londan where supply is highly
development-led urban logistics ) - .
business in Londen and hav accupancy cosks and constrained, requiring innovative
iy ¢ compatibility with online. - development-led solutions.

assembled a pipeline with 3 gross
development value of £1.3bn.

] We have four strategic priorities for our business: |

(O Realising the patential of Q) Targeting the opportunities
our Campuses in Retail & Fulfilment
) Progressing value Q) Active capital recycling

accretive development




QUR PEQPLE DELIVER QUR STRATEGY - QUR EXPERTISE (S QUR COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE

Elizabeth

Ivestment Asgociato: works on auguisitiians and
dispasats across the Cempany's retail, office and

urban logistics pertfolio. Part of Paterhouse
Technalogy Park acquisition team.

Michaet
Heat of Planning: responsible for British Land's
planning activities across the UK, including

securing planning permission for the 718,000 sq it

2 Finsqury Avenue.

7

Karina

Senior Sustainability Manager: supparts our
project teams to reduce embadied carbon in
our buildings and deliver net zero developments.

Alex
Office Leasing Dicector: part of the team which
leased 1 Broadgaie o Allen & Overy and JLL.

Lynn

Project Bireclor, Nortan Folgate: respansibie for
development design, procurgment construciion
and management.

Emma

Head of Brand and Experiznce, responsible
for creating asset brands and experiences
that engage wilh our audiences.

The British Land Cempany Pt ¢ 0821920

Hina

Estate Orector, Ragent's Place: responsidle for
opecatipnal and day-to-day property managament
ol the Campus,

Hursh

Head of Capital Markets; part of the Treasury
tearn which raises and rmanages finance for
British Land and its joint ventures, including
the £420m Grean Loan for 100 Liverpont Street,

g

Ade

Head of Employee Relations: part of the leam
responsitle for debivering our people agenda
and driving our Diversily, Equality and
inclusion straiegy.

1. Investment 2. Leasing & asset managemaent 3. Property management

- Acquired £295m cf urkan logistic - 3.9m sq ft of leasing accoss the portfolio, - 4.4/5 custemer satisfaction scare
oppartunities, amassing a porifeliq the strangastin ten years - Actively reduced service charge budgets
with a GOV over £1.3bn - 1 Broadgate fully pre-let or under tor our customers by £30m over the

- E1.2bn of dispasals, including majarity aption on the office space to JLL and Cavid-19 period
sale of Paddington Centrat and 50% Allen & Qvery
sale of our share of Canada Water .

4. Planning 5. Development 6. Finance

~ 1.3m sq ft [gross area] of planning - Comgletion of 1 Triton Square - £1.1bn of financing activity, including
consents achieved including 2 Finsbury - On site with 1.7m sq ft of development Green Loan and ESG-linked RCFs

. Avenue and inlernational House, Ealing with new cemmitments to Aidgale - Refinancing date extended (o late 2025

- Further 2.5m sq ft [gross areal planning Place and Phase 1 of Canada Water - Seniar unsecured cradit cating af ‘A’
applications under submission

7. Sustainability 8. Marketing 9. People

- Second net zero carbon development
at 1 Triten Sguare

- 29 net zero asset audits completed
at our assets

- 103 community initiatives delivered
atour places

Creating brands, messaging and
experiences thal inspire and engage
our customers and the people who visit
our places

§9% staff engagement score, with B5%
recemmaending British Land as a place
to work

8.1% reduction in the ethnicity pay gap
B.4% reduction in the gender pay gap

British Lang Annua\ Report ang Accounts 2022 7



STRATEGY (N ACTION - LEVERAGING OUR BEST IN CLASS PLATFORM

Our unique
Campus model

The London office marker is
gravitating towards exceptional
space as occupiers demand more
from the places where they work.
As well as modern and high quality
environments, they want excelfent
sustainability credentials and space
which enhances wellbeing. They
prefer places which are well
connected and have a range

of amenities nearby for people

to enioy outside of office.

Our Campuses are unigue in delivering

in all these areas, making them the premier
~office porttolio across London, Because we,

own the spaces between our buildings, we
can curate an engaging public realn and
our placemaking activities help to foster a
sense of community amongst our occupiers
and with local people. The Campus model
also enables occupiers to grow with us -
occupiers can upscale on or between our
Campuses and we provide additional
flexibility through Starey, enabling themn to
take additional space on a short term basis.

Attracting
successful
businesses

This year, we fully pre-let lar placed under
option] ! Broadgate ta lawyers Allen &
Gvery and real estate services firm JLL,
four years ahead of completion.

This will be the most energy efficient
building we have ever delivered, a
factor which was key to both deals and
demanstrates the growing importance
of sustainability to our occupiers.

1 Broadgate
tmage is a CGI

Allen & Overy

"Qur move ta Broadgate is a really
impartant step forward for every one of
our partners, employees and clients who
come to our office in Landon. The new
office space is a step-change in terms of
energy consumption and better reflects
the way we want the firm to work in the
future. The building will contribute to an
estimated 80% reduction in our annuat
Londan office carbon emissions as well as
having market-teading certifications for iis
environmental impact and the wellbeing
of those who will call Broadgate their
place of work.”

Gareth Price,
Managing Partner

The British Land Company PLC 0D521920

JLL

"Working in partnership with British Land,
we have a real appactunity to achieve ane of
the mast sustainable and technotagically
advanced warkptaces in the UK. The
campus excels in the connectivity and
amenities, providing our people and clients
with a vibrant, dynamic and collabarative
space. | Broadgate will enable us to
significantly push the boundaries to
enhance productivity, improve wellbeing
and support 8 wider commumty through
British Land’'s approach to managing

the Broadgate campus and its

Community Framework.”

Stephanie Hyde,
Chief Executive, JLL UK

Allen & Overy have taken a minimum of

254,000 sq ft
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JLL have taken a minimum of

134,000 sq ft



Replicating the
Campus model

Peterhouse Technslogy Park

Building on our success in London, we see
an opportunity to repraduce our Campus
model in other hubs of innovation.

The areas in and araund the Golden
Triangle of London, Oxford and Cambridge
are established centres of knowledge-
based industries, These three cities receive
more than E8bn of venture capital funding
annually and account for the majority of
successful businesses spun out of the
universities. At the same time, supply of
space is highly constrained. Alternative
Llocations with successful research
centres benefit frem the same dynamics.

These themes support rental growth and
create opportunities for operators with
expertise in planning, asset management
and sustainable development and who ¢an
demonstrate a solid track record of making
a pasitive local impact.

The British Land Company PLC Q021920

Such opportunities play to our strengths,
and we have demonstrated our ability to

deliver in these areas across our exisling
Landon Campuses and at Canada Water.

Peterhouse Technology Park
This year we acquired the Peterhouse
Technalagy Park in Cambridge for £75m,
representing a price of £9m per acre.
The buildings are fully let to ARM,

one of the UK’'s most successful
technology businesses.

This acquisition offers a number of
oppartunities; we are well placed to benefit
from a strong rental market and two of

the buildings are tab-enabled enabling

us to target a broader type of occupier.
Longer term the site offers attractive
development opportunities.

British Land &nnua! Report and Accounts 2022 19




STRATEGY iN ACTION ~ LEVERAGING QUR BEST IN CLASS PLATFGRM continued

Attractive
development
pipeline

We have created attractive
opportunities for development
across our pottfalio.

Completed

A 1 Triton Square

Gifice-ted redevelopment at Regent’s Place, futly
pre-tet to Meta. Low embodied carbon at 436 kg
C0je per sqm, with residual embodied carbon
ofiset through cerlified schemes, making this
our second net zero carbon devetapment,

369,000 sq ft

Committed

The Priestiey Centre
Refurbishment scheme
within Surrey Research Park,
delivering lab-enabled space.

. . . _-B1000sqft

A Norton Folgate

Oftfice-led redevelogment in Shoreditch,
integrating 302,000 sq It of office space
alangside retail and residenlial ta create
a mixed use space that draws on the
histeric fabric of the area.

336,000 sq ft
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< Aldgate Place, Phase 2
Build-ta-rent residentiat-ted
s¢heme in Aldgale, delivering
159 homes with 19,000 sq ft
of office space.

136,000 sq ft

A 1 Broadgate

Gifice~led redevelop t at Braadgate including
456,000 sq ft of retail cannecling Finsbury Avenue
Square with 100 Liverpool Street and the
Broadgate Circle lo create 3 retail, leisure and
dining hub. Office space is tully pre-let ar under
option to JLL and Allen & Overy.

544 000 sq ft
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Near term Medium term

¥ Euston Tower

Office-led redevelopment at Regent’s Place,
targeting life sciences and other innovation
business, benefitting from its location in
London's Knowledge Quarter.

578,000 sq ft

A 2-3 Finsbury Avenue

Difice-led redevelopment at Broadgate,
including ground floor retail, a publicly
accessible restaurant, café and raof terrace.

718,000 sq ft

A Canada Water [remaining phases)
Flexible mixed use scheme with the ability to
deliver between 2,000 and 4,000 new homes
alongside a mix of commercial, refail and
communily space.

4.5m sq ft

A Canada Water, Phase 1 [A1, A2 & K1) A 5 Kingdom Street

Three buildings delivering a mix of office, retail, | Office-ted redevelopment at Paddington Central,
{eisure and residential with 265 homes planned achieved planning in 2021, British Land retains
across a range of tenures and affordability. a minimum 50% interest in the development

fallowing the part sale of the Campus te GIC.
585,000 sq ft 438,000 sq ft

A Thurrock

Cpportunily to repurpose part of a retail park
and intensify uses through multi-storey urban
legistics development

All images are CGls apart fram 1 Triton Square 559,000 Sq ft
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Our proven
track record
in sustainable
development

Sustainability has been central to
the way we develop our space for
more than two decades. In 2004 we
launched our Sustainability Brief for
Developments and we completed our
first ‘whole life’ carbon assessment
in 2609. This strong track record
means that we are leaders in this
field and today, we are well placed
to meet demand which is gravitating
towards more sustainable space.
This year 100 Liverpool Street, our first

nel zero carbon development, was named

Green Buitding Project at the Year by
BusinessGreen and received a UK Civic T T o o o -

Trust Award for making an autstanding
BREEAM
60%

contribution to the quality and appearance
of the built enviranment.
EXCELLENT
of construction spend
to smalt and medium

sized businesses

Blossem Yard & Studios
tmage is a CGF

To form the new tagades 1o the largest
buildings we are using precast brick and
glazed panels and unitised glazed units.

Refurbishing, extending and
creating new buildings
At Norton Folgate, we are refurbishing and

17,000 sq ft

Timber floors relained, together

with original brickwork and
Victorian iranware

extending warehouses which are more than
130 years old to create new buildings,
delivering 334,000 sq ft of modern
workspace in 3 historic part of Lendon.
Intertinking the old and the new has catled
for innpvative construction techniques and
camplex temporary works. The project
draws heavily on our skills and experience
of complex development in London.
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These are fabricated off site and installed
directly onto the buildings. This significantly
reduces the number of vehicle movements
ta and fram site, reduces noise and air
pollution and detivers safety and

quatlity benefits.
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Achicving our sustainability goals
at Norton Folgate

Across aur developments we prioritise the
re-use of existing materials. In some cases,
we are able to retain the superstructure,
including the steel frame and facades,

but we also re-use internal materials
wherever possible.

At Blossom Studios, one of the buildings
within the Norton Folgate development we
have done both. We retained atmast all of
the existing fagade and 80% of the floors,
and all the timber joists were indmidually
assessed with most being re-used. We
rebuilt some internal walls re-using
reclaimed bricks from the originat building
and retained original features such as iron
columns and glazed bricks to preserve the
original character of the building. New
materials focused on responsibly sourced

and low carbon alternatives; we are using
100% FSC {Forest Stewardship Councill
wood and all the concrete used has 40%
cement replacement.

As a result we currently expect embodied
carben to be 403 kg COze per sqm {434 kg
COe per sqm for the whele

redevelopment], ahead of our 2030 target.

To drive operational performance we are
adding roof top solar panels and using air
source heat pumps to deliver all electric
affices with 100% green power, 50
operationat energy intensity is expected
to be in line with our trajectory to 2030.

To support wellbeing we are targeting the
highest standards of air quality and we have
capacity for 136 bicycles across the
scheme. We are providing over 3,000 sq ft
of outside space for peaple to enjoy

and to support biodiversity.

Blossom Yard & Studios, Norton Folgate
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Delivering across our key
focus areas

Circular ecoanomy and materials

Almaost all the existing facade structure and
floors retained

©) 100% FSL/PEFC waod
o Cancreta with 40% cement reptacement {GGBS)

Energy and carbon

Q Solar control windows. using shade to
reduce solar glare but allow daylight in

e Air source heat pumps

o Rooftop solar panels

o Highly efficient heat recovery

Energy efficient internal/external lighting
and contrel

o All electric building with 100% green power

@ Smart enabled to analyse and optimise
operational performance

Climate resilience

Q Rainwater attenuation tank enabling
rainwaler harvesting

Water

@ Low-flow water fixtures achieve 40%
potahle water use reduction

Wellbeing

@ Excellent thermal comfort complying with
BREEAM and WELL thermal comfort criteria

0 Enhanced air quality with fresh air rate
exceeding 12 litres per second

@ Storage capacity for 136 bicycles
with changing facilities

Biodiversity

D Landscaped courtyard

L
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STRATEGY LN ACTION - LEVERAGING QUR BEST IN CLASS PLATFORM continued

Creating value
in Retail

Cur Retail & Fuffilment portfolio

is focused on retail parks. We are the
largest direct owner and operator

of retail park space in the UK.

They account for 60% of the Retail
& Fulfilment portiolio. )

Identifying the value opportunity

Our expertise in this area has enabled us to
capitalise on strong demand far this asset
class from both occupiers and investers.

For retailers, retail parks are an important
part of an omnichannel strategy because
they support an online offer in several ways:

they facilitate ‘click and collect’ by
combining (arger format stares where
moare stock can be held on site with car
parking facilities - enabling people to
collect their goods themselves and
reducing the cost of last mile delivery
for retailers;

- they facilitate the return of goods bought
antine; these customers frequently
malke further purchases on site as they
make returns; and

- they are well suited to ‘ship from store’,
where retailers deliver goods to
customers directly from their
stores, effectively using them
as mini logistics facilities.
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A number of retailers, including Marks &
Spencer and Next, have reported strong
performances on their retail parks and
continue to invest in this fermat.

Retail parks present a clear opportunity
for us to drive value based on our abikity

1o aclively manage these assets to improve
oceupancy and generate more sustainable
cash flows.

We have invested £E400m since March 2021
in the acquisition of individual retail parks,
and by taking ownership of the 22% of
Hercules Unit Trust that we did not
already own.

The value of our retail park portfolio now
stands at £2.1bn and delivered a total
property return of 31.6% this year.



Biggleswade Retail Park acquired in March 2021
where values were up 42% in the year

Customer

“Working with British Land, we're creating
a new cuttural hub at Ealing, including a
live music and digital arts venue and the

area’s first multi screen cinema in 15 years.

We've had around 50 meetings with local
organisations which has helped to shape
our programme, transfarming an old
nightclub inte a community destination,
reinvigarating this part of the high street.”

Presten Benson,
The Really Local Group

The British Land Campany PLC 00621920

Active asset management is about curating
the right mix of occupiers at each place to
create 3 sense of authenticity and provide
people with more reasons to visit.

For example, this year, at Ealing we

let space to the Really Local Group, a
community oriented cinema concept that
shows films, cornedy shows and music,
a timely addition bringing communities
together post Covid.

We atso let space to Gerdon Ramsay Bread
Streel Café and Street Lounge, which runs
independently themed cafe lounges.

Qur asset management activities include
making a positive contribution to our
tocal communifies.

For example, we can play a unique role
in addressing local recruitment needs
by connecting cur custormers with local
job seekers.

By making a positive contribution to the
tocal community, we make our ptaces
more vibrant and successful.

Comtnunity partner

“The reason our recruitment and skills
partnership works sa well is because
there's a real family feel at Fort Kinnaird.
Retailers trust us to understand what they
need. Drawing on our network of resource,
we've supperted nearly 70 people into jobs
since April 2021 and delivered employability
sessigns to over 130 young people.
Retailers know that, if problems come up,
we'll step in for our vulnerable clients,
helping with childcare, werk outfits and
food, and keeping families going untit their
wages come in.”

Rona Hunter
Capital City Partnership, Edinburgh
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STRATEGY IN ACTION - LEVERAGING QUR BEST IN CLASS PLATFORM continued

Identifying
opportunities
in Urban
Logistics

Urban logistics in central London
15 the lastest growing part of the
logistics market,

9

>5% pa
Average rental growth
forecast 2022-2026

£82m

acguisilion

Image isa CG)

In Landon, demand for tagistics space has
accelerated rapidly driven by the growth of
e-commerce and supplemented by other
saurce such as ‘quick commerce’, ‘dark
stores” and ‘dark kitchens'.

At the same time the ability to create

new warehouse space is constrained by a
complex planning environment, requiring
mare innovative solutions to create space.
These dynamics are driving exceplional
rental growth, and are creating a
compelling opportunity for British Land as
our skill set in delivering complex, mixed
use, sustainable developmenis means we
can access and unluck opportunities that
others cannot.

1 Urban logistics |

Thurrock Shopping Park

Retail parks which are located on major
arterial routes can provide an atiraclive
repurposing gpportunity, particularly in
London and the South East, where rents for
togistics and retail space are converging.

in July 2021 we acquired the Thurrock
Shapping Park, where we see an
opportuhity to repurpose around two
thirds of the space to urban logistics
with the remaining space continuing
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Qur strateqy is to deliver new urban
logistics space through the intensification
and repurposing of existing builtings

in London.

We focus on sites within the M25 which are
accessible ta large vehicles travelling into
London from around the country and well
located for smaller, electric vehicles or
bikes which manage the (ast mile delivery.

We have now built up a pipeline of urban
logistics space with a gross development
value of £1.3bn which spans Greater London,

to operate as a retail park. We will also
inensify the asset through multi-storey
development which is particutarly cost
effective as the elevation of the building
means that both the upper and lower
floors have ground access.

Our expertise in asset management
means we can manage the transition
from fully occupied retail park to hybrid
logistics facility, enabling us to unlock
this atiractive opporiunity.
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Hannah Close, Wembley

In February 2022, we acquired three
warehouses over 12.5 acres in Wembley
with the potential to repurpose the existing
buildings and intensify their use by
delivering a multi-storey urban logistics
hub for Central and West London.

The warehouses sit in a Strategic
Industrial Land location, promoting
industrial employment and devélopment,
and its location within the M25 and just
beyond the North Circular road make it
ideal for urban logistics operators.

Its excellent public transport connectivity
wilt alsa help attract employees to

the location. This is a medium term
developrent opportunity but in the
meantime the warehouses are fully let.

| $£157Tm

acquisilion

£20m

Finsbury Square Car Park acquisition
Seme of the most sought after logistics

spaces in Londen are very centrally located

micro units which can be used for quick

commerce and foed delivery as well as

last mile delivery.

To target this opportunity, we acquired

the Finsbury Square Car Park in July 2021
which is located in the City of London, close
to our Broadgate Campus. We are drawing
up plans for a repurposing of this space
covering 47,000 sq ft.

£1.3bn

GDV urban logistics
development pipeline
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MARKET ORIVERS

Investing in key themes and
responding to macro trends

e O strategy.is closely
aligned to key themes in
our markets and we are
responding effectively
to the macro trends
‘which impact our
operating environment

Alignrent with sirategic and
sustainability pricrities

Londan office market

Key theme:
Oemand gravitating towards
best in class space

Retail market

Key theme:
Retail parks emerging as the
preferced format for retaiters

The British Land Company PLC D0421920

Logistics market

Key theme: .
Accelerating derand for
urban locations

Drivenby:

- Demand for space thal
supports collaboration,
innovation and cullure

- Emphasis on space which
is attractive ta stalf and
pramotes wellness; exceltent
transport cannections, range
of amenities and engaging
public realm preferred

- Sustainability credentials
high on the corporate agenda

Driven by:

are more altraclivein a
higher inflation environment

- The repid growth of aoline
which has driven retailers
to establish cost eflective

- Potential for some well
{ocated retail parks {0 be
converted 1o logistics has
supported demand in
investment markets

~ Lower pccupancy cosis which

sotutions ta last mile delivery

Driven by:

- Growth of e-commerce
during the pandemic
which fuelled demand
for logistics space

- Heightened expectations far
same day/next day delivery,
driving a preference far
mare centrat locations

- Addiional sources of
demand, including "quick
commerce” and "dark
kitchens™ facused on London

Qur response;

- Progressing Campus
developments

- Targeting customers
from growth and
innovation seclors

- Retrofitiing pur standing
portfolio to improve
sustainability credentials

- Rolling cui BREEAM
certifications

- Recycling out of
mature assets

O Realising the potential of
our Campuses

(O Active capital recycling

O Progressing value
accretive development

O Net zero by 2030
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Qur response:

~ Investing in undervalued
retail parks

- |dentilying and investing in

potential for logistics uses

- Identifying opportunities for
logistics development on
our portfolio

(C) Targeting the opportunities
in Retail & Fulfiiment

O Active capital recycling

retail park opportunities with

Our response:

- lnvesting in development-ted
urban logisucs epportunities
inl.ondon

ldentifying opportunities

for urban logistics on

our Campuses

!

(O Targeting the opportunities
in Retail & Fulfilment

O Active capital recycling

OProgressing value
accretive development




context

Key theme:

Heightened uncertainty, with
increasing input ca¢sts and rising
interest rates

Environment

Key theme: i
Continuing focus on net zero

Society

Key theme:
Biggest real income squeezein
a generalion

The Brilish Land Company PLE 00421920

Science & technology

| Key theme:

Innovalion seclars an emerging |
engine of UK growth

Driven by:

- Caontinuing fallout fram
Covid-19 coupled wiih the
impact of the war in Ukraine
has stretched supply chains
and put pressure an input
prices including energy
and raw materials

- The impact of leaving the EU,
continues to impact labour
markets and drive
shortages in sectors
such as construction

Driven by:

- Occupiers wanting buildings
which support their own
susiainability targess

- Shareholders wanting to
invest in companies which
meet the sustainabilily
ambitions of their inveslors

- People wanting to work for
businesses with a strong
reputation for environmental
responsibility

Driven by:

- B4%increasein the
markel energy price cap,
disproporiionately impacting
law-income househelds

- Inflatien rising fasker
than expected

- Rising national insurance
contributions and frozen
income tax thresholds

- Ingreasing wage expectalions
and the impact of the
cost of living crisis on
disposable incemes

Driven by:

- Government focus on UK
innovation with £22on R&0D
funding committed by 2026/27

- Dverseas investment
attracted by academic
excellence: STEM [science,
technolagy, engineering and
mathsl graduates are 43% of
total graduates in the UK

- Macro drivers such as
Covid- 19 and climate change
driving innovatien in life
sciences and green tech

Our response:

- Acting early to lock
in construction costs

- Supporting the Ukrainian
Institute setting up an
English Language School
for refugees; donations to
the Disaster Emergency
Commiltee and Ukrainian
Church in London

~ Revised our interest rate
management policy ¢ ensure
debiis appropriately hedged

(O Progressing value
accretive development

(O Place Based approach

Cur response;

- Delivering on our Pathway
to Net Zero

- Adding sustainability
metrics to Board
remuneration targets

- Ensuring that all
Exco members have
sustainability objectives

{JRealising the potential of
our Campuses

(O Pragressing value
accrelive development

(O Net zero by 2030

Our response:

- Delivering an our Place
Based approach. Prioritising
strong lacal partnerships,
focusing on areas we can
make the biggest impact

- Commitment tg paying
the Living Wage where
we have direci control

~ Helping local people access
‘goed work” through our
Bright Lights skills and
employrment programme

- Keeping the employee
proposition atiraclive
and under review

(O Place Based approach

Our respanse:

- investing innngvation
Campuses in areas af
academic excellence

- Targeting growth and
innovation custamers

- lnvestmentinto Filth Wall's
Climate Technaology Fund

) Realising the potential of
aur Campuses

) Progressing value
accretive development

O Active capital recycling
I Neat zero by 2030
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OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Monitoring our
performance

The British Land Company PLC 00621970

Qur strategy is to focus our capital on areas
which leverage our competitive strengths and
to invest behind two strategic themes: our
Campuses and Retail & Fulfilment.

KPis
Corporate & Total property returo 06 EN Loan to value ILTV] - propertionatly consolidated
financial
Total accounting return N3 ER Committed and near term developments
Total shareholder return 0G0 EDR Years until refinance date
Environment GRESB rating Reduction in energy intensity Energy intensity was lower than usual this
of offices year as a result of Covid-19 restrictions
S -Star Q which required assets 10 close or operate
28 %) a3t lower capacity.
Retained for the second year
2021:31%
Community Number of community Number of cammunity Beneliciaties are indniduals who directly
initiatives beneficiaries took partin activities resourced by our
) cemmunily investment programme, The
103 23 949 maprity of these benehciaries are either
? young people or people who are currently
2021: 94 2021: 23,024 unemployed.
Peop]e Gender pay gap Ethnicity pay gap Staff engagement
2021: 27.4% 2021:27.3% with 85% recommending British Land as
a place towork

Links to rernuneration: Long Term Incentive Plan TR Annval lecentive Award

Read more about our principal risks on pages 88-96

1. 32.9% as at 31 March 2022. Following the sale of a 75% interest in the majority of pur assels at Paddington Central, LTV falis to 28.4% on a pro forma basis.
2. Dnz pro forma basis. letlowing the sale of 2 75% inlerest in the majonty of our assets at Paddinglen Central.
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Pragress

Prigrities for FY23

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Key risk indicators

Campuses

1.7m sq {t af leasing, the highest in ten years
Office space at 1 Broadgate fully pre-let or under
optien to JLL and Allen & Overy

E102m assets acquired outside Landan aligned to
growth and tnnovation

Cemmitment to Aldgate Place and Phase | at
Canada Water

Developrnents $3% pre-iet or under offer

Sale of 50% interest in Canada Water, creating a
new JV to accelerate the Masterplan

Post year end, sale of 75% tnterest in majority of
assets at Paddington Central, locking in 9% pa
total property returns since acquisition

Retail & Fulfiiment

2.2m sq flof leasing, the highest in ten years

Retail Park occupaney increased 270bps to 97.4%;
94.3% retail overall

E350m invesiment into Retail Parks where values
ware up 20.7% in the year

Assembled an urban logislics devetopment pipeline
with a gross development value of £1.3bn

Campuses

- Pre-lets at Norion Folgate and
Canada Water

- Increase occupier exposure to growth
sectars, including life sciences

- lIncrease scale in Golden Triangle

- Progress pipeline including 5 Kingdom
Sireet, Euston Tower and next phase at
Canada Water

Retail & Futfilment

- Acquire further assats with urban
logistics potential in London

~ Selective acquisitions af retait parks

- Starl on site at Meadowhall Logistics

- Submin planning for medium term
logistics opportunities

- Maintain high accupancy, focusing on
occupiers with strong covenants

Development exposure
Market lething risk

lvacancies, expiries,
speculative development|
Occupier covenant strength
and concentration

Occupancy and weighted
average unexpired lease length
Execution of targeted
acquisittons and dispesals in
line with capital allecation plan
LV

Net debt to EBITDA

Financial covenant headroom
Pericd until refinancing

is required

Delivered our second net zero development at

1 Triton Square

Average embodied carbon on developments an track
to achieve 500kg COse by 2030 at 32kg COze per
sgm tor affices

Cornpleied 29 net zero carbon 35381 audins
Establishing pathways to raise the portiolic’s

EPC ratings to a minfmum of a 8

Achieved GRESB 5-siar rating

- Maintain progress with aur Pathway to
Net Zere Carbon

- Average embodied carbon on
developments to remain on track to
achieve 500 kg COze per sqm by 2030

- Deliver net zero carbon inlerventions

- increase A/B EPC rating across
the partfolic

- Maintain GRESB 5-star rating

Energy intensity and carbon
emissions [EPCs)

Future cost of carton ofisats
Portfolio fload risk

Community Funds taunched at Broadgate and
Paddingten Central

Achieved target of at least one needs based iniiative
an a key local issue, education and employment at 3
priority asset

Alfardable space provided at 5 priority assets and
identified at the remaining 3

- Target 12,500 beneficiaries from our
educatian programmes ar activities

- Target 1,000 beneficiaries frem our

employment beneficiaries programmes
or activities

- Further increase affordsble space
provision, including all pricrily assets

Comrnunity engagement

Maintained over 30% fernale representation at
beard levet

Exceed recommendations of Parker Review on
ethnic diversity at Board levet

Redured gender and ethnicity pay gaps
Launched DE&I Strategy

- Continue to reduce our gender and

ethnicity pay gap
- Conlinue to improve our stalt
engagernent score

- Voluntary staff turnover

Ernployee engagememl
and wellbeing

Read more about our key risk
indicalors en pages 84-94

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2027 N




STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Our stakeholders

Our customers

The British Land Compaay PLL DD421920

We regularly engage with our stakeholders across a variety
of formats including face to face meetings, surveys and
assessments. This insight provides a wide range of
perspectives which informs our strategy and helps

us deliver outstanding places and positive outcomes

for all our stakeholders.

Qur communities

Our investors

Who they are Qur occupiers, their employees,
anhd the people wha visit or live
in and around aur buiidings.

The people who live in and
around our assets as well as local
arganisations and enterprises.

The people and institutions who
own British Land shares or bonds.

Key engagement - Cuslomer surveys: 15,800 - 23,949 beneficiaries from - ¢.80% share register met in the
metrics completed annually our activities last year
~ 103 community initratives al - Over 200 investors or potential
our places investors met
What matters to them |~ High gualily, sustainable space | - Education and ~ Atlractive return en invesiment
which can flex according to employment opportunities - Clarity on straiegy and outlook
their needs - Places which foster

- Places which enhance
wellbeing and offer lgisure
and entertainment experiences

saciat connections and
enhance wellbeing

Scope to use our places ta
support local business

- Liguidity - the ability to enter
and exit their investment easity
- Ambitious ESG commiumants

Ways we are - Evolving and extending our

responding Campus offer to appeal to
growing innovative businesses

- Oelivering space which targets
the highest environmental and
wellheing ceriifications

Dalivering Place Based
nitiatives which target key
localissues

Fostering networks which
connect pur oceuplers with local
communities and organisations

- Returns-focused sirategy with
clear targets set

Example outcomes - 315000 5q ft let to Meta

fram our engagememt {previcusly Facebook] which
has expanded rapidly on cur
Regent’s Place Campus

- Office space 1 Broadgate fully
pre-let four years ahead of
complefion; the sustainability
credentials were a key allraction
for these occupiers

At Regeni’s Place, through

the Triton Caté, we prowded
space to BlackQut UK to run
five events that providad peer
support, learning and debales
for 75 black queer men

17 pupils participated in

retail and enterprise sctivities al
Teesside Park 35 part of its "Raise
Your Game™ partnership with
Middlesbrough FC Foundation

- 14.8% total accounting raturn
- &5.7% increase in dividend

¢ NABERS {Nationat Austratian Burlt Enviranment Rating Systemi is a system for tracking the energy elfiziency of a building lram development 1o use.
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Statement on section 172 of
the Companies Act 2006

Section 172[1} of the Companies Act
requires directors of a company te actin
the way they consider, in geod faith, would
be most likely to promote the success o!
the company for the benefil of its members
as a whole, taking into account the
following: the likely cansequences of any
decision in the long term: the interests of
the company’s employees: tha need to

foster the campany’s business
relationships with suppliers, customers
and others: the impact of the company’s
operations on the community and the
environment; the desirability of the
company maintaining a reputatian for high
standards of business cenduct; and the
need to act fairly as between members of
the company. The nature of our business
means that we have a continuous dislogue
with a wide group of stakeholders and
their views are taken into account

The British Land Company PLC 00421920

before proposals are put to the Board for a
decision. Information on how the Directors
discharged their duty under section 172
during the year, including haw they
engaged with key stakeholders, and how
they had regard to the matters set out
above in their discussions and decision
making. can be found within our Applied
governance secticn starting on page 111,

Raad more about our stakeholders on pages 32-34

Our partners & suppliers

Our people

The environment

Who they are

Property investers, locat
authorities, suppliers and all
ather organisations we have
a direct relationship with,

Everyone employed at British Land.

The natural surroundings of our
places, both inside and outside
our awnership.

Key engagement *
metrics

- Recognition through our
Supplier Excellence Award

- Aim tg pay 95% of suppliers
in 30 days

- Annuat voluntary staff
engagement survey

- Rolling out energy, water and
waste audits

- NABERS adopted on all new
office davelopments*®

What matters to them

- Customer recommendations,
enabling them to win new/
additional business

- Contributing to the success
of the British Land brand

- Long term partnerships

~ Opportunities to work on the
maost interesting projects in
UK real eslate

- Potential for development
and promaotion

- Achieving work-life balance

- Compensation

- Minimising carbon emissions

- Minimising waste and
conserving water

- Preserving and enhancing
biediversity

Ways we are
responding

- Maintaining an active dialogue
- Developing long term
relationships with suppliers,
supported by our supplier
conference and
recognition awards

- Qpportunities to work on
innavative development projects

- Investing in grofessional
developmeni

- Employee-led networks
focusing on areas that matter
to our pecple

- Designing and delivering
low-carbon buildings

- Reducing carbon emissiens on
existing buildings

- ldenlifying opporiunities to
increase biodiversity on and
around buildings

Example outcomes
from our engagement

- Supplier Excellence Awards
covering six key focus areas

- 7% within local London boroughs

- Blossom Street Project Charter
fastered a very positive working
relationship with caniractor
Skanska at Norton Folgate

- 69% engagement score with
85% recommending British
Land as a place to work

- 74 people received 3
prarotion or opportunity
to move roles internally

- 14 sponsored to study for
professional guatifications

- 1 Broadgate on track to achieve
our 2030 targets for cperational
energy intensity

- Targeting BREEAM Outstanding
on all new office developments

- New 1.5 acre park at Exchange
Square delivered

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022 3



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT continued

Hlustrating
stakeholder
engagement

By engaging with our stakeholdets
we learn how to deliver places
which generate positive outcomes
for everyone.

Customers

“We were looking to grow our foatprint

in Scotland, and Glasgow in particular,

and British Land were able to offer a great
opportunily. The asset manager was very
enthusiastic aboul our brand and really
pushed to find the right space for us.
Glasgow Fort ofters the right brand and
gccupier mix, access to the right customers,
it's easy 1o shop ang customers feel safe.”

Ricardo Thomas
Mango. retail occupier

“British Land’s space and partnership
enabled New Diorama Thealre,

Broadgate, the UK's most ambitious artist
support project for independent artists -
supercharging the recovery of the arls
post-pandemic. Together, across a single
year, we'll support a foatfall of more than
80,000 artists, providing more than 100,000
creative hours - all completely free

of charge.”

David Byrne
New Diorama Thealre, Broadgate and
Regent’s Place

It was the Maslerpian itself that attracted
us to Canada Water, We have ambitious
plans far our campus and af Canada Water
we have a unique opportunity to grow and
develop and at the same time, 10 have

a role in how this place evolves. That's
really exciting for us and aur students.

British Land are a fabulous partner, they
detivered a modular camipus for us in just
9 monihs, they have some great ideas for
the future and they really engage with our
engineering students providing incredible
real-life experience.”

Judy Raper
Oean & CEQ, TERI [The Engineering &
Design Institute} London, Canada Water

Communities

“Evan when we haven't been able 1o

meel candidates face-to-face because of
the pandemic, we've continued te upskill
people thraugh online training and place
them into jobs where they do well. We've
supported 7% people through training since

March 2021 and helped 25 people into jobs.”

Anthony Lee

East London Business Alliance,
education and employment
community pariner Broadgaie

The British Land Company PLC 004621920

Environment

"British Land is very aware of the real and
positive impact that biodiversity can have
on its portfolio and on the people visiting
their spaces. They have made some very
prograssive comImulments 10 improving
urban biediversity and ecosysiem
performance acrass the standing asselis
which go far beyond any planning
requirements and are quantitatively
measuring the impact that has.”

Morgan Taylor
Director, Greengage, consuliant ecologist

Qur people

“Uirst started at British Land in 2017 and
have worked in property management, in
aperatians delivering the Mexible workspace
product Storey, and I've just staried as an
asset manager, leoking after Southgate in
Bath and Drake Circus in Plymeuth. British
L.and is great at recognising individual
sirengths - | have been suppocted with
new opportunities and sponsored through
professional qualifications, most recently
my Royat Institute of Chartered Surveyars
qualification and | have had some great
champions along the way.”

Emma Padget
Asset Manager, British Land

Partners & suppliers

k1A British Land Annual Repont and Aceaunts 2022

“The values that underpin this preject make
it @ very special one to work on. They are
about creating a lasting and positive legacy
for those working on the project as well as
the local comrmunity. They are captured in
our Project Charler which we developed
with all our stakeholders in mind.”

tan Perry
Operations Director, Skanksa, contracior
at Norion Folgate



PEOPLE AND CULTURE

People and
culture

Qur strategy relies on the
competitive strengths of our people
and their ability to deliver. To be
successful, we need to foster an
environment where people can
deploy their strengths and expertise,
achieve their potential and feel
comiortable being themselves.
Bring your whole self is a value
which defines our culture at
British Land and underpins

the way we do business,

Frogress gver the past year can be
measured by how resilient and intact

the British Land culture has remained,
as well as how effective the Company has
been in keeping employees focused and
motivated despite operating in a rapidly
changing environment.

As Covid restrictions relaxed over the year,
cur colleagues have rediscovered the
importance of interacting in the same
physical tocation, its contribution to
personal wellbeing and how it helps with
warking lowards a common purpase, We
ran three short pulse surveys in 2021 and
lhe feedback overwhelmingly demonstrated
that the way people like to work is evolving:
while there was a clear desire tc return to
the office. many also wished lo retain an
element of Hexibility. We are embracing
mare hybrid ways of warking as a result.

“Families need Rexibility, and
opportunities should be equal.
That's why British Lznd offers up to
six months of shared parental leave
on full pay. They support employees
to live our lives and careers in ways
that work for us, reflecting medern
lifestyles through their benefits.”

Michael and Olivia
Head af Planning [Michaell,
Team Assistant [Olivia|
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Our values underpin everything we do:

Listen and
understand

Bring your

whole self

Listen and understand is a core value at
British Land, 5o building on the work done
last year, in early 2022 we ran a more in
depth employee engagement survey to
get a deeper understanding of employee
wellbeing and identify where we can land
more support. This identified areas where
we are very strong, but also areas for
improvernent and we are engaging with
employees at every level to identify ways
in which we can further suppert them.

We coritinue aspiring to be an employer
of choice and have demonstrated this

in the last 12 months by listening to

our employees, developing our talent,
investing in wellbeing and strengthening
our approach 1o Diversily, Equatity and
Inclusion [DE&I).

Diversity, Equality & Inclusion
(DE&I)

In November 2021, the Carporaie Social
Respensibility Committee [CSR Committeel
approved our DE&I strategy, which was then
communicated to the business in early
2022. The strategy brings all our diversity
activities together in one place, and was
the result of the hard work of a number of
colleagues. It is @ powerful demanstration
of our Be smarter together and Build for
the future values. This work followed the
Race Eguality Framework we published in
October 2020, when we saw an opportunily
ta breaden our scope and challenge
ourselves more widely in these areas.

Build for
the future

Be smarter
togecher

We are making good progress with our
DE&! strategy, which se1s out our medium
term aims and commutments and can be
found on avr website at britishland.com/
diversity-equality-inclusion. To ensure that
our teams reflect the people who work,
shop, live and spend time at our places,
our DE&| strateqy structures our aclions
around the nine protected characteristics:
gender, gender reassignment, age, race,
sexual orientation, religion or belief,
disabitity. marriage and civil partnership,
and pregnancy and maternity. In addition,
the straiegy is aligned to the United
Nations Sustainable Development Goals
- 3 global framework to tackle social and
eavironmental challenges.

5 Tk B

Specifically, our goals align ta progressing
gender equality, decent work and economic
growth, and reducing inequalities. The
strategy document concludes by setting

out our 2030 DE&! Performance Indicators,
for example in terms of ethnic and gender
diversity, to enable us to continue to deliver
on our promise of cantinuaus improvement.

In 2021/22, we made 2 further commitment
to DE&I, ensuring that all employee
feedback channels such as our exit
interviews and engagement surveys
included diversity demographics. This was
to help us ensure all our employees feel

* listened (0 no matter their background and

also to understand where employees of
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different backgrounds, ethnicity,
experiences may be encountering
challenges at British Land so we can
improve. In the 2022 engagement survey,
89% of employees agreed that "Diversity

is a stated value or priority for British Land,
this very high score emphasises the
engagement our employees have wilh

our DE&I strategy but also shows we

can always improve.

As part of the strategy, we have conlinued tp
focus on our recruitment Lo atiract 3 maore
diverse worklorce. We have ensured that
aur hiring managers have anti-bias training
and are committed to blind CVs where

we can 50 that indications of diversity are
ramoved at the point when the Cvs are first
reviewed by line managers to reduce the
risks of unconscious bias in selection for
interview. We work with a number of
agencies such as BAME Recruitment and
London Works, to enable us te atiract a
wider range of candidates from varied
backgrounds. We are also dedicated to
understanding the experiences of our
candidates during recruitment and

collect DE&I demographic data to

analyse where we can improve or

amend our recruitment practices.

Qur ten employee-legd networks

support our DE&I ambitions by providing
anather mechanism for feedback from

our employees and a voice for change.

For example, our Pride and REACH

[Race, Equality and Celebrating Heritage}
cammitiees worked on a short documentary
with our long term charity partner Just Like
Us, which interviewed staff and students
and explored the need for diversity and
inclusion in both school and the workplace.

Our Parents and Carers commiitee
launched our new carers’ policy and carers
suppert guide during National Carers Week

Workforce gender diversity at
31 March 2022

All employees
lexcludes Non-Executive Directors)

Senior management

Board

Female Male
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British Land journey

“Ouring my Carear Ready internship,

| got to expand my network and envision
a career working for British Land. After
leaving university my Career Ready
menlor, the Paddington Central Estate
Director, informed me of an opportunity
at British Land. | was eager to apply for
this role and was successful in becoming
an Assistant Property Manager at
Regeni's Place. The team on Campus is
absolutely amazing and the suppart and
oppartunities 1 have been given, not anly
by the people on this Campus but irom
the wider tusiness, have truly made me
feal a part of the British Land family.”

Mohammad
Assistant Property Manager

in June 2021, This gutlined all the support
our emplayees, who are carers, have to
access all the assistance they need,

Our wamen's committee rebranded itself
as equitaBle ta reflect the network’s core
purpose, which is to achieve gender equality
acrass the business. Over the last year the
network has worked 1o break the stigma ol
mengpause. and launched webinars and

an online toolkit ta help employees find a
suite of helpful information. There is also
guidance fer team members and managers
in understanding the menopause in the
workplace. EquitaBLe has continued to host
“In Conversation” sessions with a number
of successivt women including Dr Jane
Riddiford. co-tounder of Global Generation
and lvinder Goodhew, British Land’s own
Non-Execulive Director, tn 2021, our
enaBle committee was successfulin
gaining a Disabitity Smart Accredilation,

on behalf of British Land, from the
Business Disability Forum.

We wark closely with a range of strategic
partners to deliver our DE&I strateqy and
have always been keen Lo assess curselves
against natienally recognised benchmarks.
This ts not only to highlight areas that we
are maost effective and compatent in, but,
more importantly, to help us identify areas
where we can further imprave. In 2021, we
exceeded a key recommendation of the
Parker Review, of having at least one board
member from an ethnic minerity group. fn
the 2021 FTSE Women Leadership review
we were proud (o be ranked 15%in the FTSE
100 far women representation 1n leadership
positians and we have exceeded their larget
of 33% women on boards by 2020. For the
fourth consecutive year we were ranked
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the top 75 empleyers by the Social Mebility
Foundation. Lasi year we were one of 3
small number of FTSE 100 companies to
report our ethnicity pay gap, even though
this is not yet @ mandatory requirement. We
are commitied to reducing beth cur gender
and ethnicity pay gaps. Our executive and
leaderships teams have an objective to
reduce the median pay gap in both

cases by 2% year on year.

Employee engagement

Cur sirategy is focused on leveraging the
skill set we have across our business. We
recognise that an engaged and motivaled
worklgree is key 1o its success and we
need Lo understand what 1s impertant

to our people lo ensure we maintain a
motivated and engaged team. Our employee
engagement susvey prownded valugble
insight inta the priorities of our people

and how effectively we were meeling them.
There were some very positive messages:
90% of statf reportad that they were proud
10 wark for British Land, with 85%
confirming that they would recammend
British Land &5 a great place to work.

Read mare about aur SR Cammittee on
pages 112-115

However, we also understand we have
areas in which tp improve and we wanl to
increase our overall employee engagement
score from 49%. To betier understand the
feedback from this survey, our {eadership
leams are having detasled sessions across
their departmants (g understand what we
are doing well ang where we can improve.
Working with employees and leaders
collahoratively, we will then create an
action plan to address the key paints raised.



Wellbeing

Covid-1% brought wellbeing to the tap of our
agenda and we have maintained that focus
throughout this year. We have continued to
support our people with their physical and
mental health,

Over the (ast 12 manths, cur Wellbeing
Cammittee launched our suicide prevention
strategy and rolled out our suicide
awareness training. Topics such as these
have histarically been taboo, but British
Land feals that awareness an this topic

is valuahle to all employess to ensure
everycna has the tools o support those
who are in any way affected by this.

Our Cycling Network and Sports and
Social Committee have also kepl us active,
connectéed with each other, and focused on
our physical and sacial health bothin and
out of lockdowns and through the changing
envirgnment of the Covid-1% pandemic.
Activities have included virtual morning,
pilates classes, cycling clubs, Stepldber
and mare,

During the {ast year, our Executive
Committee has continued to ensure
employees are up 1o date with the

latest gavernment Covid-19 advice and
Company policy to ensure employee safety.

Developing talent

Qur aim is {e continue to grow ous
warkforce and leadership capabilities,
skills. competencies and behaviours as we
help deliver a sustainabte, successful and
future-focussed organisation with a diverse
pipeline of talenk.

in September 2021, our newest employee
network, NexiGen, was set up by a group
of young colleagues, with the aim of
“represanting and supporting the next
generalion of progerly professignals at
British Land”. This also embodies our
Build for the future value. The neiwork’s
objectives include helping career starters
develap the necessary skills to advance their
careers and widen their networks. [t also
acls as an enabler for ¢hange by providing
a farum for colleagues Lo share ideas and
assistin delivering initiatives, and supporis
the integration of new employees including
those new Lo the property industry.

Externally, British Land conlinues to

be a Platinurn sponsor for ‘Pathways ta
Property’ which aims Lo make it easier

for young people to enter the real estate
profession by raising awareness of and
aspirations aboul the vast range of careers
available within the industry. In 2021/22,
we welcomed five students through our
Pathways to Property and Career Ready

internship programmes, providing valuable
experience and insights into the real estate
industry for young people from

diverse backgrounds.

We have taken a lead role as Real Estate
sector chair for the #10000Blackinterns
initiativa, which seeks to offer 2,000
internships each year far five consecutive
years to young people of Black heritage.
We look forward to welcoming five interns
through this programme, this summer.

We are also delightad Lo be continuing

our partnershipg with the Change 100
programme after a successful pilot

last year. This offers paid internships to
university students or recent graduates with
disabilities or tong term conditions. This
year, we are inviting one person as part of
this scheme on an internship for six months
at British Land. Programmes such as this
enable British Land to source a more

_ diverse group of talent for the long term

both for our own business and the real
estate industry in general.

Bringing fresh new talent into the business
remains key 10 our success. We will shortly
be welcoming four new graduates ta our
commercial proparty programme, joining
the three current graduates in this scheme
and the three graduates on our stralegy
graduate scheme, We alsc have seven
apprentices across different areas of

the business.

As well as bringing in new talent, we

have ceatinued {o invesl in ang develop our
current employees, with 74 employees over
the last 12 moenths receiving a promotien or
opportunity to move roles internally within
British Land.

Furthermare, we have invested £440 000
in personal growth and tratning. and our
employees have achieved over 7,000
hours of iraining across the Company.

We are currently supporting 14 employaes
to study for professional gualifications.
including two permanent employees whe are
currentiy undertaking a Chartered Manager
degree through an apprenticeship route.

Far the second year running, we are
delighted to have parinered with the Circl
Leadership Development programme,
which halps our aspiring pecple leaders to
develop practical coaching skills. People
from local schools and communities are
paired with an employee from British Land
to practise the coaching skills they learn
with Circl. It's a uniquely effective way to
build a coaching culture in the workplace,
while helping tzlented students develap
the skills they need to succeed.
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" spent the first 3.5 years of my tirne al
British Land working at Broadgale,
working with some great people and
being involved in projects like the
refurbishment of the Eslate .
Management Dffice and the uniform
roll out to over 500 employees as part
of ihe Broadgate rebrand. | have since
maved internally and | have worked as
Customer Relationship Manager at
Sterey for the last six months. The
opportunity to grow and develop within
British Land has been s whirlwind and
I'm lucky that throughout my time at
British Land i've had great managers,
waorked with nice people, and our
fantastic HR team have always
supparted and encouraged me.”

Kate
Customer Relationship Manager,
Storey

Winner of the We Are The City's 2021
Rising Star Award

Our internal mentorship scheme at

British Land has also gane from strength
te strength and we currently have 44
employees matched in formal mentorships
across all areas of the business. A number
of the British Land Leadership Team are
matched with members of the Executive
Commitiee and Non-Executive Directors.

Read more aboul our values at britishland com/
culture -values
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SUSTAINABILITY
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Delivering our 2030 sustainability strategy

Net zero carbon

We have committed to achieving a net zero carbon portfolio by 2030 and have set out clear
targels to reduce both the embadied carbon in our developments and the operational

carbon across our portfatio.

Embodied carbon targets

FY22 Highlights

30%

{lower embodied carbon intensity at our
offices develapments ta betow 300kg COz
per sqm from 2030

632 kg CO:e persgm

Embodied carbop in offices developments

100%

of developments delivered after April 2020
to be net zero embodied carbon

Second net zera carbon development . .
delivered at 1 Triton Square

Operational carbon largets

75%
reduction in aperatianal carban intensity
across our portfelio by 2030 vs 2019

25%

improvement in whale building energy

Programme of net zero audits completed
identifying energy saving initiatives which
align to our targets

'E=m) This 2030 sustainability focus area efficiency of existing assets by 2030 vs 2019
&;‘ aligns with the UN’s Sustainable
Development Goal 12
Environmental We demonslrate the strang progress we are delivering by pariicipating in {eading

leadership

This 2030 sustainability focus area
aligns with the UN's Sustainable
Developrent Goal 12

=3

international beachmarks.

Qur target is ta achieve a 5 star GRESB rating by 2022 and we are pleased 1o have achievad

this two years ghead of target.

Qur performance in leading international benchmarks

A GRESB 2021: wece @ MSCI ESG
G § star rating. e Rating 2021:
GREsD Green Star AAA
- COP 2621: e FTSELGoad
;W'CDP A- score Index 2021:
FTSEAGo0d Top 81* percentile
e EPRA —— Science Based
Rating 2021: @ s Targets:
Gold e et o 2 approval in 2021
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Place Based approach

L)

Responsible business

This 2030 sustainability facus area
aligns with the UN’s Sustainable
Development Goal 17

The British Land Company PLC 00421920

Piease find our materialily assessment on our
websile 3! britishland com/maleriality

A Place Based approach means understanding the most important issues and
oppoertunities in the communities around each of our places and focusing our efforts
collaboratively, to make the biggest impact at each place. We focus our community
investment on the five key areas identified in our local charter:

FY22 Highlighls

Connect

€£2.7m community investment, including cash, space,
volunteering and fundraising

Community Funds established at Broadgate and
Paddington Central, in additien to an existing fund

at Regent's Place

Education

58 needs-based education initiatives
Conlinuing te partner with the National Literacy Trust
across aur portfolio

Employment

34 employment initiatives

Refecused cur programmes te support those most
impacted by the pandemic

Business

Pravided 20,000 sq {t of space to NDT at Broadgate
as part of a pilot project to offer meanwhile
affordable space

Wellbeing

Aligning our developments Lo the WELL Standard
On track to achieve WELL Platinum at 1 Broadgate
New 1.5 acre park delivered at Exchange Square
in Broadgate

We advccate responsible business practices across British Land and throughout our
supply chain. We have three key areas of focus:

FY22 Highlighis

Responsible employment

Achieved Disabifity Srart Accreditation from the
Business Disability Forum

£440,000 spent on training and professional
qualifications; 14 spensered through
professional qualifications

Diversity and inclusion

Ranked 15 in the FTSE Wamen Leadership Review

for FTSE100

Exceeded the Parker Review recommendaticns of at
teast one board member from aa ethnic munarity group
Launched new Diversily, Equality & Inclusion strategy
Ranked &1 in top 79 Social Mabitity Index

Responsible procurement

Provided anti-modern slavery training to all employees
Independent anti-modern slavery audits of

key suppliers

Introduced our Contractor Framework, identilying

key sustainability KPls for new contractors

Launched Supplier Excellence Awards
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SUSTAINABILITY continued

Environmental review

We have a clear responsibility to manage
our business in the most environmentally
responsible and sustainable way we can.

Our kay environmental comritment is to
achieve a net zero carbon pertiolio by 2030
and we have maintained our focus on that
despite the pandemic. This year we have
made good progress on our Pathway to Net
Zero and our work on TCFD reporting is an
important step in understanding the climate
resilience of our business.

Qur Sustainability Brief for Development
and Operation, updated {ast year, sets oul
the key reguirements for our assets at each
stage of the property liecycle; progress in
each area is reported betow.

Energy and carbon

There are two principal ways in which we
can reduce the carbon emissions associated
with our aclivilies - reducing the embedied
carbon in our developments and reducing
the pperational carbon across pur portiolio

Developments

Reducing embodied carbon

£mbodied carbon refers to the carbon
emissions resulting fram the production
and transpartatian of materials for

a building and all elements of its
construction and deconstruglion.

Our approach is to do everything we can to
minimise carbon in development and only
then to offset residual carbon, making

ouy develepments net zerg carbon

at complation.

To do this, we undertake whole (ife carbon
assessmenis on all of our developmenis

and major refurbishrnents. This year

we adopled the DneClick LCA life

cycle assessment software for all our
developments, delivering on one of the garly
commitments in our Pathway ta Net Zero.

Current estimates for embodied carbon in
our developments are shown below:

Kg CO:e per
Offices developments =qm
Completed develcpments 408

Development pipeline

including completed

developrnents 632
Development pipeline

excluding completed

developments 5678

For completed developments which include
t Triton Square and 100 Liverpoel Street, we
benefited from our ability to re-use much of
the existing structure.

Going farward, several of gur near term
developments witl be substantially new
builds and in these cases, our focus will
be on using More sustainable materials
and techniques.

Residential and retail developments have
2 2030 target of £50kg COqe per sgm wilh
average embodied carbon in the pipeline
of 662 ky COze per sgm:

Reducing operational carbon

Where we are delivering new developments,
we have a clear opportunity o target more
ambitious goals in energy elficiency. Dur
2030 target of 90kWh, per sqm lon a whola
building basis) for new developments aligns
with the UK Green Buitding Council's
interim targets and the trajectory for the
Paris Proof target of 70kWh, per sqm

for 2035-50.

Reducing operational carbaon case study:

t Broadgate

1 Broadgate is expected to be our most
energy efficient building yet. Energy
intensity is expected to drop 1o one-sixth

of the previous building at 95kWhe per sgm.
This building includes intelligent systems
which monitor usage and adjust
automatically to energy demands helping
to redyce wastage and enhance efficiency.
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We have also adopted NAGERS UK on

all pur new office developmaenits. The
NABERS methodology produces an
enargy peclormance rating for each
office develapment, helping us o track
performance 1o ensure we meet our
targeted levels of efficiency. 1 Broadgate,
our pitot NABERS scheme, is currently
on track for a 5-star rating.

Offsetting strategy

On completion of a development, we offsat
the residual embodied carbon which could
nol be avoided through design and material
choice. We use nature based offset credils
from accredited projects. Where possible
we select projects which also support
biodiversity or have econemic benefits

for Local communities,

Standing portfolio

Reducing operational carbon

This year we completed net zerc audits

of 29 of our major office and retail assets,
accounting for 0% of landlord-procured
energy, identilying energy saving
interventions to support our targel of a 25%
improvernent [on a whole building basis! by
2030. Each audited building has & net zero
pathway which is now being embedded
within its business plan.

Alongside this pracess, we are identifying
interventions which improve the EPC
ratings of buildings rated C or betow to
tomply with expected MEES IMinimum
Energy Efficiency Standards] legislation
requiring buildings to be A or B rated by
2030. Currently 36% of our portfoliv is A or
B rated and we expeci it will cost around
£100m o deliver A or B ratings across the
portfalio by 2030. Many of these are low
cost interventions which deliver financial
savings, effectively paying back in a few

Offsetting case study: 1 Triton Square
This year, we offset residuvat embodied
carbon at 1 Triton Square and the St Anne’s
affordable housing scheme with offset
credits from two forestey projects, a
reforestation project in Ghana and a
sustainable timber plantatian in Mexico.



years. These projects are more compelling
in the context of rising energy pricas. We
expect around two thirds of the total cost to
be funded by the service charge or directly
by custamers.

Al Exchange House, our net zero

audits have identified £2.5m of initiatives,
equivalent to 0.5% of the buildings value
which our modelling suggesis witl deliver a
B rating from a E. Key intervenlions include
LED lightig and 2 heat pump replacerment
averall reducing energy intensity by c.50%.

Fer costs which cannot be covered by

the service charge, we have established a
Transition Vehicie, financed by an imernal
levy of £&0 per tonne of embodied carben in
new developments as well as a £5m annual
float, Total funding in the Vehicle is now
£15.6m. One recent example was the
chitler replacement at Broadwaik House,
which was nearing end of life; the modern
replacement was twice ag efficiant,
generating £45,000 annual cost savings,
representing 5% of the whole building
energy costs and aquating to a seven

year payback en current energy casts.

Salar panels acrass our portfolio
generate 1,731MWh of additional power

Reducing embodied carbon case study:
Canada Water

At Canada Water, we were the first to use
cement free, Earth Friendly Concrete in
permapent piling works in the UK, saving
240 tannes of carban emissions, a saving
of 45% compared 1o the embodied tarbon
of traditional piting concrete mix. We are
exploring the use of ultra-low carbon,
flexible floorplate cassettes which use
Cemfree, an alternative to traditional

cemeqt, Other Low carbon initiatives include
more ¢ross laminated timber, high recycled

content in concrete, electric arc furnace
steel and recycled raised access floars
repurposed frorn another buitding.

Renewables

‘Wa have undertaken teasibility

studies acrass the portfolio for rooflop
and solar cac part possibilities identifying
opporiunities o add to the 2 mega watts of
capacity we atready have installed [of which
half is at Meadowhalll. We are now doing
detailed feasibility studies for two retail
sites and Meadowhall shopping centre.
We continue 1o purchase both REGO
backed electricity and RGGO backed gas,
accounting for 93% and 85% respeciively
aof electricity and gas purchased.

Cireular economy & materials

We are a signalory to the Architects’
Joyrnal Reteolirst camgaign which
encourages the vse of retrofitting and
returbishment. We have delivered on that at
our completed developments [see page 40!
and across all our sctiemas prioritise

re-use of materiats.

Materials re-use at 1 Broadgate

780 tonnes

Total materials re-used or upcycled

200 tonnes

of granite, repurposed from the facade as
terrazzo flaaring

140 tonnes

of steel recycled elsewhere

We also received an innovation credit by
industry hady BRE {Building Research
Establishment] for implementing 2
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materials passpart at 1 Broadgate which
provides information about the materials,
products and componenis in the building
ta enable their recavery and fulure re-use.

Climate resilience

In line with TCFD recommendations, in 2022
we have enhanced our disclosure on the
physical and transition risks that climate
change poses [0 our business, details can
be found on pages 49-57 of this Report.

Our focus on energy and carbon forms

a key part of our work to deliver a more
climate-resitient partfolic. This year we
cornprebensively updated our sustainability
checkiist for acquisitions and {ormally
integrated sustainzbility censiderations
into our Investmeni Cammities process to
enable potential environmental risks to be
identified and mutigated at the autsat. All of
pur acquisitions exposed to flood risk have
undergone a Hlood risk assessment, as
have 100% of aur managed assels and
major developments,

Biodiversity

Bindiversity can play a key role in improving
wellheing for customecs and visitors to

our places, and with over 100 acres of

tand in London under our cantrot this is

3 key consideration for us, This year, we
refreshed our Biodiversily Framework for
Broadgate and intraduced new framhaworks
31 Regent's Place and Paddingtlon Central,
These identitied four key areas of focus:

i| apen space and habitat management;

il the huilt emviranmend; iiil edycation

and comimunily engagement; and iv] data
coltection. Building on this, the Framework
sets out the key species and habitals of
relevance to the area and sets iargets for
biadiversity net gain, improving health and
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SUSTAINABILITY continued

wellbeing 2and ecosystem services. We are
exploring similar plans for all our managed
retail assels.

We are complementing this with roof
gardens at Exchange House and T Appold
Streel, nelping to create a nelwork of green
spaces lor biodiversity in the City. Qur

i Broadgate development includes nearty
12,800 sq ft of planted area across the site
including balconies, terraces angd ground

leval with a further 3,000 sq fi of green

roof space at Norlon Folgate.

Air quality

Each of our Campuses has an air

quality action plan which is reviewed

at teast annuatly. At Broadgate, we have
implemented a delivery booking systern that
enables the racking of associated carbon
emissions which is identibying opgortunities
to reduce vehicle rovements and

. associated emissions. In additian, at our

major constriclion sités, We use delivery
consotidation (o significanily reduce
vehicle mavements lo the site.

Water

Across our developments, we are using
low-flow water fixiures to achieve 2 40%
reduction in potable water use to 20 litres
per person per day. We are on track to
achieve this at 1 Broadgate and Norton
Folgate. On our standing portfolio, we have
undertaken over 10 hybrid energyfwater
audits at our Mmanaged sites to identily
further reduction oppartunities.

Biodiversity case study: Exchande Sguare
At Exchange Square we delivered a new
park which guadrupied the amount of
green space at Broadgale. We warked with
ecologists to add tens of thousands of
plants, including native and flowering
varieties which encourage birds, bees,
butterflies and other insects,

Apprentices at
Paddingten Central

Social review

Building on the independent research we
camimissigned Last year into the sociat and
economic issues in the communities around
our places, this year, we identified the key
sgcial issues we will focus on al each place.
We have integrated these into the business
plans for our eight priority assets covering
52% of our portiolie by value.

We also updated ouwr Local Charter. This
provides @ clear framewark for dativering
our Place Based approach, facusing on key
local issues where we can collectively make
the higgest impacl; progress on each area
is reported below.
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“We work with British Land (o run
employability prograrnmes that give local
residents the skills (o land sustainable
jobs. including ringfenced apportunities
with businesses at British Land’s places.
Despite the obstacles that Covid-19
preserits, and not being able to work
{ace-to-face, we've engaged over 130
candidales across eight siles this year,
praviding virtual training and ane-to-one
support, Over half have already gained
employment in a range of sectors.”

David Cooke

The Launch Graup, who worked
with us to deliver Bright Lights
employability programmmes

23,949

beneficiaries from our
community pragtamme

103

Place Based initiatives al our places,
including 64 at our eight priority assels.




Connect

We connect with local communities on
priority issues and appartunities where we
can have the biggest impact. This year, we
achieved our target of at least ene Place
Based initiative on 3 key social issue at
each priority asset,

Connecling cystomers and community
partners is one of our strongest social
centributions. Qur Campus Community
Funds are a good example of that approach.
Following the success of the Regent's Place
Cunninunity Fund, this year we worked with
our cuslomers to launch funds at Broadgate
and Paddington Central. Tegether, we agree
priority tocal themes, pledge funds and
-award granis to community organisations
doing vital work locally. In the first year.
15 customers and local stakeholders
pledged over E150,000 io our Broadgate
and Paddington Central Communrity Funds.

Education

We support educational initiatives for
local people - helping develop skills
for the future and raising awareness
of career opporlunities in our secters.

This year, we delivered 58 education
inilialives at our priority assets. These
ranged from primary school prejects and
secondary school warkshops (o collage
events and university chailenges, along
with mentering, site tours, talks and
edurational events.

We continued our partnership with the
Natianal Literacy Trust across 29 of our
places, working collabaratively with our
custorners and lecal schools to encourage
an additional 7,800 children io read far
pleasure and improve their literacy skills.
Together, we have reached 56,000 ¢hildren
across the UK since 2011.
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Employment

We support local training and jobs through
Bright Lights, our skills and employment
programme, working with customers,
suppliers and tocal partners across

our portfolio.

This year, we achievad our target of at least
one needs-based employment initiative

at each priority asset and delivered 34
employment initiatives acrass our portfolio.
Recognising the impact of Covid-19, we
have refocused Bright Lights to support
same of those most affected. including
indwiduals whe have losl their livelihoods.
These programmes run across our portfaolio.

We reached over 135 people through

victual employment training and one-to-one
suppori at six retail sites across the UK and
two London Campuses. Besigned to give
local residents the skills 1o tand lasting

"l can’t thank Andrew, the Eating Broadway

team and British Land enough for getting

tehind this placemaking initiative and for being
50 supportive. We've been able to work with 25
local creative partners and maintain our facus on
‘shap small, shop local and shop with purpose’.
Everyone who sells items in the store also works
in the store and people in Ealing have loved being
able to interact with the people who made the
items they are buying. We're accidental retailers
and we've gone from a markel stall to thinking
abaut five year leases and we couldn’t have

dene that without the supgort of British Land.”

Kate McKenzie
Curated Collactive

Education case study: Partnership with
the National Literacy Trust

The power of literacy programmes to
improve life chances was made clear

in research we commissioned into the
economic benelits of reading for pleasure,
to celebrate our ten year partnership with
the Mational Literacy Trust. Publishéd

in October 2021, this shawed that if all
children in the UK read for pleasure daily,
the number achieving five good GCSE
grades covld increase by 1.1 million in 30
years, boosting average lifetime earnings
by an estimated £37.500 and raising the
UK's GOP by as much as £4.6bn per year
within a generation.
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employment, the programme included
ringfenced opportunities with businesses
al our places. Over 60% of candidates have
already gained employment in a range of
seciors. At every site, we connected with
local partpers 1o identify local people who
nepded the programmes mios!,

Programmes we piloted this year and plan
to expand next year included ADcademy
with Brixton Finishing School, Over 110
young pecple local to our Loadon Campuses
and Ealing Broadway look part in online
workshops funded by British Land,
developing valuable skills to increase

their chances of gaining employment

in the creative, technology and

advertising industries.

Supporting local business

We suppart local businesses ta create
apportunities for local independents, social
enterprises and start-ups. This includes
providing affordable space and prioritising,
local suppliers and small and medium-
sized enterprises through our
development supply chain.

We provided affordable space a15of the 8
priority assets and identified opportunities
31 the remaining 3. This includes affordable
workspace, alfordable retail space and
communily and aris space, Next year,

we will expand opportunities across
additional assets.

New Diarama Theatre

Fallowing the success of New Diorama
Theatre {NDT) at Regent’s Place, tagether
we launched NOT Broadgate to support the
recovery of the arts post-pandemic. One

of London's biggest rehearsal and artist
development complexes, the 20,000 sq ft
space is completely free for independent
and Ireelance artists to use. The first
project of its kind in the world, NDT
Broadgate has atiracted a footfall of 80,000
creatives, engaged over 600,000 people and
supported the creation of highly successful
productions. New Diorama Theatre at
Regent’s Place also won The Stage’s
Fringe Theatre of the Year 2022 Award.

Wellbeing

We create places that support health and
wellbeing far gur custamers, calleagueés
and communities and contribute to tacal
peapte's weltbeing and enjoyment.

AL 100 Liverpool Streel we are pitoting

BL Connect, our smart dashboard which
uses Internet of Things sensors around

the building to extract and store data on
how our spaces are being useg. This dats
generaleas insights which help us improve
the working environment for our occupiers,
for example with the right levels cl healing
and lighting, Dver time, as aur bank ol dala
grows, the building will be able to respand
autematically in Line with occupancy.
Additionat features we will {ook ta detiver
include ‘predictive maintenance’ - based an
data coltected, the byilding will understand
how davices behave and will be able to
predict when replacements are required.
Simitarly, with ‘condition-based” cleaning,
data wilt prowvide information on how much
of samething is used, enabling automated
cleamng or replacements to be arranged.
Tivs dashboard will apply o alt new
developments going forward, starting with
1 Broadgate and including Canada Water.

We are on track to achieve WELL Platinum,
at 1 Broadgate, the highest leve! of
certification on this globally-recognised
henchmark far healih and wellbeing.
Working closely with occupier JLL and
architect AHMM, wa are targeting industry-
leading standards lor air guality, water and
tight. BL. Cannect will form an impartant
part of this work.
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We continve to align develapments 1o

the WELL standard. Qur first twao office
developments at Canada Water, AY and

AZ will both be WELL -ready. This pre-
certification supparts us in delivering
outstanding workspaces for our customers
and opens up lhe opportunity fer customers
t0 partner with us in pursuing full WELY
certilication for ernployee health

and wellbeing.

Responsible business

Our activities under Responsible
Employment and Diversity & Inclusion are
covered in the Pegple and Culture sections
on page 35-37 and in the Governance
section on pages 113, 116119,

Responsible procurement

A strong relationship with our suppliers
plays a key role in the successful delivery
of our strategy which is governed by sur
Supplier Code of Conduct. This sets out
clear sociai, ethical and environmental
obligations for our supply chain and
pramotes safe and fair working conditions.
Itis mandatory for all suppliers

Against modern stavery

We uphold the human rights af our
employees and throughout the supply chain.
This year, we provided anti-modern slavery
training to all employees. Through our
partnership with anii-maedern slavery
charity Unseen, we also undertook
ndependent audits of 10 of our high

risk suppliers fwith 11 more scheduled),



reviewing compliance on 12 key areas of pur
Supplier Code of Conduct. These inclyded
tuman rights, health and safety, equal
opportunities, fair reward, working hours,
stall develapment and weorker representation.
Informed by risk and impact assessments,
audits prioritised praperty management
service providers at our assets and
construction contractors on our
deveiopments. All suppliers scored above
77% and by working with these suppliers
improvement opportunities will be identified
acd agreed. We continue to be a member of
Unseen’s business helpline portal, which
allows pecple to report a potential modern
slavery oceurrence anonymously.

We pay at least the Real Living Wage to all

British Land employees and we strongly

encourage all suppliers to pay their UK

employees at or abave the Real Living

Wage. Qur Longon Campuses are accredited

Living Wage Places and also comply with
-the Mayor's Good Work Standard.

Our Stavery and Human Trafficking Statement
can be found on our websile britishiand.com/
madern-slavery-act

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Our external commitments and social
sustainability benchmarks

100%

of British Land employees paid at least the
Real Living Wage. L0000

79%

of supplier workforce paid at least the
Real Living Wage.

Mandating prompt payment

We have bean a signatory to the UK \'\'f"a'mame Pl
Gavernment's Prompt Payment Code since S0 B

2010 and aim to pay 95% of suppliers within
30 days. Group invoices are settled within -
18 days on average. RREFJ @

Reading Res Futate freehold

Fensndatan

Responsible procurement standards

This year, we introduced our Conlractor
Framework, identifying key sustainability
performance indicators that we will moniter
for new contractors employed on asset
management initiatives. We also launched
cur Supplier Excellence Awards to celebrate
and showcase the best suppliers’
contributions in a range of categories,
including responsible business.

Our Supplier Excellence Awards

“We are delighted to be recognised by
British Land in their first supplier awards
~ it felt so rewarding to be recognised by
one of our clients in this way. | can also
cenfirm that having been in the FM
industry for the last 12 years | haven't
seen any other client take this approach
to service partner recognition -
trailblazing springs to mind.”

Glenn Wilson
Director - Retail & Distributian,
Incentive FM

British Land Annuai Report and Accounts 2022 45



SUSTAINABILITY continuad

Net zero carbon
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Focus area 2030 strategy indicator 2030 1arget 2022 pectormance
Pragramme Science Based target - Reducticn in Scope 1 51% 12%
tevel targets and 2 emissions vs 2020
Science Based target - Reduction in Scope 3 55% per sqm 15%
emissions intensity vs 2020
Emtbodied 0% reduction in ernbodied emissions Offices: 500kg COye per sqm Ofhices: 432kg GO:ze per sqm
{RICS A1-AS} on new canstruction and Retail & residential: 450kg Retail & Residental: $62kg
major renovation projects vs 2019 CQze per sqm : CGe per sqm
industry benchmarks
100% of embodied emissions from completed 100% On track
new tonsiruction and major renovaiion projects
[RICS A1-A5) offset using certified carbon
offset credits
50% reduction in operational and end-oi-life Offices: 275kg COqze per sgm On track
embodied emissions {B1-BS, C1-C4} at new Retail & residential: 250kg
developments vs 2019 industry benchmarks COqe per sqm
Operational 75% operational carbon intensity reduction by 75% Offices: 37%
2030 vs 2019 baseline Retait shopping centres
. _ B . ftandlerd aniyl: 3i%
T 25% wihale Bhilding operationat enecgy intansity  25% Offices: 268%
impravemnent by 2030 vs 2019 Retail shopping centres
ltandlerd anlyl: 7%
Landlerd procured electricity from 100% F3%
renewable sources
Environmental leadership
Focus area 2030 strategy indicatar 2030 rarget 2022 perlermance
indices GRESB (Standing lnvesimenis] 5-star rating 5-star by 2022 5-slar
Green Developments on track te achieve BREEAM 100% 0%
Building Quistanding 10ffices); Excellent {Retail);
Certifications Home Quatity Mark [residentiall minimurn 3
BREEAM-certified standing assels - all ratings - 44%
{design and/or operationat BREEAM certificate!
BREEAM-certified standing assets - rated 50% by 2025 8%
"Very Good’ or higher?
[design and/or operational BREEAM certiticate)
Energy ratings  Proportion of units with EPCs rated Aor B - 3%
across assets under management
Materials and Qperational waste from managed assets that Offices: 80% Cifices- 76%
Waste is re-used, composted, or recycled Retail: 70% Retail: 48%
Devetoprnent and operaticnal waste diverted - 6%
from landfill
Biodiversity New construction and major sengvation 100% On track
projecis designed to achieve a 10% net gainin .
biodiversity
% of managed assets with Biodiversity 100% 15%
Action Plans
Resilience % of managed assels and major developments  100% 100%

which have undergone a Hlood risk assessment

1. Fram 207), the 2020 strategy upgraded our BREEAM targets 1o Outstanding’ for Oifices ifram Excellent) and ‘Excellent” lor Retad lfrom Very Good'),

2. Excludes residential,
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Place Based approach

Focus area

The British Land Company #LC 00621920

FY22 Perlormance

Understanding & responding to
local needs

Following sociao-economic assessments, business plans have been created for all assessed sites

Cannecting

Place Based initiatives identified at all priority assets

£2.7m total community investment [including leverage)

This includes £300,000 raised at our places and by our people and £57,000 totat in-kind contributions
24,000 tatal beneliciaries

103 initiatives at our places

11% BL employees are expert volunteers
23% tolat volunteering

Education

Neads-based education initialive undertaken at each pricrity site
12,500 people benefiting from our education initiatives
58 education initiatives

Employment

Needs-based emptoyment initiative undertaken at each priorily site
1,100 people receiving employment related support or training

354 people supported into employment

34 emplayrment initiatives in our places

Business

Affordable space pravided at five of the eight priority assets and identified at the remaining three
Space valued at £2.9m provided to community organisations and enterprises including over £1.7m
of space to New Diorama Theatre at Broadgate

Wellbeing

Annual review of air quality actian plan at all campuses
On track 1o achieve Well Platinum at 1 Broadgate and aligning with Well criteria at Norton Folgate
Delivered Exchange Park

1. Affordable space includes all alfordable workspace, affordable resait space and community space on both a temporary and permanent basis.
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Responsible business

Focus area 2022 pertormange

. The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Responsible
employment

Investin our people

E440,000 spent on training and professional gualifications

Supported 14 people to achieve professional qualifications

Connect with our people

49% engagement score jparticipation score 87%]|

86% staff retention

Provide a safe working etivironment
Injury Incidence Rate - Dffices 21.2% incidents per 100,000 full time equivalent, Retait .00 incidents per 100,000 fostfall
Injury Frequency Rate - Developments 0,17 incidents per 100,000 hours worked

Diversity &

Inclusion 36% of Board are fernale

improve gender diversity at all levels

37% of senior management arz female

Gender pay gap 19.2%

improve ethnic diversity at all levels
Compliance with Parker Review recommendaiions on Beard level ethnic diversity

Ethnicity pay gap 19.2%

Responsible
procurement

Against modern slavery

100% of BL employees paid at least the R
. 79% of supplier workforce paid the-Real’t

{ Living Wage
FWage ™

Undertook independent anti-modern slavery audits of 10 high risk suppliers with all scaring above 77%
Delwvered Anti-Modern Slavery traiming and awarenass for all employees

Mandating prompt payment

Group invoices settled within 18 days on average

Responsible procurement standards
Introduced Contractor Framework indenbifying Sustainability KPls for new contractors on assel management initialives
Launched Supptier Excellence Awards

For aur fulf EPRA reporting see our Susfainability Accounts britishland.com/sustainability-accounts

Sustainable finance

Sustainability is fundamental to our
business at British Land, angd the decisions
we make are envicanmentally and socially
intetligent. This includes aligning our
financing decisions with our 2030
sustainability strategy. Qur current
sustainable finance includes facilities
linked to Sustainability targets as wett as
2 ‘Green’ loan. We also have a Sustainable
Finance Framework’ for debt capital
markets insurance,

British Land - ESG-linked
revolving credit facilities

We have 2 £450m Revolving Credit Facility
tinked to our performance on agreed
Sustainability targets, If we outperform
these targels, we pay a lower margin; if we
miss the fargets, then the cost increases.
The targets inctude the percentage of

- development projects, by floor area,

which have a minimum BREEAM New
Construction certificatran tevel of Excellent
and the percentage of assels under
managenent, by tloar area, which have 2
mininum BREEAM in-Use for equivatent]
cectification of Very Good.

DOuring the year, we signed a new hi-tateral

£100m ESG-linked Revolving Credit Facility,

with similar Sustainability targets and
margin adjusiment.
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100 Liverpool Street — $420m
‘Green’ Loan

The Broadgate joint venture raised a new
£420m Syear 'Green Loan” in the year,
secured by 100 Liverpaol Street, a net
zero carbon developrnent with BREEAM
Outstanding certification. The interest
rate hedging for this loan alsa qualified
as Green’,

Sustainable Finance Framework
British Land's Sustainable Finance
Framework has been in place since May
2020 and enables us to issue Sustainable,
‘Graen’, and/or Social finance. We continue
to develop this Framewark as sustainable
finance best praclice evolves.

I. Available on our website at briushland.cam/
sustainabie-finance-framework
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Climate-Related Financial Disclosures

British Land is commitied o transilioning
to a Net Zero portialio by 2030. As part

of our Pathway to Net Zerc announced in
December 2020, the Science Based Targels
initiative [SBTi) validated our landlord target
as 1.5°C-aligned and our value chain larget
as ambitious. We are a signatory of the
Better Buildings Partnership’s Cimate
Comrmitment, the Warld Green Building
Council’s Net Zero Carbon Buildings
Commitment, the RE100 commitment

to procure renewable pewer, and the
Business Ambitian for 1.5°C.

Introduction

This year, we are reporting in line

with the TCFC reporting requirements
for UK premium Lsted campanigs.

The following sections address how
climate change is incorperated inte

Qur corporale governance processes,
its potential impact on our strategy and
linancial planning, its treatment in our
risk management procedures,.and the
relevant climate-relaled KPis and KRls
for our business. The following sections
and subsection headings correspond
with the sections of the TCF( framework.

Governance

(a) Our senior executive and
non-executive have oversight
of climate-related risks

and opportunities

The Board Director responsible for
climate-related issues is Bhavesh Mistry.
Chief Financial Officer, and the Execulive
Committee member who leads the delivery

- of the sustainability stralegy is David

Walker, Chief Operating Officer. These
responsibilities were previously held by
Simon Carter, who was previously Chief

. -
The Board and executive management team  (Governance framework
at British Land recognise the scale of the
climate emergency, its potential impact on
real estate and therefore the urgent need
le take mitigating action. With the built
environment accounting for a significant
propartion of global greenhouse gas
emissions, we also acknowledge our
responsibility Lo take action to minimise
our carbon faotprint and collaborate with
our customers, and the peaple who use gur
spaces io do the samé. Our achievernents in
developing and managing more sustainable
space have heen recognised for more than a
decade and building on this, in 2020 we set
out an ambitious appreach to achieving a
nel zero carbon managed portfalio by 2030.
This s a goal shared by our investers,
customers, partners and people. We believe
that delivering on these targets will create
clear value for our business as demand
from accupiers and investors further
gravitates towards the best, most
sustainable space.

Exceutive and Management

Sustainability
Commilttee*

TCFD Working
Group

Risk
Committee

C5R Committee

™

Board of

Directors

Audit
Committee

* Members include representatives from across the business: Asset managernent, DOevelgpment, Finance,
lnvestment. Procurement, Property management, Risk management, Strategy and Sustainability,
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Financial Officer and who remains

a champion of sustainability as Chief
Exetutive Officer. Simon previously taok
partin The Prince of Wales's Business &
Sustainability Programme at the Cambridge
Institute for Sustainability Leadership. The
chairships of the Risk and Sustainability
Committees have transfterred from Simon
te Bhavesh and David respectively,

Climate change and systainability
considerations are integral to our
investment and deveiopment decisions,
formatly reviewed within investment
Committee papers and fully considered
by the Board in all investment decisions.
A recent example incfudes our plans to
upgrade 3 Sheldon Square (o alf electric.
Achievernant of sustainability KPis are also
reflected in the remuneration poticy for
Executive Jireclors and all Executive
Committee members have specific
Sustainability-related annual

objectives {see pages 138-139].

The Board is updated on climate-related
issues at least annually and has ultimate
oversight of risk management. In recent
years, the Board's annual off-site strategy
event has intluded climate-focused agenda
items and specific sections on sustainabilily.
In January 2022, the Board was given an
update on our progress against our 2030
sustainability strategy, at ihe end of the

first full year since launch,

Climate change is alse considared by our
Board Committees. Over the past year,
the full Board received a deep-dive an the
progress against cur 2030 Sustainability
Strategy' and the future initiatives that
witl drive carban reduction. Qur subject
matler éxperls provided detailed training
on the technical aspects of embadied and
operatianal carbon. The Baard's CSR
Commiltee recaved three updates from
the sustainability team, each including
detailed coverage of the Net dero strategy,
ERC compliarice, 3nd the TCFD scenario
analysis pracess. The Remuneration
Cammittee warked with the susiainability
teamn to devise ESG targets for exacutive
remuneration, and the Audit Commillea
recewved & progress updale during the
year ort the develapment af this disclosure.

Significant and emerging risks are
escalated to the Audit Committee and
climate risk is tracked as part of our
“Environmental Susiainability’ principal risk
category {see pages 84-94]. Qur Board C5R
Committee meets three times a year and
oversees the delivery of the Sustainabslity
Strategy, including the delivery of the
Pathway to Net Zero and the management

of climate-related risks. Over 2021/22, the
Board was updated on the TCFi transition
risk assessment and the propesed MEES
ragulation’s new minimurn EPC thresholds
for 2030.

{b) The Board delegates
responsibility for assessing

and managing our response to
material climate-related risks
and opportunities

Climale-related risks are considerad

by the Risk Commitiee, which consists

of the Executive Committee and leaders
from across the business, including
procurement, development, finance and
property management. Each business area
mainiains a comprehensive risk register,
which is reviewed guarterly by (he Risk
Committee. Climale risks are identified
through a process involving trend analysis
and stakeholder engagement as part of our
‘Environmental Sustainability’ principal risk.
Members of the sustainability team monitor
climate risk and update the Risk Cormnmittee
at each meeting throughout the year. The
Risk Committee reports into the Board's
Audit Committee.

Identified risks are incorporated inta

our risk framework and managed by

the appropriate business areas. Progress
against our TCFD workstreams is reported
to the Risk and Sustainability Committees,
both af which meet quarterly. Following the
completion of scenario anatysis, we have
established a TCFD Working Graup to
manitor and manage our delivery. ¢haired
by the COQ. Uitimate oversight is at Board
level, to which gyr CSR Commiitea reports.
Any resuliing disclosure requires approval
by the Avdit Cornmitiee,

Strategy

(a) We have identified the
following climate-related risks
an«d opportunities over ous
short, medium and long term
time horizons

This section will detail (i) our
approach to scenario analysis

and defining material risks and
opportunities, {it) the material

tisks and opportunities identified

by our analysis, (iii) the impact and
our organisational response to these
risks and opportunities, and (iv) how
we incorporate resilience to climate
change into the organisation.

1. Qur 2030 Skrategy is avaitable online at britishiand com/sustainability-accounts
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Introduction to scenario analysis

Over the past five years, British Land has
worked with expert advisors ta identify and
assess our exposure to climate-related
risks and opportunities. This included

an initial risk screening undertaken with
Verco [2017), a set of internal climate risk
workshops [acilitated by Farum lor the
Fulure 12019}, and quantitative scenario
analyses undertaken by Willis Towsrs
Watson {2020-22).

Time horizons: qur scenario analyses are
split into two timeframes, Z2020-30 and
post-2050. In our initial scenario analyses.
we chose not to quantify risks across the
2030-2056 timmeframe. For physical risks,
itis only post-2050 when future scenarios
start to meaningfully differentiate (rom
the current climata, Far transition risks,
when gquantifying risks beyond a 10-year
tmeframe, the underlying assumptions
begin to play an increasingly significant
role in the resulting values. Due to the
tevel of yncertainty that accompanies
these longer-term assumgptions, our
initial anatysis focused on the current
decade (o 2030,

2020-2030: assessed the physical risks
posed by the current climate and the
transition risks posed by 1.5°C and 2°C
aligned transition scenarios. This period
aligns with cur corporate strategy time
horizons as shown below:

Shorl term Medium lerm Long lerm
Less than
12 months lioSyears 5lo)Dyears

Post-2050: using the IPCC’s Representative
Concentration Pathways |RCPs), we assessed
the physical risk posed by 2°C IRCP2.6]

and 4°C [RCP8.5) climate trajectories

Ifor details en RCPs see the table opposite,
This timeframe was selected as, from 2050,
these trajectories begin to meaningfully
diverge. As the standard design life of

a building is 40 years, this is a relevant
timeframe for the Ufecycte for our

current partiolio.
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British Land scenaric analysis - scenarios considered
The tables below detail the physicat and transition scenarios chosen and the time frames that our business assessed itself against.

Physical risk scenarios and parameters
The IPCC's RCP2.6 scenario represants a pathway that is likely ta limit global warming to below 2°C.
The JPCC's RCPA.5 scenaria represegnts a high emissions scenario where warming may exceed 4°C.

Physical climate risks assessed:
lil River fleod, lii} Coastal flood, [iii} Flash flood, (iv) Windsterm, Ivf Hail, ivil Lightrning, [viii Heat stress

Time frame Scenarios Atmospheric CO;  Temperature rise® Sea level rise™ River ftood Coastat flood
modelling modelling
sources sources

2020 10 2030 Current climate 410 ppm 1.3°C 0.20m Munich Re Willis Towers

Nathan based en  Watson

JBAflood maps  proprietary
coastal flood
exposure model

Post-2050 RCP2.6 [2°Ct 450 ppm 1.6°C » (1.55m Munich Re Munich Re
climate hazard climate hazard

_ conditioned based sea level rise data
RCP8.5 14°CI > 1,000 ppm 4.3°C » 0.78m JBA flood maps & combined with
Coupled Model storm surge
Intercomparison

Project Phase 5

* Values in camparison to pre-industrial times.

Transition risk scenarios and parameters

The Paris Consistent [2°C| scenario is based on the Paris Agreement commitments af over 190 countries to limit global warming to well
below 3°C.

The Net Zero Wortd (1.5°C) scenario assumes more ambitious targets that would enable global net zero by 2050.

Time frame  Scenaries IPCC scenarios IEA scenarios  NGFS Temperature 2030 UK price Global
scenarios rise by of carbon net zero
2081-2100 achieved by:
202010 2030  Net Zero Orderly SSP1-1.9 NEZ2050 Net Zero < 1.5°C $15510 2050
Waorld (1.5°C] 2050 $454
scenario Disorderly Divergent $225to
: $418
Paris Drderly 55P1-2.4 Sustainable Below 2°C <« 2°C $54 to $97 2070
Consistant Development
{2°Cl scenaric  Disorderly Scenaria Delayed 50 to $27
Transition
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Defining a ‘'material’ risk or opportunity:
British Land defines 5 ‘material’ risk or epportunity in line with the {ikelihood-impact thresholds of our risk management policy. Risks are
evaluated by the combination of their Potential Impact {financial and reputational} and their Likelihaod.

Financial tmpact

Likelihood threshalds fchance of occurrence

The British Land Company PLC 00421920

Reputational Impact thresholds

thresholds [£) in a given pear)

Low {non-sigrificantt  Less than £18m Low 0-33% Low Limited reputationat impact

Medium £10m to £100m Medium  33-66% Medium  Significant tlernporary or imited
sustained impact

High Greater than £100m  Righ Greater than 64% High Significant sustained impact

Risk quantification to determine materiality:
To datermine matardality, Willis Towers Watson supported British Land in undertaking quantitative physical and leansilion scengrio
analyses. This process reviewed the potential impact of over 20 physicat and transition-related issues, and the gssessment included
input fram Key business areas across British Land. The most material issues identified by the anatyses are shown below, with these *
issues detailed in the next section:

Risks

{pportunities

Materiat issues

Flood risk vuinerability

Customer demand for sustainable space results in a
‘green premium’ .

Increasing price of carbon offsats

Cost of complying with minimum EPC sfandards

Continue (o monitor

Customer demand for sustainabie space resullsin a
‘brown discount’ Lo rents at (ess sustainable assets.

Pramium pricing for sustainable buildings lyield
compressioni

Tenant business model impacied by transition

Lower cost of capital

increased cast of raw materials

Increased cost of capital

The following section considers the impact of clitnate related risks and opportunities - identified
through scenaric analyses — on our business, strategy and financial planning over the short, medium
and long term. It alsa considers the resilience of our strategy to these risks and opportunities, and seeks
to quantify impacts where possible.

Climate related risks
Short term risks [« 12 months)

Risk/type and Primary risk driver Likelihaod Poatential annual Explanation

impact financial impact

Risk #1 Losses from Low o Mean loss: We have cempleted a cimate risk modelling analysis
Flood risk assels located in - Medium for current and future climate conditians for the current

vulnerability of
assets lcurrent
climate)

high ficad risk
zones, prirarily
\he cost to repair
assels and the
cost of business
interruption,
reflected in
increased
insurance costs.

Less than £1m

Losses ina
representative bad year:

£15m-20m

porifolio using the assets’ lotal insured value. This process
simulated many thousands of events. Lossas are modelled
1o arrive at a loss perspective for low likelihood events for
a 'bad’ year. The representative ‘bad’ year refers to a 1/100
annuat likelihood across the simulations and the maodelled
losses also consider current flood defences. These
modelled losses were pro-rated by BL ownership share.
Under current market conditions, these losses are

-insured against

As historical context, in 2007 two flood eventsin our
portiotio resulted in linsured) losses of circa £25m. At

one of these sites [which accounted for the majarity of the
loss), we subseguently installed flood defences, In 2011,
we began commissiening periodic flood risk assessments
across the portfolio and issued flood management plans to
sites at high risk. Since 2007, our [insured) actuat annual
mean (oss is below this modelled value of E1m.

52 British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022



The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Long term risks {5-10 years)

Riskftype and Primary risk driver  Likelihood Potential annual Explanation

impact financial impact

Risk #2 Net zero High £0.75m for every British Land has commitied to otfsetting the embodied

Increasing price
of carbon offsets

il
)
e

100% increase in
the price of carbon

comamitrnents by
global corporates
lead to increased
demand for
carbon offset
credits, resulling
in higher and/or
volatite credit
pricas,

carbon of its new developments and major refurhishments
that complete between 2020-2030. This volume is estimated
to be at least 300,000 tCOhe from developments.

This estimated financial impact of £0.75m reftects the
annualised additional cost of offset credits if the credit
price rises by 100% from our currenti anticipated price
|E20 per tonne).

To mitigate this risk we are currently exploring options

to pre-purchase carbon credits o offset embodied carbon
retated to our pipeline of devetloprments to 2030, In additicn
aur internal carbon levy would caver a carbon price increase
of up to E60 per tonne.

Risk #3

Cost of camplying

with minimum

EPC standards
 IMEES L

compliancal

@,
|
sp

Cost of upgrading High £12.5m
assets to comply
with the UK's
proposed

regulatory IMEES)
requirément that”~
praperties held a
minimum B’
rating by 2030.

Quantified by net zero audils undertaken at major office and
retail assets and EPC scenaric modelling undertaken across
managed assets, these assessments suggest that the retrofit
cost far standing assets will be in the region of £100m over the
caming eight years, annualised at £12.5m..This value excludes
asselts due to be redeveloped through pur near and medium -
term developmeni pipeiine.

A significant proporiion of this investrnent will be recovered
through the service charge as we work with our customers
to achieve our shared climate geoals. We would also expect to
derive energy efficiency benelits, and therefore cost savings,
as a result of these actions,

Long term risks [post-2050]

Risk/type and Primary risk driver Likelihood Potential annual Explanation

impact finaneial impact

Risk #4 Losses from Low to Mean less: Willis Towers Watson undertook a climate risk modelling

Flood risk assets located in- Medium analysis (simulating many thousands of eventsi for current

vulnerability high floed risk Less than £1.5m and future climate conditions for the current portiolio using

(future climates) zones, primarily Lossesin a the assets’ total insured valve. Their modelling approach for
a the cost Lo repair represenlative the floed risk in future climates is the same as described in

- assets and the bad year: Risk #1 for the current climate, with losses pro-rated by BL

cost of business
interruption,
reflectedin
increased
insurance cosls.

E20m to £30m

ownership share.

For the represantative bad year', tower banding reflects
losses in the two degree {RCP2.6) scenario, and the upper
banding reflects losses in the four degree (RCP8.5) scenario.
These modelled losses were pro-rated by BL ownership
share. Under current market conditions these losses are
insured against, and would not be suffered by the Group
under nermal circumstances, though we recognize that

in the long term specific assets could face cost increases

or difficulty obtaining insurance.

Climate risk and opportunity categary

Financial impact category

& Physical risk - acule

a Income Staternent

@.
+ Transilion risk - regulatory

*®4* Balance Sheet

o~
lﬁl Transiban risk or opportunity - market
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Climate-related opportunities
Short term opportunity iwithin 12 months)

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Opportunity/type and impact Primary driver Likelihood Poteniial annual  Explanation
financial impact
Opportunity #1 Anintreasing number Mediom  £7m A recent Knight Frank study indicated

Increasing custamer demand
far green, tow-carbon buildings
results in a rentat premium and
faster rates of {etting

il
|
2

of our custaomers have
announced net zerg
commitments. As gur
portfalio transitions

to net zero, the most
efficient, highly rated
green buildings may
fet quicker and at

3 premium 1o

markel rents.

that there is 2 >1D0% rental premium for
BREEAM Dutstanding space above prime
Central Landen allice remts.

This enhanced hnancial impact estimates
Bl s share of the increased rental income
il 20% of our Offices |by ERV) transition to
BREEAM Quistanding.

The portiolio’s environmental credentials will
tie further strengthened as we deliver against
our 2030 ambitions to enhance the partfolin’s
energy and carbon performance.

Impact of climate related risks and opportunities on business strategy and financial planning

Physical climate risks {Risks 1,4] are managed through sur key policies on developmeny, operalions and acquisitions. Transition fisks and

appartunities [Risks 2-3, Dpp 1) are managed through the delivery of gur Pathway to Net Zerp', which alterls all aspects of our businass
_with key targets.nated in the Metrics section below. This work cantributes directly to aur corgorate sirategy's four key priorities {see page

¢}, and this includes:

impact en business strategy

fmpact on financial planning

Contributes loward
strategy priorities:

Upgrading the standing portfolio Ipreducts & services,
operations):

By 2030, cur targel is Lo improve our managed portiolio’s
whole buitding energy intensity by 25% and carbon intensity
by 75%. We have undertaken detailed net zero carban audits
-~ covering 70% of landlord-procured energy - across 2%

of our major office and retail assets. These net zera audits
incerporate the EPC impact of the energy saving opportunilies
identified, and we have additionally undertaken EPC
madelling across qur managed assets. The most impactful
interventions identified by these assessments are being
factered into each asset’s business plan. to ensure the timing
of implementation aligns with Lease breaks and tong term
asset replacement schedules, Progress againsi these
operational targets is reviewed quarterly and the delivary

of these energy and carbon iargels is proposed as a metric
for the next Executive LTIP as welt as ExCo compaensation,

To manage physical risk, British Land periodically
commissions a third party screening of the standing
portlolio and, where high risk assels exist, seeks to put a
flood risk management plan in place. Currently only 3% of
asseis |by insured vatuel are exposed 10 high risk of flood,

The cost of the net zera transition and EPC @ Realising
upgrades [Risk #3!1sincorporated inlo assel  ihe potentiat of
level business plans. Our budgeting and our Campuses

madium term forecasting includes the

initiatives identilied by the nel zero audits
and we agree these asset tevel plans and
objectives with our joint venture partners

As part of development decisions, our
lavestmeni Commitieg includes consideration
of the environmental impacts of different
scheme designs,

1. Our Pathway to Net Zero_our transition ptan. 1s avatlable online a1 brilishland com/ret-zero-carbon

54 British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022



The British Land Company PLC 00623920

Contrigules loward
stralegy priorities:
) Realising the
potentiai of
our Campuses

Key workstrearmn Impact on financial planning

Our BREEAM and EPC standards for new
developments also support our management
of cost of capital and EPC compliance, with
new office developments targeting BREEAM
Dutsianding and EPC A. Our portfolio of green
buildings is reviewed reqularly by gur Treasury
team when considering oplions io issue green
debt and lo establish ESG-linked revolving
credit facilities. The sustainability credentials
of 100 Liver puol Street, which was BREEAM
Outstanding and our first net zero

Developing sustainable buildings [products and services,
revenues, access to capital):

Through our Sustainability Brief lor Developments and
Operations' - we set stretching sustainability targets for
our majer developments and refurbishrents. This tncludes
our use of the NABERS UK scheme to design buildings with
best-in-class operational efficiency. The energy intensity of
our develapment at 1 Broadgate is forecasted to reduce to
one-sixth of the previous building’s intensity, and these £SG
credentials contributed to the successful letting of this
develupment four years ahead of completion. This example

O Progressing
value accretive
development

QO Targeling the
opportunities in
Retail & Fulfilment

demansirates that our ability ta deliver more sustainable
space is 3 strong competitive advantage which we are
actively leveraging [Opportunity #1].

To manage physical risk, our Sustainability Brief inciudes
several climate resilience reguirements, including the
campletion of a Flood Risk Assessment and consideratian
of incorparating sustainable drainage through design.

development enabled our Broadgate joint

O Active capital

venture o raise a five year green loan facility

recycling

secured by the value of this property. We
expect further, simitar opportunities to

emerge in the future.

Internal price of carbon [value chain, capital expenditures):
To Reighten focus on 'developing sustainable buildings’
and“upgrading the standing portfolia’, in 2020, British Land
introduced an internal levy of £60/tanne cn embadied
carbon in new developments. |n addition te incentivising

cur development teams and construction supply chain to

This price of offsets is factored into
development budgets and appraisals and
the funds generated by the levy [net of ofiset
costs) are available for capital expenditures
that suppert aur transition to net zero. Qur
Transition Vehicle Cemmittes, chaired by the

Q Realising the
patential of
our Campuses

O Progressing
value accretive

minimise embodied emissions, this levy is used to (il ofiset 3 Chiaf Operating Officer, reviews the price level development
development's residual embodied emissions and liil provide  annually.
ring erl;id func(l;_ng to h:\fa?ce energy efficiency projects The current balance of the Transition Vehicle
gcross e standing porafalio. is provided in the Sustainability Accounts

found at britishland.com/data.
ESG criteria assessed as part of acquisitions: In the context of this due diligence, British O Progressing
As part of our strategic prigrity "Active capital recycling’, ESG  Land would only buy low-rated assets wilh a value sccretive
criteria are integrated into our due diligence procedure for view toward future redevelopment inte high development

new acquisilions, including the asset’s flood risk exposure
and current EPC rating.

quality, suslainable space. To manage specific
risks like flood, where necessary formal Flood
Risk Assessments are funded as part of the

acquisition’s due diligence.

O Targeting the
opportunities in
Retail & Fulfilment

O active capital
recycling

Resilience to 2020-2030 scenarios
Physical risk:

In the current climate, based on an
assessment of physical hazard exposure
by Willis Towers Walson, our portfolio’s
exposure 1o high flood risk is limied o
3% of properties {by insured value].

We consider resilience to long term floed

2030 MEES threshold. Our internal carbon
levy coupled with our Transition Vehicle
provides the company with a formal price
of carbon and introduces a governance
structure which supports cur focus on
seeking high guality affset credits while
managing cost risk.

Transition opportunities:

porifolio - driven in part by our Sustainable
Finance Framework.

Resilience to post-2050 scenarios
Physical risk:

In the two post-2050 scenarios assessed.,
only flood risk was assessed as ‘material’,

In the two degree scenario IRCP2.4, 3%
of our properties by insured value) are

Our development pipeline’s use of NABERS
energy star ratings and the upgrading of
existing assets as part of our Pathway to
Net Zero will suppart British Land’s ability
to generate higher rents, as accupiers

are prepared to pay a premium for more
sustainable space. Qur assets’ sustainability
credentials will be further evidenced

by the ferecast BREEAM ratings of cur
development pipeline and our programme
for upgrading the ratings of our standing

risk through the requirements of the
'Climate Resilience” section of our
Sustainability Brief for Developments
and Operations.

exposed to high flood risk.

In the four degree scenario (RCP8.9),

the huigh emissions scenario where no
additional actian is taken to protect assets
or Landon, exposure to high floed risk could
be up to 15% of insured value.

Transition risk:

Through our Pathway to Net Zero and cur
2030 envirgamental targets we have a clear
plan 1o improve the energy efficiency of our
portfolic which will resull in the upgrading
of EPCs in line with the proposed

We consider resilience to long term [lood
risk through the requirements of the
‘Climate Resilience’ section of our
Sustainability Brief.

1 Cur Susiainability Brief for Developments and Operations is available online and can be found at britishland com/Sustainatility-Brief
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“Oor risk register tracks:

TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES ITCFD] continved

Risk management

We have a rigorous process
for identifying and assessing
climate-related risks.

Qur risk mapping process allows us to
determine the relative significance of
principal risks. As part of the 'Environmentat
Sustainability’ principal risk category,
climate change is monitored by the Risk
Commiltes, chaired by our CFQ, with
reporting to the Audit Cormmittes and
ultimately the Board. For specialist
snalysis, British Land engages expert
advisors notably Willis Towers Watson
who underiopk the quantilative scenario
analyses. We determine the materiality of
patential risks lincluding climate-related
risks} using the corporate risk threshalds
noted on page 52.

i. Oescription of the risk {identification]

it. Impact-likelihood rating levaluation
enabling prioritisation]

iii. Mitigants Imitigationl

iv. Risk owner Imaonitoring)

As parl of our operational process,

we maintain asset plans which inctude
provisions for identifying climate-related
risks and gppartunities, such as flood risk
assessments and audids to identify energy
saving cpportunities. Our sustainability
checklist for acguisilions sets out our
environmental criteria for acquiring a new
property, including energy efficiency and

flood risk categories. Dur Sustainability
Brief for Developments and Dperations
sets out pur environmental criteria for new
canstructions and renovations, including
requirements for energy efficiency, flood
risk, materials choice and embodiad
carban reductions.

The Sustainabitity Committee -

composed of seniar managers from
across the business - meels quarierly.
This commitlee, chaired by the Chiel
Operaling Officer, is a key forum for
discussing climate-retated risks and
apportunities at the operational tevel

and ensures we remain on track to

deliver against our long term sustainability
objeclives. Additionatly, for energy and
emissions savings opportunities identified
at assel level, staff can directly submit an
internal application far funding from the
Transition Vehicle, which funds our standing
pertfolio’s low-carbon transition through
an intefnal [Bvy on the embodied carbon

in our develapments.

We have well established
processes for managing
climate-related risks.

Qur process for mitigating, accepting
and conirolling principal risks. including
climate-related risks, 15 set out on
pages 84-94 of this Report. We pricritise
principal risks through our corporate
risk register and risk heat map.

The impact-liketihood rating, which is
evatuated dyring risk identification, is aur
primary metsic for prioritising risks. As a
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printipat risk category, climate changa risks
are logged in cur corporate risk register
with key changes reviewed quasterly by

the Risk Commities, which comprises

the Executive Commitiee and senior
management. The Beard is ultimatety
responsible for and determines the nature
and extent of principal risks it is willing

lo take to achieve its strategic objectives.

QOur processes for identifying,
assessing, and managing climate--
related risks are integrated into
the organisation’s overail

risk management.

_ Climate-related risks are identilied

and assessed using our corparate risk
management framework, set out on

pages 84-96 of this Reporl. We cansider
climate change within gur 'Environmental
Sustainability’ risk, which was added as a
siandalone principal risk last year to reflect
its significance 10 both our business and
our cuslomers.

Alsn, the external aspecls of climate-
related risks are incarparated within our
‘Major Event/Business Disruption’ and
‘Political, Legal and Regulatory’ principal
risks. We define principal risks as those

~ with a subsiantive financial or stralegic

impact an the business, medium/high
likelihood of accurrence and medium/high
polential impact on our performance. Our
tntegraled appraach combines a lop-down
strategic view with a complementary
hottam-up aperational process,
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Metrics and targets

Please see our Sustainability Accounts' for British Land’s full set of climate and energy perfarmance reporting and SASB metrics.

{a) Our metrics to assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line with our strategy and risk
management process.
Climate-related risks {KRIs)

2022 2021 2020
Policy and legal Risk #3 EPCs rated A [by ERV] ‘ 2 24 25
EPCs rated B lby ERV] 34
: EPCs rated C {by ERV] 34
EPCs rated D lby ERV] 20 7 70
EPCs rated E {by ERV| 7
EPCs rated F [by ERV) 1 5 5
EPCs rated G [by ERV] 2
Extreme weather Risks #1 Percentage of portfolic located in 100-year flood Zones
and #4 [% by total insured value) 3% nr nr
High flood risk assets with flood management plans [% by value] 9% 99% 100%
2. 2020 and 2021 by floor area and not ERV.
- Climate-related opportunities [targets and KPIs) - .
— - - 2022 zuil 2020
Resource Risk #2 5G% improvement in embodied carbon intensity of majar office
efficiency develogmenis completed from April 2020 (kg COe per sqml 632 8407 -
Opportunity  75% imgrovement in whole building carben intensity of the managed
#1 partialio by 2030 vs 2019 [Ofices] 37% 41% 3%
25% improvernent in whole building energy intensity of the managed
portiolio by 2030 vs 2019 [Ofices) 28% 31% 15%
Energysources (pooriynity  Electricily purchased from ranewable sources 1%) 93% 98% 96%
#1 On site renewable enargy generation {MWh! 1. 731 1,907 1.763
Products and Opportunity  Partlolio with green building ratings (% by floor areal L4% 27% 24%
services #1 Developments on track for BREEAM Excellent ar higher {% by floor
area, excludes residentiall 97% 97% 81%
Percentage of gross rental income from BREEAM certified assets .
{managed portfolio} 4% 53% ne
Risk #2 Internal price of carbon (E per Llonnel €40 E60 nfa
3. 2021 figure intludes Retail and Hesidential developments.
(b) Our Scope 1, Scope 2, and (e) Our targets used to Compliance statement
Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG) manage climate-related N _
emissions, and the related risks.  risks and opportunities and British Land confirms that:
Cur greenhause gas emissions and performance against targets. 1. we believe our climate related financial
associated energy consumption data is Qur full set of sustainability targets are disclosures for the year ended 31 March
available in the Streamlined Energy and delailed in the Sustainability Accounts 2022 2022 are consistent with the Task Force
Carban Reporting [SECR] section of this found at britishland.cerm/sustainability- on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
Report pages 58-58. reporting. Our headline net zero targets are ['TCFO") Recommendations and
listed in the Opportunities table above under Recommended Disclosures as defined
‘Resource Efficiency’. and our nel zera- in Appendix ! of the Financial Conduct
aligned science-based targets are Authorily Listing Rules),
reporied on page 46. ii. our annual disclosure s contained
in the pages above, please see our
Suslainability Accounts 2022 far
more detailed data disclosures and
our website far the sustainability
policies referenced,

iii. we believe that the detail of these
climate related financial disclosures is
conveyed in a decision-uselul format

1. Our Sustainability ACcounts are available online and can be lound at britishiand com/sustainability-reporting to the users of this repart.
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Greenhouse gas reporting

2022 in review

Tontext RE 100 and procuring rénewabla energy

Covid-19 has significantly affected our partfolio energy and carbon  British Land has been a signatory to RE100 since 2014, which
performance, with 37% and 28% reductions in carbon and energy  commiks us to procuring 100% renewable power.

intensity versus our 2019 basetine {Qfficesl. These reductions
primarily reflect the impact of the pandemic and related
goverament restrictions,though we have delivered initiatives
over the last year. notably at Exchange House [page 411,

This year, 0% of landlard procured energy was from renewable
sources. While our proportion of renewable gas rose to 85% this
year, renewable power dropped to 93%. This reduced from last
year primarily due to the impact of onboarding new assets where
it may take lime to transfer these assets onta a renewable tanff.
Funding the low-carbon transition Qperational perlormance

Dur innovative inlernal carbon:levy. applied 1o the embodied carben  British Land continues to operate its energy management
of our committed developments, and our £5m annual flost cantinue  systerm, which includes formal 150 50007 accreditation 2t
to generate funding for cur transition to net zero [currently £15 6m]. cammercial offices.

This year the transition vehicle funded a chilter replacement at the  Over the pasl lwp years, we compleied detailed nel zero audits
Landon office Broadwalk House. The new chiller is expected tabe  at 29 assets including the creation of CRREM pathways for each
twice as efficient and ofler impraved controt capabilities compared  asset. Additionally, we conducted energy efficiency reviews at

to the previous one, The vehicle has forward funded this projest, more than {8 additional assets.

which will be repaid thraugh the service charge. To date, the
Transition Vehicle has approved funding for three energy efficiency
projects expected 1o save 1.2m kWh and £0.2m annually. Following
aur recent programme of net 2ero and energy efficiency audits, we
expeci to accelerate project funding irom 2022/23 as we implement
the recommendations of these audits

Through our development pipeling, we are designing a path
to best practice operational elfficiency, with aur | Broadgate
development on track lo reduce energy intensity to ane-sixth
of the pravicus building's.

Absalute emissions Scope 1and 2: Greenhouse gas emissions — intensity

Year ended 11 March 2022 00 2020
Offices 10048 per sqm 0.071 0.067 0.087
Shopping centres® t00¢ per cammaon

partssgm 0.030 0.021 0.031
Retail parks* tCO;e per car

park space 0.029 0.032 0.040
Shopping villages To be reported in future years
Retail, high street Ta be reported in future years ~
Tatal partfolia 1002 per gross
intensity rental income Em) 37.16 34.03 38.05

Location-based methodelogy

M aris only.
Market-based methodology Camman p ¥
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Scope 1 and 2 emissions and associated energy use
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Tonres COe Mwh

Year ending 31 March 2022 2024 2020 2022 20 2020
Scope 1 [fuel combustion]: 6,209 6.292 6,327 34,582 33,799 30,715
Scope 1 [refrigerant toss); I2A 41 418 - - -
Scope 2 {purchased electricity): Location-based 12,685 12435 15373 60,311 55778 62,950

Market-based 1,423 839 549 - - -
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions and associated energyuse  Location-based 19,638 19098 22,318 94,893 89537 934465

Market-based 2,961 2121 7.615 - - -
Proportion of Scope 1and 2 emissions assured by an independent third party 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Proportign that is UK -based 100% 100%: 100% 100% 100% 100%
Scope 3 emissions

Tonnes COe

Year ending 31 March 2012 2021 2020
Purchased goods and services 15,762 15834 ar
Capilal goods 20,565 28,180 17.505
Fuel and energy related activities [upstream) 5,864 4,186 4.873
Waste generated in operations 243 126 351
-Business travel- -x= - - e o el 41 1.4 200
Employse commuting 248 418 104
Downstream leased assels Location-based 113,491 81349 138,142
Proportion of Scope 3 emissions assured by a third party 100% 100% 100%
Totat Scope 1-3 emissions Locaticn-based 176,053 149212 183513

Accounting treatment of biogas

To reftect our procurement of renewable gas, we report a Scope 1 [market-based] figure to reflact the lifecycle benefits of biogas.

In this market-based calculatien, we use the UK Government's biogas factor which includes CHs and N;Q emissions but zero-rates CO;
emissions due ta CO; absorption that occurs during the growth of biogas feedstock. However, as nated below, bicenergy feedstocks da
produce C0; emissions during combustion, so the ‘combustion emissions’ are provided below for full transparency

UK lactor 2022 total
Biogas [kg COza per kiWh] {tannes COze)
Net emissions [excl CO,) 0.00022 7
Combustign emissions lincl CO;) 0.19902 6,499

Our methodology

- We have reported on all emission sources required under the Companies Act 2006 |Strategic Report and Directors’ Repertst
Regulations 2013 and the Companies (Directars” Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships [Energy and Carbon Report] Regulations
2018 ['the 2018 Regulations'l. These sources fall within our consolidated financizl statements and relate to head aoffice activities and
cantrolled emissions from our managed portiotio. Scope 1 and 2 emissions cover 94% of our multi-let managed portfolio by value.

We have used purchased energy consumption data, the GHG Protocol Corperate Accounting and Reporting Standard [revised edition]
and emission factors fram the UK Government’'s GHG Conversion Faclors lor Company Reporting 2021,

- Omissions and estimations: For landlord procured utilities, where asset energy and water data was partially unavailable, we used data
fram adjacent periods to estimate data for missing periods. In 2021/22, this acceunts for 5.8% of total reported energy consumption
and 6.8% of total reported waler consumption. For the calculation of Scope 3 value chain emissians, please see the full methodelogy
in the reporting criteria of our Sustainability Accounts 2022,

- Grass Rental Income IGRI) from the managed portfolio camprises Group GRI of £345m [2021: £382ml, plus 100% of the GRI generated
by joint ventures and funds af £314m (2021: £299m), less ORI generated assels outside the managed portfolic af £50m [2021: £117m].

- For full Scope 3 greenhouse gas reporting, see the British Land Sustainaility Accounts 2022 at britishtand .com/sustainability-reporting
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NON-FINANCIAL REPORTING DISCLOSURE

Non-financial reporting disclosure
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Non-financial avea/Description Risk
of business madel areas! Policies Purpose and scape Qperation and outcome
Financial Crime 1 Anti-Brivery and  — Details the expected canduct of all These robyst poticies around financial crime

Compliance Corrugtion British Land staff with respect to campliatce reflact our zero-talerance approach to
We operate a zero- Policy relalionships with suppliers, agenis. such activity both in and areund the business: they have
tolerance approach te public athcials and charitable and been dralted o provide lor education and monitaring
bribery, corruptian and political organisations in additiop 1o deterrence and prevention. The policies
fraud. More information - Qullines s'aft responsibilities regarding are accessible by all employees via the intranet and
is available in the Audit the reporting of any breaches ant mandatory training is reqluired for all staff in retation
Commitige report details consequences of breathes 1o them. Our whisileblowing service can be accessed
on pages 120-124, for stalf and the Group as a whote by ali employees should tr_\ey prgler 1o raise a concern
- Provides for staff training and anqrwmausty instead ufu_vrth :‘!’ielr line manager. Thisis
communication around the policy an |ndeper\der’t‘and conhden_llal lelephung.semce and
as well as monitoring and review wel porial, Brmsh Land carries out due diligence on
by managemen( couplefparties 10 comply with legisiation pn money
laundering and to enable it to consider haw a
Anti-Fraud - Provides for fraud preveation training (ransaction with (he counterparty may reftect
Poticy for a\l British Land stalf and requires on British Land's reputation,
:‘i;z::’:::r‘::222;21::::;:‘:“25“ The General Counsel and Cn»n?pany Secretary has averall
Group where relevant respons:br(ﬂ for alf four policies. These po(r_cles are
Y . reqularly reviewed and approved by the Audit Commitiee
T T T - - == Outlines-pratocal for the reporting and afy matters raised under Ihese policies are subject to
of susp ecl‘ed '@""’ with refereace la exierisive investigawon by the Company. Reguler updates
the Group's Whisilsblowing Palicy are proviged to the Audit Committae regarding fraud and
Whistleblogwing ~ Provides contact detaiks for the Group's whis!leblawing matters.
Policy third-party whistleblawing service
- Outlines the types of cancerns
that can he reperted to the
whistieblowing service
- Details salequarding measures in place
for stalt and cullines how the Group will
respond in cases of whisileblowing
Anli-Money ~ Lists ‘red flags’ detailing the kind of
Laundering suspicious activity that may indicate
Policy an actternpt to launder money
~ Details monitating and review !
procedures under the policy
Environmental 4,68 Sustainability - Provides lar sustainable decisions ta Qur Suslainabitity Policy and Brief were
Matters Policy be our “business as usual® approach comprehensively updates in 2020. Our overall

Our long term
commitment to
swusiainability and
minimising our
environmental

impact is ane of British
Land's key differentiators.
As occuprers focus on
minimmising their carbon
faotprint, our ability te
deliver more sustainable
space is 3 key advantage.
See pages 27-23 and
pages 38-59.

3

Cullines our 2030 Sustainability
Strategy. our goal of making our whole
portfolio net 2erp carbon as well as
growing social value and wellbeing in
the commuaities in which we eperate

Sustainability
Brief

Aligns with our 2030 Sustainabitily
Strategy

- Gives elfect ta our Sustainability Policy
Sets nut sur Sustainability ambitions and
the KPIs and standards required 0
achizve them

commitmeat is to take decisions which are
envirpnmentaily and socialfy intetligent and make
soaund Tinancial sense. Our internal carbon levy of

€40 per 1onne of embadied carbon in devatopments is
reviewed annvally io ensure that environmentat inmpact
ol our developments is costed into their budgets. We
participate in key ESG indices lo demonstrale our
pragress and we publish social and environmental
performance data annuatly.

Our Head of Developmenis and Head of Bruadgate have
overall responsibility lor pur Susiainability Brisl, and our
Chiet Operating Ofiicer has overall responsibility for our
Sustamabiiy Policy.
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Nen-financizl ares/Description  Risk

of business madel areas' Policies Purpose and scope Qperation and outcome
Social Matters 689 Sustainability  See above A commitment to good social practices has long been
British Land has lang Policy high on our agenda. and we place great importance
recogni sed thal 3 Sustainabitity See above on the way we w«_)r‘v: with communilies, suPpller§ and
cumrn-trnen_l 10 good Briel partne_rs. We believe that gummfuntgatlun is key in )
social practices is essenbal ensuring we meet our social obligations, and by fistening
Io the way we Operale; as Local Charter - QOutlines five key locus areas where we are \a the needs and concerns of our siaff and communities
occupiers incregsingly active in local cornmunities: conneclion we are better able Lo provide an environment that is safe,
consider the contribution with local communities; supporting inclusive and welcaming. The impact of Covid- 19 has
they make to sacjely, our educalional irtiatives for local people; increased our focus on supporting mental wellbeing
ability to support them is an supporting local training and jobs; which is eflected through regular outreach and
advantage. See page 42-45 supporting local businesses; and engagement with cammunilies, occupiers and stalf,
contributing 1o lacal peaple’s Our Chief Operating Officer has overall responsibility for ==
wellbeing and enjoyment our Local Charter: our Head of Pracurement has overali
Supplier Code - Oultlines standards required of eur responsrbility for cur Supplier Code of Conduct; and our
of Conduct suppliers in a number of areas, inciuding Head of Developments has overall responsibility for our
but not Limited te; health and safety; Health and Safety Policy. Alf healih and safety reports are
working haurs; responsible sourcing: provided to the Risk Commitice. These executives report
community engagement; and to the CSR Committee for their area of responsibility.
environmental impact
- Details our zero tolerance approach to:
child labour; forced labour; discrimination;
and bribery, fraud and corruption
- Provides for monitaring, corrective
aetion and reparting under the policy,
Work practice audits are carried out on - -
ourhigh risk suppliers
Health and - Details how British Land will meet the
Safely Palicy requirernents of the Health and Safety
at Work Act 1974
- Prevides for necessary training
around display screen equipment
and manual handling
— Outlines how health and safety matters are
managed for staff, colleagues, service
providers and others affocted by \he
Company's undertakings
Employeces g Ermployze - Sets out minimum standards required of British Land remains deeply commitled to creating
British Land requires our Code of all emgployees in all their dealings in and an envircnmenl of fafrness, inclusion and respect. Qur
employees to act in ways Conduct on behalf of the Group corporale values underpin our cormmitment to equality.
thal promate lairmess, - Gives effect to gur core values of Bring diversity and inlegrity, We recognise that our warkforce
inclusion and respect Your Whole Self, Build for the Future, needs o reflect the communities we serve in order to
in their dealings with - Listen and Understand and Be create spaces that are welcoming to all, and gur working
calleagues, customers, Smarter Together praciices and employment pelicies reflect the importance
suppliers and - Comprises a number af separate of social harmony in everything we do. This year we
business partners. policies inclutting but nat tirited to: vpdated qur mandatory diversily aqd inclusian training
our Equal Opportunities Paticy; aur for all staif and have provided 5e55i0NS oN anti-racism
Disabled Workers Palicy: our Gender and al_lyshn_p as well as supporting our incluswe networks
Identity and Transgender Policy: and in their activities celebrating diversity - including ]
our Bereavernent, Compassionate Prlde Manth, Black History Mor_!th. Earlh Da_y. Natianal
and Emergency Leave Policy Single Parent Day and International Women's Day. Dur
emplayment policies are made available to cotleagues
on the iniranel and are reviewed annually.
The General Counsel and Company Secretary has overafl
responsibitity for qur employment policies.
Human Rightg 9,1 Supplier Code  See zbove British Land operates a zero wlerance approach to human
British Land recagnises the of Conduce rights infringements by any of our suppliers, occupiers or
impnrtaqce of respecting Slavery and ~ Indicates higher risk areas including the pattneﬁs, We carry gut due dilige:nce on all parties that we
human rights and has Human procurement of specilic materials and fair waork with and require our suppliers to demanstrate the

same cofnmitment to the prevention of human rights
abuses in their operations. Our Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement can be found om our website and
is reviewed and vpdated annually [brit:shland .com/
micdern-slavery-acil

been a signatary tg the
UN Global Compact since
2009. We are cammitted
ta the respansible
management of soctal,
ethical and erwirgnmentat
issues across our supply
chain For further
informaticn abayt qur
activities in this area, see
our Suslainability Accounts.

Traflicking treatmenl of workers on construction sites
Staternent - Ouilines strategy for reduction of risk in
our supply chains with regard to social,
environmental and ethical issues
~ Qur anti-modern stavery training is
mandaiory for all directly employed stafi

1. Linkages ta our Principal risks can be found on pages 88-96.
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PERFORMANCF REVIEW

Market
backdrop

Macro-economic context

The UK economy responded well (e the
lifting af Covid-19 restrictivig, expanding

by 7.4% in the calendar year and by March
was 1.2% above pre-Covid levals. However,
the combination of Covid. Brexit and rising
energy prices has reduced capacity in

the ecanomy, putting pressure on prices
towards the end of the year. Inflation has
risen {asier than expecled, up 7% in March
2022 compared to up 6.2% the previous
month and in response. interest rates have
been increased. Consumer confidence has
weakened sincgthe sdmmerwith céncerns
around rising prices and the prospect of a
real income squeeze weighing on sentiment
but unemployment has quickly recovered

to pre pandemic levels at under § %. Most
forecasters are still expecting growth for
the 2022 calendar year but with risks (o

the downside if the economic impact of the
war in Ukraine worsens. Given this broader
macro context and with investors concarned
aboul the impact of rising inftation and
interesi rates, thay are rotaling out of bonds
and increasing their allocation ta direct real
estate, locused on subseclaors with pricing
power and affordable renis.

London office market

The investment market has returned

to strong volumes with confidence
strengthening as the economy recovers
from the pandemic and employees returined
to the office. The period under review saw
more than £17bn of investment activity
across the City and the West End with
pricing strong reflecting pent up investor
demand and & lack of available stock. Prime
yfelds currently average 3.5% for the West
End. stable over the year and 3.75% for

the City, an inwards shift of 25bps.

In the Central London occupational

market, take up remains below its long
term averaqe, but is recavering well
following very low levels last year. Take

up for the pericd was 9.9m sq fi for Central
London, more than double the 12 manths fo
March 2021. Technotegy. Banking & Finance
and Professional Services [most noiably
legail were the largest sources of lake up,
Demand is clearly gravitating towards

the very best space, with an emphasis on
sustainability, wellness, shared and tlexible
space and excellent transpart connections.
This part of the market is achieving
premium prices and vacancy is estimated
at under 4% compared 1o ¢.8% for the whole
market. In the context of a more uncertain
macra environment with elevated input
prices, it is becoming apparent that mare
projects are being delayed and as a result,
the supply pipetine is tight, with speculative
developments committed and under
canstruction [to 2024) representing 1.8
years average take up. Reflecting the
strong prelerence for new and high guality
refurbished space, 32% of development
under construction is currently pre-let.

Retail market

Investement aclivity continues to be
dominated by retail parks, which have seen
valumes of £4 5bn in the peried, compared
to £1.7onin the 12 months ta March 202%.
Confidence in the secior is strong, reflecling
tower occupancy casts for retailers and

the important role retail parks can play in
onling fulfilment. In particular, the market
has focused on assets which are small-
to-rmedium in ot size and offer secure,
sustainable income streams. As a resull,
average market yrelds have moved in
200bps over the year to 5%. The investment
market for shopping centres is slowly
improving as investors begin to see

value despite continuing weakness in the
ncecupational market. £1.2bn transacted

in the pariod cormnpared to E430m 1asi year
and yields shifted out 25bps 10 7.75%.
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After a challenging few years reflecting

the structural shift to online and impact

aof Covid-19 there were signs of a pick up

in activity in retail occupational markets.
Activity has been skewed towards retail
parks which are more affordable and where
footfall and sales are near pre-pandemic
levels, and in seme cases ahead. Howaver,
as we move inte a mare inflationary
environment, consumers will be more
focused an valie and occupiers will need
to mitigate the impact of higher inpul costs.
This will focus attention on the affardability
of retail space which plays to the retail
park proposilion.

Logistics market

In logistics, investment volumes remained
very high at £18.%bn over the period. the
strongest ever year of investment activily.
Strong eccupier demand, underpinned by
structural trends in e-commerce has led
to attractive rental growth which continues
to appeal to long income invastors. In the
occupational market. take up in Lendon
and the South East was c.8m sq fiand in
London, demand is particularty broad
reflecting the emergence of "quick
commerce” and “dark kitchens”, although
take up is limited by available stock with
vacancy low ai around 1.5%. In these
cases, central locations are critical to

the occupiers” business models and

are commanding a rental premium as a
result. Forecast rental growthin Landon
is expected to average over 5% p.a. over
the next five years.

British Land Anpual Report and Accounis 2022 43



PERFORMANCE REVIEW continued

Business
Review

Portiolic valuation

£10,467m

Cccupancy’

96.5%

Weighted sverage {ease length to
first break

5.8 yrs

Total property return

11.7%

Lettings/renewals {sq ft] aver 1 year

29m

Un a proportionally consolidated basis inctuding the
Group’s share of joint ventures

1. Where occupiers have entered CVA or
adrninistration but are still liable for rates, these
are treated as eccupied. |F units in adrmunistration
are {reated as vacant, then the occupancy rate
would reduce frormn 96.5% to 95.6%.

Portfclio performance

The British Land Campany PLC 00421920

Total property

Valyatian
i ERY t Yield shity rekurn
At 31 March 2022 €m Y % bps had
Campuses 6957 5.4 Do 11} 85
Centrat London 6.460 64 0.4 it 7.7
Canada Water &
ather Campuses 430 129 6.4 +1 17.0
Retail & Fyliilment 3,500 99 {2.8) 197\ 194
Retait Parks 2114 20.7 (2.0 1151} 316
Shapping Centres BOO f6.1) 15.2)- +3 1.4
Urban Logistics 317 0.0 43 {751 83
Total 10,467 6.8 1.2) 142) 1.7
See suppl iary lables for delasled breakd:

The value of the porifolio was up 6.8%
driven by an exceptionally strong year
for Retail Parks and 3 good performance
across our Campuses.

Retail Parks delivered a valuation uplift

of 20.7% driven by yield campression af
151bps reflecting a sirong investment
markel and improving otcupational
markel given their relative affordability
and compatibility with online retail. This
fully otfsel an ERV decline of 2.0% which
was weighted towards the first half.
Shapgping Centres atso saw same mild yield
compressian in ithe second half, reversing
the previous trend and there are signs that
rents are stabilising with the rate of ERV
decline mogerating in the second hall;
overall shopping centres were down 6.1%
in value. Urhan Logistics was [lal on the
year with strong yietd contraction and
ERVY growth of 4.3% offsetting purchasers’
cosis which drove a negative movement
in the first hatf; excluding the impact

of purchasers’ costs, the value of the
Urban Logistics portfolio was up 5.4%.
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Campus valuations were up 5.6% with

our West End and City portfctios delivering
uplifts of 4 .59% and 4.7% respectively. These
periormances were driven by our leasing
activity, in particular the Meta letling

at Regent’s Place and progress-on qur

1 Broadgate development which is now
fully let or ynder oplion on the olfice space.
Bath portfalios benefitted from some mild
yield compression with invesiment markets
strengthening post pandemic. Campus
developments were up £20Tm, [+11.7%}
including a very strong performance at
Canada Water of 18.3% reflecting the new
joint venlure agreed with AustralianSuper
and progress on Phase 1.

Campus offices outperformed the MSCI
benchmark tor All Cffices and Central
London Qfices by 150 bps and 100 bps
respactively an 3 tatal returns basis,
Retait outperformed the MSCI All Retait
benchmark on 3 {otal returns basis by
510 bps due to sur weighting towards
retail parks. Reflecting the continued
strength of industrials, our portiotio
overall underperlermed the MSC) AlL
Property totat return index by 793 bps
over the year.



Capital activity
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Retail &

Campuses Futfilment Total
Fram 1 April 2021 £ £ £m
Purchases 102 645 747
Sales! [1.063} (117 [1,180]
Oeveloprnent Spend 205 3 208
Capital Spend 28 10 38
Net investment (728) 541 1187)
Gross Capital Activity 1,398 775 2,173

0n a proportionally cansolidated hasis including the Group's share of jpint ventures.

1. Includes 75% sale 6l majority of assets in Paddington Central for £6%4m which exchanged pest year end and St Anne’s {E4m] which exchanged priar 1o 1 April 2023,

The total gross value of our investment
aclily since 1 April 2021 was £2,173m.

The scale of aur activity reflects our siralegic
priority to more actively recycle capital and
trus has been achieved with £1,180m of
sales and E747m invested into acquisibions
in retail parks. urban logistics opportunilies
and assets aligned to innovation and growth

outside of Londor: * -- - - - - - - - -

The most significant transaction, which
exchanged post year end in April 2022, was
the sale of 3 7% interest in the majority of
our assels al Paddington Central 10 GIC for
£6%4m, this was 1% below September 2021
book value and represented a net initial
yield of 4.5%. The transaction. which is
expected to complete within two maonths,
establishes & new venture, with ownership
split 75:25 tor GIC and British Land
respectively and the partners having joint
control. The 5 Kingdam Street development
sita and the Novotel at 3 Kingdom Street
currently sit outside the structure but GIC
fiave oplions over both assets At § Kingdom
Streel. their oplion [which is over a & month
period] enables them to acquire 50% of

the development, creating a secend joint
venture and for 3 Kingdom Street, their
option enables them to acquire the asset

at prevailing markel valye, via the first joint
venture within five years. We will continue to
act as development and asset manager for
the campus, earning fees. During the year,
we also sold a 50% share in the Canada
Water Masterplan for £290m to
AustralianSuper. representing a 12%
premium to the 30 September 2027 book
value after taking inte account capital
expenditure. Again, this Lransaction
provides the opportunity o leverage our
aperational platform as we will aci as the

asset manager and development manager
for the scherne for which we will 2arn
fees. Other disposals included £79m. of
residential sales, of which Wardrobe Court
accounted for £70m, overall 6% ahead of
book value and £117m of retail sates of
which the Virgin Active al Chiswick was
ES4m. gverall 9% ahead of book value.

In Urban Logistics, we acguired £295m of
assets, mast significantly Hannah Close in
Wembley for £157m. This is a development-
led opportunity where our plans wiil
intensify usage of the existing buildings

to deliver a multi-storey urban logistics
hub far Central and West Londan. The
warehouses, which sit within the M?5_ close
to the M1 and ouiside the North Circular,
are ideally located for vehicles coming into
London and subsequently out fer delivery.
We are working on feasibility options for the
sile and expect io achieve vacant possession
in 2027. In the meantime, we are working
towards outline planning consent and
managing the asset which offers
considerable reversionary potential,

We zlso acquired a development site on
Verney Road in Southwark for E31m_ This
comprises low rise industrial buildings aver
two acres and is located on the Old Kent
Road [A2] providing excellent access 1o
Central London as well as the M25 The site
offers immediate redevelopmeni potential
for a mulli-storey urban logistics schemes,
subject o planning. This follows
acquisitions in the first half, including
Heritage House in Enfield, an existing
warehouse we plan o intensify through
redevelopment as well as Thurrock
Shopping Park and Finsbury Square Car
Park where we have an opportunity to
repurpase the existing sites into urban

logistics hubs. Our latest acquisitions bring
the gross development value of our urban
lagistics pipeline to £1.3bn with an average
IRR from acquisition af 15%, which is at
the tog end of our target range of 10-15%.

We also acquired furiher assets targeiing
the value cpportunity in Retail Parks
totalling £350m (including Thurrock
Shopping Park which has logistics
potential]. This includes the remaining
units in HUT, acquired for £148m and three
shapping parks in Farnborough, Reading
and Enfield (adjacent to our Heritage House
warehouse). These represent opporlunities
where we expeci 0 deliver attraclive
financial returns utilising our asset
management expertise which has

played oui well this year.

In Campuses. we acquired £102m of assels
aligned lo innovation sectors including The
Peterhouse Technolegy Park in Cambridge
for £75m representing a NIY of 4.15%.

This 8.25 acre site just gutside the centre
of Cambridge comprises four buildings
covering 140,000 sq ft and is fully let to
technology business ARM for its global
headquarters. The buildings are held on a
long leasehold with significant reversionary
potential and benefit from their location

in an emerging part of south Cambridge,
close to the Cambridge Biomedical
Campus. We also acquired The Priestley
Centre in Guildford on Surrey Research
Park for £12m and adjacent Waterside
House for £15m giving us a cembined
foctprint in Guildford of over 11 acres.

This provides an opportunity to deploy

our Campus proposition and development
skills to deliver high guality space for the
innovative industries in this affluent town.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW continued

Sustainability

We have maintained our firm focus on
delivering our 2030 sustainability ambitions.
This year we were detighted to retain our
GRESS 5 star rating as well as our AAA
rating from MSCY and A- from COP. 100
Liverpool Street, aur first net zero carbon
development. has continued to pick up
industry accolades lor its sustainability
credentials including Green Building Project
of the year in the BusinessGreen Leaders
awards, Project of the Year a1 the Building
Awards and most recently a Civig

Trust Award.

Net Zero

We are delivering against the cammitrents
we set outin our Pathway to Net Zero, our
readmap ta achieving a net zero carbon
partlolio by 2030, We conduct whele

life carbon 3ssessments on all our
developments angd relurbishments and we
are currently forecasting that embodied
carbon on our alfices development pipeline
will be 632kg CO; per sgm including
completed developments. This compares
well to our 2030 target of 500kg CGae per
sqm from a baseline of 1000kg CO,e per
sqm, which was the industry benchmark at
the launch of our strategy. We completed
our second net zero carbon develapment at
i Triton Square which achieved a BREEAM
Qutstanding rating. Like 100 Liverpoot
Street, we were able to re-use most of

the supersiructure, keeping the embodied
carbon on completed developments low

at 408kg CO, per sgm. Residual embodied
carbon at 1 Tejton Square was fully offset
through certified, nature-based solutions -~
a teak afforestation project in Mexico and

a community refarestation project in Ghana.

We made further develepment
comimitrments at Canada Water where

we are committed to achieving BREEAM
Quistanding on all commerciat space,
BREEAM Excelient on retail and a minimuym
of Home Guality Mark 3* for resigential.

Canada Water is a ground-up redevelopment,

50 our ability to re-use existing materials is
lirmited and our focus is on using the mare
sustainable rmaterials and processes.

Qur use of Earth Friendly Concrete in the
permanent piting works was a UK induslry
first and saved 240 tonnes of carbon
emissions. Other low carban initiatives
include the use of cross laminated timber,
high recycled conient in concrete, electric
arc furnace steel and recycled raised
access floors. As a result, embedied carbon
far tha offices space at Al and A2 at Lanada
Water is expected to be 482 kg CD; per sqgm
and 846 kg CQ; per sqm respactively, in line
with our glidepath to 2030

W¢ arg'alsn on site at 1 Broadgate, which
is expected to be in line with our 2030 ¢ffice
largets for operational efficiency ol 95kWhe
per sgm on a whole building basis and is on
track for 3 NABERS 5§ slar rating. Embodied
carbon on this buttding is above our 2030
target at 01 kg Cfh per sqm, bul we
continue ta make improvernenis throughout
the design and delivery process. At Norten
Folgate, which wilf be all electric. we are
adding roof top sofar panels and like

1 Broadgate, it will be fully smari enabled
ta aplimise perfarmance in operation,
delivering an estimated energy intensity
which is in line with the trajectory to

our 2030 enerqy perforinance targeis.
Embodied carbon on this buitding is also
tow at 434kg COse per sgm, reflecting

our ability to reuse the existing materials.
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MEES Legisiation and EPCs

In offices, we are already fully compliant
with 2023 MEES legislation which stipulates
a minimum EPC rating af £ and 46% of

aur offices space is currenity rated Aar B
{by ERV]. For the whote portfatio, 36% is
currently A or € rated, significantly above
the (evel of 29% in September reflecting

a number of recertifications which have
captured improvernents delivered in recent
years. 70% of the porifolio is now A-C rated.
To meet our 2030 objectives and comply
with expected MEES legislation requiring
qur whale portlalio Lo be a minimum EPC B
by 2030, we appointed external consultants
to conduct net zero audits identifying
opportunities to irmprove energy efficiency
and raise the EPC rating. These audits,
which covered 29 of our major assels have
now camplated We expect that the totat
cast far retrofitting the partfolia ta be in the
region of €£100m, which covers the standing

. portfolio and excludes mzajor develapments

and refurbishments where energy efficient
fixtures and fittings are already incorporated
within gur development briefs. This
investment will be focused on energy
efficient interventions which typically have
an attractive payback and in the current
environmant, with energy prices escalating,
represent a compelling investment for
occupiers and we are already engaged in
productive conversations with occupiers
across the partfolio. Overall, we expect that
iwo thirgs of the cosi will be Junded through
the service charge or by customers direcily,
While we are making good progress, we are
primarity focused on impraving energy
efficienicy and reducing carban intensity
whitch is how we wil deliver an our 2030
tarqets of 3 25% improvement in whole
building energy efficiency and 3 75%
reduction in operational carbon intensity,
bath against a 2019 baseline.



To fund any outstanding costs relating to
these interventions, we have established
our "Transitien Vehicle™ camprising ring
fenced funds financed by our internal {ewy
of C&0 per tonne of embodied carbon in
developments supplemented by an internal
float of £5m. Total funding to date within
the Transition Vehicle is £15.6m,

Place Based approach

Our Place Based approach means
understanding the mest important issues
and opportunities in the cammunities
around our places and focusing our eiforts
collaboratively to deliver the biggest impact.
Building on the research we commissionad
last year into the social and economic
situatian areund our assets, this year

we idenlified imtiatives which target key
local issues at each of our places. At our
Campuses, ane of the most effective ways of
daing this is through our Community Funds
~ a forum far connecting our customers
and local communities and supporting
arganisations wha do vital work locally.
Following the success of the Regent’s Place
Community Fund, this year we launched
funds at Broadgzte and Paddingten Central
with 15 of our occupiers pledging £150,000.

One of our key initiatives this year was

the launch of the New Diorama Theatre at
Breadgate, helping to bring people together
post Covid and supporting the revival of this
part of the City. NDT Broadgate is ene of the
biggest free rehearsal and artist support
spaces in the UK. The 2C.000 sq it space

is provided completely {ree of charge for
independent and freelance artists to use
and is one of the highest profile artist
support projects in recent years. We

also announced & partnership with The
National Theatre to bring creative events
and experiences 10 our Campuses. This
involves monthly workshops led by creative
experts facusing on theatrical skills and
exploring how these can be applied to
enhance the working day.

This year, 8right Lights, our skiils and
employment programme reached over
130 people through virtual employment
training and ane-lo-one support al two

of our Campuses and six retail sites.

Over 60% of candidates have already
gained emptoyment in a range of seciors
Programmes we piloted this year and
olan to expand include ADcademy with the
Brixtan Finishing School. Over 110 young
people lacal to our London Campuses and
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Ealing Broadway took partin these online
workshaps designed io develop skills in

the creative, technology and advertising
sectors. Fort Kinnaird's recruilment project
with Capital City Partnership reached 128
beneficiaries with 80% finding ernployrment.

We continued to support the werk of the
National Literacy Trust, encouraging 7,800
young people to read and bringing the total
number of children we have reached almost
56,000 since the launch ol our parinership
in 2011. To support local businesses, we
provided alfordable space across five of our
priority assets, which included places such
as "Thrive” in Canada Water, a community
business hub providing workspace and
meeting rooms to help local start ups.

At Regent's Place, through the Triton Caié,
we provided space to BlackOut UK torun 5
events that provided peer support, learning
and debates for 75 black queer men.

Reflecting cur continued focus on diversity,
we were pleased to becomne the first real
estate organisation te achieve the Qisability
Smart Standard, which is awarded by the
Business Disability Forum to organisations
who can demonsirate a culture of intlusion
for all abililies.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW continued

Campuses

Pgrtiolio valuation [BL share)

£6,967m

Gecupancy

96.7%

Weighted average lease length to
first break

7.0 yrs

Total property return

8.5%

Lettings/renewals sq ft) over 1 year

1,243,000

On a proporticnally cansglidated basis including the
Group’s share of joint venlures.

Campus operational and

financial highlights
- Campusvalue of £7.0bn, up 5.4% driven
by teasing activity and development
perfarmance. Similar performance
from City and Wesl End assets, up
4.7% and 4 5% respectively

- Sireng performance from Canada
Waier up 18.3% reflecting the joint
venture with AustratianSuper and
progress on Phase |

~ 11 bps yield contraction, weighted
towards the City

- Weighted average lease length extended
1o 7.0 years reflecting the completian of
1 Triton Square and our leasing activity

- ERV growth flat. Adjusting lor changing
valuaticn treatment underlying ERV
growlh on our offices space was 1.5%

- Like-for-like income up 2.5%. driven
primarily by strang leasing at Broadgate
and gcross Storey

- Strong rebound in leasing actmry with
t.2m sq ft deals {greater than ane year]
driven by devetopment (ettings

- Total lettings and renewals at 1.7m sq ft,

inctuding 187,000 sq ft Storey lettings

- Under affer gn a further 318,000 sq ft,
including a minimum of 103,000 sq ft
at Norton Folgate

~ lnvestment lettings and renewals over
one year, 5.4% ahead of ERV

- 555,080 sq It rent reviews agreed 6. 7%
ahead of passing rent adding £1.6m
torents

- Occupancy improved to 56 7%

- Rent collection 100% for FY22

Campus operational review
Campuses comprises our three London
Campuses {Broadgate, Regent’s Place aad
Paddingtan Caentral}, as well as Canada
Water, aur recently acquired assets in
Cambridge and Surrey Research Park,
standatone offices and residential.

Our London Campuses are located in some
of London’s magst exciting neighbaurhoods
and benefit from excellent {ransgort
connections with two of our Campusas
directly on the new Elizabeth line which
opens this month, Through our platform,
we deliver best in class space which meets
the highest standards of sustamability

and walibeing. provides a wide range af
amenities and an engaging public realm.
Our skl set across investment, leasing,
asset management, property management
and development is transterable tc new
locations with occupiers focusing on space
which best supports their business and
peaple, these advantages position us well
to altract 2 wide range of innovative,
growing businesses to our spaces.
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Wa benefit from a diverse portfolio of high
quality occupiers focused on technology,
financial, corporate and media sectors.
Occupancy is 96.6%, improving 270bps
since March 2021 and we have collected
all aur rent for the year.

Broadgate

Total leasing aclivity covered 751,000 sq
ftin the year, of which 680,000 sq ft were
long term deals. We successfully (et {or
placed under option| all the ofiice space at
1 Broadgate four years ahead of completion
with Allen & Overy and JLL taking a
minimum of 254,000 sq ft and 134,000 sq
frrespectively. The strong sustainability
credentials of this building were a key
attraction and in their press release,

A&0 commented that the building “will
contribute to an 80% reduction” in their
anrwal London affice carbon emissions.

We also completed the office tetting at 100
Liverpoal Sireet, with Hudson River Trading
1aking 20,300 sq {t on level ten. Newly
rafurbished space is tetting well with Braze,
a customer engagement platform, taking
49,900 sq ft a1 Exchange House and Maven
Securities, a proprietacy trading firm taking
38,000 5q it at 155 Bishopsgate. Other
lettings include tegal firm Jenner & Block
a1 10 Exchange Square 113,000 sq it} and
financial services platform Symphony at
139 Bishopsgate 17,200 sq ft].

We have made excellent progress on the
tood & beverage offer, with the launch

of Revolve at 100 Liverpoot Sireet, an
innovalive conrept with guest cheis

and Shiro, a sushi restaurant, building
Broadgate’s repuialion as a lop cubnary
destination, We have also let space at

155 Bishopsgate o Neat Burger |2 plant
based burger restaurant backed by b ewis
Hamillen], Nest la bar and restaurant run
by Urban Pubs and Barsl, Black Sheep
coflee and Hawaiiap poké restaurant
Honi Poke.

We conlinue to invest in our buildings

and are on site with asset management
initiatives including the refurbishment

of 155 Bishopsgate lour share £35m),
Exchange House lour share £12.5m] and
10 Exchange Square (our share E9ml, where
the first phase now completed. We take the
opportunity provided by lease events to
re-invest in existing buildings, to deliver
energy efficient interventions which raise
the EPC rating and refurbish the space,
ensuring that they are well positioned to
benefit as demand gravitates towards the
best, most susizinabie space. We also
completed public reatm improvernents

at Exchange Square, delivering 1.5 acres
of green space, including amphitheatre
style seating and outside events space

with a range of tree and plani life to
suppart biadiversity.



We refreshed our biodiversity framework
for Braadgate, establishing our guiding
principles and identifying the key species
and habitats of relevance to the area. As
well as the public spaces, we have living
roofs at seven locations with 12,800 sq ft
of planted space to come at 1 Sroadgale
and 3.000 sq f1 at Norton Folgate. We

alsc launched an occupier led and funded
Community Fund, replicating the successful
Regent’s Place Communily Fund where we
will work together with our cccupiersn
dentify and address key local issues.

The Campus saw a valuation gain of 5.1%
reflecting 16bps of inward yield shift and fiat
ERVs. 100 Liverpaol Street, which benefited
from tnward yield shift and the expiry of rent
Iree periods, ang 1 Breadgate, reflecling
significant letting activity, were the key
drivers of value. Broadgate occupancy

is 96.7% up from 92.0% 12 months ago.

Regent’'s Place

The key transaction in the year was the
letting of the office space at 1 Triton Square
to Meta which accounted for 315,000 sq ft
of the 388,000 sq ft of long term leasing
activity. Meta has expanded at Regenl's
Place and this deal is a testament 1o their
commitment to the Campus where total
occupation will be 635,000 sq ft. Oentsu
International who had previously committed
to taking 1 Triton Square will remain at 10
and 20 Tritan St ewt (180,000 sq 1). Rent
reviews totzlled 231,000 sq ft overall, 8.9%
ahead of previous passing rent adding
£1.3m to rents.

Regent’s Place is well localed to attract
innovative and growth businesses looking
to cluster around the acadernic, scientific
and research institutions in London’s
Knowledge Quarter. Reflecting this we
have signed life sciences business
Babylon Health (12,000 sq ft) and
Fabricnane (7,000 sg ftl both at -
Drummond Street.
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In December 2021, we completed the first
phase of our public realm improvement
programme and we are underway with the
second phase. This will include rolling out
the biodiversity framework following the
model established at Broadgate.

The Campus was up 6.7% in value,
benefitting from leasing activity at

1 Triton Square and 10 Triton Street,
driving yield compression of 15 bps. ERVs
woere marginelly down D.7%, partly driven
by a change in valuation assumptions at
10 Triton Street which no longar assume

a refurbishment given Danisu International
has recommilted to the building. Adjusting
for changes in valuation assumptions,
underlying ERV growth on our offices

was 3.0%. Occupancy is now %5.2%.

Paddington Central

Total leasing activity covered 154,000 sq t,
of which the re-gear of the Novotel lease al
3 Kingdom Street accounted far 111,000 sq
ft. We also renewed our tease to Incipic
Group, who manage Pergola, the outdoor
dining concept al the § Kingdom Street
devetopment site, covering 20,000 sq ft.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW continued

The Campus saw 3 valuation increase

ol 1.7%, benelitting from the regear of
Novotel at 3 Kingdom Streel ang Vertax

at 4 Kingdam Street, offset by decline at

3 Sheldon Sguare where leases are coming
to an end and we are soon to commence
refurbishment. ERVs saw growth of 1.7%
with yields moving in 1bp. Occupancy

is 99.4%.

Post year end we established a new joint
verture at Paddingtan Central, with GiC
owning 75% of the majority of assets and
British Land owning the remaining 25%.
The Novotel 3t 3 Kingdem Streel and the

S Kingdom Streel development site sit
cutside of the structure although GIC have
options cver both assets. We will continue
to manage the Campus for which we will
earn fees and GIC are cormmitied to our
future plans. This includes a comprehensive
upgrade of 3 Sheldon Square, where we will
deliver an atl electric building, targeting a
BREEAM Excellent rating. This is estimated_
ta reduce operational energy consurmption
and carban emissions by over 40% per
annum. We are planning an extensive
upgrade to the public realm which will
transforon the landscaping and have
commenced works al the amphitheatre
which will revitalise this centrat part of

the Campus.

Storey: our flexible workspace offer
Starey is an important part of our Campus
proposition, providing occupiers with

the flexibility to expand at short notice ar
10 take ad hoc meeting or evenis space.
Itis present on all our Campuses and is
operational across 338,000 sq it [¢.5%

of Campuses). Occupancy on stabilised

Canada Water Phase 1
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Residential units

Sqit Workspace  Retail & leisure Inumber} Total
Al 120,000 9.000 186 273.000
AZ 185,000 45,000 - 250,000
Kl - - 79 62,603
Total 305,000 74,000 265 $85,000

buitdings [ihose two years’ post fit out
or fully let] has increased to 86% as we
have seen rising customer demand with
confidence improving post Covid driving
demand for flexible space.

Since 1 April 2021, we have agreed leases
and renewals on 187.000 sq it of space
and our relention rate remains high.

100 Liverpool Street is fully let with online
signature sarvice Docusign Laking 4,500
54 It and tha Levin Group, a health tech
recruitment business going under offer
on the finat unit post year end. Levin also
have 7.000 sq t at 1 Finsbury Avenue and
have pre-let of all the Storey space at

155 Bishcopsgate comprising 23,000 sq ft,
again post period end. We are now fully
tet at Orsman Road, with the Homerton
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust signing
for 18,100 sy ft, representing half of the
space in the building.

Viewings are back to pre pandamic levels
and bookings at Starey Club, which provides
ad hoc meeting and events space at 100
Liverpool Street and & Kingdom Straet,
have increased over the year. Rent
collection was 100% reflecting the

strength of Storey's customer base,

with the majority of occupiers being
UK/Eurapean headquarters, scale up
businesses ar large multinationats.

-
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Locking forward, Storey will ceasa
operations across 27,000 sq ft at 3 Finsbury
Avenue and International House at Ealing as
we prepare those sites for redevelopment.
However, we are actively considering
oppertunities for Storey on both our
standing porifolio and new developments.

Canada Water

In March 2022, we sold 50% of our share in
the Canada Water Masterplan, our 53 acre
redevelopment scheme in Seuthwark to
AustratianSuper lor £290m forming a
50:50 joint venture. Their parinership

will acicelerate returns and the delivery -
of ihe Masterplan, tringing new homes,
workspace, retail and teisure opportunities
and an enhanced public realm 1o the

lacal community.

The joint venture is committed io
developing Phase 1 of the Masterplan
covering 585,000 sq ft and to progressing
subsequent phases of the development,
with funding split equally between British
Land ané AustralianSuper. The total
development cost of the entire project is
E3.6bn_ Itis expected 1o take ten years

Lo complate and should deliver a total
devalopment value of £5.6bn of which the
commercial element accounts for £3.4bn
and residgential the remainder. British Land
is {argeting development reiurns of 11%
from commitment far Phase 1and low
teens far the whele praject.



We have outline planning permission for the
entire scheme and are on site with Phase 1,
which comprises a mix of workspace, retail,
leisure and residential as set out betow.

We are targeting rents on the workspace

of over £50 psf and a capital value psf of
around £1,000 on the residential, which

are both highly aflordable retative to
competing schemes,

The jeint venture’s ownership is
consolidated into a single 500-year lease
with Southwar k Councit as the lessor. The
London Barough of Southwark have an
initiat 20% interest in the scheme and the
ability to participate in the development
up ta a maximum of 20% with returns
pro-rated accordingly. They have elecled
not to ftully participate in Phase 1 but are
pre-purchasing the 7% affardable homes
at K1 and have part funded the 55,000 sq k
leisure centre in AZ.

This year, we campleted the installation of a
modular campus for TEDI-Lendon, a global
partnership with King's College Landon,
Arizona State University and UNSW Sydney.
Each module uses lightweight steel frame
boxes clad with insulation and requires no
deep piles ar concrete, At the eng of its

life the building can be reused on-site,
relocated in its entirety or siripped and

the materials recycled. The 15,000 sq {t
campus opened lo the first cohort of
students in September and we are working
with TEDI to deliver a permanent home for
around 1,000 students within the Canada
Water Masterplan. We see scope to expand
this medular approach which provides a
quicker route to market for businesses
looking to expand without the formal
cemmitment of a tang term lease We

are engaged in discussions to deliver a

life sciences enabled modular campus and
have interest from other higher educatian
providers. We are exploring a range of
alternative uses across the Campus, uses
which align o our wider straiegy to focus
the business on grawing secters. Qur
permission is deliberately flexible so as

we move forward, we can take account

of changes in demand by amending our
offices, residential and retait zllocations
as appropriate.
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The valuation of the Campus was up 18.3%
in the year reflecting the joint venture
agreement and progress on Phase 1.

This has been a challenging year for

many af sur community pariners whom

we have continued Lo support through

the pandemic. We have strengthened our
built environment education and careers
partnership with Construction Youth Trust
by bringing in a number of our suppliers on
the Masterplan including constructors Mace
Group, Aecom and Gardiner & Thecbald.
Many of aur suppliers have also contributed
their time to building The Paper Garden,

a pioneering new community space for
young peaple. This is managed by Global
Generation, one of cur communily pariners
and will be the largest circular economy
build in London,
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW continued

Retail &
Fulfilment

Portfolio valuation (Bl share]

£3,500m

Occupancy'

96.3%

Weighted average lease length to
first break

46 vrs -

Total preperty return

19.1%

Lettings/renewals (sq ft] over 1 year

1,523,000

On a proportionally consolidated basis including the
Group's share alf joint venlures.

1. Where occupiers have entered CVA or
administration but are still iable for rales, these
are treated as occupied. If units in administration
are Irealed as vacant, then the occupancy rate for
Retail would reduce from 96 3% to 94 .5%.

Retail operational and

financial highlights

- Retail & Fulfilment portfolio value
at £3 5bn, up 9 9%, with Retait Parks
delivering an exceptionat 20.7% uplift,
mare than offsetling a decline in
Shopping Centres {dawn &.1%!

- Yield compression of $70ps overall,
driven by Retail Parks down 151bps
with yield expansion of 3bps for the year
in Shopping Centres, but conlractien of
4bps in the second half

- ERVs down 2.8%; weighted towards
Shopping Centres, which are down §.2%:
Retait Parks down 2.0%

- Like-for-like income down 0.B%.
tncluding the impact of CVAs and
administrations, like-for-like income
was down 6.0%

- Like-for-like incorne up 6.0% on our
Retail Parks

- Strong leasing activity, with 1.5m sg it
deals grealer than one year; 2.8%
ahead of March 2021 ERV and 21%
below previous passing rent

~ Total letings and renewals at 2.2m sq ft

~ Strong pipeline with 679,000 sa ft under
offer, 2.2% above March 2021 ERV and
7.6% belaw passing remt

« Further 555,000 sq ft of rent reviews
agreed 0.2% above passing rent

~ Retail Parks sccupancy 97.6% up 270bps,
reflecting strong leasing activily

- Footfali and sales 91.9% and sales 98.4%
respectively of same period in FY20;
99.5% and 100.2% far Retait Parks

- 95% of FY22 rent catlected

Retail & Fulfilment

operational review

Operational performance

This has been a strong year for leasing
valumes, with lotal activity of 2.2m sq ft.
Oeals over one year were 2.8% ahead of
March 2021 ERV, with a particularly strong
performance from Retail Parks which were
5.9% ahead of March 2021 ERV. Total lease
renewals covering 949,000 sq it have lended
ta outperform new lettings and were on
average 4.5% ahead of March 2621 ERY.

72 British Land Annua! Report and Accaunts 2022

The British Land Company PLC 005621920

Overall, transactions were 21.2% below
previous passing rent as we have prioritised
occupancy to deliver more sustainable rents
which are reflective of the current market.
As 3 resull, accupancy levels are high atl
96.3%. We have an encouraging pipeline

of deals under offer totalling $79.000 sq &
overall 2.2% ahead of March 2021 ERV,

Retait Parks, which account for 60% of the
Retail & Fulfilment portfolio have emerged
as the preferred format for retailers. They
are well connected and affordable far
retaiters meaning they play an impartant
role in 3 successiul online retail sirategy
facilitating click and collect, returns and
ship fram store. Their lower occupancy cost
also rmakes them attractive 1o a broad range
of retailers. For example, we agreed (hree
deals i our Retail Parks with TK Maxx
covering 64 800 sq i, three with Asda
covering 97,400 sq fi, two with The Range
130,000 sq ft} and two with Poundland
125,300 sq ). Foatfall on our Retail Parks
was in line with FY20 fwhich included twe
weeks of closure due to Covid) and sales
were ahead.

Shopping Centres now account for 23% o}
our Retail & Fulfilment partfolie, with open
air covered schemes compnising 6% and
traditional covered centres 17%. We are
encouraged that the rate of ERV decline has
notably deceterated for shopping centres
and that yields on our portfelio contracied
marpinally in the second half. With mare
invesiors targeting prime shopping centres,
we believe the outiook for the best centres
IS more attractive.

Follewing the acquisitian of Heritage House,
Enfield and the Finsbury Square Car Park
and inctuding urban legistics opportunities
on our existing portfolio, Urban Logistics
now accounis for 9% of Retail & Fuliitment.



Feotfall and sales recovered strongly following the reopening of indoor hospitality on 17 May 2021 and sales are now close to
pre-pandernic levels, with the shortfall in footfall largely compensated for by anincrease in basket size, as set out below:
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1 April 2021 - 31 March 2022

Benchmark
% of FY20 outperfgrmance’
Foatfall
- Porifolic 91.9% +1172bps
- Retail parks 595% +3469bps
Sales
- Portfalio 98.6% nfa
- Retail parks 100.2% n/a

1. Compared to the egquvalent weeks in FY20 which includes two weeks of clgsure in March 2020.

2. Foolfall benchmark: Springboard.

With most Covid-19 related restrictions
litted before or during the first quarter and
only shert term inlerruplions as a result of
the Omicron variant, most of our accupiers
have been able 1o operate as normal for the
majority of the perisd. This is reflected in
our rent collection which at $5% of rent

for the year is close 1o historic levels.

CVAs and administrations

There have been relatively few new CVAs

or administrations in the year with just
fifteen units impacted, of which seven were
unalfected. three saw rent reductions and
five stores closed. This resulled in £2.5m in
lost centracted rent of which £2m related to
the Virgin Active restructuring in May 2021,
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW conlinued

Developments
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Current Casl o ERV

Sqn Valye complete ESY Leb & ynder offer

AL March 2022 oo £m &m £m tm

Recently completed 369 545 - 24.3 239

Committed 1,682 487 548 804 212

MNear term 1,925 219 943 764 -
Medium term 7,748

Total pipeline (ex. Recently Comptated) 11,353 706 14t 137.0 2t.2

On 2 pragortionally consalidated basis including the Group's share of joint ventures lexcept area which is shown at 100%).

Portfolio

Progressing value accretive development
is one of the four key priorities for cur
business and a key driver of returns.

We target project IRRs of 10-12% and
altogether, expect our development
pipelirie to deliver profits of araund €2br.
We 3clivelyiiandgethe risk associated
with development by pre-letting space

where appropriate. We have made excellent

progress this year with pur pre-letiing
activity securing £33.7m of future rent and
posi year end, we placed a further 103,000
sq fiunder affer at our Nerlon Folgdte
development, representing another £7.5m

Wholegsale energy cost increases, shartage
of labour, increased cast of materials,
elongated supply programmes and an
increase in construction activity has
resulied in upward inflation pressure. These
issues were beginning to reduce at the end
of 2021 and early part of 2022, with both

- supply improving-and costis decreasing.

This changed with the Ukraine war, which
has further destabilised the global supply
chain, removing Ukraine and Russian
goods and services irom the market. This
reduction in supply, together with the spike
in energy prices resulting from the war,
elevated lender price inflation once again.

of rent. This brings iotal future rent secured  pyr inflation forecast ibased on tender price

to E45m across our recently completed
and committed pipeline of 2.7m sq ft
represeniing 53% of totat ERV. Excluding
build to sell residential and retail space
which we will let closer to cornpletion,

we are 40% pre-let or under offer by ERV.
Total development expasure is now 4.2% of
portiolio gross asset value with speculative
exposure at 6.4% (which is based on ERV
and in¢ludes space under offer], within

our inteenal risk parameter of 12.5%

The majority of space in our develapment
pipeline is either income producing or held
3t low cost, enhancing our flexibility, sowe
have atiraclive options we can progress as
and when appropriate.

The construction market has changed
significantly over the year. Initial increases
in raw malerial cosls were due 1o the
combinaiion of supply chain issues,
susiained global demand and reduced
supply which were primarily Covid-19
related. Manufacturing closures,

reduced production and shipping prowision,
combined with increased demand for raw
materials, such as iron ore and timber,
from China and the USA as they emerged

from the pandemic put upwards pressure in

input costs. These price rises were tnitially
sheltered by contractors keen to secure
pipeline; however, the levels of workioad
and magnitude of cost increases have
nevitably pushed up tender pricing,
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intlation) has increased 1o around B-10% in
2022 from our previous lorecast of 4.5%, but
we expect that to moderale over the next

18 months as wages and commodity prices
remain etevaied but do nat increase al the
same rate. Qur forecast for 2023 and 2024
is around 4-5% {from 3.5%]. We expect the
rate of increase ta moderate and capacity
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10 emerge as some development projects

in the market are deferred er cancelled.

We review inflation drivers to ensure our
contingencies and cost plans are robust to
deal with the market fluctuations. Having
maintained mamentum on our development
programme throughout the pandemic,

we have been able to place coniracts * -
competitvely and 91% of costs are fixed

on committed developrnents. We have

buiit up excellent relationships with Tier 1
contractors and throughout our supply
chain so we are confident of placing
mutually atiractive contracts for our

near term developmenis.

Higher 1and values mean that returns from
tondon developmenis are more insulated

to cost inflation than development in other
parts of the country and we anticipaie being
able 1o achieve the modest increase in rents
required to offset any further costinflation
above our base case.



Campleted developments

We reached practical completion of 1 Triton
Square {369,000 sq ft}in May. Embodied
carbon was low at 436 kg CO.e per sqm and
we offset residval embodied carbon through
certified schemes making this our second
net zero carbon development. The offices
space is now fully let 1c Mata.

Committed developments

Our committed pipeline now stands at 1.7m
sq ft following commitments at Canada
Water, Phase 2 at Aldgaie Place and most
recently The Priestley Centre in Guildford.
The Priestley Centre is lpcated on the
University of Surrey Research Park where
there is strong demand from innovation
sectors and we are on site with an 81,000 sq
it office development which will be partially
lab enabled.

At Canada Water, we are on site al the

*first three buildings covering 585,000 sq fi.
Alis a 35 storey tower. including 184 homes
and 120,000 sq ft of workspace: practical
completion is targeted for Q4 2024. A2
includes 185,000 sq ft of workspace as well
as the new leisure centre and K1 camgprises
79 affordable homes. The Londan Barough
af Southwark are not participating in Phase
1 but will take ewnership of the affordable
housing on completion and have part-
funded the leisure cenlre in A2. We expect
1o sell the residential units in A1 closer to
practical completion.

Phase 2 at Aldgate Place is our first build to
rent residentidl scheme. It comprises 159
premium apartrments with 19000 sg ft of
best-in-class office space and 8,000 sq fi
of retatl and leisure space. It is well lacated,
adjacent to Aldgate £ast and between the
Crossrail stations at Liverpool Street and
Whilechapel. Werks have now slaried on
site with completion expected in Q2 2024.

We are also on site at Norton Felgate and
1 Broadgate. Al | Broadgate {544,000 =q #t]
we are fully pre-let or under option an the
office space ta JLL and Allen & Overy.
Norton Fotgate is a 336,000 sq ft scheme,
comprising 302,000 sq fi of office space,
alongside retail and eisure space creating
a mixed use development in keeping with
the historic fabric of the area. We are under
offer on a mirmum of 103,000 sq ft and
continue to have encouraging discussions
with a range of occupiers.
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Recently Completed and Committed Developments

Forecast
BL Share 100% sqft  PC Calendar ERV IRR
As at 3} March 2022 Sector % A Year Em' %
1 Triton Square Office 100 367 Q22027 243 12
Total Recently Completed 369 243
Nortan Folgate Ottice 100 336 Q42022 231 1
1 Broadgate Office 50 544 Q22025 20.2 12
Aldgate Place, Phase 2 Residential 100 136 Q22024 6.0 10
Canads Water, Plat A1¢ Mixed Use 50 273 Q42024 33 n
Canada Water, Plot A2? Mixed use 50 25C Q32024 5.0
. R blended
Canada Water, Plot K32 Residential 50 &2 022023 -
The Priestley Centre Qifice 100 81 Q22023 2.8 22
Total Committed 1,682 60.4

1. Estimated headiine rental value net of rent payable under haad leases lexcluding lenant incentives)
2. The London Borough of Southwark has canfirmed they will not be investing in Phase 1, bul retain the
right to participate in the development of subsequent plats up to a maximum of 20% with their returns

pro-rated accordingly.

Near Term pipeline

Our near term pipeline covers 1.5m sg f
and includes 2 Finsbury Avenue, where

we have planning for a 718,000 sg fi office
scheme. Embodied carbon on this building
is projected to be market leading for a

high rise tower below 750kg CO, per sqm
benefiting from the use of exisling and other
recycled materials. We expect o start on
site later this year. At 5 Kingdom Street,
we have consent for a 438,000 sq {t office
scheme; our ownership is currently 100%
but GIC, our new juint venture partner have
an option to acquire 50%. Start on site is
expected in late 2023, At Meadowhall, we
bave putline planning permissian for our
404,000 sq ft logistics scheme which we
expect o progress later this year.

Medium Term Pipeline

The further phases at Canada Water
account far 4.3m sq ft of our 7.8m sq fi
pipeline. Al Euston Tower {578,000 sq [t}
we have an exciting opporiunity to deliver
a highly sustainable. substantial
redevelopment, targeting life sciences ang
cther innavation businesses leveraging its
laeation in London’'s Knowledge Quarter.
We expect to submit planning next year.

Urban lagistics opportunities account for
2.3m sq tt of medium term opporiunities.
At Thurrock, where we acquired the
Thurrock Shopping Park in the year, we
see an opportunily 1o detiver 559.000 sq ft of
logistics space towards the east of London
by repurpasing two-Lhirds of the retail
space and utilising the site topography ta
facilitate multi-level development. We see
further oppeoriunities to intensify existing
buitdings at Hannah Close in Wembley and
Heritage House in Enfield, with potential
te deliver 648,000 sq ft and 431,000 sq ft
respeclively of wetl located, urban logistics
space. Both are in Nerth Londeon, within
the M25 and close 1o the Narth Circular.

In addition, we have two cenirally located
opportunities at Finsbury Square and
Verney Road in Southwark aliogether
totalling 213,000 sq ft. In addition
opportunities on our existing portfolio
include, Teesside where we have identified
299,000 sq ft of land outside of the retail
park we could potentially repurpose

for logistics.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Finance review

Year ended 31 Mareh 2022 3% Mareh 202)
Underlying Profit'? £251m £201m
Underlying earning per share'? 27.4p 18.8p
IFRS profit/llass] after tax £940m €(1.083Im
Dividend per share 21.92p 15.04p
Total accounting return’ 14.8% 115.11%
EPRA Nel Tangible Assets

per share'? 727p £48p
{FRS nat assels - €6,733m £5,983m
LTvies 32.9% 32.0%
Weighted average interest rate 2.9% ?2.9%
1. See Note 2 within the linancial statements for definition and calculation.

2. See Table B within the supptementary disclosure for reconciliations 1o

1FRS metrics.

w

reconciliation 1o IFRS metrics.

=

joint ventures

o

Paddington Central, LTV talts to 28 4% on a pra forma basis.

Overview

See Note 17 within the financial staterments lgr definition, calculation ard
. On a propactionally consolidated basis including the Group's share of

. Foliawing the sale of a 75% interest in the majority of our assais at

Financial performance has improved significantly following the
easing of Covid-19 restrictions. Underlying Profit is up 24.9% at
£251m, while underlying earnings per share (EPSYis up 45.7%

at 27.4p. Based on our policy of setting the dividend at 80% of
Underlying EPS, the Board have proposed a final dividend of 11 40p
per sharg, resulting in a full year dividend of 21.92p per share,
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“Strong performance
across all financial
metrics.”

Bhavesh Mistry
Chief Financial Cfficer

Underlying Profit

tm
Underlying Profit {or the year anded 31 March 2021 201
Like-for-like net rent fincl. CVA and administrations) 18
Provisions for debtors and lenant incentives' 91
Net divestment (8}
Oevetopments (12t
Net adminisirative expenses & fes income 113}
Underlying Profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 251

1. The year on year impact of provisions for debtors and tenant incentives was
£91m. This rellects the dilference between the £8m credit 1o the income
staternent in the year (o 31 March 2327 (as disciosed in Notg [and i3 of
the financial statements) and the £83m charge in the year to 31 March 2021,

Underlying Profit increased by £50m, primarily due Lo the

significant reduction in provisions for debtors and tenant incentives,

following improved rent coliection driven by proaclive engagernent
with occupiers and the lifting of Covid- 19 related resirictions

This was partially offset by the impact of properhies entering vacant

possession ahead of redevelopment. an increase in administrative

casts and the impact of CVA and administrations that accurred in
the prior year.

Met divestrment decreased earnings by E8m in the year. Proceeds
from sales have been dagloyed into aur value accretive acquisitions
ang our development pipebine. The recenily completed and
commitled schemes are expecied to generate an ERV of £85m.

of which 53% 15 already pre-let or under offer.

IFRS profit after tax for the year was £960m, compared with a loss
after 1ax for the prior year of £1,083m. The significant movement
year-on-year primarily reflecls the upward valuation movement
on the Group’s praperties and those ol its joint ventures




Overall vatuations have increased by 6.8% on a proportienally
consolidated basis, resulting in an overall EPRA NTA per share
increase of 12.2%. Including dividends of 16.946p per share paid
during the year, we have delivered a total accounting return

of 14.8%.

Financing activity included the refinance of 100 Liverpool Street,
completed in June 2021, with the Broadgate jeint venture raising a
new £420m 5 year ‘Green Loan’ secured by the property at an initial
LTV of c.50%. As part of the refinance, this BREEAM Quistanding
and net zero carbon development was released from the Broadgate
securitisation alangside the redemption of £107m of bonds.

In the year ta A1 March 2022, LTV inui eased by YUbps to 32.9%.
In April 2022, we exchanged on the sale of a 79% interesl in the
majority of our assets in Paddington Central to GIC; following its
unconditional completion LTV falls 10 28.4% on pro forma basis.

Dur weighted average interest rate remains low at 2.9%, inline
with 31 March 2021.

Our financial pasitien remains strong with £1.3bn of undrawn
facilities and cash as al 31 March 2022 and, iollowing the
campletion of the Paddington Central szle, we have no reguiremant
to refinance until late 2025. We retain significant headroom Lo our
debl covenants, meaning the Group could withstand a fall in

asset values across the porifolio of 49% prior to laking any
mitigating actrons.

Fiich Ratings, as part of their annual review in August 2021,
atfirmed all our credit ratings with 2 Siable Outlook, including
the senior unsecured rating at ‘A’

Presentation of financial information and alternative
performance measures

The Group financial statements are prepared under IFRS where the
Group’s interests in joint ventures are shown as a single line item
on the income statement and balance sheet and all subsidizries
are consolidated at 100%.

Management considers the business principally on-a proportionally
consolidated basis when setting the strategy, determining annual
priorities, making investment and financing decisions and reviewing
performance. This includes the Group’'s share of joint ventures on

a line-by-line basis and excludes non-controlting interests in the
Group's subsidiaries. The financial key performance indicators

are also presented on this basis.

A surnmary income statement and summary balance sheet which
reconcile the Group income statement and balance sheet to British
Land’s interests on a propartienally consclidated basis are in¢luded
in Table A within the supplementary disclosures

Management use a number of performance metrics in order
to assess the perfermance of the Group and allow fer greater
comparability between periods, however, da not consiger these
performance measures to be a substitute for, IFRS measures.

Management monitors Underlying Profit as it is an additional
informative measure of the underlying recurring performance

of our core property rental activity and excludes the non-cash
valualion movement on the property portfolio when compared to
IFRS metrics. It is based on the Best Practices Recommendations
“of the European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) which

are widely used atternate metrics to their IFRS equivalents, with
additional Company adjustments when relevant [see Note 2 in

the financial statements for further detail}.

The British Land Campany PLC 00621920

Management menitcrs EPRA NTA as this provides a transparent
and consistent basis to enable comparison belween Europezn
groperty companies. Linked ta this, the use of Total Accounting
Return allows management ia manitor return to shareholders
based on movements in a consistently applied metric, being
EPRA NTA, and dividends paid.

Loan to value |proportionally consclidated] is 2lse monitored by
management as a key measure of the level of debt employed by the
Group to meet its strategic abjectives, along with a measurement
of risk. it also allows comparison to other property companies wha
similarly monitor and repart this measure The definition of Loan e
value is shown in Note 17 of the consolidated financial statements.

Income statement

1. Underlying Profit

Underlying Profit is the measure that we use to assess

income performance. This is presented below on a proportionally
consolidated basis. In the year to 31 March 2022, a £29m surrender
premium payment and a £12m reclassification of foreign exchange
differences were excluded from the calculation of Undertying Profit
[see Note 2 of the linancial statements). There was no tax effect of
these Company adjusied items. No Company adjustments were
made in the prior year to 31 March 2021,

022 2021
Year ended 3i March Seclion £m £m
Gross rental income 490 508

Property operaling expenses [41) [141)
Net rental income 1.2 429 347
Net fees and ather income 13 1"

Admunistralive expenses 1.3 189) [74]
Net financing costs 1.4 1102) (103
Underlying Profit 251 201

Underlying tax creditflcharge] 4 {24]
Nan-controlling interests in

Underlying Profit 2 3

EPRA and Company adjustmentls’ 703 11.261]
IFRS profit [loss) after tax 2 9260 [1,083)
Underlying EPS 1.1 27.4p 18.8p

IFRS basic EPS 2 1033 (111.2)p
Dividend per share 3 2192p 15.04p

1. EPRA adjustments cansist of investment and develogment praperly
revaluations, gains/losses on investment and irading property disposals,
changes in the tair value of financial insiruments and assacialed close oul
costs. Company adjusiments cansist of items which are considered to be
unusual and/or significant by virtue {o Lheir size or nature. These items
are presented in the ‘capital and other’ column of the consolidated
inceme statemenl.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

1.1 Underlying EPS

underlying EPS is 27 4p, up 45.7%. This rellects the Underlying
Profit increase of 24.9% and the £30m movement in underlying tax.
Following the resumption of the dividend in Novernber 2020, our
REIT property income distribulion requirements have been satisfied
and therelore there has been no repeal of the underlying tax
charge recagnised in the priot year.

1.2 Net rental income

£m
20 Qisposals Acquisitions Develop-  Uke-lor-  Piofyear Prdsions 2022
. ments  Gkenalrent CVAand  tor deblors .
administ- and tenant
ralion  incentves'

. The yaar on year impact of provisions lor deblors and lenant incenlives was
£91m. This refiects the difterence between the £8m credit to the income
statement in the year to 31 March 2022 fas disclosed in Note 10 and 13 ol
the financial statementé) and the £83m charge in the year to 31 March 2021,

Disposals of incorne producing assels over the last 24 months

reduced net renls by £E41m in the year, where the proceeds from

sales are being reinvested into value accretive acguisitions and
develogmients. Acquisitions have incregsed net rents by £28m,

primarily as a result of the purchase of the remaining 21.9%

interesi of HUT, the acquisition of Heritage House in Enfield

and Retail Park acquisitions at Biggleswade and Thurrock.

Developrnents have reduced net rents by E8m. driven by

the vacanl possassion of Euston Tower as it moves into

redevelopment. The complated and committed develepment

pipeling is expacted Lo deliver £85m of ERV in future years.

Campus like-for-like net rental growth was 2.5% in the period.
This was driven by tetting activity, including Monza at Broadwatk
Hause, Braze 3t Exchange House and various leltings across our
Storey spaces. Excluding the impact of CVAs and administrations,
like-tor-like net rental grawth for Retail Parks was 4% and declined
5% for Shopping Centres. This reflects improved occupancy on pur
Retail Parks, deals on our Shopping Centres transacting at lower
passing rents and normalised car park and lurnover incame
foltawing the lifting of Cavid- 1% retated restrictions. The impact of
CVA and administrations primarily relates to various retait Cas
that occurred midway throygh 2020, When including the impact

of CVAs and administrations, like-for-like net rents for Retail &
Fulfitment decreased 6.0%.

Provisions made against debtors and tenamt incentives decreased
by £91m caompared to the prior year, with a net £8m credit
recognised in the year. We've made good progress on pror year
deblors; the £119m of tenant deblors and accrued income relaling
to the year ending 31 March 2021 now stands at £35m, primarily
driven by cash collection and negotiations with ncgupiers. As of

31 March 2022, tenant debtors and accrued income totalled £72m
of which £61m [or B5%) is provided for, refleciing that the majority
of these deblors relate to amounts billed during Covid-19 related
lockdowns far which recovery is uncertain.
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1.3 Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses have increased by £15m in the year

ta £89m. This increase is driven by the following key drivers:

added lease depreciation on cur offices at York House, following
our sals of a 75% interest in January 2021; 3 one off accelerated
depreciation charge of historic 1T assets; the recognition of a creda
tn the priar year tollawing the closuce of the Group's defined benelit
pension scheme ta future accrual; and higher variable pay
reftecting strong financial performance this year.

The Group’s EPRA operating cost ratio decreased to 26.2%

[March 2021: 37.9%) as a result of 3 significant decrease in property
outgoing expenses due to provisions made in respect of debtars
and tenant incentives. Excluding provisions rnade in respect of
debtors and tenant incentives, the Group's operating cost ratio

is 26.0% [March 2021: 20.7%! and the increase from the prior

year is a result of lower rental incorne following sales activity and
the increase in adminisirative costs noted above. We expect our
operating cost ratio to decrease going forward, reflecting continued
cost disciptine and the additionat fee incorne that will be generated
from our new Canada Waler and Paddington jaint ventures,

1.4 Net financing costs E -
£m

Financing activity undertaken in the year has reduced cosis by Eim,
including the impact of the 100 Liverpool Street refinance and
assaciated securitisation bonds redemptien,

The impacts of net divestment and developments have been mostly
offset, with proceeds from sales being used to repay revolving
credit facilities, whilst interest on the funds drawn fos our
completed developments is no longer capialised,

We have a balanced approach to inlerest rate risk management.

AL 31 March 2022, the interest rate on our debt was fully hedged

on a spol basis. Following the camplation of the Paddington Ceniral
transaclion, on average over the next five years we have interest
rate hadging orn 79% of our projectad debt with £1% fixed lincluding
swaps} and the balance capped. Our finance casis are aflected

by market ratas which apply te debt which is either unhedgad or
where the cap strike rates are above the current rate. The strike
rates are Umiting the adverse impact of rising rates on our finance
costs. The use of interest rate caps as part of our hedging means
we do nat incur rmark 1o markel costs on any repayment of debt
which is capped, or on a floating rate, and the cost of ths debt
benelits while market rates are below the strike rate. Qur weighted
average inferest rate remains low at 2.9% IMarch 2021: 2.9%].

Ouring the year we completed the transition from LIBOR to SONIA
as the reference rate for Sterling vader all our debt and derivalive
agreements, in line with markat practice.



2. IFRS pralit after tax

The main differences between IFRS profit afier tax and
Underlying Prolit are that IFRS includes the valuation movements
on investment and trading properties, fair value movernents on
financial instruments, capital financing costs and any Company
adjustments. In addition, the Group's investments in joint veniures
are equity actounted in the IFRS income statement but are
included on a proportionally consolidated basis within

Underlying Profit.

The IFRS profit after lax for the year was £940m. compared with

a toss after lax for the prior year of £1,083m. IFRS basic EPS was
103.3p per share, compared 10 [111.2lp per shar e in the prior year.
The IFRS prokit after tax for the year primarily reflects the upward
valualion movement on the Group’s properties of £471m, the
capital and other income profit from joint ventures of £158m and
the Underlying Profit of £251m. The Group valuation maovement
and capital and other income profit from joint ventures was driven
principally by inward yield shift of 42bps and ERV decline of 1.2%
wn the porifolio resulting in a valuation increase of 6.8%.

The basic weighted average number of shares in issue during the
year was 927m (2020/21: 927m).

3. Dividends .. T . -
In October 2020, we annaunced our new dividend policy, setting the
dividend as semi-annual and calculated at 80% of Underlying EPS
based on the mast recently completed six-month period. Applying
this policy, the Board are proposing a fina!l dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022 of 11.40p per share. Payment will be made
an Friday 29 July 2022 to sharehotders on the register at clase of
business on Friday 24 June 2022, The dividend wit{ be a Praperty
Inceme Distribution and ne SCRIP akternative will be affered.

Balance sheet

022 2021
As at March Section £m Em
Property assets 10,474 9140
Other non-curreni assels &9 51
10,545 2,191
Other net current liabitities (3181 1203
Adjusted net debt [ {3,458) [2.938]
Other non-current liabilties - -
EPRA Net Tangible Assets 6,771 6,050
EPRA NTA per share 4 727p $48p
Non-cantrolling interests 15 59
Dther EPRA adjustments’ 153} 128
IFRS net assets 5 6,733 5,783

Proporticnally consatidated basis.

1. EPRA Net Tangible Assets NTA s a proportionally consolidated measure
that is based on IFRS net assets excluding the mark-ta-markel on derivatives
and related debt adjusiments, the carrying value of intangibles, the mark-to-
market on the convertible bonds, as well as deferred taxation on property
and derivalive valuatians. The metric includes the valuation surplus on
trading properties and is adjusled for the dilutive impact of share options,
Details of the EPRA adjustrents are included in Tabke B within the
supplementary disclosures.
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4. EPRA Net Tangible Assets per share

pence
021 Valuation Underlying Cividend Finance 2022
performance Pralil liability
management
& other

The 12.2% increase in EPRA NTA per share reflects a valuation
increase of 6.8% compounded by the Group's gearing.

Campus valuations were up 5.4%. driven by our actions with streng
leasing and development activity at Regent’s Place and Broadgate
in particular generating uplifts of 4.7% and 5.1% respectively. Yields
maved in 11bps and ERVs were 1I5( Caipus devélopments were
up 11.7% reflecting a very strang performance at Canada Water

of 18.3% which now reflects gur new joint venture with
AustralianSuper.

Valuations in Rétail & Fulfilment wére up 9.9% overall, with inward
yield shift of 97bps and ERY decline of 2.8%. There is a significant
variance at 3 sub-sector level, with Retail Park valuations showing
a strong performance of 20.7%, driven by inward wield shift of 151
hps underpinned by strong investmeant market and improving
occupational market given their relative affordability and
campatibility with online retail. Shopping Centres valuations

were down 6.1% in the year with ERVs down 5.2%; yields have
moved outwards by 3bps in the year, although we saw mild

yield compressian in the second hatf.

5. IFRS net assets

IFRS net assets ai 31 March 2022 were £4,733m, an increase of
E750m from 31 March 2021. This was primarily due to IFRS profit
after tax of E960m, offset by dividends paid in the year of E157m
and the purchase of the remaining 21.9% units in the Hercules
Unit Trust from non-controlling interests of £38m.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continved

Cash flow, net debt and financing

6. Adjusted net debt!
&m

lord] Disposals  Acquisitions Cravelap
ment and

eapex

WNetcash  Ohidends
from
op¢rations

Osher 02

. Adusted ne{ debt is a proportionaily consolidated measure. {t represents the
Group net debt as disclesed in Note 17 1o the linancial siatements and the
Group's share of joinlventures’ nel debt excluding the mark-to-market on
derivatives. relaled debl adjustments and non-controtling interests.

A reconciliation betwaen the Group net debt and adjusted net debi
is included in Table A wilhin the supplementary disclosures.

Acquisitions net of dispasals increased debt by £244m whilst
development spend totalled £2646m with 3 further E61m on capital

expenditure relaled to asset managemen! on the sianding pertfolio.

The value of recently completed and commitied developments
is £1.032m, with £648m casts to came. Specutative develogment
exposure is 6.4% of ERV lincludes space under offer]. There are
1.9m sq fl of developments in cur near term pipeline with
anticipated cost of E963m.

7. Financing .

Graup Proportionaliy consalidatad
1022 2021 028 2021
Net debl/adjusted
net deby’ £2.54tm  £2249m  €3.458m  £2538m
Prineipat amount
of gross debt £2,562m  £2,291m  £3,648m  £3,383m
Loan to vatue 26.2% 231% 32.9% 32.0%
Weighted average
intecest rate 2.4% 2.2% 2.9% 2.9%
(nterest cover 6.6 4.3 35 3.0
Weightad average
maturity af
drawn debt &byears  70vyears &9%years 7.4years

1. Growp data as presentad in Mote 17 of the financial statements, The
prapertionalty consolidated figures include the Group's share of joint ventures’
aet debt and exctude the mark-ta-market o0 dervatives and reated Jebdt
adjusirmems and non-contrelling interests
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At 31 March 2022, our proportionally consolidated LTV was
32.9%. up from 32.0% at 31 March 2021, The impact of positive
valuation mavernents decreased LTV by 210 bps. This was offset
by acquisitions net of disposals which added 150bps, a5 well

as develapment spend which added 200 bps, In Aprit 2022, we
exchanged on the sale of 3 75% interest in the majorily of our
assels in Paddington Cenlral to GIC, following s completion
LTV falls to 28.4% on pro farma basis. Note 17 of the financial
statements sets aut the calculation of the Group and
proportionally consalidated LTV.

In June 2021 we compleied the refinance of 100 Liverpaol Sireet
with the Broadgate joint venture raising 2 new £620m 5year
‘Green Loan' secured by the property at an initial LTV of ¢.50%

As part of the refinance, this BREEAM Outstanding and net

zero carbon development was released from the Broadgate
securitisation atongside the redemption of £107m of bonds.

The new financing was voted Financing Jeal of the Year: ‘
UK by Real Estate Capital Eurgpe tor 2021,

In Septembier aur £138m VS Private Placement matured and was
repaid as planned, using commiited bank facilities.

In February, we extended our £450m ESG-linked Revolving Credit
Facility by a further year to 2027, with the agreement of all eight
banks in thal facility.

in March, we signed a new £100m E5G-linked bilateral Revaolving
Credit Facility with an initiat five year term, which may be extended
up Lo seven years at British Land's request, subject to the bank’s
consent. In keeping with our sustainability sirategy. the facility
includes two ESG-related KPIs focused on the BREEAM ratings of
our devetopments and assels unger management laligned with the
KPls in the £450m RCF). This brings our total Green/ESG-linked
finance ta £1bn.

As a result of this financing activity, at 31 March 2022, we had
£1.3bn ol undrawn lacilities and cash. Based on our current
commitmenis and available facitities and following the completion
af the Paddinglon sale, the Group has no requirement to refinance
until late 2025.

Our debt and interest rate management approach has enabled
us lo mainiain a low weighted average interest rate of 2.9%.

Fitch Ratings, as part of their annual review in August 2021
affirmed all our credit ratings, with a Stable Outlook: senior
unsecured credit rating ‘A’ long term 10R 'A-" and short terrn
DR F1.

Our strong balance sheet enables us Lo defiver on bur stralegy

-

Bhavesh Mistry
Chief Financial Officer



FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

Financial
strength

and balanced
approach

With our sound financial fonting,

we are well positioned to respond
to market challenges and pursue

growth opportunities.

Leverage

We manage our use of debt and equily
finance to balance the benefits of leverage
against the risks, including magnification
of property returns. A loan to value ['LTV
ratio measures our {everage, primarily on a
proportionally conselidated basis including
our share of joinl veniures [and excluding
any non-controlling interests]. At 31 March
2022, aur proportionally consolidated LTV
was 32.9% and the Group rmeasure was
26.2% Fallowing the s2le of 4 75% interes!
in the majority of our assets at Paddingten
Central, propertionally consolidated LTV

is 28.4% on a pro forma basis. Qur LTV s
monitored in the context of wider decisions
made by the business. We manage our LTV
threugh the property cycle such that our
financial position remains robust in the
event of a significant fall in property values.
This means we do not adjust our approach
to leverage based only on changesin
property market yields. Consequently,

our LTV may be higher al the low point

in the cycle and will trend downwards

as market yie{ds tighten.

Debt finance

The scale of our business, combined with
the qualily of our assets and rental income,
means that we are able to approach a
diverse range of debt providers to arrange
finance an attractive terms. Good access
to the capital and debt markets allows us
to take advantage of oppertunities when
they arise. The Group’s approach to debt
financing for British Land is to raise funds
predominantly on an unsecured basis with
our standard financial covenanis (sel oul on
page 83). This provides flexibibity and tow
operationat cost. Qur joint ventures which
choose to have external debl are each
financed in ‘ring fenced’ structures without
recourse lo British Land for repayment
and are secured on their retevant assets.
Presented on the fallawing page are the
five guiding principles that govern the

way we structure and manage debi.

Monitoring and controlling

our debt

Wa monitor our debt requirerment by
reviewing current and projected borrowing
levels, available facilities, debt maturtty
and interest rate exposure. We undertake
sensitivity analysis to assess the impact

of proposed transactions, movements in
interest rates and changes in property
values on key balance sheet, liguidity and
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profitability ratios. We also consider the
risks of a reduction in the aveilability of
finance, including 2 temporary disruption
of the financing markets. Based on our
current commitrnents and available
facilities, the Group has no requirement
to refinance until late 2023, British Lang's
undrawn facilities and cash amounted to
£1.30n 8t 31 March 2022.

Managing interest rate exposure
We manage our interest rate prafile
separately from our debt, considering

the sensitivity of underlying earnings to
movements in market rates of interest
over a five-year period. The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedging on debt over
that period and the lenger term. Dur debt
finance is raised at both fixed and variabte
rates. Derivatives [primarily interest rate
swaps and caps) are used to achieve

the desired hedging profile across
proportionally consolidaied net debt.

. As ar 31 March 2022, the interest rate on

our debt was fully hedged on a spot basis.
Following completion of the Paddington
Central transaction, on average aver next
five years we have interest rale hedging on
79% of our projected debt, with a decreasing
profile over that period. Accordingly we have
a higher degree of protection on interest
costs in the short term and achieve market
rale finance in the medium io fonger term.
The hedging required and uvse of derivatives
is managed by a Derivatives Committee. Tha
interest rate management of joint ventures
is considered separately by each entity's
board, taking into account appropriate
factors for its business.

During the year we completed the iransition
from LIBOR to SONIA as the reference

rate for Sterling under all our debt and
derivatives agreements. ‘

Counterparties

We manitor the credit standing of our
counterparties to minimise risk expesure

in placing cash depesiis and arranging
derivatives. Regular reviews are made of the
externai credit ratings of the counterparties.

Foreign currency

Our poticy is ta have no material unhedged
net assets or liabilittes denominated in
foreign currencies. When attractive terms
are available, the Group may choose to
borrow in currencies other than Sterling,
and will fully hedge the foreign

CuUrrency exposure.
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FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES continued The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Our five guiding principles

British Land Annuat Report and Accounts 2022

1. Diversiby our sources of finance adepting 3 transparent approach to provide 53 6bn
We moniter finance markets and seek (o access sofficient disclosures (a enable them to evaluate )
different squrces of finance when the refevant their exposure within the overall context of the tatal drawn debt
market conditions are favourable, to meet the Group. These factors increase our attracliveness  (pragartiaially
needs of our business and, where appropriate, to debt providers, and in the last five years we consofidated]
thase of our jeint veptures and funds. The scale have arranged £3.3bn {British Land share £2.9bn]  in over
ang quality of our business enables us to access of new finance in unsecured and secured loans, 20
a broad range of unsecured and secured, Sterting bonds and US Private Placements,
recourse and non-recourse debl. We develop incluging £1.00n of Green/ESG-linked finance. debtinstruments
and maintain long term relationships with banks  We also have existing long-dated debentures ’
and debt investors. We aim to avpid reliance on and securitisation bonds. A European Medium
particular saurces af funds and borrow from a Term Note pragramme is maintained to enable
large number of tenders fram different seciorsin  Us ta access the Sterling/Eura unsecured bond
the market acrass a range of geographical areas,  markets and our Sustainable Finance Framework
with around 30 debt providers in bank facilities enables us to issue Sustainable, ‘Green', andfor
and private placements alone. We work to ensure  Social finance, when itis approgriate for
that debt providers undersiand our business, our business.
-2, Phase maturity of debt portfatic - - - result of our financing and capital activily, we are 69 years '
The maturity prafile of our debi is managed with ahead of our preferred refinancing date horizon '
a spread of repayment dates, currently between of not less than iwo years. in accordance with cur  average drawn
one and 16 years, reducing our refinancing risk usual practice, we expect to refinance facilities debt maturity
in regard to timing and markel conditions. As a ahead of their maturities. {praportionally
) consatidated]
kY Maintain liguidity between borrowing and deposit rates, 51 3bn
In addition (o our drawn debl, we aim always while reducing credit exposure. We arrange :
15 have a good level of undrawn, commitled, these revplving credit facilities in excess of our undrawn facilities
unsacured revolving bank facilities, These commitied and expecied requirements to ensure  and cash
facilities provide financial liquidity. reduce the we have adequale financing availability (o suppart
need to held resources in cash and degiosits, business requirements and new appartunitias.
and minimise costs arising from the difference
4. Maintain flexibility These are arcanged with standard terms and Sl 9bl’l
Our facilities are structured lo provide valuable financial covenanis and ganerally have maturilies :
flexibility for investment aclivily executian, of five years. Alongside this, cur secured term total facilities
whather sales, purchases, develapments or asset  debt in debentures has gaad asset security
managemernt imiiatives. Qur unsecured revolving  substitution rights, where we have the ability
credit facilities provide full operationat flexibility to mave assets in and oul of the security foof,
of drawing and repayment {and cancellation fwe  as required for the business.
requirel at short nalice without additionat cost.
5. Maintain strong metrics manage our injerest rate profle separalely from 32 9%
We use both debt and equily financing. We manage  our debl, setting appropriale ranges of hedged )
LTV through the property cycle such that our detic aver a five-year periad and the longer term. LTV {proportionally
financral position would remain robust in the We maintained our strong senior unsecured consolidated)
event of 3 significant {all in property values and credit rating ‘A’ tang term [OR credit rating ‘A-', A
we do niot adjust cur approach Lo leverage based and short term §OR credit rating 'F1°, affirmed
only an changes in propecty market yields. We by Fiich during the year with Stable outlook. $enior unsecured
credit rating
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Group borrawings

tnsecured financing for the Groug includes
bilateral and syndicaled revolving bank
facilities [with initial maturities usually of
five years, often extendablel: US Private
Placements with maturilies up to 2034:

and the Sterling unsecured bond

maturing in 2029,

Secured debt for the Group comprises
British Land debentures with maturities up
to 2035 and Hercyles Unit Trust bank loans.

Unsecured borrowings

and covenants

There are two linancial covenants which
apply across all of the Group's unsecured
debt. These covenants, which have been
consistently 2agreed with all unsecured
lenders since 2003, are:

- Net Borrowings not 1o exceed 175%
of Adjusted Capital and Reserves

- " Net Unsecured Borrowings not (o
exceed 70% of Unencumbered Assets

There are no income or interest cover
covenanis on any of the unsecured debt of
the Group. The Unencumbered Assets of the
Group, not subject to any security, stood at
£5.1bn as at 31 March 2022

Unsecured financial covenants

Although secured assets are excluded from
Unencumbered Assets for the covenant
calculations, vnsecured lenders benefit
from the surplus value of these assels
above the related debt and the free cash
flow from them. During the year ended
31 March 2022, these assets generated
£35m of surplus cash after payment of
interest. In addition, while investments
in joint ventures do not form part of
Unencumbered Assets, our share of free
cash flows generated by these ventures
is regularly passed up to the Group.

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to British

Land is provided by debentures with

leng maiurities and lmited amertisation.
These are secured against a combined
pool af assels with common covenants; the
value of the assels is required to cover the
amount of the debentures by a méninnum of
1.5 times and net rentat income must cover
the interest at {east ance. We use our rights
under the debentures to actively manage
the assels in the security pool, in line with
these cover ratios.

Hercules Unit Trust has two bank lGans™’
maturing in December 2022 and 2023
arranged for its business and secured on
its property gortfolios, without recourse
to British Land. These loans include LTV
covenants (5% and 60%]. and income-
based covenants.

We continue to focus on unsecured finance
at a Group level.

.
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Borrowings in our joint ventures
External debt for our joint ventures

has been arranged through long-dated
securilisations or secured bank debt,
according to the requiremenis of the
business of each enlity.

The securitisations of Broadgate 1€1,102m)
and Meadowhall [E519m) have weighted
average maturities of 8.9 years and 6.9
years respectively, The key financial
covenant applicable is to meet interest
and scheduled amgrtisation [equivalent to
ene times coverl; there are no LTV defaull
covenants. These securitisations have
quarterly amertisation with the batance
outstanding reducing to approximately 20%
10 30% of the original amount raised by
expacted finat maturity, thus mitigating
refinancing risk.

In the Broadgate joint venture, a new
secured £420m Green loan was arranged
during the year which includes LTV and
ICR covenants, '

Our West End offices joint venture with
Allianz has a secured bank loan which

_alseincludes LTV and ICR covenants.

There is no obligation for British Land to
remedy any breach of these covenants in
the debt arrangement of joint ventures.

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
As 31 March % % % % P
Nel barrowings to adjusted capital and reserves 3 33 40 29 29
Nel unsecurad borrowings te unencumbered assets 38 25 30 21 23
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

Managing risk

For British Land, effective risk
management is fundamental to how
we do business. It directly informs
our strategy and how we position
the business to create value whilst
delivering positive outcomes {or all
our stakehelders on a long term
sustainable basis.

Our Key activities in the yeat

- Continued ta managa our resgonse to
Covid-1? with business resilience and risk
managemsent al the core of our approach.

- Proactively managed our rent cottection
and accupter risk,

— Realigned the principal risk categaries to
our sirategy and evolving markets.

Introduced formal internal testing of key
controls operating effactiveness, as part of
a wider roadmap of readiness activities for
the UK Government's proposed corporate
gavernance refarms.

- Enhanced our (T infrastructure and cyber
security environment and key controls.
Completed scenaric analysis of both

physicat and transitional climate-related
risks aligned {o TCFO requirements. Also,

we have undertaken detailed net zera carban
audits acrass 29 of aur major office and retail
assels and have undertaken EPLC modalling
Acrpss our Mmanaged assels.

Qur pricrities far 2022/23

- Continue to reguiarly support the business
through managing the risks arising from both
the macroecanomic enviranment and the war
in Ukraine.

Effective risk management of aur key
operational risks including devetopment,
health & safety, aur partnerships with third
parties and our accupier risks.

Work with the business Lo mitigate the risks
in delivering aur 2030 Sustainability Strategy.

Cantinue to deliver on our roadmap of
readiness activities for the UK Gavernment's
propased corporate reforms, including
cantinuing to enhance gur internal

controt framework.

1

Continue ta enhance our IT infrastruclure
ang IT general contral enviranment.

Risk management

We maintain a camprehensive risk
management process which serves to
identily, assess and respond to the range of
financial and non-financial risks facing our
business, including those risks that could
threaten solvency and liquidity, as well as
ta identify emerging risks. Qur approach

is not intended to eliminate risk enticely,
but ins(ead to manage our risk exposures
across the business, whilst at the same
time making the most of our opportunities,

Qur integrated risk management approach
carmbines a top-tlown strategic view with

a complementary tottom-up operationat
pracess as outlined in the diagram and
detailed below.

Governance

The Board has overall responsibility

for risk and {ar maintaining a robust risk
management and irteraal conirol system.
The Board 1s responsible for determining
the tevel and type of risk that the Group

is willing to take in achieving ils sirategic
objectives. The amount of risk is assessed
in the context ol our sirateqic priorities
and the exlernal environment in which

we operate ~ this is our risk appetite

{as detailed overieafl. The Audit Commiltee
and CSR Committee support the Board by
providing a key oversight and assurance
rote. The Audit Committee is respansible
for reviewing the effectiveness of the

risk management and internai control
pracesses during the year.

The Executive Directors and Risk
Comrnitiee [comprising the Executive
Commiliee and senior management across
the business, chaired by the Chief Financial
Oflicer) have overall accountabitity for the
management of risks across the business.
Principal risks are evaluated and manitored
by the Risk and Audit Committees, with
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apprapriate mitigation reasures
implemented as required.

The eifective day-to-day management of
risk ts embedded within Gur eperational
business units and farms an integral part
of att activities. This bottam-up approach
allows potential risks to be identitied at an
early stage and escalaled as appropriate,
with mitigations put in place (o manage
suchrisks. Each business unit has a
designated risk representative and
maintains a comprehensive risk register.
Changes to the risk register are reviewed
quarterly by the Risk Commiliee, and we
formally report on the significant and
emerging risks lo the Audil Commuttee
every six months.

Internat audit acts as an independent and
objective assurance function by evaluating
tha effectiveness of aur risk management
and internal control processes, through
independent review. v

Through this approach, the Group operates

a ‘three lines af defence’ model of risk
management, with operational management
forming the first ling, the Risk Commiitee
and internal risk management team [orming
the second line, and finally internal Audit as
the third line of defence.

In summary, aur approach ta risk
management is tenired on being risk-aware,
clearly defining our risk appetite, responding
to changes to our risk profile quickly and
having a strong risk managernent culture
among employees with clear roles and
accountability. Our organisalional structure
ensures close involvernen! of senior
managernent in all significant decisions

as well as in-house management of gur
development, assat and property
management activities.

To read more aboul the Board and Audit Commiltee's
risk oversight, sea pages 109, 1253nd 126

Our integrated risk management approach

Top-down
Strategic risk management

Review axternal environment
Robus! assessmenl of principal risks
Set risk appetite and paramelers
Determine stralegic actian painls

Identity principal risks

Direct delivery of strategic actiens
in line with risk appetite

Manitar key risk indicatars

Execute strategic actions

.
g
£
g
8
5
z
£
s
>
-4
g
=
T
5
4
o
=
[
£
£
N
g
a
¢

Report on key risk indicators

=
=
o
<
“
2
2
2
2
v
£
S
=
s
©
b
I
2
*
S
w
FH
]
=
3
2
5
]
E]
<
=
2
X
z

84 British Land Annual Report and Atcounts 2022

Board/Audit Committee/CSR Cammittee

Risk Committee/Executive Committee

Business units

Bottom-up
Gperational risk managemant

Assess efectiveness of risk management
process and internal control systems

Report on principal risks and uncertainties

Consider completeness of identified risks
and adequacy of miligauing actions

Consider aggregation of risk
exposures across the business

Report current and emerging risks

Identify. evaluate and mitigate eperational
risks recorded in risk register
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Our risk appeftite

Our rick appetlite lies at the heart of our
2pproach te risk management and is
inlegrat to both business planning and
decision making. The Group's risk appetite
is reviewed annually as part of the strategy
review process and approved by the Board.
in order to guide the aclians management
takes in executing our strategy. Our risk
appelite is cascaded throughout the
business by being embedded within our
policies, procedures and internal centrols.

We have ientified a risk dashboard of Key
Risk Indicators [KRIs) for each principal
risk, with specific talerances to track
whether our risk exposure i5 within our risk
appetite or could threaten the achievement
of our strategic priorities. The risk
dashboard is reviewed guarterly by the
Risk Committee and serves as a catalyst
for discussion about how our principal
risks are changing and whether any further

risk indicators are a mixture of leading and
{agging indicaiers, with forecasts provided
where available, and focus on the most
significani judgements affecting our

risk exposure, including: our investmen
and development strategy; the level of
occupational and development exposure;
our sustainability risks; our financizl
resilience; and our key aperaticnal
business risks (as illustrated in the
principal risks table on pages 88-94].

Whilst cur appetite for risk will vary over
time and during the course of the property
cycle, in general we maintain a balanced
overall apgetite for risk, appropriate for our
slrategic objective of detivering tong term
sustainable value, The Board has reviewed
our risk appelite in light of the continuad
macroeconomic unceriainty and confirmed

that pur current risk appetite is appropriate.

In symmary, our appetite for financial and
compliance related risks remains tow,
whilst our appetite for groperty and
operational related nsks is moderate,
reilecting our sirategy with an increased
focus on development, active capital and
property management and associated
repositioning opportunities.

Significant factars which coniribute ta
our balanced appetite for risk across
our business include:

- approach to capital allecation
focusing an prime assels or assels
with repositioning potenbiat, and
therefore limited chsolescence risk

- disciplined approach to development
including a balanced approach to our
speculative exposure

- maintaining an efficient capital
struclur e and rebust liquidity position

- adiverse occupier base

- experienced Board and senior
managernent team. ,

Qur risk focus

The volatile and uncertain environment
created by the Covid-19 pandemic, coupled
with 2 backdrap of increasing geopolitical _

T mitigating aclidnsneed Lo be taken Thé— ——37d m3crpecanarmic uncertaintly, has

continued to present an unceriain genaral
risk genvironment for our business to
navigate throvghout the year. Covid-19 was
viewed as an overarching risk rather than
a single principat risk and fundamentally
affecied all aspecis of our business. Whilst
our performance continued te be impacted,
our rent collection has recovered to close
lo pre-pandemic levels as the UK economy
recovered across the year.

Looking forward, the removal of all
Covid-19 restrictions in England from April
2022 following the successful vaccinatian
programme reduces the risks relating to
Cevid-19, particularly in relation ta our
macroecanomic, property markels, majar
business event, customer and people risks.
However, it is likety that Covid-19 will still
be prevatent in society and the risk of
further Covid-19 variants, and whether
current vaccines will deal with them
effectively or not, remains. Also, the long
term impact of Covid-19 on the future
demand for and use of space, the evolution
of custorner behaviour [including an
acceleration of trends in flexible working
and online shappingl and travel patterns
could have further implications for the real
estate market and the Group’s portfolio.
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There are also wider concerns that we are
patentially enkering an extended pericd of
global volatility with several increasing
macroeconomic headwinds including
energy price volatility, supply chain
disruplion and material and labour
sheortages. These are all increasing
nflationary pressures, and are being
campeounded by the war in Ukraine, and
may give rise o further interest rate rises
and in turn serve te dampen-UK ecanomic
growth. Whilst these headwinds continue
tv evulve, we have set out 1n our principal
nisks table the key potential impacls on our
business and how we plan te mitigate these.

Risk management, and the Group's
continued ability to be flex/ble to adjust

and respond tc these external risks as

they evalve, will be fundamental to the future
performance of aur business. The challenges
of the last two years have demanstraled the
resilience of our business model, and our
robust risk management to protectour
business through this period of uncertainty
and adapt to a rapidily-changing environment.

-DUrir'-Ig the yeér,_lhe Risk Commiltee
has also lacused on key aperalional risk
areas across the business including:

- aprogramme to enhance and
strangthen our key financial and
operational controls

- a site-specific risk assessment and
comgliance review across our assets

- information security general controls
incorporating vulnerability scanning
and cyber security testing

- occupier covenant risk and working
proactively with custemers to
maximise collection rates

- covenant strength of key development
contractors and subcontractors, and
managing our exposure to them

- health, safety and environmental risk
management and compliance with
our key performance indicators. Qur
health and safety managemenl system
was re-certified under 150 45001

- climate risks incorparating our
TCFD transition risk assessment
and EPC ralings of our assets

- supply chain and new supplier
onbeoarding process

- internal audit reviews and the
implementation of any contral findings

or process improverment opportunities.
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING QUR STRATEGY continued

QOur prineipal risks and assessment
Qur risk management framework is
structured around the principal risks facing
British Land. We use a risk scaring matrix
to ensure risks are evaluated consistently;
we 3ssess the likelithood, the financial
impact (to both income and capitat values|
and the reputational impact. From this

we identify both the external and internal
sirategic and operalional principal risks
which ¢urrently have a higher likelihood and
potentiat impact on our business. Whilst tha
Board recognises thai it has fairly limited
control over the external principal risks,

it reviews their patential impact on our
business, and these are taken into account
iz our decisian making. For aur internal
principal risks the Board makes sure that
appropriate controls and processes are in
place to manage these risks.

The Board confirms that a robust
assessment of the principal and emerging

risks facing the Group, including-tkose thal .

would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or liguidity, as well
as the Group's siraieqic priorities, was
carried out. during.the year takthg imta . . -
account the Covid-19 risk and the evelving
economic and geopclitical erviranment,

in the year, following a tharough review
exercise invalving the Risk and Audit
Committees, we have refreshed our
principal risks to take into account haw our
strategy and markets are evolving, 1ogether
with combimng several interrelaled risks.
The key changes and assessmenis are
summarised below, and in the principal
risks table on pages 88-94, including the
key impacts on our business, our mitigating
actions and our key risk indicators.

New risk

Operational and Campliance risks

The combination of several key operational
risks 10 our business involving information
systems and cyber security. health and
safely, third party relationships and
financial crime compliance have been
elevated into a new principal risk calegery,
reflecting their significance to our business
and the increased focus on these areas

by both the Risk and Audit Committees.

Changing risks

Property Market risks

The key occupier and investment market
risks to pur seclors, together with tha
structural changes facing our markels,
have been aggregated into 3 broader
external Property Markel rigk. This will be
assessed individually for our key sectars
of Campuses, Retail and Urban Legistics.

Portfalio Strategy risks

- Qur portfalio strategy risk has evolved

1o reflect the risks in executing our active
management and develapment approach
and our capital allacation ptans in
delivering performance.

People and Culture risks

Whilst our ability to recruit and retain
pecple with the right skills to deliver our
sirategy was already recognised as a
principal risk to our business, we have
widenad this to incarporate the cultural
risks to our business.

Customer risks

Qur income sustainahility was previously
considared 3 principal risk, but is now
recognised as being a consequence of
gur pverall customer risks incorporating
our accupancy and income risks. This
incarporates ihe risks of customer default
or an inability to retain our customers and
meel their evelving needs, together with
our cancentration and exposure risks 1o
indwidual occupiers or seclors.
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Financing risks

The interrelated financing risks of
avaitability and cost of finance, our capital
structure and our financing strategy have
been combined into a broader single
financing risk.

Risk assessment

Qur current assessment is that the
general external environment in which the
Group operaies remains uncertain, atbeit

. several principal risks 10 pur business have

veduted [rom their elevated position last
year reflecting the lessened impact of
Covid-19 and the reopening of the UK
econemy. These include:

- Political, (egafl and regulatory risks.

- Property market risk for our Campuses.
- Major events/business disruption risks.
- Customer risks.

Al the same time, our enviroarmental
sustainability and people and cullure
risks have increased slightly:

- environmental sustainability risk
continues to increase in prominence
and importance (o our business, our
customers and other key stakeholders.
- people and culture risk has increased . '
in the year, reflecting the challenging
oparating environment caused by
Covid- |¥ together with general rising
wage expaciations and a recent increase
in emptoyes mobility. '

See risk heat map on the right.
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Note: The above illustrates principal risks which by Lheir nature are Ihose which have the potential to significantly impact the Group's strategic cbjectives, financial

position or reputation. The heat map highlights net risk, after taking account of pringipal mitigations. The arrow shaws the movement from the 2021 paint.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS The British Land Company PLC 00621920

External Principal Risks

The UK ecanomic climate and changes to

- Regular stress testing our business plan  The UK economy sirengthened significantly

fiscal and monetary policy presents risks
and opportunities in property and financing
markets and to the businesses of our
customers which can impact both the
delivery of our strategy and our

financial performance.

How we monitor and mitigate the risks

- The Beard, Executive Committee and
Risk Committee regularly assess the
Company's strategy in the context of
the widar macroeconomic environment
in which we gperate to assess whether
changes to the economic outloak justify 3
reassessment of our strateqic priorities,
our capiial allocation plan and the risk
appelite of the business. ;

Qur strategy team prepare aquarterly
dashboard for the Baard, Executive

and Risk Committeas which iracks key
macroeconomic indicatars both from
internal and independent external
sources [(see KRIs), as well as central
bank guidance and government policy.

against a downturn in economic outlook
to ensure our financial position is
sufficiently flexible and resilient,

- DOur business made! focuses an a high
quality portfolio aligned 1o key trends In
our markets and active capital recyeling
ta maintain a strong financial position,
which helps to protect us against

agverse changes in economic conditions.

KRis:

- Forecast GDP growth, inflation/
deflation and intergst rate forecasts.

- Consumer confidence and
unemployment rates.

- Slress testing for downside scenarios

- 10 assess the impact of differing

market canditions.

Change in risk assessment in year

Macroeconomic risk has remained
consistent during the year and is
considered a high impact risk with
a medium to high probability.

in the period following the reopening of

the economy with consumer confidence
impraving over the summer, however, rising
fuel and food prices have affected confidence
more recently and there are concerns that
economic momentum slows.

The current economic backdrop

remains uncertain reflecting the on-going
Covid- 19 risk and several macroeconomic
headwinds, including inflationary pressures,
which have bean compounded by the war

in Ukraine, with patential subsequent
impacls on interest rates, rental income,
construction costs and property valuations.

Opportunity

The strength of-cur balance sheet, quality
of our assets and experienced Board and
management team put us in a strong
position to help us o navigate through these
near term challenges and take advaniage

of opportunities as they rise, including
conbinuinig to invest in growth sectors

and our developmenti pipeline.

Significant political events and
regulatory changes, including the impact
of Government policy response to the
pandemic, bring risks principally in

four areas:

- Reluctance of investors and businesses
to make investment and occupational
decisions whilst the suicome
remains uncertain,

- Theimpact on the case for investment
in the UK, and on specific policies and
regulation introduced, particulanly those
which directly impact real estate or
our customers.

- The potentiat for 3 change of leadership
or political direction.

- The impact on the businesses of our
occupiers as well as aur own business.

How we monitor and mitigate the risks

- Whist we cannol influence the ouicome
of significant poltical events. the risks
are takan into account when setiing
our business strategy and when
making strategic investment and
financing decisions.

- Internally we review and monitor
prepesals and emerging policy and

legislation to ensure that we take the
necessary steps (0 ensure compliance,
if applicable. Additionally, we engage
public affairs consullants 10 ensure that
we are properly briefed on the potential
policy and regulatory implications of
political events.

- Where appropriate, we act with ather
industry participants and representative
bodies to tontribute tg policy and
regulatory debate. We monitor
and respond to saciat and palitical
reputational chatlenges retevant
1o 1the ingdustry and apply our own
evidence-pased research o engage
in thought leadership discussions.

KRls:

- Maonitor ¢changes within the
geopotitical environment. UK palicies.
laws or regulations,

Change in risk assessment in year

The political, legal and regulatery risk
outlock has reduced over the year with
Covid-19 relatad palitical uncertainty
eased, but still remains elevated with both
a medium to high impact and probability.
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Fallowing the successiul vaccination
programme, political uncertainty due to the
national and global response to Covid-19 has
lessened, though risks in response to the
economic impact of the Covid- 1% pandemic
rematn, including potential tax rises

for businesses.

The reat moratorium recenily came o an
end, with the UK Governmenit introducing
& binding arbitration scherme for certain

arrears built up during lockdown pericds.

The glabal gespalitical environment
remains uncertain, heightened by the recent
war in Ukraine, with petential impacts on
securily, cyber risks, sanclions compliance,
supply thains and reputational risks.

Opportunity

We continue Lo closely monitor the political
outlook and any potential changes in
regulations to ensure changes which may
impact the Group, or our customers, are
identified and addressed approprately. We
wark closely with Bovernrnent, direcily and
through cur membership of key property
industry bodies, 5o inpul into regulation as
dralt proposals are anneunced. Through
this proactive approach, we view the right
kind of regulation and tegislation as an
opportunity for our businass to outperfarm.



Property Market Risks
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Underlying incame, rental growth and
capital performance could be adversely
affected by a reduction in investor demand
or weakening occupier demand in our
property markets,

Structural changes in consumer and
business practices such 2s the growth
of online retailing and flexible working
practices [including more working from
hare] could have an adverse impact on
demand for our assets.

How we monitor and mitigate the risks

- The Board, Executive Commitlee
and Risk Commitiee reguiarly assess
whether any current or future changes
in the property market outlook present
risks and oppartunities which should be
reflected in the execution of our straiegy
and our capital allocation plan.

.- Our strategy team prepare a quarierly
dashboard for the Board, Executive and
Risk Cammittees which tracks key
investment and occupier demand
indicators both from internal and
independent external sources fsee KRIs|
which are considered alongside the
Committee members’ knewledge and
experience of market activity and trends.

- We fogus on prime assets or those with
repositioning potential and sectors which
we believe will e more resilient over the
medium term to a reduction in occupier
and investor demand.

- We maintain strong relationships
with cur occupiers, agents and direct
investors active in the market and
actively monitor trends in our sectars.

- We stress {est our business plan for
the effect of a change in rental growth
prospects and property yields.

KRis:

- Qccupier and investor demand
indicators in our sectors.

- Margin between property yields
and borrowing costs.

- Online sales trends.

- Footfall and retail sales to provide
insight intg consumer trends.

- Campus occupancy to previde insight
into occupier trends and peaple
visiting cur Campuses.

Change in risk assessment in year

Campuses

Our Carmpus property market risk

outlook has reduced in the year and is
considered a medium impact risk with a
medium probability.

As the economy strengthened over the last
year, bath investment and occupier markels
have improved for Landon offices, with
investrnent activity particularly driving yield
compresson, Take up has been mixed and
polarised towards best in class space.
Availability across the market remains
above the long term average but has
moderated; and is skewed towards
secandhzand, poorer quality space.

Struciural risks remain from increased
working Irom home, accelerated by the
impact of Covid-1%, enabling some
businesses to reassess their real
estake oplions.

Opportunity

Dur Campus model :s centred on providing
well connected, high quality and sustainable
buildings with attractive amenity which
aligns ta our customers needs and
expectations and is an important
differentiator of our space. We have been
encouraged by the strength of our leasing
activily across our Campuses this year.

Key: Change in risk assessment from last year

Increase No change

Decrease

E New risk

Retail

Our Retail property market risk outlook has
remained consistent and is considered a
medium impact risk with a high prabability.
The occupational market for retail has
endured a challenging few years reflecting
the structural shift to online which has
accelerated through Covid-19. Retailers’
profitability is continuing to be put under
pressure due te increased ¢osts, such as
rising input costs, wages, husiness rates
and the erosion of margins from online
comnpetition. Shopping Centres have been
impacted more severely by Lhis, whereas
retail parks. which are more affordable

and resilient to ontine, have lared better.

As in the occupational market, investment
activity has been skewed towards retail
parks reflecting lower occupancy costs

for retailers and the important role retail
parks can play in online futfilment; and as a
result, yields have moved in, The investment
market for shopping centres has continued
ta be weak, although there are signs of
renewed investor interest.

Opportunity

Dur Retail portfolio focuses on retail parks
atigned to the growth of convenience and
supparts retailers omnichannel strategy.
Despite the challenges in retail, this has
been a strong year for our leasing activity
and retaiters continue to recognise we aoffer
some of the best quality space in the UK.
We are locused on rmaintaining high
occupancy, accepting appropriate rents
which are mere sustainable in the lang
term.

m Urban Logistics

The urban logistics property market risk
outlook has been added as one of our key
sectors and is considered a medium
impact risk with a low probability.

Both the accupational and investment
market outlock remain favourable
underpinned by struciural changes in
e-commerce. Supply of the right kind of
space remains highly constrained and
demand is sirong, driving rental growth.

Opportunity

Our Urban Logistics portfolio is focused
on a development-led pipeline thraugh the
intensification and repurposing of existing
buildings in Londan.
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Major global, regional or national events
could cause significant damage and
disruption to the Group's business,
portfolio, customers, people and

supply chain.

Such incidents could be caused by a wide
range of external events such as civil
unrest, an act of terrorism, pandemic
disease, a cyber-attack, an extreme
wealther occurrence, envirenmenial
disasler or a power shoriage.

This ¢ould result in sustained asset value
or income impairment, liquidity or pusiness
continuity challenges. share price volatility
or loss of key custorners or suppliers,

How we moniter and mitigate the risks

- The Group has comprehensive crisis
response plans and incident management
procedures both at head office and
asset-level that are regularly
reviewed and tested.

- Assel emergency procedures are
regularly reviewed and scenario tested,
Physical security measures are in place
at properties and development sites.

The Group monitars the Home Office
terrorism threat level, and we have
access to security threat information
services to help inform our

security measures.,

We have robust IT securily systems
that support data security, disaster
recovery and business continuity plans.
We have comprehensive property
damage and business interruption
insurance acress the pactfotio.

KRls:

~ Security Service National Threat level.

- Security risk 2ssessments of
our assels.

Key: Chanqge in risk assessmant fram last year

Increase Nn change

Decrease

New risk
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Change wn risk assessment in year

Our major events/business disruption

risk auttook has reduced over the year as
Covid-19 related disruption to our business
has eased fotlowing the full opening of our
assets and the return to the office of our
people, but this remains a medium to high
impact risk with a medium probability.

This risk was increased last year as the

Group's operations were severely impacted

by the Covid-19 pandemic. Our core crisis
management team, overseen by the

Executive Committee, ¢co-erdinated the

Group’'s operational response to the

pandemic, and the resilience of our

business model, has enabled us to weather

the impacl since its onset. We remain

mindiul ot the risks posed by any further . .
Caovid-19 variants, and whether current L -
vaccines will deal with them eftectively.

We are also aware of the increase in global
uncertainily, heightened by the war in the
Ukraine. Specifically, terrorism remains

a threat, as is the risk of cyber security
breaches. Our ¢risis management team
carry out event simulations to test our
processes and procedures in response

to major incidents. We also undertake
reqular cyber securily training and testing.

Cpportunity

The challenges of the Last two years have
demonstrated the resilience of cur business
model and our robusl ¢risis management
and business continvity plans. We remain
vigitant 1o the centinued risk from the
pandernic and other exiernal threats.
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(5) Portfolio Strategy Risks
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The Group's income and capital
performance could underperformin
absolute or relative terms as a result of
an inappropriate portfolio strategy and
subsequent execulion.

This could result from:

- incorrect seclor selection and weighting.

- poor timing of investment and
divestment decisions.

- inappropnate exposure to developments.

- wrong mix of assets, occupiers and
region concentration.

- overpaying for assets through inadequate
due diligence or price competition.

- inappropriate co-investment
arrangements.

How we monitor and mitigate the risks

- The Board carries oul an annual
review of the overall corporate strategy
including the current and prospective
porifoiio slrategy so as to meet the
Group's averall objectives.

- Dur portfolio stralegy is determined to be
consisten! with our target risk appetite
and is based on the evaluation of the
external environment.

Progress against the sirategy and
continuing alignment with our risk
appetite is discussed regularly by bath
the Executive and Risk Commiltees with
reference to the property markets and
the exiernal economic environment.
Individual investment decisions are
subject to robust risk evaluation
overseen by our Investrment Cormmittee
including consideration of relurns
relative to risk adjusted hurdle rates.
Review of prospective performance of
individual assets and their business plans.
We loster collaborative relationships
with our co-investors and enter into
ownership agreemenis which balance
the interests of the parties.

KRIs:

- Execution of largeled acquisitions
and disposals in line with capital
atlocation plan loverseen by the
Investment Committee).

- Annual IRR process which forecasts
prospective returns of each asset.

- Portfolio liquidity including
percentage of aur portfolic

in joint ventures and funds.
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Change in risk assessment in year

Our portfolio strategy risk has remained
the same and is considerad a medium
impact risk with a medium probability.
During the year, external impacts
discussed in the macroeconamic and
property market outlook risks have
influenced our portfolio strategy and
performance. Whilst investment markets
are increasingly competitive in certain
subsectars, we continue to actively
ceystalise value from mature and off
strategy assels into value accretive
acquisitians and development opportunities.

Dpportunity

Qur portfolio strategy to actively fecus

our capitat or our competitive strengths in
development, active asset management and
repositioning of assets is a key opportunity.
We remain active in the investment market
and centinue o lake advantage of value
opportunities and good market pricing of
our assets, where availatle. This year has
marked the return to growth {ar bath our
Campuses and Retail & Fylfilment portfolios.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS continued

(&) Development Ri

Development provides an opportunity
for outperformance but usually involves
elevated risk. This is reflected in our
decision making process around which
schemes to develop and the timing of the
davelopment, as well as the execution of
these projects.

Development strategy addresses several
development risks that could adversely
impact underlying income and capital
perfermance including:

- development {etting exposure.
- construction liming and casts
[including censtruciion cost inflation].
- major contracter or subcontracior failure.
- adverse planning judgements.

How we moniter and mitigate the risks

- We-apply a risk-contrelled development
sirategy through managing our
exposure, pre-tetting strategy
and fixing costs.

- We manage cur levels of total and
speculative development exposure within
targeted ranges considering associated
risks and the impact on key financial
metrics. This is monitored quarierly
by the Risk Commitiee along with
progress of developments against plan.

- Prior to committing to a development,

a detailed appraisal is undertaken. This
includes consideration of returns relative
1o risk adjusted hurdle rates and is
overseen by our Investrnent Committee,
~ Pre-lets are used to reduce development

letting risk where considered appropriate.

- Compelitive tendering of construction
contracts and, where appropriale,
fixed price contracts are entered inio.
We measure inflationary pressure on
construction materials and labour cosls
land sensitise for a range of inflationary
scenariosl and make appropriate
allowances in our cost estimates and
include within our fixed price contracts,

- Detailed seleclion and close monitering
of contractors and key subconiraclors
including covenant reviews.

- Experienced development management
team closely monitors design,

construction and overall delivery process.

- Early engagement and strong
relationships with planning authorities,
The Board considers the section 172
factors te ensure the impact on the
environment and coramunities is
adequately addressed.

- Through our Place Based approach,
we engage with communities where we

_operate to incorporate stakeholder views
in our development activities, as detailed
inour Sustainability Brief,

- We engage with our development
suppliers to manage gnviconmental
and social risks, incfuding through our
Supplier Code of Canduct, Sustainability
Brief and Kealth and Safety Palicy.

- Managernent of risks across our
residentlial devalopments in particutar
fire and safely requirements.

KRls:

- Total development expasure <12.5%
of pertfolio by value,

- Speculative development exposure
£12.5% of porifoliv ERV.

- Residantiat devetapment exposure.

- Progress on execution of key
development projects against plan
lincluding evaluating yield on cost).

- Construction costs inftation forecasts.

Key: Change w risk assessment fram (ast year

tncrease Na change

Decraase

New risk
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Change in risk assessment in year

Our develapment risk has remained the
same and is considered a medium impact
risk with a medium probability.

We are pn site with 1.7m sq ft of
developrnents. with new commitments
including Phase 1 of Canada Water and
Pnase 2 at Aldgate Place. Qur development
axposure remains well wathin our internal
risk parameters of 12.9%: and our total
development exposure is 6.2% ol portfolio
gross asset value with speculative exposure
of 8.4% [which is based on ERV and includes
space under offer|.

During the year, we saw significant
inflationary increases in the construction
supply chain for certain malerials

and labour, which have been further
compounded by the war in Ukraine. Qur
inflation forecast based on tender price
inflation] has increased to around 8-10%

in 2022 and around 4-5% for 2023 and 2024
based on an expeclation of ongoing wage _._ .
pressures fer consiruction workers and
raw matenals prices remaining elevated.
This is frequently under review Lo ensure
our contingencies and cost plans are robust
to deal with the market fluctuations. Having
maintained momentum on our development
programme throughoyt the pandemic

we have been able to place caniracts
competitively and 91% of costs are

lixed an committed developments,

Opportunity

Progressing value accretive development
15 one of aur key priorities for our business
and is a fundamental driver of value.

The strength of our balance sheet, our
relationships with our coniractors and the
experience of our management téam means
we are well positioned to progress our
development pipeline whilst mitigating
the risk through a combination of timing.
pre-lets, fixing costs gnd use of

joint ventures.

We will continue te agtively monitar the
inflationary price increases or any patentiz!
delays in the construction supply chain and
work with gur contractors to manage such
issues. We will alsa review the impact on
development returns prior to commitling to
future developments to ensure we meat our
detailed pre-set enteria subject to approval
by the investment Cammitiee.
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(2) Financing Risks
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Failure to adequately manage financing
risks may result in a shortage of funds to
sustain the eperations of the business or
repay facilities as they fall due.

Financing risks include:

- reduced availability ol finance.

- ingreased financing costs.

- leverage magnilying property returns,
both posilive and negative.

- breach of covenants on
borrowing [acilities.

How we monitar and mitigate the risks

- Weregularly review funding

requirements for our business ptans

and commitments. We manitor the
period until financing is required, which
is a key determinant of financing activity.

Debt and capital market conditions

are reviewed regularly to identify

financing opportunities that meet

our requirements.

- We maintain ggod long term retationships
with our key financing partners.

- We set appropriate ranges of hedging
on (he inlerest rates on our debt, with
a balanced approach to have a higher
degree of grotection on interest costs in
the sherl lerm and achieve market rate
finance in the medium to longer term.

~ We work with industry bodies and
relevant organisations to parlicipatein
debate on emerging finance regulations
aftecling our bustness.

- We manage gur use of debt
and equity finance Lo balance the
benefits of leverage against the
risks, including magnificaticn of
preoperty valuation movements.

- We 3im to manage our loan lo value
ILTV} throygh the property cycle such
that our fihangial position would remain
robust in the event of a significant fall
in properly values. Alongside LTV, we
also consider net debt 10 EBITDA which
measures income against our debt (with
recourse to British Landl. With these
metrics, we do not adjust our appreach
to leverage based only on changes in
property market yields.

We manage our investment activity,
the size and timing of which can be
uneven, as well as our development
commitments to ensure that our

LTV and net debt to EBITDA levels
remain appropriata.

Financial covenant headreom is
evaluated regularly and in conjunction
with transaction approval.

We spread risk through joint ventures
and funds which may be partly financed

by debt without recourse to British Land.

KRls:

- Pertad until refinancing is required
{not less than two years].

- LTV,

- Netdebt to EBITDA.

- Financial covenant headroom.

- Percentage ef debt with interest rate
hedging laverage aver next five years).

Change in risk assessment in year

Our financing risks overall have remained
consistent and are considered medium
impact with a tow to medium probability.
The current uncertain environment
reinforces the impaortance of a strong
balance sheet. We have continued to
closely manage our LTV which has
increased moderately to 32.9% as a

resuit of investment in grawth sectars

and Campus develcpment, offset by sales
and valuation increases. However, following
the Paddingten Central transaction past
year end our LTV falls to 28.4% on a
proforma basis.

Wa have retained significant headroom to
our Groug covenants, which could withstand
a fall in asset values acrass the portfolio of
49%. prior 1o Taking any rnitigating aclions.

Market interesi rates have risen from very
low levels and further rises are anticipated.
In line with our interest rate management
peticy, we have hedging on 79% of our
projected debt on average gver the

next five years.

Our strong senior unsecured rating ‘A’
leng term IOR credii rating "A-" and
short term IDR credit rating F1" were
all affirmed by Fitch during the year,
with a stabte outlook.

During the year we have signed a new
£100m ESG-linked revolving credit facility
with aninitizl & year lerm, exlended our
£450m ESG-binked revolving credit {acility
to 2027, and raised a new £420m "Green
loan’ for the Broadgate joint venlure,
secured on 100 Liverpool Street,

We expect Lo continue to be able ta

access funds from a range of sources in
the debt capital markets, as required by the
business, for unsecured and secured debt.

Opportunity

The scale and quality of our business
enables us to access a diverse range

of sources of finance with a spread of
repayment dates. Good access to debt
capital markets allows us to support
business requirements and take

advantage of opportunities as they arise.

At 31t March 2022, we have £1.3bn of
undrawn, committed, unsecured revolving:
facilities and cash; and post completion of
the Paddington Central transaction we have
ne reguirement to refinance until late 2025.
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A failure to anticipate and respond
appropriately and sufficiently to {i)
environmental risks or opportunities and
{iij preventative steps taken by government
and society could lead to damage to our
reputation, disruption jin aur operatiens
and stranded assets.

This risk category includes the:

- increased expasure of assels to
physical envirenmental hazards,
driven by climale change.

- policy risk from the cost of camplying
with new climate regulations with
specilic perfarmance andfor
technology requirements.

- overall campliance requiremenis
from exisiing and emerging

_ enwironmental regulation.

~ leasing risk 25 a result of less
sustainablefnon-compliant buildings,

How we monitor and mitigate the risks

~ We have a comprehensive ESG
programme which is regularly reviewed
by the Board, Executive Committee and
CSR Committee.

- The Risk and Sustainability
Committees have overseen our
TCFD working group to implement
the TCFD recommendations including
scenario analyses 1o assess our
exposure to climate-related physical
and transition risks,

- The Sustainability Committee manitors
our performance and management
controls, Underpinned by gur SBTi-
climate targets, our guiding corporate
policies [the Pathway to Net Zero and the
Sustainability Brief} establish a series of
climate and energy targets tc ensure our
alignment with a societal transition to

nel zero that limits glebal warming
to 1.5°C.

- OQur properly management department
operates an envirgnmental management
systemn aligned with 1SO 14001, We
continue to hold 1S0O 14001 and 50001
accreditations at our commercial offices
and run 150-aligned management
systems at our retail assets.

- Climate change and sustainability
considerations are fully integrated
within our investrment and development
decisions and are evaluated by the
Investment Committee and Board
in all investment decisians.

- Thraugh our Place Based approach to
social impact we understand the maost
impartant issues and agportunities in the
communities around each of our places
and focus our efforts collaboraiively to
ensure wa provide places that meel
the needs of all relevant stakeholders

- We target BREEAM Quistanding on

offices developments, Excellent an retai _

and HMQ3* an residantial. We have also
adopted NABERS UK on all our new
office devetopments,

- We underga assurance for key data and
disclosures across pur Sustainability
pregramme, enhancing the integrity,
quality and usefulness of the
information we provide.

KRls:

- Energy intensity and carbon
emissions, Specifically. energy
performance certificates.

- Future cost of carbon offsels Lo meat
our 2030 net zero carbon goal.

- Portfolio flood risk.

Key: Change in risk assessment from last year

Increase No change

Decrease

E New risk
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Change in risk assessment in year

Qur environmental sustainability risk
outlook has increased in the year and is
considered a medium impact risk with

a medium probability.

Overall, the enwviranmental sustainability
risk outlook continues to increase in
prominence and imporiance to our
business, aur customers and other Key
stzkeholders. Alsg, regulatory requirements
and expectations of compliance with best
practice have increased and continug

to evolve,

During the year, we have worked closely
with Willis Towers Watson te quantify

the key physical and transition risks that
climate change poses o our business and
1his is infarming our. long term strategy.
The most material issuesnclude: food risk
vulnerability; the increasing price of carban
oflsels; and the costs of complying with
minimum EPC standards. More details

.are provided in the TCFD disclosures

on pages 49-57.

We are continuing to improve the energy
efficiency of our standing porticlio and have
completed net zero audits of 29 of our major
office and retail assets, identifying energy
efficrent interventions and action plans
Alongside this process, we are identifying
interventions which improve the EPC rating
of buildings rated C and below to comply
with MEES [Minimum Energy Efficiency
Standard) legislation. which is expected

1o require buitdings to be A or B rated

{or valid exemptions registered| by 2030

Opportunity

We have 3 clear responsibility but also
apportunity Lo manage our business in
the most environmentally responsible and
sustainable way we can. This is integral

lo our strategy: il creates value for our
husiness and drives positive outcomes

for our stakeholders.

We have made goad progress on our 2030
camrmitments which include ambitious
targets io be net zero carbon by 2030 and
a focus on environmental leadership. We
were pleased to retain our 5 star rating

in GRESB. the giobal benchmark for reat
estate, achieving 5 stars for both Standing
Investments and Developments for the
second year running.
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Inability to recruit, develop and retain

staff and Directors with the right skills

and experience required to achieve the
business objectives in a culture and
environment where employees can thrive,
may result in significant underperformance
or impact the effectiveness of operatjons
and decision making, in turn impacting
business parformance.

How we monitor and mitigate the risks
Our HR strategy is designed Lo minimise
risk {hrough:

- infermed and skilled
recruitment processes.

- lalent performance management
ahd succession planning for key rotes.

- highly competitive compensaticn
and benefits.

- people develapment and training.

- our fiexible working policy helps retain
employees while premoting work-life
balance and helping 1o imprave
productivity.

This risk is measured through employee
£ngagement surveys, wellbeing surveys,

Customer Risks

employee turnover, exit surveys and
retention metsics. We engage with our
employees and suppliers 10 make clear
our requirements in managing key risks
tncluding heatth and safety, fraud and
bribery, madern slavery and other sociat
and environmental risks, as detailed in
our policies and codes of conduct.

KRls:
- Voluntary staff turnover,
- Emptoyee engagement and wellbeing.

- Diversity and inclusion.

Change in risk assessmentin year

Our peaple and culture rick has

increased in the year and is considered

a medium impact risk with a medium ta
high probability.

This risk has increased in the year reflecting
the challenging operating environment
caused by Cavid-19, tlegether with general
rising wage expectations and a recent
increase in' employee mobility.

Following the easing af lockdown
restrictions, we have successfully
transitioned our pecple back to the office,
whilst supporting indwduals with more
flexible working arrangements. We have
focused on staff wellbeing and have actively
soughl feedback from staff through pulse
surveys and taken severat steps as a result
Lo promaole wellbeing.

We are committed te improving the
diversity, equality and inclusivity of our
business and in November 2021, the CSR
Committee approved our DE&] strategy
which sels out our 2030 ambitions for
the business,

Opportunity

We have 2 broad range of expertise

across our business which is critical to the
successiul delivery of qur strategy. Our stafi
turnover remains relatively low. We wilt
assess our employee proposifion to ensure
it still delivers what pecple mast value

in a changing labour market. We have an
opportunity to enhance our good employer,
brand, but will continue ta keep this under
review, and will actively menitor and
premote wetlbeing.

The majority of the Group’s income is
comprised of rent received from our
customers. This could be adversely
affected by non-payment of rent; eccupier
failures; inability to anticipate evolving
customer needs; inability to re-let space
on eguivalent terms; poor customer
service as well as potential structural
changes to lease obligations.

How we monitor and mitigate the risks

- Woa have a high quality, diversified
custemer base and menitor individual
expasure to individual occupiers
or sectors.

- Woe perform rigorous cccupier covenant
checks ahead of appraving deals ang
on an engoing basis so that we can
be proactive in managing exposure o
weaker occupiers. An occupier watchlist
is maintained and regularly reviewed by
Risk Committee and property teams.

- We work with our customers te find
ways (o best meet their evolving needs.

- Wae take a proactive asset management
approach to maintain a sirong accupier
ling-up. We are proaciive in addressing

key iease breaks and expiries

te minimise periods of vacancy.
- We regularly measure customer

satisfaction across our customer

base through customer surveys.

KRls:

- Market tatting risk including
vacancies, upcoming expiries and
breaks, and speculative development.

- Occupier cavenant strength and
concentration lincluding percentage
of rent classified as "High Risk’].

- Occupancy and weighted average
unexpired lease term.

Change in risk assessment in year
Our customer risk has reduced from its
elevated position last year, butis still
censidered bath a medium to high
impact and probability risk.

Dur customner risk was heighiened at last
year end as most of cur customers were
unable to pperate their businesses due to
Covig-1% related restrictions, impacting
their ability to pay rent. Whilst our
perfermance continued to be impacted,
our rent collection has recovered to close

to pre-pandemic levels as the UK economy
recovered acress the year.

We have cantinued to work closely with our
customers to maximise occupancy and rent
collection whilst monitoring their covenant
strength and taking actiens appropriately.
This is reflected in aur rent collection
which is 97% far the year.

As our markets have continued te polarise,
customers demand more from the places
where they work and shop. We are well
positioned across both our Campuses and
Retail & Fulfilment portfolios where we
focus on providing best-in-class space;
and this has baen evidenced by our

strong leasing activity.

Looking forward, we are mindful that higher
Input prices may impact the profitability of
our customers, particularly on the relail side.

Opportunity

Successful customer relationships are
vital to our business and continued growth.
Our business modsl is centred around

our customers and aims te provides them
with modern and sustainable space which
aligns to their evolving needs and ihat of
our markets.
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The Group’s ability to protect its
repulation, income and capital values
could be damaged by a taiture to manage
several key operational risks to our
business including:

- Information Systems & Cyber Security.
- Health & Safely.

- Third Party relationships.

- Financial crime compliance.

Comphiance failures such as breaches
in regulations, third party agreements,
lean agreerments or tax legistation
coutd also damage repdtatian and

our financial performance.

How we monitor and mitigate the risks

- The Execulive and Risk Commiltees
maintain a strong focus en the range
of oparational and compliance risks
le our business.

information Systemns and Cyber Security
- The infoSec Steering Committee
chaired by the Head of Strategy,
Oigital and Technology, cversees
our IT infrastructure, cyber securily
and key IT controls and reports to the
Risk Committee and Audit Cormnmittee.

- Cyber security risk is managed using
2 recognised securily framework,
supported by best practice security tools
across our technology infrastructure,
IT security policies, third party risk
assessmenls and mandalory vser
cyber awareness training.

Health & Satety

~ The Health, Safety and Environment
Commiilee is chaired by the Head of
Property Services and governs the
Health & Safety management systems,
processes and perfarmance in terms of
KPls and reporis to the Risk, Audit and
CSR Committees.

- All our propertigs have general and fire
risk assessments undertaken annuatty
and any required improvemenis are
implemented within defined time irames
depending on the category of risk

- Aif our employees must atiend H&S
traiming relevant to their roles.

Third Party Relationships
- We have a robust selection process
for our key partners and supptiers;
and cantracts conlain service {evel
agreements which are monitored regularty.
- We maintain a portfolio of approved
suppliers to ensure resilience within
aur supply chain.

Financial Crime Compliance

- Woe aperate a zerc tolarance appraach
for bribery, corruption and fraud and
have policies in place to manage and
monitor these risks.

- Al emptoyees must undertake
mandatery training in these areas.

KRis

- tnformation Systems
Vulnerability Scare,

- Cyber Securiiy Breaches.

- H&S5 Risk Assessments.

- H&S3 Incidents.

Key: Change in risk assessrnent from last year

Increase Nc change

Oecrease

New risk
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EC" ge inrisk asses tinyear

Our Operational and Compliance risks have
been elevated to a new principat risk which
is considered a medium impact risk with

a medium probability. Key risks include
information Systems & Cyber Security,
Health & Satety, Third Party Relationships
and Financial Crime Compliance.

The wider use of digital technology across
the Group increases the risks associated
with informalion syslems and cyber security
such as ransomware, phishing, malware
and sacial engineering. In the wider market,
cyber risks continue to be hieightened due to
ihe rise in atlempted cyber attacks, in some
cases exploiting changes in working
patterns due to Covid-19.

Duyring the year, our Health & Safety team
have conlinued to prioritise the safety of our
people whilst working away from the office
at times a5 well as the management of

our assets and developments to ensure
the business is operating in a sale and
campliant manner. We continue (o closely
monttor the regulatory eavironment and
respond to any New requirements, for
instance lire salety improvements, to
ensure compliance

The Group provides third party services to

a number of key joint venture pariners, the
number of which has expanded in the year,
and ensuring that the provision of those
services is at an appropriate Level continues
lo be & key focus for the business.

Opportunity

Our business is set up to navigate and deal
with camplexity. Our ability to manage and
operate large complex property portfolios
and developmeants is a key differentiator and
allows us to work with selected joint venture
pariners who value cur experlise. We will
continue io invest in and develop our
platfarm to deliver these services.



VIABILITY STATEMENT

Viability
Statement

Assessment of prospects

The Directors have warked cansistently aver
several years to ensure that British Land
has a strong and robust financial position
ang the Group is now benefiting from that,
as follows:

- The Group has access to E1.3bn of cash
and undrawn facilities. Before facioring
in any incame receivable, the facilities
and ¢ash would he sufficient to cover
forecast capital expenditure, property
operating costs, administrative
expenses, maturing debt and
interest over the next 12 months.

- The Group retains significant headroom
on its debt covenants, has noincome or
interest cover cavenants on unsecured
debt and has no requiremeni to
refinance until late 2025.

- in the year we signed a £420m Green
Loan facility for the Broadgate joint

- venture secured on 100 Liverpaol Street,
arranged a new £100m RCF 1o 2027 and
extended an existing £450m RCF for a
fusther year to 2027.

The strategy and risk appetite drive the
Group's forecasts. These cover a five-year
period and consist of a base case lorecast
which includes committed transactions
only; and a forecast which also includes
nohk-committed transactions the Board
expects the Group te make, in line with

the Group's strategy. A five-year forecast

is considered o be the optimum balance
between the Group's long term business
magel to create Places People Prefer

and the fact that property invesiment is a
long term business with weighted average
lease lengths and drawn debi maturities

in excess of five years (5.8 and 6.9 years
respectively al March 2022), offset by

the progressively unretiable natura of
forecasting in later years, particularly given
the historically cyclical UK property industry.

Assessment of viability

Far the reasens autlined above, the period
over which the Directors consider it feasible
any appropriate to report on the Group's
viability remains five years, 1o 31 March 2027.

The assumptions underpinning the farecast
cash flows and covenant compliance
forecasis were sensilised to explere the
resilience of the Group Lo the potential
impact of the Group's significant risks.

The principal risks table on pages 88-96
summarises those matters that could
prevent the Group frem delivering on its
strategy. A number of these principal risks,
because of their nature or potential impact,
could alsa threaten the Group's ability ta
continue in business in its current form if
they were to occur.

The Direclors paid particular attention

to the nsk of a deterioration in economic
outlook which would adversely impact
property fundamentals, including investor
and occupier demand, and which would
have a negative impact on valuations,
cashflows and a reduction in the availability
of finance In addition, we have sensitised
for the potential implications of a major
business event and/er business disruption.
The remaining principal risks, whilst having
an impact on the Group's business model,
are nat considered by the Direciors to have
a reasonable likelihood of impacting the
Group’s viability over the five-year pariad

to 31 March 2027.

The most severe but plausible downside
scenario, reflecting a severe economic
downdurn, incorporated the

following assumptions:

- Structural changes ta the property
markel and customer risk, refiecied
by an ERV decline, occupancy deckine,
increased void periods, development
delays, no new lettings during FY23, the
impact of a proportion of our high risk
and medium risk eccupiers entering
adminisiration, and lower rent
collection [as previously
experienced guring Covid- 19}

- Areduction in investment property
demnand Lo the level seen in the last
severe downturn in 2008/0%, with
outward vield shift to 9% net
equivalent yield.

The outcome of the “severe downside
scenario’ was that the Group’s covenant
headroom on existing debt §i.e. the levet

at which mvestment property values would
have to fall before a financial breach occurs]
reduces from 49% to, at its lowest level,
18%. prior to any mitigating actions such as
asset salas, indicating covenants en existing
facilities would nol be breached.

Based on the Group’s current
commitments and available facilities there
is no requirement to refinance until lake
2025. In the normal course of business,
financing is arranged in advance of

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

expected requirements and the Cirectors
have reasonable confidence that additional
or reglacement dett facilities will be put in
place grior to this date.

In tha ‘severe downside scenario’ the
refinancing date reduces to early 2025,
However, in the event new finance could not
be raised mitigating actions are available
ta enable the Group tc meet its future
liabilities at the refinanging date, principally
asset sales, which would allaw the Group to
continue ta meets its liabililies over the
assessment period.

Viability statement

Having considered the forecast cash flows
and covenant comgpliance, and the impact
of the sensitivities in combination in the
‘severe downside scenario’, the Directors
confirm that they have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able

to continue in cperation and meet its
liabilities as they fatl due over the

period ending 31 March 2027,

Going concern

The Directors also considered it appropriate
to prepare the financial statements on the
going concern basis, as explained in the
Governance Review.

During the year the Board assessed

the appropriateness of using the ‘going
concern’ basis of accounting in the financial
statements. The assessrment considered
future cash flows and debt facilities [to
assess the liquidity risk of the Company]
and the availability of finance [to assess
solvency risk]. The assessment covered

the 12-manth period required by the

‘guing concern’ basis of accounting.

Following these assessments, the
Direciors believe thal ihe Group is well
placed to manage its financing and other
business risks satisfactordy and have a
reasonable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources o
continue in operation for at least 12 months
from the date of the Annual Report. They
therefore consider it appropriate to adept
the going cencern basis of accounting in
preparing the financial statements,

The Strategic Report was approved by the
Board on 17 May 2022 and signed on its
behalf by;

(I

Simon Carter
Chief Executive
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CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION

Tim Score
Chairman

2022 Corporate

Governance Report

A refreshed management team,

an exciting cormporate strategy

and stretching sustainability goals:
the Board has guided the Company
through a year of opportunity

and growth.

As | puilined in my Chairman’s Statement
on page 10 the Company has a ¢lear and
ambiticus strategy to fulfil its purpose in
creating Places People Prefer. By utilising
our compelitive advantage in active asset
management and developmeant combined
with meaningfut stakeholder engagement,
the Company is working hard to capture
growth and deliver financial returns in an
Increasingly more sustainable way.

The Board's role during the year has been
to challenge and support management both
in the developmenl af the new strategy and
in its execution, providing challenge and
independent lines of sight to refine and

. maximise the business’s objectives,

As the Company has delivered on its priority
to more actively recycle capital from its
mature portfolio and invest into growth
sectors, unigue developments and value
cpportunities, the Board has taken bold
decisions whilst ensuring financial and
organisational longevity. Financial capacity,
the demands on the workforce, shareholder
returns, our sustainability geals and the
impact an our broader stakeholders

have all been at the forefront of our
decision-making process.

The nature of our business, from investing

- inand developing proparties to managing

and curating our spaces, means we have
a continuous dialogue with a wide group

‘of stakeholders and consider cur

environmental and social impacts in
alt that we da. This cultural approach
is cenlral ta our purpose and flows
through all levels of the organisation.

As the Company continues to work towards
its ambitious strategic and sustainabitity

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Training

During the year, the Board participated
in a deap-dive training session on the
progress against our 2030 Sustamabitity
Strategy and the future initiatives that
will drive carbon reduction. Dur subject
matter experts provided detailed training
on the technical aspects of embodied
and operational carbon, the Company’s
broad sustainability reporting
programme, external investor and
analysl views on sustainability and

the focus of the management team

for the year ahead.

Glossary

1. Remuneration palicy and engagement
with shareholders (DRR page 127

2. Director biographies
|Directors’ Report page 101]

3. Board changes and appointment
process followed dufing the year
[Nomination Commitiee Regport,
page 115l

AGM

Fotlowing the success of the 2021 AGM,
we will once again be holding a hybrid
meeting on 12 July 2022 al Sterey Club,
100 Livergool Street. Full details are
containgd within the 2022 Notice

of Meeting. We would encourage
shareholders Lo join either virtually or
physically and participate in the meeting.

ohjectives, the Baard will continue to
develop its operation to ensure that the
governance framework the Company
operates under is complementary to
those objeclives.

This year, | want to provide you with
aninsight into the core role of the Board
during the year under review, with a focus
on stakeholder engagement and the impact
it has on our decision making process, The
case studies an the fallowing page give a
real insight into the wark af the Board and
the matters that are considered that go to
the heart of how British Land operates.

| hope you find this new format useful

and enjoy reading abaut our work.

The rest of our corporate governance report
will describe in detail how the Company
continues to uphatd high standards of
corporate governance. Each Commiltee
Chair will provide a detaited view of the
work that their respective Committee

has undertaken.
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CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION continued

As | look forward 10 the year ahead,  would
like to take the opportunity to thank my
colieagues on the Board and across the
business for their continued hard work
and dedication.

G~ @éo.ﬁ—

Tim Score
Non-Executive Chairman

Stakeholder engagement
Stakeholders are at the centre of our
decision making process to ensure that as a
business we produce Places People Prefer.
Pages 32-34 outline our stakeholder
groups and provide details of how we
engage with them.

The followang case studies provide
examples of principal decisions taken by the
Board during the year, and how Directors
have had specific regard to elements of
section 172 (al-(fl of the Companies Act
2004, Our formal section 172 Statement

is within the Straiegic report on page 33.

Our Workforce Engagement Staiemeni is
incorporated within the report of the C5R
Commiitee on pages 114-115 which
provides Board level oversight of this
important work, :

Canada Water

Warking wilh AustralianSuper and in partnership
with Southwark Council, this mixed use scheme
is expected to include 3,000 new homes
alangside a mix of commercial, retail

and community space.

Image is a CGl

100

Applied governance
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Principal Board Decisions

The Directors individually and collectively
consider their obligations under section
172 [al-lf) of the Companies Act 2006
when making decisions. Management take
care to prepare decision papers that are
scrutinised at executive level committees
and subsequently endorsed il appropriate
befora they are presented to the Board.
Directors take great comfort from the -
detail ang diligence that management
apply in preparing papers, and individual
Board members aften take the opportunity
to have briefings with subject matter
experts to bolster their knowiedge.

A checklist is provided within each
decision paper that getails the individual
subsections of section 172 and the impact
thal the decision is likely to have on each
stakeholder group. Whitst all stakeholder
groups are considered. the following are
some examples of the principal decisions
taken by the Board during the year

that demonstrate the impact of the
decision process:

Case studies:

1. Part disposal of Canada Water

to AustralianSuper

|n March 2022, the Company announced
the sale of 50% of cur share in the Canada
Water Masterplan to AustralianSuper

and the creation of a new joint venture.
The transaclion delivered on our plan

to introduce a partner on the project lo
accelerate delivery of and returns from
the Masterplan. This new structure also
provides visibility ovar the 10-year
development programme, benefiting the
iniernal project team, the suppliers and
partners that we are contracted with and
the local communities and end cusiomers
that will he able to have the benefit of the
scheme once linished.

Secuning a partner as credibleas .
AustralianSuper with & track record in
respensible investing and delivering mixed
use redevelopments within London was
a key consideration for the Board. The
(ong term impacts on the Company’s
repulation for high standards of business
conduct are reflected by our chaice of
AustralianSuper and the Board was
satisfied that, culturally, the two
arganisations would fit well together.

2. 2 Finsbury Avenue

The Beard approved the demolition of
the exisling 2 Finsbury Avenue building
and enabling works for the propased
redevelopment in January 2022. In
doing so, the Board had regard to the
environmental impact of the scheme
by reference to the Company's 2030
Sustainability Strategy and the
embadied carbon levels proposed

for the developmeni.

In preparation for the proposal being
brought to the Board, the Investment
Cornmittee reviewed the proposal on
two separate occasions and challenged
the project team (o make design and
procurement changes to reduce carbon
to a market leading Vevel for a new high
rise buidding.

The proposal that the Board subsequently
considered detailed how material and
method innovations had been employed
to improve the sustainability credentials of
the design, which in turn stighlly increased
development costs. Reflecting strong
demand for more susiainable space, as
evidenced at 1 Broadgate which was fully
tet four years ahead of completion at
attractive rents, the Board was satisfied
that any increase in costs would be more
than offset by higher rents as a resull of
its stronger sustainability credentials.

3. Free shares

As detailed within the CSR Committee
report on page 115, the employee
engagement survey is a key togl thai the
Board relies on for detailed engagement
with the worklarce. An area of particular
feedback highlighted in the annual survey
in February 2022 was how much
empioyees had valved the Free Share
awards under the Campany’s Approved
Share incentive Plan which had been
susgended during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Managernent had originally intended to
conlinue 10 suspend Lhe award of ree
shares as part of the budget forecasting
process for the year ending 31 March
2023. However given the strong financial
performance of the Company during the
year and the high value cur employees
put on the Free Share awards, the Board
appraved the proposal by management to
provide Free Share awards across all BL
emplaying coempanies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Driving success

Qur Board develops strategy and
leads British Land to achieve
long term success.

1. Tim Score

Non-Executive Chairman [N]
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director
in March 2014 and as Chairman in
July 2019.

Skills and experience

Tim has significant experience in the

rapidly evolving global technology landscape
and brings years of engagement both with
mature economies and emerging markets
10 the Board.

He is the Deputy Chair, Senior Independent
Director and Chair of the Audit Commiltee
at Pearson ple and is a Non-Executive
Director at the Foolball Association,

He is also a Non-Executive Director and
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee at
Bridgepoini Greup plc and sits on the board
of trustees of the Royal National Theatre,
Tim was farmerly a Non-Executive Direclor
at HM Treasury, Chigf Financial Officer of
ARM Holdings PLC and held senior financial
positions at Rebus Group Limited, William
Baird plc, LucasVarity plc and BTR pic.
From 2005 to 2014, he was a Non-Executive
Director of National Express Group PLC,
inctuding time as interim Chairman and

six years as Senior tndependent Director,

2. Simon Carter

Chief Executive Officer

Appainied to the Board as Chief Financial
Officer in May 2018 and as Chief Execulive
in November 2070.

Skills and experience

Simon has extensive experience of fiance
and the reat estate sectar. He joined British
Land from Logicor, the owner and cperator
of European logistics reat estate, where he
had served as Chief Financial Officer since
January 2017. Prior to joining Logicor, from
2015 to 2017 Simon was Finance Director at
Quintain Estates & Development Plc. Simon
previously spent over 10 years with British
Land. working in a variety of financial and
strategic roles and was a member of our
Executive Committee from 2012 until his
departure in January 2015. Simon also
previously worked for UBS in fixed income
and qualified as a chartered accountant
with Arthur Andersen. In May 2022, Simon
was appeinted to the Board of Real Estate
Balance, a campaigning arganisation
working to improve diversity and

inclysion in the real estate industry.

3. Bhavesh Mistry
Chief Financial Officer
Appointed to the Board in July 2021.

Skills and experience

Bhavesh brings a broad range of financial,
strategic and transformation experience

to British Land gained across a number of
multinational organisations. Prior Lo joining
British Land, Bhavesh was Deputy Chief
Financial Officer at Tesco PLC. Bhavesh has
previously held senior finance and strategy
rotes in a range of consumer-facing
businesses including Whitbread Hotels

and Restaurants, Anheuser Busch InBav
and Virgin Media. Bhavesh gqualified as a
Chartered Accountant with KPMG and holds
an MBA from London Business Schoal.

Board Committee membership key

Audit Committee

Carporate Social Responsibility Commitiee
Narmination Committee

Remuneration Committee

Chair of 2 Board Commitlee

deEgxsa
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4. Preben Prebensen

Senior Independent

Nen-Executive Director B I [E]
Appointed as & Non-Executive Direclor in
September 2017 and Senior Independent
Director in July 2020,

Skills and experience

Preben has 30 years’ experiencein
driving long term growth for British
banking businesses.

He is currently the Independent
Non-Executive Chairman of Riverstone
International. having previously been Chief
Exacutive of Close Brothers Group ple from
2009 until 2020. Preben was formerly the
Chief Investment Officer of Catlin Group
Limited and Chief Executive of Wellington
Underwriting ple. Prior to that he held a
number of senior positions at JP Morgan.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS continued

Board Commiltee membership key

Audit Commilter

Corparate Social Responsibility Cammitiee
Nomination Committee

Remuneration Commitiee

Chair of 3 Boar¢ Committes

Ceea’

5. Laura Wade-Gery

Nan-Executive Director [B1EY
Appointed as a Non-Executive Direclor
in May 2015.

Skills and experience

Laura has deep knowledge of digital
transformalian and cuslemer experience
and brings her experience leading business
change managemarnit to the Scard.

She is Chair of NHS Digital and 2
Non-Executive Jirector of NHS England.
Mosi recently, Laura accepted the position
o Non-Executive Director at Legal &
General Group pic. Until April 2021, she
was a Non-Executive Director of John
Lewis Pactnership plc, Previously, Laura
was Executive Director of Mulli Channel at
Marks and Spencer Group ple, served in a
numberc of senior positions at Tesco PLC
including Chief Executive Dfficer of Tesco.
com and was a Non-Executive Director of
Reach PLC {formerly known as Trinity
Mirror plel.

4. Loraine Woodhouse
Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Exacutive Director
in March 2021.

Skills and experience

Loraine has extensive experience across all
finance disciplines and has werked within
many different sectors including real estate
and retail.

Laraine has been Chief Financial Qfficer of
Halfords Group plc since 1 November 2018.
Prior to joining Haltords, Loraine spent five
years in senior finance roles within the John
Lewis Partnership. In 2074 Loraine was
appointed Acting Groug Finance Director
angd subsegquently as Finance Direclor of
Waitrose. Prior to that, Laraine was Chief
Financial Officer of Habbs, Finance Director
of Caputal Shopping Centres Limited
Isubsequentty Intu Ple) and Finance
Director of Costa Coffes Limited. Loraine’s
early career included finance and investor
relations raoles at Kingfisher Ple.
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7. Alastair Hughes

Non-Executive Director E1EE
Appuinted 45 a Non-Executive Direcler
in January 2018,

Skills and experience

Alastair has proven experience of growing
real estate compames and is 2 fetlow of the
Royal Institution of Charlered Surveyers.

Alastair is a Non-Executive Director

of Schroders Real Estate lnvestment Trust
Limited, Tritax Big Box REIT and QuadReal
Property Group, with over 25 years of
experience in real estate markels.

He is a fermer Qireclor of Jones Lang
LaSalle In¢. [JLL] having served as
managing directar of JLL in the UK,

as CEO for Eurape, Middle East and
Africa and then as CEO for Asia Pacific.
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8. Irvinder Goodhew

Non-Executive Director
Appointed as @ Non-Executive Direcior
in Oclober 2020,

Skills and experience

Irvinder brings over 25 years of experience
through operational, strategic and digital
transformation roles in a broad range of
sectors including retail, consulting and
financial services.

She is currently a Managing Cirector at
Alvarez & Marsal and was praviously a
Transformation Director at Lieyds Banking
Group ple. rvinder held sevarat senrar
executive posilions in the UK and Australia
in consumer facing induslries, across
supply chain operatians, strategy and
transformatien for FTSE 100/ASX
organisations including § Sainsbury plc,
Coles Group and BOC Group. Inander’s
industry experience is complemented

with a career in global strategy consulting
including her role as a Partner with AT
Kearney leading their cansumer and retail
praclice in Australia and New Zealand.



#. Nicholas Macpherson
Non-Executive Director B

Appointed as a Non-Execytive Director
in December 2016.

Skills and experience

Nicholas has directed arganisations
through both fiscal and strategic change
management and brings this vital expertise
ta the Board.

He is Chairman of The $cottish American
investment Campany PLC. a Director of C.
Hoare & Co. and 3 member of the Advisory
Council to Arcus Infrastructure Partners.
Nicholas was the Permanent Secrelary Lo
the Treasury for over 10 years from 2005
ta March 2014, leading the department
through the financial crisis and
subsequent period of banking reform.

10. Lynn Gladden

Non-Executive Director
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director
in March 2015.

Skills and experience

Lynn is recognised as an authority in
working ai the inlerface of advanced
technalegy and industry. Her critical
thinking and analytical skills bring a
unigue dimension to the Board.

She is Shell Prolessor f Chemicat
Engineering at the Universily of Cambridge
and was appointed as Executive Chair of
the Engineering and Physical Sciences
Research Council [UKR(] in 2018, She is
also a fellow of the Royal Society and

Royal Academy of Engineering.

11. Mark Aedy
Non-Executive Director
Appointed as a Nan-Executive Qirector in

~ September 2021.

Skills and experience

Mark is a Managing Director and Head of
Maoelis & Company EMEA & Asia Investment
Banking. Prior to 2009, Mark was on the
Global Executive Committee of Corporate &
Investment Banking at Bank of America
Merrill Lynch and before that was Head of
Investmeant Banking EMEA at Merrill Lynch.
Aside from his executive career Mark holds
various non-profit and pubtic sector board
roles, including Senicr Independent Director
of the Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust
and is a Trustee of the HALD Trust. He is
also a Visiting Fellow at Oxford University.
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12. Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Company Secretary
Appaointed as General Counsel and Company
Secretary in January 2018. In January 2022
Brona also took on responsibility for

Human Resources.

Skills and experience

Before jaining British Land, Brona was
General Counsel and Company Secretary
of The Co-operative Bank plc for four years
as part of the restruciuring executive team.
Immediately prior to that she was Interim
General Counsel and Secretary at the
Coventry Building Saciety. Prior to October
2011, Brona was Global General Counsel of
the Corporate division of Barclays Bank ptc,
having joined Barctays in 1998. Brona
trained and spent a number of years

at 2 targe City law firm.
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GOVERNANCE AT AGLANCE The British Land Campany PLC 00621920

A strategic enabler

Qur governance structure Board attendance
ensures that the right people Mesting
have access to the right - Directat Attendance
information. Delegated Tim Score &/
authorities throughout . Simon Carter &/%
our organisation enable Bhavesh Mistry S/5
effective decision making Preben Prebensen &/8
at appropriate [evels. Mark Aedy 414
Lynn Gladden . 6/6
Alastair Hughes 5/6
Irvinder Goodhew 6/6
Nicholas Macpherson &/6
| aura Wade-Gery' 5/6
Laraine Woodhouse &16

1. Laura Wade-Gery missed one Board meeting in May 2021 due to illness, but ensured a full regort 6f the*
matters considersd by the May 2071 Remuneration Committee which she had chaired was made at the
Board meelting despile not being able to zttend herself.

The Board continues 1o demanstrate individual and collective commitment to British Land by devoting

sufficient time to discharge its dulies and @ack year the Dirsclars are asked (o report their ime speat on
British Land commitments. la addition to formal meetings, the Board met collectively with management
in February tor the annual strategy oifsite as wall as far informat networking events throughout the year.

Governance framework

Corporate

Board of Audit Social Nominatien Remuneration
Directors Committee Responsibility Committee Commitlee
Committee

Executive
Membership
comprises
Executive
Executive Risk Committes
Cammittee Committee members.
The Committees
ansure the
implementaticn
nf the Company
stralegy.

Chief
Executive

Investment
Committee

Management
Membership comprises
Community Transition Health key persannel from

* Sustainability across the busingss
Investment Vehicle and Salety Committee in the relevant subject

Committee Commitiee Committee arga. The Commiltees
are invalved in the
granular day o day
lasks within their remit.

. Further information about the different
Committees can be found an page 107
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Corporate
Governance
Report

Code compliance

We are reporting against the 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Code [the ‘Code’|
available &t frc.erg.uk. The Board considers
that the Company has complied with all
retevant provisions of the Code throughout
the year.

For the purposes of Provision S of the
Code, the Board has designated the CSR
Commitlee as our prescribed melthod

of oversaeing workforce engagement,
which provides grealer resource at Board
level than a single beard member and
demanstrales our tontinued cemmitment
to exceltent workforce engagement.

Board leadership

—

and company purpose

The Board has determined that

the Company's purpose is to create
and manage outstanding places to
deliver positive outcomes for ali our
stakeholders on a sustainable basis.
We call this Places People Prefer.

We do this by understanding the evolving
needs of the people and organisations
who use our places every day and the
communilies wha live in and around them.
The changing way people choose to work,
shop and live is what shapes our strategy,
enabling us to drive demang for our space,
in turn creating value over the long term.

The Board. supported by an expert
ranagement team, conlinues lo maximise
the competitive advantages of the Company
by utilising a deep history of stakehaolder
engagement to produce Places People
Prefer and maximise sustainable value lor
shareholders. The Company is led by the
Board in s entreprencurial approach to
placemaking and continues to innovate

and preduce world class destinations.

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprised
the Chairman, the CEQ, the CFO and eight
independent Non-Executive Directors

We continue to have a sirong mix of
experienced individuals on the Board. The
majority are independent Non-Exacutive
Directars who are not only able 10 offer

an external perspective on the business,
but also constructively challange Executive
Directars, particularly when developing the

Company’s strategy and in their performance.

Our governance struclure is designed 1o
ensure thal decisions are taken at the
appropriate levet and with the proper
degree of oversight and challenge.
Elements of our business require quick
decision making and this is enabled by an
agile Board and management team that
collaborate effectively on complex issues.
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Strategy days

Follewang the Lifting of pandemic
restrictions, the Board was able to held its
annual strategy off-site in persen in Landan
in February 2022. The event was attended by
the full Board and Executive Committee and
was structured to allow for the development
of and challenge lo the Company’s corporate
straiegy, with a balanced program of
prasentations, debaie and discussion.

The CEQ, senior executives and external
guesis delivered a number of presentations
to attendees, aroviding in-depth anatysis on
aspects of the business and the exiernal
environment. Areas of focus included:
driving returns on retai{ parks and our
London Campuses, our people strategy.
development in the innovation sector,

and presentations from external parties

on the role of cities in a post-pandemic
environment and emerging technologies
including the metaverse.

Culture and stakeholder engagement
The Company's purpose is core to every
decision taken by the Board. As detailed
on pages 8-9, the Company has

a framework of values and strategic
measures that underpin our purpose

to ensure that the strategy and culture
of the Company are aligned. Led by the
C5R Cornmittee, we have a bread range
of workforce engagement mechanisms
to ensure the Board is able to assess the
culture of the organisation. Qur workforce
engagement mechanisms are described
on pages 114-115.

Although the CSR Committee has general
oversight of and responsibility for workforce
engagement, il collaborates with other
Board Committees as appropriate to the
extent that 1ssues identified fall under the
remii of a different Committee. The Board
is regularly updated by Committee Chairs.
The Board has delegated oversight of the
Company’s whistleblowing arrangements
to the Audit Commities but retains gveratl
responsibility and receives updates on
cases as appropriate.
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW continued

ard leadership

and company purpose

The British Land Leadership Team consists
of the Executive Committee and its direct
reports in management roles who meet
regularly both formally and informally

to ensure there is a direct and visible link
across the business, and act as a channel
for warkforce views to reach the Board.

As well as warkforce engagement, the CSR
Committee has formal respansibility for
engagement with the Company’s wider
stakeholders. Stakehoider engagement is
integral to creating Places People Prefer
and the decisions taken by the Board to
maximise sharehalder value are enhanced
by the views of the diverse range of
slakeholders and wider cammunities that
we serve. The mechanisms thal ensure
affective stakeholder engagement are
derailed on pages 32-34. Examples

of hoew principal decisions taken by the
Board have been shaped by the impacts
on our stakehoiders are described in

the Chairman’s letter on page 99

Further informatien on British Land’s contribution to
wiger sociely can e found on pages 35-48

Engagement with majer shareholders
Institutional investars and analysts
receive regular communications from
the Company, including investor retations
events, one-te-one and group meetings
with the Chairman and Executive Directors,
and kours of our major assets. We have a
dedicated investor relations team which
manages our day to day shareholder
engagement and provides regular
feedback ic the board.

Throughout the year we have hosted a
number of investor events, bath virtually
and in persen after the lifting of pandemic
restrictions. Investor events including site
tours have been held at Canada Water and
Norton Folgate, and the CEOQ, CFQ and Head
of Real Estate have delivered their usuat
half year and full year resulls preseniations
as well as parlicipating in a number of
viriual and in-persan roadshaws, private
clients roadshows and retail investor
meelings, We also engaged with our major
shareholders during our review of our
Remuneration Policy. The resulting changes
to the policy are summarised on page 129.

108

The Chairman is cornmitled to ensuring
that shareholder views, both positive and
negative, are relayed back to the Board and
is assisted by the executive team in doing
s0. The Chairman, Senior Independent
Director, CEQ and CFQ are available to
address any concerns our stakeholders may
wish to raise. 1n June 2021 the Chairman
atiended a number of meetings with key
invesiors and shareholders including,
arong others, BlackRock, Norges Bank
and Brooklield.

In addition to the Chairman’s efforts, the
Chief Executive provides a written report
at each scheduled Board meeting which
includes 2 summary of market activily and
cornmentary on investor meelings in the
period. Direct feedback received during
roadshows and other events is made
available to the Board as appropriate.

The Board engages with wider shareholders
via our Annual General Meeling which

is held in @ hybrid formal and allows

for sharehalders to submit comments

or questions for the Board either in

person or via the website or telephone.

Conflicts of interest and

external appointments

The Direclors are required to avoid a
situation in which they have, or could

have, a direct ot indirecl conflict with the
interests of the Company. The Board has
established a pracedure whereby Directars
are required to notify the Chairman and the
General Counsel and Campany Secretary

of all new potential outside inlerests and
actual or perceived conllicts that may affect
them in their roles as Direciors of British
Land. The Board reviewed its Conflicts of
Interests Folicy during the year and made
amendments to provide a distinclion between
the approvals required tar significant 2nd
non-significant appointments.
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Any external appoiniments must be
approved before they are accepted by
Qirectors. The Board has delegated
avthority to the Chairman for Senior
Independent Directors for appoiniments
concerning the Chairman] and any other
member of the Nomination Committee to
provide approval for significant appeintments
in between scheduled Board meelings. An
updated register of situational conflicts of
interest is then tabled at the next scheduted
Board meeling for approval by the full
Board. The register is provided 1o the Board
for review and approval al leasl iwice 3 year,

In Navember 2021, Tim Scare was apgoainied
as Non-Executive Qirector of Bridgepaint
plc and Laura Wade-Gery was appointed as
Non-Executive Director of Legal & General
Group ple. In Septemnber 2021 Irvinder
Goodhew was appointed as managing
director of Alvarez and Marsal. In all cases
the Board considered the apgointments and
concluded that they would notimpact the
directors’ ability o dedicats sufficient time
to their commitments at British Land.

Priar approval of the appointments was
given and they were subsequenily noted

in the register of situational conflicts

which was then approved.

Non-Execulive Directors’ letters of
appointment set cut the lime commitments
expected from them. Following consideration,
the Nomination Committee has concluded
that all the Nen-Executive Directors
continge to devote sufficient time to
discharging their duties o the required
high standard. Further delails 6n the
process for appointrment to the Board

can be foung within the Report of the
MNeominatien Cemmitiee on page 117.

British Land's policy is to allow Executive
Directers 1o take one non-executive
directorship at another FTSE company,
subject to Board approval. The Executive
Directors do not currently hold any such
Non-Executive Oirectorships.



Division of

responsibilities
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There is a clear written division

of responsibilities between the
Chairman {who is responsible for
the leadership and effectiveness of
the Board) and the Chief Executive
(who 1s responsible for managing
the Company).

The responsibilities of the Chairman, Chief
Executive and Senior Independent Director
have been agreed by the Board and are
available to view on our website britishland.
com/structure-commitiees.

When running Board meetings, the
Chairman maintains 3 collaborative
atmesphere and ensures that all Directlors
have the opportunity to contribute to the
debate. The Oirectors are able to voice
their opintons in a calm and respectiul
environment, allowing coherent discussion.

The Chairman also arranges tnformal
meelings and events throughout the year
te help build construciive relationships
between Board members and the senjor
managernent team. The Chairman meels
with individual Directors outside of formal
Board meetings to allow for open, two-way
discussion aboul the effectiveness of the
Board, its Committees and its members.
The Chairman is therefore abla to

rermain mindful of the views of the
individual Directars.

Operation of the Board

Our governance framework sel oul on page
104 ensures that the Board is able to focus
on strategic proposals, major iransactions
and governance matiers which affect the
leng term success of the business.

Regular Board and Commiltee meetings
are scheduled throughout the year Ad hoc
meetings may be held at short notice when
Board-level decisions of a time-critical
nature need to be made, or for

exceptional business.

Cara is taken to ensure that information is
circulated in good time befere Board and
Commitiee meetings and that papers are

presented clearly and with the appropriate -

level of detail to assist the Board in
discharging its duties. The Secretariat
assists the Board and Committee Chairs
in agreeing the agenda in sufficient time
belore the meeting to allow for input from
key stakeholders and senior execulives.
Chairs of Committees are also sent

draft papers in advance of circulation to
commitlee members tc give time for input.

Papers for scheduled meetings are
circulated one week prior to meetings and
ciearly marked as being ‘For Decisinn’, ‘For
Information’ or For Discussion’. To enbhange
the delivery of Board and Committee
papers, the Board uses a Board portal and
1ablets which provide a secure and eflicient
process for meeting pack distribution,

Under the direction of the Chairman, the
General Counsel and Company Secrelary
facilitates effective information {tows
between the Board and its Commiltees,
and belween senior management and
Non-Execulive Directors.

Board Committees

Four standing Committees have been
operaling throughout the year: Audit,
Nomination, Remuneration and Cerporate
Social Responsibility, to which ceriain
powers have been delegated. Membership
of each of these Commitiees is comprised
solely of independent Non-Executive
Directars. The reports of these four
standing Committees are sel out in the
following pages. The terms of reference of
each Commitiee and the matters reserved
for the Board are available on our website
al britishtang com/committees.

The Board has delegated authority for the
day-to-day management of the business
Lo the Chief Executive. Exacutive Direclors
and senior management have been given
detegated authority by the Board ta make
decisions within specified parameters.
Decisions outside of these paramelers
are reserved for the Board, although
management will often bring decisions
within their delegated avthority ta the
Board for scrutiny and challenge.

Management are sugparted by three
standing Executive Committees:

Executive Committee
The Chief Executive is supported by

‘the Executive Commiltee in discharging

his duttes which have been delegated

by the Board. Comprised of the senior
management team, the Committee’'s main
areas of fecus are the lormutation and
implementation of strategic initiatives,
business performance monitoring and
evaluating and overseeing culture and
stakeholder engagement.
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Investment Committee

Principal investment decisions are reserved
for the Board, however it has delegated
authority to the Investment Committee to
make decisions within specified finanrial
parameters. The Investment Committee

is chaired by the Head of Strategy, Digital

& Technology. Its membership comprises
the majority of the Executive Commiktee
including the CEO and CFQ. The Investment
Committee alsc reviews investment
proposals that fall cuiside of its delegated
authority and provides recornmendations
to the Board for its consideration.

Risk Commiltee

The Chief Financiat Officer chairs the Risk
Committee which comprises all members
of the Executive Committee and senior
management across the business. The
Committee has overall accountability for
management of risks across the business in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives.

Management Committees

The Board Committees are supported by

a number of management commiltees as
detailed in our Governance framework on
page 104. Each management committee
feeds into the relevant Baard Committes on
2 particular area of focus and implements
any Board recommendations throughout
the business.

If relevant, new management commitiees
or working groups are established around
key areas of focus to report into the Board
or management Committees. This year,
follewing the cormpletion of the scenario
analyses, we have established a TCFD
working group to succeed the tormer
commillee thal focuses on the new
regulations mandating climaie disclosures.

A new Information Security Committae was
formed at the end of last year ta support
the Risk Committee in monitoring the
affectiveness of the Company's Infarmation
Security through ¥ey Risk Indicators and to
recommend new securily initiatives.
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Compaosition, succession and evaluation
Qur rigorous and transparent pracedures
for appointing new Directars are led by the
Nomination Commilies. Noa-Executive
Directors are appoinied for specifiad

terms and all continuing Directors

offer themselves for election or re-election
by sharehclders at the AGM each yzar
provided the Board, on the recommaeandation
of the Nomination Committee, deems it
appropriate that they do so, taking into
account various faclors including the length
of concurrent service. The procedure for
appainting new Directors is detailed in the

Nominaticr Committee Report on page 117.-

The Nomination Commiilee is responsible
for reviewing the composition of the Board
and its Cormmitlees and assessing whether
the balance of skills, experience, knowledge
and diversity is appropriate to enable them
to aperate eftectively. More detail can be
found in the Nomination Committee

Report on page 117.

As well as leading the procedures

for appointmenis to the Beard and its
Cammiitees. the Nomination Commitiee
aversees succession planning for the Board
and sepior management with reference 10
the Board Diversily and inclusion Policy.
Further details on the work of the
Nomingtion Committee and the Diversity
and Inclusian Policy are within its Report
on page 118,

The Netice of Meeting for the 2022

Annual General Meeting detaits the

spacific reasons that the contridution

ol each Directar seeking election or
re-elaction is and continues ta be important
to the Company's long term sustainable
success. The biographias of each Directar
on pages 101-103 set out the skills and
expertise that each Director brings to

the Board.

Following a recornmendatian from
the Nomijnation Committeg, the Baard
considers that each Non-Executive Direclor
remains independent in accardance wilth
provisions of the Code.
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Internal Board evaluation

The internal evaluation of the Board was
conducied by the Head of Secretarial
circulating questionnaires, seeking
quantitative and gualitative feedback

and reporting the outcomes to the Board.

In additian to the formal questionnaire. the
Chairman mel each Non-Executive Director
individually during the year to discuss their
contributicn to the Board and to take their
feedback The Senior Independent Director
held a meeting af the Non-Execulive
Direttars without the Chairman (o appraise
the Chairman’s performance and running
of the Board.

The internal evaluatian concluded thai the
Board. its Committees and its individual
membecs all continue to operate effectively
and with due diligence. It also confirmed
that good progress has been made on the
recommendations made as a result of the
external board effectiveness evatuatian

in 2021;

~ Time had been spent gaining insight
inio Non-Executive Direclors wider
experiences and applied whera they
could be of assistance to the Board:

- Key measures and KPis had been
introduced Yo monilor progress
against execution of the strategy
of the business and are reviewed
al every Board meeting;

- Eftorts to maimain cantact petween
Non-Executive Directers and the wider
Company through speaker events and
lunches had continued despite Covid
restrictions; and

- Carelully chosen and relevant external

speakers were inviied to Board mestings.
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Specific actions were drawn from
the results of the recent internat
evaluation, including:

- Areview of compelitor peer group
significant activity was to be included in
the regular update to the Board from the
Chief Executive;

- Management Lo provide the Board
regularly with more detailed feedback
from investor and analysl engagement
to build on the process already in place;

- Management successien plans Lo be
brought to the Board as a recurring
agenda item; and

- Continue Lo invite external speakers
to Board meelings as appropriate.

We will report on progress in these areas
in the 2023 Annual Report. The next Beard
evaluation will 1ake place in March 2023,



Audit, risk management
and internal control

—>

Audit Committee

The Audit Commitlee is responsitle for
manitoring the integeity of the financial
statements and results announcemenis of
the Company as well as the appointment,
remuneration and effecliveness of the
external and internal auditars. The detailed
report of the Audit Committee is on pages
120-126.

Financiat and business reporting

The Board is respansible for preparing

the Annual Report and confirms in the
Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set
out on page 157 that it believes that the
Annual Report, taken as a whele, is fair,
balanced and understandable. The process
for reaching this decision is outlined in the
report of the Audit Commiltee on page 122.
The basis on which the Company ¢reates
and preserves value over the long term

is described in the Strategic Repart.

Risk management

The Board determines the extent and nature
of the risks it is prepared 1o take in order to
achieve the Company's strategic objectives.
The Board 15 assisted in this responsibility
by the Audit Committee which, in
comjunction with the Risk Committee,
makes recornmendations in respect of

the Group's principal and emerging risks,
risk appelite and key risk indicators.
Further information on the Group's risk
managéemant processes and role of the
Board and the Audit Committee can be
faund on pages 125-124.

The Board has responsibility for

the Company's overall approach to
risk management and internal control
which includes ensuring the design
and implementation of appropriate risk
rmanagement and internal contrel systems.
Oversight of the effectiveness of these
systems is delegated to the Audit
Committee which undertakes regular
reviews to ensure that the Group 1s
identifying, considering and as far as
practicable mitigating the risks for

the business,

During the course of its review for the

year ended 31 March 2022, and to ihe date
of this Report, the Audit Commitiae has not
identified, nor been advised of, a failing or
weakness which it has determined Lo

be significanl.

Page 123 sets out the confirmations that the
Audit Commiltee made to the Board as part
of the risk management and internal control
assurance process for the full year.

Internal control over financial reparting
As well as complying with the Code,

the Group has adopled the best practice
recommendatiens in the FRC 'Guidance
on risk management, internat control and
reiated financial and business reporting’
and the Company’s internal control
framework operates in line with the
recommendations set out in the
internationally recognised COS0

Internal Control Integrated Framework.

Audit, Risk Management & Internal Control
The key risk management and internal
control procedures aver financial

reporting include the following:

Operational risk management framework:
operational reporting processes ara

in place to mitigate the risk of financial
misstatemant. Key conirols are owned by
senior managers who report on compliance
on a six-monthly basis 1o the Risk
Committee. All key internal financial
controls are reviewed on a two-yearly

cycle by internal audit The risk and

cantrol team carry out sample testing;

Financial reporting: our financial reporting
pracess is managed using documented
accounting policies and reperting formats
supporied by detaited instructions and
guidance on reporting requirements._ This
pracess is subject tc oversight and review
by both external auditors and the Audnt
Committee: and

Disclosure Committee: membership
comprises the Chief Executive, Chief
Financiat Officer, Chief Operating Officer,
General Counsel and Company Secretary
and Head of Secretariat. The Committee
regularly reviews draft financial reperts and
valuation information during the interim and
full year reporting process and determines,
with external advice from the Company's
tegal and financial advisers as required,
whether inside information exists and

the appropriate disclosure requirements.

Going concerh and viability statements
Disclosures on our use of the ‘gaing
concern’ basis of accounting and our
viability statement can be found in

the Viabitity Statement on page 97.
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Rermuneration

The Company’s remuneralion policies
and practices are designed to support
our siralegy and prormaote the tong term
suslainable success of the business.
We have a clpar sirategy, focused on
our Campuses and Retail & Fullilment,
which positions our business for growth.
Delivering against this strategy creates
the inputs for future value creation for
all of our stakeholders. In our Directors’
Remuneration Report we explain our
appreach to incentivise and reward
employees to deliver value creation
whilst also managing the business

lon a day-to-day basis. We alse

explain how we create alignment

with shareholders and measure our
performance over the Lenger term.

In accordance with the Cede, the
Remuneration Committee is recommending
a new Remuneration Palicy for approval

at the 2022 AGM. The recommended
Remuneration Policy is set oul on

pages 131-137.

Our current Remuneration Policy was
approved by shareholders at the 2019 AGM.
The Remuneration Cammiltee is also
responsible for establishing remuneration
of the members of the Executive Commiktee.

The Cammitiee is authensed lo use dis¢ration in
determining remuneration outcomes for Executive
Directors and the wider workforce. Further detasls
an the Committee’s use of discretion this year can
be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
starting on page 127
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Key investor relations activities during the year

April 2021 : May 2021
- Peel Hunt Real Estate - Full Year Results
Conference. including Presentation

June 2021

~ Goldman Sachs European
Financials Conference

- Chairman’s Invastor Meatings

- Mergan Stanley Europe &

EEMEA Property Confersnce

virtual property tour of - FultYear Results Roadshow
100 Liverpool Streetl

July 2021
~ Retail investor webinar
~ AGM

November 2021

- Half Year Resulis
Presentation

- Hall Year Resulis Roadshow

- JP Morgan Best of British

Conterence

September 2021
- Goldman Sachs European
Real Estate Conference

- BofAGlobal Real Estate
Conference

- Neorton Folgate Analyst

Site Visit

Virteat US roadshow

December 2021

- UBS Global Real Estate
conference including site
visit of 100 Liverpool Sireet

and Norton Folgate

January 2022

- Barclays Eurapean Real Estate
Conlerence including site visit
of 100 Liverpool Street

- US Private Client
Investor Roadshow

- UK Private Client

frvestor Roadshow

February 2022

- Canada Water Analyst and
investar Site Visit

March 2022
- Citi Annual Global CED
Properly Conlerence

- BofA Real Estate
CEQ Conference
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The Board meets regularly with people from
across British Land and interacts with a range of advisers
including corporate brokers and valuers to implement
our strategic priorities,

[ Our key focus areas: |

Campuses
Board focus areas: : Key Decisions:
Realising the patential of cur Campuses through: - Establishment of Canada Water joint venture
- Active capital recycling through disposals and - Approval of 1 Broadgate and Canada Water
the formation af joint ventures te focus on Phase 1 development
Londen Campuses " - Unconditiona! exchange on Paddingtan joint venture

- Investment in innovatign Campuses eutside London
- Replenishment of lang term devetopment pipeline to

redeploy recycled capitat

Retail & Fulfilment

Board focus areas: Key Dacisions:

Targeting the opportunities in Retail & Fulhlment by: - Acquisition of Hannah Clese, Wembley

- Assembling a pipeline in London urban logistics - Logislics stralegy deep dive

- Facusing on retail parks Lo unlock value from the - Acqguisition of 100% of units in Hercules Unit Trust

growth of online
- Anaiysis of retail landscape and navigating
occupier insolvency

Delivered by cur pecple and underpinned by our commitment to sustainability

Board focus areas: - Supporting worklorce wellbeing.
- Pragress on our 2030 Sustainability informed by our workforce
Strategy and pathway to Net Zero engagement surveys

by prioritising the re-use of existing
buildings whare possible and challenging
ourselves [o reduce ambodied carbon in
new builds

- Focus on diversity and inclusion &t
all levels of the business

Key Decisions:

Developrent of 2 Finsbury Avenue
~ Publication of Diversity, Equatity

& Inclusion Strategy
- Board sustainability deep dive
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REPORT OF THE CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE

Helping people thrive

We seek to ensure the Company stakeholders and to monitor the Company's
is a first-class employer, builds and wider confribution to society and the
manages first-class buildings for its environmeni. In Novernber 2021, Mark Aedy
communities and occupiers and jained the Committee as irvinder Goodhew

livers this i R stepped dawn to join the Remuneralion
delivers this in a sustainable way. Commiliea. | would like ta thank Irvinder

1am pleased to present the report of for her meaningful contribution throughout
the C5R Cammittee for the year ended her tenure.

31 March 2022, This report sets out in detail the activity
The Committes was set up three years undertaken by the Committee during the
age to assist the Board in overseeing its year ended 31 March 2022.

engagement with employees and other

Committee composition
The Committee is composed solely of independent Non-Executive Directors. Atlendance at
Committee meetings during the year is set out in the following table-

Qate of Commutiee

Directar Posation appoinmant Altendance
Alastair Hughes Chairman 1 Apr 2019 33
Lynn Gladden Member 1 Apr 2019 n
Mark Aedy' Member 17 Nov 2021 11
Irvinder Gaodhew! Member 1 Oct 2020 2J2

1. Mark Aedy joined the Commitiee following Irvinder Goodhew's departure from the Commiliee on

17 November 2021, Mark aitended an additienal Committee meeting in Cctaber, before he joined

as a member,
Members of the senior management team, including the Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, General Counsel and Campany Secretary, Chief Operating Officer and
Head of Secretariat are invited ta each Commitiee meating. Other members such as the
Head of Developmenis, Head of Environmental Sustainability, Head of Social Sustainability
and Head of Employee Relations are invited (o attend the section of the meetings relevani
to their work.
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Committee effectiveness

The Commitlee’s effactivensss was
reviewed as part of the wider internal
Board evaluation which concluded that
the Committee had operated effectively.
The Committee reviewed and updated its
terms of reference during the year, which
are available at britishland.cem/commitiees.
Tae changes made were o define
responsibilities between the Committee
and the Rermuneration Commiitee.

Committee responsibilities

The Commitiee continues to operate a
three-pillar approach to fulfil our primary
roles of being a first-class employer,
building and managing lirst-class buildings
and environments for our communties
and occupiers, and delivering thisin a
sustainable way for bath our communities
and the environment. As a Commiltee,

we make sure that our key siakeholders
are al the core of every discussion and
decisian made in order (g create Places
People Prefer.

Over the past three years the Commitige’s
responsibilities have expanded to include
greater oversight of the Company's
envirgamental and social activities. To
reflect this expansion we are changing
our name to the Environmental Social
Governance Committee and will report
under this name going forward, Our
responsibilities are isted below.

Understanding our impact on the

community and environment:

- Qversee the Transition Vehicle

- Owersee the Community Invastrnent Fund

- Undersiand the impacs of our pperations
on the community and envirenment,
including monitoring the exscution
of the 2030 Sustainability Strategy

- Understand our charilable activities

Build and manage first-class buildings:
- Qversee and moniter our Health &
Safely systems
Monitor the processes and
mechanisms for building relationships
with custorners, suppliers and other
key stakeholders

Understanding the views of employees:

~ Assess and monitor our culture to
ensure it aligns with our purpose,
values and strategy

- Engage with the warkforce on behalf of
the Board

- Review workforce engagement
mechanisms. including considering their
oulputs and assessing their effectivenass

- Monitor the development of gender
and ethnic diversity of the seniar
management pipeline, including
monitoring the execution of the 2030
Diversity, Equality & Inclusion Strategy




Key areas of focus for the
year ended 31 March 2022
This year we conceniraled an British
Land's efforts in diversity, equality

and inclusign, prograss against

our sustainabitity sirategy and our
construction and supply chain pressures.

Diversity, equality and inclusian

We have built on our Race Equality
Framework and Diversity & hiclusion
Framewaork, that were established 1ast year
mnresponsa to feedback from our people, to
create the Divarsity, Eguality & taclusion
Strategy. This was the product of the
outslanding effort of varieus groups

across the business with collaboration

and building for the future at its core -

two key pillars of our Company values. The
Commitiee was invelved in the development
of the sirategy. specifically by challenging

management ta create a framework thal
had guantifizble outcomes. The full strategy
can be found a1 britishland.com/diversity-
equality-inclusion.

The DE&I strategy is based on five pillars
that underpin our mission to deliver Places
Peaple Prefer in 3 way that addresses tha
interconnected nature of diversity. The
pitlars are people and culture; recruitment
and career progression; our leadership:
our industry and supplier networks; and
our places and communities. We require
atl suppliers to adopt our Diversity, Equality
& Inclusion Supplier Charier to ensure

our supply chains align with sur values.
Following the success of using ‘blind CVs’
for junior roles - which means at the paint
candidates are selected for interviews by
line managers, indicators as to ethnicity
and gender have been removed - this year
we have used bling CVs in the recruitment
process for ail levels where we can.
Looking forward, we will introduce our
‘reverse Mentaring’ programme betwazn
leaders and ethnic minority colleagues.

We are proud 1o pubtish such an authentic
and clear straiegy that we can report and
measure progress against. We hope that
it helps us be a leading force for change
in our industry.

Lasl year we sel a targetl to reduce our
gender and ethnicity median pay gaps by
2% year on year. This year we published aur
ethnicity pay gap data for the second year
meaning that we can compare the data for
the first time. It is encouraging to see that
we have reduced the gender pay gap by
B.4% 10 19.2% and ethnicity pay gap by 8.1%
o 19.2%. We were also pleased to come |15
in the 202t FTSE Women Leaders Review
for Women on Boards and in Leadership.

Progress against our

sustainability strategy

Good progress has been made on the
Sustainability Strategy. Net Zero audits
were completed during the year at 29 assels
that cover ?0% of landlord procured energy
consumption, The informatien collated

will be invaluable in improving the energy
efficiency of our spaces and reaching our
target of reducing operational carben
emissions by 75% in respect of our
managed portfalic. The Sustainability
Committee, comprised of senior managers
from across the business, menitors the
progress of the sustainabilily targets
owned by Executive Commitiee members
and which ¢ascade through the business.

Buitding on the research undertaken last
year into the key local issues at our places,
this year we have identified ways in which
we will work with local communities to
address those issues where we can

have the greatest impacl.

Construction and supply chain pressures
The Commitiee remain assured that the
construction and health and safety teams
have pperated with vigitance during a period
of volatility and chafienging external factors.
Supply chain and inflationary pressures
have been actively managed through early
procurement, quick decision making, and
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redistributing materials already in cur
possession. We continue to demonstrate
hest in ctass construction and health and
safety practices alengside our commitment
1o susiainable developments. For example.
during the design stage of 2 Finsbury
Avenue the management team challenged
the design teamn to make design and
procurement changes to reduce carbon toa
market leading level for a high rise building.

Fulfilling our responsibilities
Understanding our impact on the
community and environment

There are two threads of the Sustamability
Strategy: the wider environment and

the specific communities surrounding

our properties.

Community

Qur Place Based approach is central to

the Society pillar of our 2030 Sustainability
Strategy. During the year the Commitlee
challenged the team to defline and articulate - -
the activities of the Place Based approach to
help us betier communicate and amplify its
impact. As a resull. we have a clear oulline

of the approach far twenty four places.

We oversee the Community Invesiment Fund
which supports our Place Based approach
by providing funding to charities, social
enterprises and community crganisations
operating in our places. A totat of £1.4m
was spent in the year ended 31 March

2022. This year we also launched Campus
Community Funds at Paddington Central
and Broadgate in addition to the existing
fundg at Regent’s Place.

Environment

Achieving net zero carbon on new
developments i1s a key componen! of

the strategy and we continue ta maonitor
and challenge the managemegnt team

Lo achieve the lowesl possible embodied
carbon for our buildings, before offsetting
the remaining carbon as a last resort.

Case Study: Paddington Central
Qur Place Based approach is delivered through
our bocal Charter which provides a framework
of feur key focus areas: empleymeant,
education, conneclion and local business,

Paddington’s Place Based theme is inclusive
and accessible opportunities, and tagether
with our customers, suppliers and communily
partners we focys on creating inclusive and
accessible skills, training and employmeni
opportunities that bring mutual benelits ta
both Paddington Central and people locatly.

Our Paddington Central Campus runs
employment programmes such as Bright
Lights, which links the site with local ang
diverse lalenl whilst supporting under/
unemployed pecple to access employment
epportunities; educalion initiatives like Yaung
Readers Programme aid local schoelchildren
in growing their love of literacy: the Paddington
Central Cemmunity Fund connects Paddingten
Central businessas to local causes; and
afferdabie space on site supports capacity-
building for non-profits e.9. space donation

to Care4Calais for a distribution unit.
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REPORY OF THE CORPQORATE SQCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE continued

Following the success of our first net

zero development at 100 Liverpool Street,
which achieved a Green Building of the Year
award, we have now offset T Triton Square

aad St Anne’s. In tatal 22,088 1onnes of s

carben were offset at the two developments.
This year we alse maintzined a 5 star
GRESB rating meaning that we conlinue

to be in the top quintile of participating

real estate companies for sustainability
performance globally. See pages 38-3%

tor further information. ’

The Transition Vehicle is crucial to

improve the operational performance of

our porifolio. The Vehicle was created in
2021 to finance sustainable initiatives on our
standing partialio and offset carbon on new
developments, and currently holds £15.6m
ready la be deployed. Energy efficient
interventions en our standing portiolie

are being identified Lthrough our Net Zero
audits. We will manitar where tunding is
directed over the coming years and report
on specific initiatives wathin future Annual
Reports, So far, we have been improving the
energy efficiency of the standing portfolia to
strengthen their EPC ratings: one exampte
being the installation of air source pumps at
16 Exchange Square and 338 Euston Road.

Engaging with our occupiers, both

current and future, has demonstrated that
robust environmental credentials are vital
to them which has heightened our facus
on susiafnable buildings which in turn
supports leasing, enabling us 1o let space
more quitkly and achieve higher rents.

To help tackle this we will be introducing
sustainability clauses in our leases. This is
3 great example of how engagement with
our stakeholders is driving change in how
we run our business. Read more about our
enviconmental leadership on page 38.

14
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Netwark Case Study:

BL Pride Committee

The BL Pride Committee is one of

the longest running of pur Employee
Networks and is chaired by Paul Edwards,
Head of Legal. He says: "The BL Pride
Comimittee works to rasse the prafile of
LGBT+ issues and encourage Brilish Land
employees (o be good allias. Taraugh
varioys activities including hasting sociat
events, organfsing training sessians,
charity fundraising and inpuiting into BL
policies, we aim to ¢create a culture of
acceptance both within the cormnpany and

in the wider industry. Evenls such as our
Carporate Queer Exhibition at Broadgate
n September 2021 aim Lo demonstrate
that we have visible senior LGBT+ leaders
at British Lang and that employees can
bring their whole selves to work. It has
been heart-warming for me to hear from
colleagues who are cut publicly in their
work lives for the first time in their role at
BL. The opportunity to present to the CSR
commiiiee sends a clear message that
Diversity & Inclusion is valued at all
levels of the business.”

Build and manage

first-class buildings

The Commitlee ook time to understand
management’s approach to health and
safety and was imprassed with the rigour
and detail of the systems in place (o ensure
our buildings and praclices are safe.

DOuring the year we received reports

that showed haw we are mitigaling the
inflationary pressures experienced by the
consiruction industry, driven by material
supply censtraints, labour shertages ana
energy price rises. The impacl of these
external faclors an gur decision making,
procurement routes and contractor
selection were Brought to our atlention
and challenged appropriately. We were
assured that they were approached with
high levels of awareness and diligence.

Understanding the views

of employees

Previously, we have provided a separate
Workforce Engagement Statement.

From this year, as the Commiltée is
responsible far warkfarce engagement and
in practice, it forms one of the three main
responsibilities of the Commillae, we have
integrated the Warkfoerce Engagement
Statemen( 50 that it forms part of the

LSR Committee Repart.

The Cornmittee is well placed (o receive
updates on the below engagement methads.
This holistic oversight emphasises the
benefit of having the Commitige as qur
chosen weorkforce engagernent method.

How we engage

BL employee networks

As seen on pages 33-37, our employee-fed
netwarks are integrat to creating and
mainiaining an open dialogue to keep
management informed an social issues
impacling our stall. By working with our
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Board, Executive Committes and CSR
Committee, our networks elfect real
change within the business, informing on
policy and inliatives 1o ensure our people
remain at the heart of everything we do.
Non-Executive Directors are diractly
influenced by our grassroot networks
and the feedback received acts as a
litmus test for the heatth of aur cullure.

As well as regular meetings with the CEQ,
our network chairs are invited to present

at the Execytive and LSR Commitlees. We
find these updates invaluable as they give
us direct contact with same of the most
passianate people in the business. Each
nelwork is encouraged to give feedback as
la how we can bolster their elferts at Board
lavel. The networks informed us that senior
attendance at network events was hugely
important and since, these members have
made a concerted effort to be mare involved
which illustrates how our values flow
through the entire business.

internal cammunication

Strong communication played an essential
rolg in the transition back into our offices.
As pandemic restrictions were lifted,
regular emails (o employees kept them
updated on warking arcangements and
Executive Commiltee members discussed
any major policy changes with their teams
to undersiand how employges were feeling
which was fed back to the CSR Committee.

Following the successful return to our
cofficas, monthly all staff meetings resumed
led by an Executive Committee memiber in
3 hybrid format, allowing 5talf to choose

to jain physically or via videa link.

Director engagement

Fallowing the pandemic we were glad to
reintroduce our regular programme of Noa
Executive Director breakfasts and lunches
with senior employees.



Following the success of the “In Conversation
with Lynn Gladden™ event hosted by our
wornen’s network, equitaBle, Irvinder
Goodhew joined ihe network lar a virtuat
Q&A attended by over 100 staff membrars,
where she spake candidly about her carger
and the challenges she has {aced. Tha
session was recorded and able 1o be
accessed by colleagues who could not
atiend the live eveni,

Last year the Board endorsed a proposal
for Nnn-Executive Directurs and Executive
Committee members te mentor highly
perfarming talzat within the business and
under this scherme several Mon-Executive
Direciors now mentor senior employess
across the business.

Financial awareness

At the half and full year, our Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Gfficer and Head of
Real Estate present the financial results to

Ownership

Our Company-wide Share Incentive Plan
and Save Ag You Earn Schemes continued
to operate throughout the pandemic. In
2020, we suspended the annual free share
award, part of the Share Incentive Plan, tut
having understood from employees in our
engagement survey the high value they put
on the annual Free Share award and given
the streng financial performance of the
Company, we will be resuming this

aspaci of the scheme from 2022.

Employee surveys

in February we conducted our annual
employee engagement survey which was
the first full survey since 2019 because

we relied on more reqular, pulse surveys
during the pandemic. We continue to enjoy

good resulis, particularly in culiural areas
that take a long time to build, such as beligf
in our sacial purpose and commitment to
diversity. Of note, 83% of stafl surveyed
raperted that thay have confidence in the
teaders at British Land, and 88% reported
that they fell British Land's commitment

to social responsibility is genuine.

We aiso saw improvement in some of pur
weaker scores versus 2019; confidence in
collaboration and commuinication was up
by 8% following measures to address this,
such as more internal communication and
establishing the British Land Leadership
Team. However, employees did voice
concerns about commpensation, workload
and carger progression which have been
seen acress the labour market generatly
following the pandemic and maore recently
with the cos) of Yving crisis.

We also took time to delve into the survey
results through a divarsity tens. Querall, the
cancerns mentioned above were shared by
all sociceconomic groups. A breakdawn of
the resulls by gender, ethnic group and
sexual orientation was shared with the
relevant networks so they can use the

data to inform their goats and actwiues.

The results of the survey were presented

to employees and areas af concern were
addressed openly. Individual leams ware
asked to discuss their team-specific results
compared ta the wider Company, and their
feedback will be used to form an aclion
ptan in the immediate and long term.

From April o June 2027 we held wellbeing
focussed pulse surveys which showed

that nearly 90% of colleagues consistently
felt supported by British Land during the
pandemic and over 80% thought senior
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teaders demonstrated that ernpioyee
weltbeing was important. These surveys
helped us understand employees’ sepliment
and respond in the mgst effective way tq
make sure that our people felt losked

after during this disruptive peried.

Key areas of focus for the

coming year

This has been a productive year in collating
the right data and using it te inferm our
decision making. We will continue to provide
oversight of our Sustainability Strategy and
Progress against aur net zere carhon targats.
We wilt alsa repart an the projects that the
Transition Yehicle will support in the 2023
Annual Report.

Diversity will remain a focal point for the
Commiittee to ensure there are processesin
place to facilitate a diverse pipeline of talent
far the luture. Importantty, we will monitor
progress against the new Diversity, Equality
and {nclusion sirategy, gender and ethaicity
pay gap, and race equality ahjectives. We
hope that tagether these objectives will

add to the guod work already carried out

in enabling our people to bring their whole
selves towork, which is 3 foundation of

our culiure at British Land. We witl also
mainain best in £lass constructien and
health and safety whilst steering the
business through the challenges of

the macro environment.

<

Alastair Hughes
Chairman af the CSR Committee

Network Case Study: BL NextBen
The NextGen Network is our newest
employes network and is chaired by
Joseph Bass and Gafar Fashola, Canada
Water Administrator Apprentices and
Patricia Rus, Investment Assacraie.
"We started our network in response 1o
previcus staff survey resulls indicating
that junior employees felt they lacked
mearungful ways to cannect with calleagues.
{n addition, retentien of juniar stalf at

" British Land and in the wider industry is
a challenge: 25~ 29 year-olds are some
of the most job-robile employees and
made up the highest percentage of Briush
Land leavers. We wanted 1o create a
torum tor jurmior professionals to share
ideas, develop skills and widen their
networks te develop their cargers.

In the hirst six manths of operatien,

over 40 people signed up for our Buddy
Programine, which provides new starters
with & ‘buddy’ for their first six rnonths of
emptoyment to ease integration into the
campany. We also launched our Teach in
sessjons which aim ta give celleagues
better insight into different areas of

the business and the widec real estate
industry. Also, we have callaborated with
bath the British Praperty Federatign and
Real Estate Balance on events for our
Network members, It is important to us
to keep young professionals at British
tand connected across the property
industry 1o ensure we attract the

best talent.”
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Ensuring a balanced
and diverse Board

The Nomination Committee The development and execution of our
supports the Board on composition, long term strategic objectives, embedding

succession and diversity matters.

of our culture and values and promatian

of the interests of our stakeholders are

1 am pleased to present the repart of the all dependent upon effective leadership
Nomination Committee for the year ended  at boih Board and executive level. [Lis
31 March 2022. the Commities's responsibility ta maintain

The Nominatien Commiltee conlinues (o
play a key role in supporting British Land’s
long term sustainable success.

an appropriale combination of skills and
capabilities amongsi the Directors. Long
term succession planning at Board and

executive lavel remains 3 key prionity of the

Commillee. We regularly consider the skills

Committee composition and governance

The Commiliee has five members. As at the 31 March 2022 year end the Committee
comprised- Tim Score, Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes, Laura Wade-Gery and

Irvinder Goodhew.

Details of the Commitiee’s membership and attendance at meelings during the year are

sal out in the table below.

Date af Cammyttes

Director Positian appuinment Attendance
Tim Score - Chairman 1 Apr 2017 4f4
Alastar Hughes Member 29 July 2020 44
lrvinder Goodhew Member 18 Nov 2020 46
Laura Wade-Gery' Member 18 Nav 2020 34
Preben Prebensen  Member 19 July 2019 414

I. Laura Wade-Gefy missed one Nommation Committee meeting in May 2021 due (o illness.
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and experience on the Board to ensure
that succession plans maintain the correct
balance of skills and experienca to deliver
the slralegy over the coming years.

There were minimal changes to the Board
during the year under review, Fellowing the
selection process as detailed in the 2021
Annual Report, Bhavesh Mistry joined the
Board as Chief Financial Officer an 19 July
2021. Following the departure of William
Jackson, the Committee determined Lhe
skill set required and following a rigorous
selection and appeintrmeni process, Mark
Aedy was appointed as 2 Non-Executive
Director on 1 Septembear 2021,

Nichalas Macpherson, having served on the
Board since December 2016, has decided
nat ta offer himsetlf for re-election and will
stand down at the conclusion af the AGM.

| wani to thank him for bis input and
valuable contribution.

All of the Committes activities setoutintiis— — —— ~ — -~ "7 7~

Repart ware conducted within the context of

our unwavering commitrnent 1o improving
inclusion and diversity across British Land.
Assisted by the work of the CSR Committee

in ensuring a diverse pipeline for succession,

consideration was gvan to the benefits

of diversity in its widesl sense ingluding
gender, social and ethnic backgrounds and
personal sirengihs. particutarly in view of
the Company’s purpose and sirategy. We
are proud of the Langibte impact British
Land’s diversity policies and initiatives are
having both at Board level and in the wider
business, and we report on this progress
bothin this Repor! and in the People and
Culture section of the Strategic Report.

Locking ahead, the Committee is facussed
on the long term succession of the Board.
As Directors approach thair nine-year
limits, the Committee has an opportunity
to consider more broadly the skill set and
diversily of the Board as a whole. | hope
you find the following reportinteresting
and illustrative of aur focus on ensuring
that the Board and iis Commitiees
remain well equipped with the skills

and capabilities neaded lo drive the
future success of British Land

foo thon

Tim Score
Chairman of the Nemination Cammittee



Key areas of focus during
the year

Directer search and selection

As explained in the introduction

Mark Aedy was appointed as Oirector
on 1 September 2021.

Mark is currently a Managing Director and
Head of Moelis & Company EMEA & Asia
Investrent Banking, Prior to 2009, Mark
was on the Global Executive Commiitee of
Cnrparata & Investment Darking at Bank
of America Merrill Lynch and before that
Head of Investrment Banking EMEA at
Merrill Lynch. Aside from his executive
career, Mark holds various non-profit and
public secter board roles. including Senior
Independent Oirector of the Royal Marsden
NHS Foundation Trust and is a Trustee of
The HALO Trusk,

The search process was conducted in
accordance with the Board Diversity and

--Inclusion-Policy and the Selection and
Appointment Process. which are bath
explained later in this report. Russell
Reynolds Assaciates, the execulive search
firm appointed, has na other relationship
to the Company or individual Directors.
The firm has adopted the Voluntary Code
of Conduct for Execulive Search Firms
on gender diversily and best praclice.

Board and Committee composition reviews
and appointments

During the year the Commillee reviewed

the broader composition and balance of the
Board and its Committees, their alignment
with the Company’s strategic objectives,

and the need for progressive refreshing of
the Board. The Commiitee recammended
the appointment of Mark Aedy Lo the CSR
Committee in the place of levinder Goodhew.
Mark brings 3 weatth of financial

o

Invesiment experience and knowledge to
the Commiltee. Following the meaningful
caniribution that Irvinder Geodhew brought
to the CSR Commiltee since her appointment
in 2020, Irvinder has been appointed to the
Remuneration Cormmittee. Both changes
tock effect from 17 November 2021.

Laura-Wade Gery and Lynn Gladden
completed their second three-year terms in
May 2021. In making recommendations for
reappointments, the Cormimltee considered
their performance and ability to contribute
effectively to Board discussions and to
challenge the performance of management.

The Committee is satisfied that, following
the Board and Committee compaosition
changes described above as well as the
internally facilitated Board effectiveness
avaluation, the Board and its Commiltees
conlinue 1o maintain an appropriate balance
of skills and experience required to fulfil
their reles eflectively.

Independence and re-election

The independence of all Nen-Executive
Directors is reviewed by the Committee
annually, with reference to their independence
of character and judgement and whether
any circumstances or relationships exst
which could affect their judgement. Having
regard te all such considerations, the Board
is of the view that the Neon-Executive
Directors each remain independent,
naotwithstanding their periods of tenure.

Prier to recommending the reappointment
of serving Directors to the Board, the
Cornmittee also considers the time
commitment reguired and whether

each reagpointment would be in the

best interests of the Company. Detailed
consideration is given ta each Director’s
contribution to the Board and its

" The Commiites is résponsible for Tevigwing
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Committees, tegether with the overall
balance of knowledge, skills, experience
and diversity.

Following ils review, the Comemittee is of the
opinion that each Non-Executive Director
continues to demonstrate cemmitment to
his or her role as 2 member of the Board
and its Committees, discharges his er her
duties effectively and that each makes 3
valuable contribution to the leadership

of the Company for the benefitof

all stakeholders.

Accordingly, the Commitiee recommended
to the Board that all serving Directors
lexcept Nicholas Macpherson whe is
standing down at the conclusion of the
AGMI be put forward for electian or
re-election at the 2022 AGM.

Biagraphies far each Director can be found
on pages 101-103.

Succession planning

the succession plans for the Board, including
the Chief Execulive. We recognise that
successtul succession planning includes
nurturing our own tatent pool and giving
opportunities to those who are capzable of
grewing into more senior roles.

The succession plans for the Executive
Directors are prepared en both shorter
and longer term bases while those for
Non-Executive Directors reflect the need
Lo refresh the Board regutarly. Such plans
take accaunt of the tenure of individual
members. The Committge’s review of
Executive Qirector succession plans
includes consideration of the process

for talent development within the
organisation ig create

2 pipeline lo the Board.

Role brief

The Committee works only

wilh external search agencies
which have adopted the
Voluntary Code of Conduct

for Executive Search Firms

on gendec diversity and best
practice. The Committee and
agency work together to develop
a comprehensive role brief and
person specification, aligned to
the Group's values and culiure.
This brief conlains clear criteria
agzinst which prospective
candidates can be

objectively assessed.

Longlist review

The external search agency

is challenged {o use the
objective criteria for the role to
produce a longlist of high quality
candidates from a breoad range
of potential sources of talent.
This process supports creation
of a diverse longlist. The
Nomination Commiltee selects
candidates from this list to be
invited for interview.

Interview

A formal, multi-stage interview
process is used to as5ess

the candidates. For each
appointment the choice of
interviewer is cuslomised to

the specific requirements of the
role. All interview candidates
are subject to a rigorous
referencing process.
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Review and

recommendation

The Committee ensures

that, prior te rmaking any
recommendalion tc the Board,
any potential condlicts and the
significant time commitmenis
of praspective Directors have
heen satisfactorily reviewed.
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REPCORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE continued

The Chief Executive prepares syccession
atans for senior management for
consideration by the Commitiee with

the rest of the Board invited to be involved
as appropriate. The Committee notes that
the remit of the CSR Commitles includes
cansideration of the extent to which the
business is developing a diverse pipeline
for succession o senior management roles.

A number of issues that would normally be
dealt with by the Committee were discussed
with the full Beard.

Selection and appointment process

The Comrmittee oversees the selection and
appeointment pracess for Board appointment
which is summarised an the previaus page.

Board Diversity and (nctusion Policy

The Baard's Diversity and inclusion Palicy
has remained unchanged during the year.
The Board is mindful that the FCA has
recently finalised changes to the Listing
Rules to enhance the (evel of diversity
expected at Board and senior management
level. The Company will consider the
amendments made by the FCA and
incorporate them into the policy

as appropriate.

The current policy recognises the benefils
of diversity in its broadest sense and sets
oui the Board's ambitions and objectives
regarding diversity at Board and senior
management level. The Palicy notes that
appointments will continue to be made

on merit against a set of abjective ¢ritaria,
which are developed in consideration of
the skills, experience, independence and
knowiedge which the Board as a whole
requires o be effective. The Policy also
describes the Baard's firem belief that in
order io be effective 3 board must properly

reflect the erwirenment in which it operates
and that diversity in the boardroom has a
positive effect on the quality of decision
making, Aligned to this, the Policy has

a number of specific quantitative and
qualitative policy objectives in support

of Baard-tevel diversity and inclusion,
including the following commitments:
Parformance against objectives and
updating chjectives:

The objactives from the Policy in force for
the year ended 31 March 2022 included:

- the intention to maintain 3 balance such

that at least 35% of the Board are women,

- the intention to maintain ak least
two Qirectors from an ethnic
minority background.

~ lo maintain the impraved gender balance
of its leadership teams and senior
management. Senior managemeant is
definad as the Executive Committee
and employees in the-British Land
Leadership Team.

- to ensure that there is clear Board-level
accountability for diversity and inclusian
for the wider workforce,

The Committee is pleased to confirm
that these objectives have been met. As at
31 March 2022 the gender diversity of the
Board and senier management was 36%
and 37% women respectively. although
Executive Commiltee composition

has decreased from 42% ta 33% women.
Clear accountability for diversity and
inclusion is detivered through the CSR
Camrnittee, which moniters progress

on diversity and inclusion objectives and
relevant initiatives within British Land.,

The Policy can be found on our website
britishland.com/committees.
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induction, Board training and development
Each new Director is invited to meet the
General Counsel and Company Secretary
and Head of Secretariat to discuss their
induction needs in detail. following which
the programme is tailored specifically to
their requirements and adapted ta reflect
iheir existing knowledge and experience.

Each induction programme wauld
ordinarily include:

1. megtings with the Chairman, Executive
Directors, Committee Chais, external
auditor or remuneration consultants
|as appropriatel;

2. information on the corparale strategy.
the investment strategy, the financial
position and tax matiers lincluding
delails of the Company's REIT status);

3. angverview of the property portfolio
provided by members of the senior
managemant team;

4. visils to Key assels;

5. details of Board and
Committee procedures and
Oirectors responsibilities;

4. details of the investor relations
programme; ang

7. information on the Campany's
approach to suslainability,

The Committee alse has respansibitity

for the Board's training and professionat
development needs. Directors receive
training and presentations during the
course of the year to keep their knowledge
current and enhance their experience.

Average Board member age overa
four-year period’

2022 57 years old
w2 56 years oid
2020 54 years old
209 55 years old

1. As at AGM data ol 12 July 2022
2. As 9t 3) March 2022,
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Exacutive Direciors
Nan-Executive Direclors
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Key areas of focus for the

coming vear

As well as the regutar cycle of matters that
the Commiitee schedules for consideration
each year, we are planning over the next

12 months to continue ta focus an succession
planning both for the Board and at senior
management tevel, and will continue to
develop 2 strong talent pipeling and
associated leadership programmes.

The Commitlee, led by the Senior
tnrlepandent Director, will begin to consider
succassion planning for the Chairman as
Tim Score approaches his ninth year as a
Director of the Company. The Committee
will consider the appropriate time for the
Company te transilien to a new Chairman
and repori as appropriate against the
requirements of the Code in the 2023
Annual Report,

Board and Committee effectiveness

" The process lollowed for the intermally -
facilitated Board effectiveness evaluation
conducted during the year is described
in the Governance Review on page 108.

The Commitize’s effectiveness during the
year was evalyated as part of the internal
Board evaluation which concluded that
the Committee operated effectively

Board composition review

The Committee annually reviews the
structure, size and composition of the
Board. This review considers the skills
and qualities required by the Board and
its Committees as a whole in light of
the Group's leng term strategy, external
enviranment and the need to allow for
progressive refreshing of the Board.
The review identifies the specific skills
required by new agpointees and guides
the Committee's long term appreach

to appointments and succession planning.

The Committee also reviewed its
terms of reference during the year
and no changes were recommended.
The terms are avaitable on our website
britishland.cormn/commitlees.
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“The induction process at British Land is
comprehensive, transparent and engaging
across all levels of seniority. It significantly
enhanced my ability to understand rapidly
the opportunities the Company has and
the challenges it faces. As a result, [ was
well informed and enabtled to contribute
from the outset.”

Mark Aedy
Non-Executive Dirgclor

Mark Aedy's induction programme cormmenced shortly afler
his appeintment. Mark met with the Chairman, CEQ, CFO
and Chairs of each Board Committee to understand fully the
strategic direction of the Company as well as spetific areas of
focus. Executive Commiitee members then met with Mark to
preovide an overview of their respective areas of the business,
such as Developmeni, Investment, Canada Water and Real
Estate. Mark also received technical briefings from ather
Executive Commiliee members such as the HR Director,
General Counsel and Company Secretary and Chief
Operating Qfficer an company culture, Directars’

duties and our investor relations programme.

In order to gain an in-depth insight into the work af our people,
Mark mei with several senior managars and subject matter
experts across the business. The Group Treasurer and Head of
Cap:tal Markets provided an overview of the Group’s financing
and cash management arrangements. The Property Finance
Director and Head af Financial Ptanning and Analysis detailed
the Group's budgeting, capitat planning and valuation
processes and the Director of Group Finance and Head of Tax
outlined the Group’'s financial reporting framework. n addition,
Mark met with the Director of Operations, Head of Storey,
Head of Planning and Heads of Leasing for an in-depth

view of the operalional side of the business.

Finally. in order lo see our strategy in action, Mark was taken
to visit our Campuses a1 Broadgaie and Regent's Park as well
as our 53-acre development at Canada Water.
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REPORT QF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Monitoring quality and integrity

The year ended 31 March 2022 was my first
- year as Chair of the Audit Cornmitlee which
monitors the quality and integrity of the
financial reporting and valuation process.
Throughout the year we have also paid
particular attention to our risk managemeni
and internal control processes and
pracedures. as well 25 our other
main areas of responsibility.

| arn pleased Lo present the report of

the Audit Committee for the year ended

31 March 2022, 4 hope that you find it uselul
in understanding our work.

The British Land Comnpany PLC 00621920

Committee composition

and governance

The Committee conlinues Lo be composed
solely of independant Non-Executive
Directors with suflicient financial experience,
commercial acumen and seclar knowledge
to fulfil their responsibilities.

Members’ aitendance at Commillee
meelings is sel oul In the following 1able:

Bate of
Commiliee
Director Pasition appoiriment  Allendance
Loraine 31 Mar
Woadhouse Chair 2021 3N
Alastair 1 Jan
Hughes Mernber 2018 3/3
Nitholas Y Apr
Macphersan Member 2017 A3
Preben 1Jan
Prebensen  Member 2021 33

. For the purposes of the Code and FCA

Handbook, the Board is satisfied that the
Committee as a whole has campetence
relevant to the real estate sector, and ! am
deemed to meet the specilic requirement
aof having recent and relevant accounting
experience. Further information about
members’ gualifications can be tound in the
directors’ biographies on pages 101-103.

The Committee meets privataly with

hoth externat and internal auditors after
gach scheduled meeling and centinues lo
be satisfied that neither is being unduly
inRuenced by managemient, As Committee
Chair, t additionally hold regular meetings
with the Chief Executive Gfficer, Chial
Financiat Otficer and other members

of management to obtain a good
understanding of key issues affecting

2021-2022 Calendar

The calendar below gives an
overview of the key matters
considered by the Committee
during the year,

The key shows the main areas that the
Committee focused on and can be used to see
how we have spent our time during the year.

O nvestment and development
property valuations

O Financial reporting
and Fair, Balanced and
Understandable assessmient

' Risk Management and
Internal Controls

O  External Audit and Internal Audit

May 21
Q) Valuation reports, effectiveness
and retation

O 2021 draft annual report and accounts
and preliminary announcament

QO Fair, balanced and understandable
assessment

O Assessment of principal and emerging

O laternal conlrols effectiveness

O Internal audit update

O Information security update

O External audii report

O Sustainability assurance report

O Corporate Governance Code review

Q Auditor reappoiniment and subsidiary
auditor approval

QO Non-audit services palicy
recommendation

QO Going concern and viability assessments

risks, key risk indicalors and risk appetite

TJuly 21

AGM

Autharity for the Girectors (o determine
the audilor's remuneration and the
reappointment of the external auditor
were approved by shareholders

120
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the Group and am thereby able 1o identily
those matters which require meaningful
discussion at Commitiee meetings. | also
meet the external audit partner, internal
audit partner and representatives from
each of the valuers privately to discuss
any matters they wish tc raise or
concerns they may have.

Committee effectiveness

The Committee’s effecliveness was
reviewed as part of the wider internal
Board evaluation which concluded that the
Comvmillee continued {o operate effectively.

The Committee reviews its terms of
reference on an annual basis. Following

an extensive update during the year ended
31 March 2019 te reflect the adoption of

the Code, this year we made miner changes
to the terms of reference in line with best
practice, but no substantive changes

were made.

The current terms of reference were
effective fraom 17 March 2022 and
are available on our websile al
britishland.com/commitiees.

.CO .

Laraine Wopodhouse
Chair of the Audit Committee
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Responsibilities and Key Areas of Focus

Prigrities Dascription

Financial reperting Monitaring the integrity of the Company’s financial
staternents and any formal announcements relating to
financial performance, and considering significant financial
reparting issues, judgements and estimates. Considering the
appropriateness of the accounting treatment of significant
transactions, including asset acquisitions and disposals,
and the viability and going concern statements.

fair, Balanced and Assessing whether the Annual Report is fair, balanced
Understandahle and understandable.

assessment

External Audit Oversight and remuneration of the external auditor, assessing

eifectiveness, independence, and making recommendatiens
to the Board on the appointment of, and policy for non-audit
services provided by, the externat auditor.

Internal Audit Monitoring and reviewing the nternal audit plan, reports
on the work of the internal auditer, and reviewing its
effectiveness, including its resourcing.

Risk managementand  Reviewing the system of internal conirol and risk

__internal controls _ management. Reviewing the process for identification and .

mitigation of principat and emerging risks, assessment
of risk appelite and key risk indicators, and challenging
management actions where agprapriate.

Investment Considering the valuation procass, assumpiions and
and develepment judgemenis made by the valuers and the outcomes. Monitoring
property valuations the effectiveness of the Company’s valuers and the proportion

of the portfolio lor which each valuer has responsibility.

November 21

O Valuer report, effectiveness and
appointment palicy update

2022 half year results and draft
preliminary announcement

Key financial reporting judgements
Going concern assessment
External audit review

Risk management update
Informatian security update

BE!S corporate governance reforms
Internal audit update

internal controls effectiveness

External audit plan, fees
and engagement

00000000 O

March 22 Focus for the coming year:

QO Assessment of principal and - Processes by which the Board identifies,
emerging risks, key risk indicators assesses, momlors, manages and
and risk appetite mitigates risk, particularty in the context

O Annual fraud and anti-bribery and of & high inflationary ervironment:
corruption update - Monitgr key risk areas, particularly

those scheduled far review by Internal
Audit including, but not limited to, key
financial, operaticnal and IT controls,

Q) Whistleblowing report
(O Data privacy compliance update

O BEIS proposed corporate - the Comgany's straiegy, software
governance reforms development life cycles, sustainability

O Internal audit report and Canada Waler;

O Financial reparting judgernents - Cantinue to prepare and put in place

policies and procedures for the FRC
reporting and BEIS reforms; and

- Consider the impact of the evolving
review of invesiment valuation standards

) ) ; undertaken by RICS on the valuation

O TCFD vpdate, including reflecting processes of the Group.
the risk of climate change in our
financial reporting

O Efiectiveness of Audit Committee,
internal and external auditors

O Going concern and viability
assessments

O Annual tax update including tax
planning and risk relating to tax
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

Financial Reporting

The Commitiee cantinues la review

the content and tone of the preliminary
results, Annuat Repart and half year
results and make recommendaiions to
the Board regarding their accuracy and
appropriateness, Orafts of the Annuat
Report are reviewed by the Commitiee as
a whale prior ta formal consideration by
the Board, with sufficient ime provided
for feedback.

The Committee reviewad the key messaging
included in the Anaual Report and half year
resolts, paying particular attention to those
mailers considered to be important to the
Group by virtue of their size, comptexity,
level of judgerent required and potential
impact on the financial statements and
wider business model.

The Commiltee has satisfied itsell that the

controls over the accuracy and consistency
at theinfarmatian presented-in-the-Annual -
Report are robust. The Committee reviewed

the procedurs undertaken Lo enable the
Board to provide the fair, balanced and

understandable confirmation io sharehalders.

Meetings were held between the Oirector
aof Group Finance, Chief Qperating Oificer,
Company Secretary and General Counsel,
Head of Secrelariat, WR/Corporate
Sustainability Lead and other senior
employees to review the Annual Report

any challenge the cantent and tayoult of it.
A report summarising their findings

and amendments was presented to the
Commities which then recommended Lo the
Board that the Annual Report presented a
fair, balanced and undersiandable pverview
of the business of the Group and thal it
provided siakeholders with the necessary
wnfermation to assess the Group's position,
performance, business model and strategy.

The Committes continues Lo play a key role
in assassing whether the Annual Repart is
fair, balanced and.understandable which is
described in further delail below.

The British Land Company PLC 60621920

Case Study - BEIS Corporate
Governanee reforms

The BEIS Corparate Governance
reforms are expected to be infroduced
in 2023/2024. We welcome the reforms
as a positive change to the regutatory
environment, In anticipation of
significant changes, we have conducied
preliminary internal and external
readiness assessments and

impact assessments.

We have a roadmap {0 ensure that we
dedicate sufficient ime and resource
over the next few years so (hai we are
in a good position when the reforms
take effect

As pari of its standard review in respect
of public and large private companies’
accounts and reports, the FRC wrole to
the Eampany and grovided g-number>
of minor suggestions that have been
addressed where relevart and appropriate
in the 2022 Annuat Repart and Accaunts.
The FRC clarified that this did not amount to
substantuve correspandence and no format
response was required fromn the Company.

Fair, balanced and understandable (FBU) reporting
The Cammittee considers annually whether, in its epinian, the Annual Report and Accounts, 1aken as a whale, is fair, balanced and
understandable and whether it provides the information necessary fgr stakeholders to assess the Company's position, perlormance,

business madel and strategy.

The following process is followed by the Commitiee in making its agsessment;

1. 2

Management
Review

A group comprised of
senior management
inctuding members

of Investor Relations,
Financial Reporting

and Analysis, Verilication
and Company Secrelariat
teamns, reviewed and
challenged the content
and layaut of the Anaual
Regort and Prass
Release, A report was
produced summarnising
their findings.

122

External
auditor

The Externat Auditor
reported its findings
to the Cammittee. The
Commitiee discussed
the significant issues
with the Auditor and
Director of Group
Finance and Head of
Financial Reperting.

3
Internal
Verilication

A small internal group
review the Annual Report
and oversee a verification
process for all factual
content and report their
fingings to the Commitiee,
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Commiltee
review

The Committee reviewed
the pracessin ptace

to support the FBU
assessment and

a summary of ils
outcomes. This review
led to changes in the
final Annual Report,

4 5

Recommend
to Board

The Board approved

the Commitiee’s
recormmendation that the
FBU statement be made,
which can be found in the
Directors’ Responsibility
Statement on page 157
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The significant issues considered by the Commitiee in relation to the financial statements and broader work it has undertaken during the
year ended 31 March 2022, and the actions taken to address these issues, are st out in the fotlowing Iable.

Signilicant issues How hese issues were addressed Outcome

cansidered

Gaing The Committee reviewed management’s analysis supporting the The Commitlee satisfied itself that the going concern
concern preparation ol the financial slatements on a going concern basis. This basis af preparatien remained appropriate. In doing so,
and viability included consideratian of forecast cash flows, availabitity of committed the Commillee requested thal a reverse stress test for
statement debt lacilities and expected covenant headroom, a higher inflationary environment be conducted. The

The Committee also reviewed management’s assessment of whether

the Group’s lang term viability appropriakely reflects the prospects

of the Group and cavers an appropniate peried of lime. This included
consideration of whether the assessment adequately reflected the Group's
risk appetite and principal risks as disclosed on pages 88-95; whether

the period covered by the statement was reasonable given the sirategy

of the Group and the environment in which it aperates: and whether the
assumplions and sensilivilies identified, and stress tested, represented
severe bul plausible scenarios in the context of solvency or Liquidity.

The Commiitee received a report fram the external auditer on the results
of the testing undertaken on management’s analysis in both cases.

Committee agreed with managarment’s assessment and
recommended the viability staterment to the Board. The
viability staternent, which incledes our gaing concern
staternent and further details on this assessmenl, is
sel put on page %7,

Provisioning

The Commiitee considered management's approach in determining
appropriate provisioning levels for rental arrears and tenant incentives,
including those that remain reiated to the Covid-19 pandemic peried,
challenging assumplions and methodology where appropriate. The
Committee also received a report from the external auditor.

The Commitlee was satisfied that the provisicning
approach was appropriale and propertionale for
the Group.

Accounting
for significant
transactions

The accguating treatment of significant property acquisitions, disposals,
fihancing and leasing transaclions is a recurring risk for the Group with
non-standargd accounting entries required, and in some cases management
judgement applied. The Commitlee reviewed managemenl papers on key
hinancial reporting matters, including those for significant transactions. as
well as the external auditor’s findings on these matters. In particular, the
Committee considered the accounting treatment of the formation of 2 joint
venture with AustralianSuper 1n respect of Canada Water The external
auditor separalely reviewed management's judgements in relation to

these transactions and determined that the approach was appropriate

The Committee was satisfied thal the accounting
treatment and related financial disclosure of significam
transactions was appropriate.

VYaluation The valuation of investment and development properties canducted by The Committee analysed the reporis and reviewed the
of property external valuers is inherently subjective as il is undertaken on the basis of  valvation outcames, challenging assumptions made
portfolio assumptions made by the valuers which may nol prove to be accurate. The  where appropriate. The Commitlee challenged the
outcome of the valuation is significant to the Group in terms of investment  valuers on the distinclion between shopping centres
detisions, restlls and remuneration, The external valuers presented their  and retail parks and the valuation assumptions made
reports to the Committee prior to the half year and full year resulls, in respect of the former with relatively little market
providing an overview of the UK property market and summarising evidence. The Committee also challenged the valuers
the performance of the Graup’s assels. Signilicant judgements on the methadalogy applied in respect of Canada Water,
made in preparing these valuations were highlighted. givan the disposal of 30% of the Company’s interest to
AustralianSuper and the risk associated with large scale
development projects The Committee was salisfied
wilh the valuation process and the effectiveness of the
Company's valuers. The Commitiee approved the relevant
valuation disclosures to be inciuded in the Annual Report.
Taxation The Commiltee reviewed the appropriateness of taxation provisions made  The Commitiee was satisfied that the taxation provisiens
provisions and released Dy the Group during the period. They considered papers were appropriate. ‘Our Approach to Tax' is available

prepared by management and discussed he views of the external audilors
Lo abtain assurance thal amounts held were commmensurate wilh the
associated risks.

al pritishland.com/governance

Risk appetite
and Principal
Risks

The Committee received reports from management which included a
review of Key Risk Indicators in the context of aur risk appetite and updates
on our operational risk.

Ouring the year we have refreshed our principal risks in
respanse ko how cur strategy and markets are evolving.
The Commitiee resolved that management’s assessment
of the principal risks and risk appetite be recommended
to the Board.

Assessment
of internal
controls

This year we have operaled in the context of the propesed BEIS corporale
governance relorms and conlinually seeking to upgrade our internal
control environment, Management provided tiannual candirmation of the
effectiveness of internal controls.

The Commiltee approved proposals made by
management to improve the risk and control processes
and monitoring. This included additional internal conirols
testing that was pul in place for the internal control
declarations fram March 2022.

TCFD

The Committee reviewed management’'s progress o0 ensuring comphiance
with the TCFD requirements far this year's Annual Report and Accounls.
They considered changes propased to both the strategic report and financial
slatements, the process followed by management and the physical and
transitien risk analysis wark undertaken by Willis Towers Walson in

the year.

The Commutiee steered the underlying principles of the
disclasure in conjunction with management, reviewing
the disclosure over a periad of time ahead cf the final
recormmendation of the Annuzl Report and Accaunts for
approval by the Board. The Committee satishied itself that
the Group™s resutting TEFD disctosure was appropriate,

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022 121




REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

External Audit
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP {PwC]

was appointed as the Group's external
auditor for the 2015 Annual Report fallowing
a formal comgpetitive tender pracess. Given
the continuing effectiveness of PwC in their
role as external auditor, the Commitiee
believes itis in the best interests of
shareholders for PwC to remainin role

for the following financial year and for

2 compaelitive tender pracess to be
cornpleted during 2024 ahead of

the 2025 year end audit.

The year under review is Sandra Dowling's
third year as engagement partrer following
a mandatory rotation at the conglusion of
the 2019 audit. The Comenittee will ensure
that future rotations are undertaken as
required by legislation to the extent that
this is not undertaken eartier by PwC.

The Committee is respansible for
-oversgeing the relationship with the -~
external auditor and for considering

their terms of engagement, remuneration,
effectiveness, independence and continued
abjectivity. The Committee annually raviews
the audi requirements of the Group, for the
business and in the conlex! of ihe external
environment. placing great importance on
ensuring a high quality, effective externat
audit process,

BOO LLP provides audit services to a
number of wholly owned subsidiary and
joint venture companias.

Fees and non-audit services

The Cammitlee discussed the audit lee for
the 2022 Annual Repori with the exlernal
auditor and approved the proposed fee on
behalf of the Board.

In addition, the Greup has adopted a policy
for the provision ol non-audit services by
the external auditor in accordance with

the FRC's 2619 Revised Ethical Standard.
The policy helps to safeguard the external
auditor's independence and abjectivity. The
policy allows the external auditor to provide
the following non-audit services 1o British
Land where they are cansidered (o be the
most appropriate drovider far:

- audii related services: including
formal reparting ratating to borrowings,
shareholder and ¢ther circulars and
work in respect of acquisitions and
disposals. In some circumstances, the
exiernal auditer is required to carry out
the work because of their office. [n other
circumstances, selection would depend
an which firrm was best suiled o provide
the services required.

In addition, the following protocols apply to
non-audit fees:

- total non-audit fees are Lmited to
70% of the audit fees in any one year,
Additionally, the ratio of audit to
non-audit fees is catculated in line
with the methodelogy set cut in the
FRC's 2019 Revised Ethical Standard:

- Commitiee approval is required where
there might be questions as to whether
the external audiior has a conflict of
interest; and

- the Audit Commitiee Chair is required
to approve in advance each additional
project or incremental fee beiwegn
£25,000 and £100,000, and Commitiee
approval is required for any additional
projects over £ 130,000

Total fees for non-audit services amounted
to £0.03m. which represents 5% of the totat
Group audit fees payable for the year ended

31 March 2022; Details-of-all fees charged - -

by the external auditor during the year are
set oul on page 182.

The Committee is satisfied that the
Company has complied with the provisions
of the Statutory Audit Services for Large
Companies Market tvestigation (Mandatary
Use of Compelitive Processes and Audit
Committee Respansibilities] Order 2014,
published by the Competition and Markets
Authority on 246 Seplember 2014,

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annual evalualion

of the external auditor’s performance

was undertaken by way of a guestionnaire
compleled by key stakeholders acress the
Group, including senior members of the
Finance team. The review look into account
the quality of planning, delivery and execution
of the audit lincluding the audit of subsidiary
companies), the technical competence and
strategic knowledge of the audii team

and the effectiveness of reporuing and
communication between the audit

team and management.

PwC also provide the Cemmittee with

an annual repoft onits independence,
abjectivity and complignce with statutory.
regulatory and ethical standards. For the
year ended 31 March 2022, as for the prior
year, the external auditor confirmed that it
continued to maintain appropriate internal
safeguards to ensure its independence
and objecuvity.
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The Commiitee concluded that the quality of
the external auditor’'s work, and the level of
chalienge. knowledge and competence of
the audit team, had been maintained at

an appropriate standard during the year.

The Commitiee therelare recommended
to the Board that a resolution to reappoint
PwC as exiernal auditor of the Company
be put to shareholders al the 2022 AGM.

Internat Audit

The role of internal Audit is (o act as an
independent and objective assurance
functicn, designed to improve the
effecliveness of the governance, risk
management and internal controls
framewark in mitigating the key risks

of British Land. Erast & Young LLP |EY]
continue (o provide Internal Audit services
to British Land and attended all Committee
meelings o present their audil findings
al_ongsi_c_l_e E_e_;t_alg_s_gl’ management acliur_\_s.

During the year, the Commiilee reviewed,
made suggested amends to and approved
the annuatl Internal Audit plan, including
consideration of the plan’s alignment 1o
the principal risks of the Group and its joint
veniures. Internal audits completed during
the year included those in relation to key
financial controls, financial reporting
system upgrades, heatth and safety
processes, insurance, cyber security,

and the Group's purchase 1o pay system,
Overall, no significant control issues were
identified although several process and
control improvaments were praposed, with
Jollow up audiis scheduled where necessary.

Effectivenass

The annual electiveness review of the
internal auditar included consideration

of the Internat Audit charter which definas
EY's role and responsibilities, review of the
quality of the audit work undertaken and the
skills and compelence of the audi teams.
Key stakeholders across the Group,
including Committee members, Head of
Secretariat, Head of Financial Reporting
and cther senior employees, completed a
questionnaire to assess the effectiveness
of the internal auditor. The Commitiee
concluded that EY continued to discharge
its duties as internal auditor etfectively
and should continue in the role for the
year commencing [ April 2022,
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Feedback to inform the Committee’s review of the effectiveness of the Internal and External Audit

Internal Audit/External Auditor

Management

Audit Cammittes

- Assessed audil resource and expertise.

- Reviewed the quality of aydit work, skills
and competence of the audit teams.

- Considered feadback from PwC in
relation to the external audit process.

- Considered leegback from EY in relation
to their performance during the year.

- Reviewed EYs conlirmations retating
to the internal avdit including their
independence, compasition, interaction
with external auditor, Committee
and Board.

- Assessed the Internal Audit Plan.

- Reviewed the work carried oul by the
Risk Committee.

- Reviewed the questionnatres completed
by key stakeholders regarding the
Commiltee, external and internal
auditors” effectiveness.

- Received assurance that the
provision of infermation 1o the
external auditor complied with
the relevant disclosure processes.

- Considered the views from members,
the Finance team and regutar attendees
of the Audit Committee.

- Assessed the ouiput from the
Committee avatuation and surveys
conducled during this process.

- Reviewed the external audit reports
provided to the Cemmittee during
the year, with a specific focus on
the demonstration of professional
scepticism and challenge of
rmanagement assumptions.

- Assessed progress against the previcus
year's focus areas.

Outcome

Fallowing a review of the outputs from each source outlingd above, the Committee concluded the internal and external auditors
continued to operate effectively. Considering the previous year’s objectives and progress made during the year, key areas of focus

for the internal audit and external audit funcliens far the upceming year were: Lo increase the allocation of time allotied to update the
Committee on the internal audit program, provide more information on industry trends the Company should have on its radar, work with

management to improve th&rasponse tirre to conclude accounting issues, and provide [Ufther ext&rna

risk management and internal controls processes.

[nvestment and development
property valuations

The external vatluation of British Land's
properiy portfolic is a key determinant of
the Group's balance sheet, its performance
and the remunaration of the Execulive
Directors and senior management. The
Committee is committed to the rigorous
monitoring and review of the effectiveness
of its valuers as well as the valuation
process itself. The Group's valuers

are CBRE, Knight Frank, Jones Lang
LaSalle [JLLY and Cushman & Wakefield.

The Committee reviews the effectiveness

of the external valuers bi-annually, focusing
on & quantitative analysis of capital values,
yield benchmarking, availability of
comparable market evidence and major
ouitiers to subsector movements, with an
annual qualitative review of the level of
service received from each valuer,

The valuers attend Committee meetings at
which the full and halt year valuations are
discussed, presenting their reports which
include details of the valuation process,
market conditions and any significant
judgements made. The external audilor
reviews the valuations and valuation
process, having had full access to the
valuers to determine that due process had
been followed and apprepriate infermation
used, before separately reporting its
findings to the Committee. The valuation
process is alse subject to regular review
by Internal Audit. The Group’s vatuers and
external audilor have cenfirmed to the
Commitiee that the process undertaken by
British Land to accormnmodate the valuation
of its real estate portfolio is best in class.
British Land has fixed fee arrangements

in place with the valuers in relation to the
valuation of wholly-owned assets, in lina
with the recommendations of the Carsherg
Commitlee Report. Coples of the valuation
certificates of CBRE. Knight Frank, JLL and
Cushman & Wakefield can be found on our
website at britishland.com/freports.
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Risk management and

internal controls

A detailed summary of the Group’s risk
framework as well as additional infarmation
on our systems of internat controlis set

out in the ‘'managing risk in delivering

our strategy’ seciion on pages 84-87.

The Board has delegated responsibility for
averseeing the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control
systems [0 the Committee. An overarching
view of the internal controls system, and the
role of the Board and Committee, is set out
averleaf. The Committee has oversight

of kthe actwities of the executive Risk
Committee, receiving minutes of all Risk
Commitles meetings and discussing any
significant matters raised.

Al the full and hali year, the Commitlee
reviewed the Group’s principal and
emerging risks including consideration of
how rigk exposures have changed during
the period, Both external and internal

risks are reviewed and their etfect on

the Company's strategic aims considered.
The assessment of emerging risks includes
a bottom-up review of all business units and
a deep dive by the Risk Committee. The
Audit Commitiee made a recommendation
to the Board regarding the identification
and assessment of principal and

emerging risks. The Board aceepled

the Committee’s recammendation.

125

| agvice and inpilinto aur évéralt =~



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

Haif yearly, in conjunction with the

internal auditar, management repeorts

ta the Commitlee on the effectiveness of
internal controls, highlighting cantrot issues
identified through the exceptions reporuing
process. Risk areas identified are cansidered
far incorporation ia the Internal Audit plan
and the findings of internal audits are taken
into account when identitying and evaluating
risks within the business. Key observations
and management actions are reported o,
and debated by, the Committee. For the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Commitlee
has nat identified. nar baen advised of 2
failing or weakness which it has deemed

to be significant. Ouring the year we have
undertaken work 1o undersiand how we

can maintain and enhance our information
systems and ¢yber security controls, further
detail can be found in the case study.

Al the request of the Rermuneration
Commitiee, the Committee considers
annually'tha levet of fisk taken Gy — ™~
management and whether this alfects
the performance ¢f the Campany. The
Remuneration Committee takes this
confirmation inte account when determining
tncentive awards granted to the Execulive

Direclors and senior management. Taking
into account regorts received on internal
key controls znd risk management, and

the results of the internal audit reviews,

the Committee concluded that for the year
ended 31 March 2022 there was no evidence
of excessive risk taking by managemen!
which ought to be taken inta account by

the Remuneration Committee when
determining incentive awards,

The Group's whisilablowing arrangements
enable all staff, including temporary and
agency staff, suppliers and occupiers, (o
report any suspected wrongdoing. These
arrangements, which are monitored by the
General Counsel and Company Secretary
and reviewed by the Committee annually,
inctuge an independent and confidential
whistleblowing service provided by 3 third
party. The Committee received a summary
of all whistleblowing reporis received
during the year and concluded that the

" “responsé to each repart by managefment

was appropriate. The whistleblowing
reports were also relayed to the Board
by the Committee Chair. :
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Case Study: Cyber Security
Vulnerability monitoring is a key part
of our cyber risk mitigation strateqgy
a5 the majority of security incidents,
breaches and hacks are caused by
the explaitation of known software
vulnerahilities. We understand that
there is a significant risk of being
targeted and we believe that as a
business we should be vigifani.

We tasked a specialist team to
undertake complex vulnerability
analysis and ramediation. During the
year, we have completed our corporate
vutnerability remediation programme
which included pengtration testing,
supplier risk agsessments, group wide
cyber awareness training, and ongoing
vulnerability monitoring. We also
iniroduced a technology key risk
indicator dashboard to ensure there

is consistent aversight at Board level ~
as well as a new Dperational and
Compliance’ principal risk which
encompasses infarmation systems
and cyber security.

System of Internal Control

The elements that make up the system of
contral are:

Governance Framework: Structured

with three lines of defence, the governance
structute enables the efficient priorilisation
aof key risks and actions to mitigate risk. An
illustration of the governance framework
can be found on page 104,

Gavernande

Stratagic Risk Management

Strategic Risk Management; A holistic
view ensures that risk management is
underpinned by our strategic ebjectives,
(aking into consideration our priarities
and the exiernal environment.

COperational Risk Management: Each
busingss unil 15 supporiad to manage its
own risk to ensure that potential risks are
identitied and mitigated at an early stage.
This embeds the responsibility of risk

Qperational Risk Management Assurancy

management at a business unit level.
Further detail can be found on page B4,

Assurance Framewark: An element
of internal control that is independent
of business functions and Fxecutive
Committee and Board members.

Standards and Quaiity Framework:
The averarching standards and codes
that the Company and its employees
adhere to in pecforming its duties.

Standards and Quality Framewark

Board, Audit Committee
and CSR Committee
risk appetite
Set slrategic and
financiat goals

Determine strategic
action points and

Review effectivenass of
risk management and
internal control systems

Assess the extert and
nature of principal risks

External audit
Internal audit

Group pelicies and
ethicat standard e.g.
Whistleblowing policy,
Risk Management
Policy, internal Centrot
framework aligns with
CO%0 internal Cantrol
Integrated Framework,
FRC Guidance

Executive Committee
and Risk Commitiee

Identify principal risks
Monitor key risk
ndicatars

Aggregalion of risk
exposure and adequacy
of risk mitigation
Guaing concern and
viability statement

Group Compliance
Grouvp Health & Safety
Business leads repart on
kay controls biannually

Business units and Risk
and Centrol team

Execute strategic actions

Risk register
Day to day responsibility
for internal controls

Risk and control team
oversee the business
unit process including
sample lesting

Business unit policies,
proceduras, processes
and systems
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DIRECTORS  REMUNERATION REPORT

Aligning incentive with strategy

Our Remuneration Policy aligns
management incentives with
our strategy.

Dear Shareholders

Ouring the year under review the
Commitiee has focussed on three main
areas: developing the 2022 Directors’
Remuneration Policy and consulting with
shareholders; rewarding management and
the wider workforce appropriately for the
Company’s strong financial performance;
and reviewing the wider systems of reward
and recognition across our business

lo ensure British Land remains a
first-class employer.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Directors’” Remuneration Policy

that is currently in force was approved

by shareholders in 2019 and expires at

the 2022 AGM, The Commiltee has worked
throughout the year to design the Palicy
which is described in detail on pages 128-134
and wilt be tabled for shareholder approval
at the AGM this year. The Committee

has worked with management and our
remuneration consullants e produce

a policy that we believe will incentivise
Executive Directors Lo perform in such a
way that drives pasitive culcomes for Lhe
business, eur broader stzkeholders and
crucially, our shareholders.

We are nol proposing any changes to the
quanturn of incentives that our Executive
Directors will receive under the Policy,
however we are proposing a revised
framework of performance conditions,
mast pertinently in connection with the
Long Term Incentive Plan, to align more
direcily positive management acticn with
positive reward outcome. In addition, we
have proposed the addition of performance
conditions that specifically measure
managemenl’s progress in achieving

the ambitious goals within our 2030
Sustainability Strategy. to reduce the
levels of operational and embedied
carbon within gur developments.

As Committee Chair, | have led the
programme of consultation with major
sharehotders and have heen pleased with
the tevel of engagement that our proposal
received. 1 would like to thank ail eur
shareholders that engaged in the process.
We have taken your feedback very seriously
ang have, as a result, made meaningful
changes to the Policy which | hepe you

will support at our 2022 AGM.

Company Perfermance & Bonus

The Cormpany has returned to growth

jn 2022 and we are pleased to see
manggement action resulting in positive
outcomes for the business. At the start of
the financial year the UK was emerging

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

from the third forced nzatianal lockdown
and as the year progressed there were
periods of mandated working frem hoeme
as well as general uncertainties around
varianis of cancern and vaccine roll outs.
Notwithstanding these pressures brought
about by the second year of the Covid-19
pandemic, we're pleasad with how the
business and our people have perfarmed
during the year. The financial performance
of the Company, as outlined in the sirategic
report, was driven by management’s efforts
to pivok the Cempany towards growth,
Underlying profit for the year was up by
£50m to £251m and we saw positive Toial
Accounting Return of 14.8%, the highest for
seven years, Rental callections, a key driver
of operaticnat performance, were back to
near-pre-Covid levels this year as a result
of a concerted pragramme of collections
working in conjunctien with our customers,
We saw positive valuation growth from our
property portiolio in aggregate of 6.8% ar
£699m. A full review of the performance of
the Company during the year is contained
within the strategic report from page 62.

When determining remuneraticn outcomes,
the Remuneration Committee considered
the strong company performance, the
macreenvironment and the conditions that
our stakeholders and the wider market have
experienced during the year. We assessed
the outcame of performance against

the financial metrics in general and

the individual strategic objeclives st for
each Executive Director under the Annual
Incentive Plan. The achieved performance
resulted in 3 bonus of ¢.137% of salary
earmed in the year for our Executive
Directors against a maximum opportunity
of 150% of salary. This reflected the streng
performance and execution of the new
strategy of the Company.

The Committee considers the levels

that have been awarded appropriately
reflect the efforis of the Executive Direclors,
incentivise future performance and balance
the impact of the year under review on our
sharehoiders and wider stakeholders.

Reward and Recognition

The Committee has warked with the
CSR Commiltee towards the end of the
year following feedback via workfarce
engagement mechanisms around the
structures of reward and recogmition
that exist wathin Brilish Land against
the backdrop of an ernerging cast of
living ¢risis.
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT conlinued

Manragement is leading a programme of
iniiatives which are jargeied in particular
at the most junior and lower paid members
of British Land’s staff who are thase
hardest hit by the cost of living crisis. The
Committee is overseeing management’s
efforts in this regard and was pteased to
approve the re-introduction of Free Share
Awards under the Share Incentive Plan
during the year and an exiension of the
samea awards which will now be made to

all employees of the Group. The Commitiee
has also confirmed that Executive Directors
will not receive salary increases for the year
ahead, whilst management have proposed
a progressive pay increase for the wider
workforce with larger percentage increases
in salary being given to the lowest paid.
The Committee will continue to wark with
management and the CSR Coammitiee io
ensure the remuneration of the workforce
15 aligned to the culture and stratagic

.—.—direction.of the Company. - —.

Remuneration in respect of the
year commencing 1 April 2022
Salaries

The Commitiee reviewed salanas for the
Executive Directors during the year and
concluded that no changes were necessary,

Tha Non-Executive Directors’ and the

Chairman’s fee levels also remain unchanged.

Annual Incentives & Long Term Incentives
The quantum of awards will remain
unchanged ynder the proposed 2022 Policy.
Executive Direciors are eligible fora
maximum borus of 150% of salary and
maximum Leng Term Incentive Award aof
up to 300%. The Committee does not intend
to grant LTiP awards above 250% of salary.

Pensions

We are committed ip ensuring that pension
contributions across our workforce are
equitable. Execytive Directors receive the
same pension benefil rate applicable o
the majority of the wider workfarce at

15% of salary.

Gender and ethnicity pay gap
Drur work to narrow the gender pay gap
since 2017 continued during the year.

The latest-gender pay gap lor the 5 April
2022 snapshot shows a reduction in the
median pay gap of §.4% to 19.2% from
27.6% ler British Land. Broadgate Estates,
a subsidiary company. has also achieved 2
reduction in the median pay gap irom 32.9%
to 29.3%. More infarmation can be found
at britishland.com/gender -pay-gap.

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Qur woark to narrow the pay gap between
white and BAME employees has continued
during the year. 2021 was the first time we
published gur ethmicity pay gap data. As ai
the 5 April 2022 snapshot, the pay gap has
reduced from 77.3% in 20621 to 19.2% in
2022 for British Land and from 32.7%

10 79.4% for Broadgate Estates.

Recommendation

British Land is committed to listening
carefully to shareholder feedback and ta
applying best practice to its remuneration
poticies and approach. We hope that you
will coniinue Lo support cur approach to
remungration and will vate in favour of
this Report and the proposed Direclors’
Remuneration Policy at the 2022 AGM.

Yours sincerely,

i

Laura Wade-Gery
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

New 2022 Remuneration
Policy Summary

fntroduction

Our Remuneralion Policy always aims

te align with the long term business
strategy. culture and values of the
Company. The new 2022 Remuneration
Palicy as outlined en the follawing pages.
subject t0 shareholder approval, wilt take
effect from the date of the AGM on 12 July
2022 Payments te Directars can only be
made if they are censistent with 3
shareholder approved Policy or
amendment to a Paticy.

How the Palicy is reviewed

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy
is determined by the Remuneration
Committee. The Commitiee receives
information on market practice, business
strategy and siakeholder views from
management and ils independent
advisors. Remuneralion proposals
are developed by management and
its independant advisors based on
disgussions with the Committee and
are subsequenily refined and agreed
based on feegback provided.

The Executive Direclors do nol pariicipate
in the approval of the Policy and are not
present when proposals impacting their
own remuneration are decided, other than
to provige relevant business antd employee
contex! Lo discussions with the Commitiee
which takes note of any potential conflict
of interest.

Impact of stakeholder views on

Policy review

In drawing up the Remuneration

Policy, the Commiitee actively sought

and took inte account views expressed by
shareholders. The Company engaged with
its shareholders viz conswlialion meetings
with investor bodies. and by writing to

its largest shareholders, cffering egch

3 meeling to discuss remuneration
praposals and setting oui the proposed
approach. in respense to the feedback

on our initial proposal, we amended our
approach and again wroie to our major
shareholders setting out clearly what
adjustments we had made in respanse

to feedback. The views expressed were
suppartive of increasing the focus on ESG
metrics provided these were quantitative

and stretching and for a greater proportion
of the LTIP financial metrics (but not all] to
be based on absolute performance rather
than being assessed on a relative basis.
The Commiitee agreed for ESG meltrics to
be intrcduced inte the AIR and LTIP and
for 25% of the LTIP ta remain assessed
relative to sector benchmarks.

The Committee also took inte account
views of the warklorce on remuneration
in general expressed via opinion surveys,
Executive Divector rermuneration panels
and through direct engagemaent with
LTIP participants.

Each year the Committee takes

into account the pay and employment
conditions of employees in the Group.
This year the Committee nated the
general increase in salary levels proposed
tar all employees and tevels of incentive
payments propased which take account
of the impact of both individual and the
Company's performance, before setting
the remuneration of the Executive Directors
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The 2019 Policy was largely considered
te have operaled effectively and there are
cnly relatively minor changes proposed.

Under the 2022 Policy. at least 60% of
the AlP and 79% of the LTiP respectively,

From this year, the Policy witl be operated
with measures that iniroduce 3 material

element aligned to our 2030 Sustainability
Strategy and more closely align long term

will be assessed against financial melrics.

Key changes from the 2019 Policy

performance measurement with
management action whilst maintaining
a suitable level of relativity.

There are no changes to the remuneration
opporiunity for Executive Oirectors under
the Policy with the maximum epportunity
under the Annual Incentive Plan and the
Long Term Incentive Plan remaining at
150% of salary and 300% of salary
respectively. Salary increases are

aormally in ne with the workforce and
pension contriputions for Executive
Cirectors are in line with the rate
applicable lo the majority of the
workforce, 15%.

Operatianal and factual details have

been updated, far example details specilic
to former Directors have been updaied
and non-poticy cperational matiers have
been moved to implementation sections.

Current AIF operation ynder 2019 policy

Revised AIP operation under New 2022 Policy

Quantitative Measures [70%)

Quantitative Financial Measuras 160%)

Totai Property Return vs MSEI {weighted by sector)

0% Tetal Property Retura vs MSCI lweighted by sector) 20%

Annual Profitability 0% Annual Profitability . R 30%
Strategic Objective: Balance Sheet Resilience 20% Development Praht 10%
Guantitative Environmental Measures (20%]
The Global Real Estale ESG Benchmark [GRESB| 20%
Strategic Measures/Personat Objectives/Customer {30%) Improvement in EPC ratings across estate
- Realising the patenlial of oyr campuses 30%
- Progressing value accrelive devetopment Strategic Measures/Personat Objectives/Custemer [20%]
- Targeting the opportunities in Retail & Fullilment
- Active capital recycling — Reslising the patential of our campuses 20%
- People and sustainability - Progressing value accretive development
- Targeting the opportunities in Retail & Futlilment
— Active captal recycling
~ People
Current LTIP operation under 2019 policy Revised LTIP operation under New 2022 Policy
Quantitative Measures {100, Quantitative Measures (100%)
Total Property TPR sector weighted 12D benchmark 0%- 1% pa 40% Totat Property TPR sector weighled IPD 25%
Return [Relative| Return [Relativel  benchmark 0%-1%pa
Total Accounting  TAR 13 measured as an absolute 50%
Return target with zero vesling below 4%pa,
labselute] 20% at 4%pa increasing ona
straight-line basis to full vesting for
Total Accounting  TAR is measured relative to a market capitalisation 0% 10%ps lrmeasured ai he end of year
. . - d 3 and compared 1o the year
Return {Relative] waighted index ot FTSE 350 companies that use 8
] preceding LTIP grant}
EPRA accouniing
Total Shareholder 50% 15 relative ta the performance of FTSE100 40%
Return 50% 15 relative to a market capitalisation weighted
index of Ihe FISE3S0 property companies that use
EPRA accaunting
. " . ESG- Operationat Carban 25%
fero ugsllng below Threshold, 20% vesting al Threshold and full vesting Reduction {C0;2 per sqml
at Maximum
Operational Energy Reduction
Zerg vesling belew Threshold, 20% vestiag at Threshold and full vesling
al Maximum
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued
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Alignment with Provision 40 of the UK Corporate Governance Code

Principles

Alignment with the British Land Remuneration Palicy

Clarity ~ remuneration
arrangements should be
transparent and promote effective
engagement with shareholders and
the worklorce

~ The Policy pravides far clesrly defined remuneration elements cansisting af salary,
pension and benefits, ang parlicipation in the AIP and LTI incentive schemes.

~ The Policy is cascaded through the workiorce and can be effectively communicated
ta Direclors and when engaging with shareholders and the workforce.

- AIP and LTIP performance conditions are clearly linked to the business strategy.

Simplicity - remuneration
struckures should avoid complexity
and their rationale and operation
should be easy te understand

- The Policy has been simplitied over time 1o aveid undue compltexity. During the 2021/22
review, the use of performance conditions and targets has been reviewed with the proposed
changes providing a clearer line of sight and simplifying the assessment by providing a
greater propariion based on the Company’s adbsolute performance which is impacted
directly by managemenl action, rather than assessed against marksl benchmarks.

- Thencentives have also been simplified over lime with alternative structures including
performance options and matching shares being removed from the Directars’ policy in
prigr reviews.

Risk - remuneration arrangements
should ensure reputationsl and
ather risks from excessive rewards,
and behavioural risks that can arise
fram target-based incentive plans,
are identified and mitigated

- The Policy is designed to provide appropriaie payouts fer different tevels of performance.
When setting performance targets the Committee consider the link belween pay and
performance, testing targets against historic and future performance.

- The Policy ingludes safequards to ensure that there is a rabust link betwaen pay and
performance, including the discretion of the Commillee 1o reduce formulaic payowts under
the AIP and LTIP shauld they feel it appropriate. In addition, malus and clawback provisions
provide the ability to recover payments in ceriain serious circumstances.

Predictability - the range of
possible values of rewards to
individual directars and any other
limits or discretions should be
idantified and explained at the
time of approving the policy

- The Policy provides that under the AIP and LTIP there are clearly defined tevels of
pertormance required for threshold, target and maximum payouts,

- Discretions available to the Commitiee are identifiad in the Policy and these will only be
used where appropriaie. and the use clearly disclosed 1n the Annual Remuneration Report.

Proportionality - the link between
ingividual awards, the delivery

of strategy and the long term
performance of the campany should
be clear. Qutcomes should not
reward poor performance

- Participation in the AP and LTiP provide alignment between Directors’ remuneration and
delivery of the Company s sirategy and longer term performance.

- The AIP pravides a focus on annual targets which drive long term success. A portion of the
AIP is delivered in shares to provide alignment over the tonger term.

- The LTIP provides a focus on longer term targels including assessments against financial
and non-linancial performance conditians.

~ The Palicy has safeguards le.g. performance measures, discretion, recovery provisionsl to
ensure that there are no inappropriate payments far paor performance.

Alignment with culture - incentive
schemes should drive behaviours
consisten! with company purpose,
values and strategy

-~ The AIP and LTIP drive behaviours consistent with the British Land’s purpose, values
and strategy.

- I particular, the AIP includes a portion based on sirategic/personal/cusiomer measures.
The AP and LTIP are also aligned with the ESG strategy with distinct proportions measured
against quantitative ESG targets.

- The cascade of the Policy down the organisation means that emplayees are incentivised in
tine with our values to work together today {"be smarier together™; “listen and understand’]
to promete the long term success of the company {"build for the future™].
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Executive Directors’ New 2022 Remuneration

Policy
Fixed remunet;ation

Operation land strategic purpose]

Maximum opporiunily Perfarmance

cendilions

Basic salary
[To attract, maotivate and retain talented Executive Directars.)

The level of basic salary i1s set taking into account the stope The maximum leve! of basic salary will not be Not
and responsibilities of the role and the level of remuneration greater than the current salary as increased, applicable.
paid at companies of broadly similar size. typically in line with the market and generat .
. . i salary increases throughout the Group.
Basic salaries are normally reviewed annually by the
Remuneration Committee, with increases usually taking effect If an individual is ap_puinteci ala lower_sa\ary, for
on 1 April for the subsequent year. Employment conditions and e;ample, to rerlgci inexperience as a listed company
salary increases throughout the Group are taken into account Director, larger increases may be awarded over
whan basic salaries are reviewed. future years as they prave their capability.
Changes in the scope of an Executive Director’s role may result
in a review of salary. ] o —_ . -
Car allowance, benefits and all-employee share schemes
To provide a car allowance and set of benefils which support the Executive Direcior and encourage participation in the
all-employee share schemes,
A car allowance may be paid or a company car may be provided  The maximum car allowance is £20,000 per annum.  Not
to Executive Directers. applicable.

Executive Qirectors are eligible to receive other taxable and
non-taxable benefits, that may include:

- private medical insurance [covering the Director and family)
- life assurance cover
- permanent health insurance
- access lo independent actuarial, financial and legal advice
when necessary -
- gym membership, subsidised by the Cempany
- annual medical checks
- relevant professional subscription fees
- other benefits on substantiatly the same basis as
other employees.
Executive Directors are eligible ta participate in British Land’s
Share Incentive Plan [SIP], Sharesave Scheme and any other
future plans on the same basis as other eligible employees,

The Company provides Directors” and Officers’ Liability
fnsurance and may provide an indemnity to the fullest
extent permitted by the Companies Act.

The maxirmum cost of other taxable and non-taxable
benefits permitted under the Policy is the amount
required to continue providing benzfits al a similar
tevel year-on-year.

The maximum opportunities under the SIP,
Sharesave Scheme and any subsequent plans are set
by the rules of ihe schemes and may be determined
by statutory limits.
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Fixed remuneration continued

Changes from the 2019 Policy are highlighted

Dperalion l3nd strategic pyrpose) Maximurn epportunity Ferfarmance
conditions
Pension or pension allowance
(Ta provide an appropriate leve! of pension in retirement for Executive Directors.]
Executive Directors may receive pension benefits through Employer pension contributions ta Executive Nat
a defined contribution scheme or cash allowance in lieu of Oirectors under the defined contribulion applicable.
pension contributions. arrangernent and cash allowances in lLieu of pensian
L . o . are made at a fixed percentage of salary. no higher

Cash ;llowances in lieu of pension contributions wouAld t\,_lplcally than the rate available to the majarity of the
be paid at the same levgl of.salary as Company contributions workforce, which is currently 15% of salary.
under the defined contribution arrangement. '
Unless already a member of the legacy defined benefit s¢heme,
Directors will not be able to participate in it.
Variable remuneration
Qperation land strategic purpesel Maximum opporiunity Perfarmance canditions
Annual Incentive . - e - [ R
{To reward performance against quanltitative and strategic objectives that are set annually ]
Annual Incentive awards may be granted to Executive Directors  The maximum The objectives are sel by the /main Board
each year. wilh the level of award reflecting strategic aims of the level of Annual  and the measures by the Remuneration
Campany. Objectives are set by the Board and measures set by  Incentive which  Committee normally at the beginaing of
the Remuneration Commitiee. may be granted  the financial year gver which perlormance

. . . is eguivalant will be assessed and following the end of
Awards are granted follawing the financial year end, to 150% of the financial year when parformance can
when actual performance over that year is measured. basic salary. be deiermined.
A portion of the Annual Incentive Award is paid in cash and Atleast 40% of the Annual Incentive will be
the remaining portian [net of tax] is used to purchase British based on financial performance conditions,
Land shares on behalf of the Executive Director (Anaual with the remainder based on non-financial/
Incentive Shares]. ) strategic performance conditions.
Currently one third of any Annual Incentive Award will be No more than 25% of any part of the award
required to be used to purchase Annual Incentive Shares. will be earned for threshoid performance.

Annual Incentive Shares must be held for three years from the
date of grant of the Annual Incentive award belore they may be
transferred or sold, regardless of whether or not the individuatl
remains an employee of British Land throughout this period.

Up to half of the maximum potential award is
payable for target performance thatis in line
wilh expectations. )f the strelch target is met
the maximum potentiat award will be earned.

Executive Directors are entitled to the dividends paid in respect The Compmitiee has the discretion to
of the Annual Incentive Shares during the holding period. adjust the euiturn to ensure it reflects

underlying performance.
The Annual Incentive award lcash and shares] may be clawed

back during the three-year period {ollowing determination of the Mo further performance condilions are

award in certain circumstances. These are set out on page 137. during the holding period.

attached to the Annual Incentive Shares
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Variable remuneration continued

Operalion [and sirategic purposel

Mazimum opparlunity
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Performance conditrons

Long Term Incentive Plan {LTIP]

(To link the leve! of reward ta Campany performance against specified tong term measures, promoting and rewarding activities

that support our strategy and create sustainable long term value for shareholders )

LTIP awards may be granted annually by the Remuneration
Committee ta Executive Directors. Awards are in the form
of performance shares [conditianal rights ta receive shares|

LTIP awards typically vest ailer three years. The number of
performance shares vesting is gependent on the degree to
which perfoermance conditions attached to the LTIP have been
mat over this threa.year performance period. The Committee
has the discretion to adjust the cutturn to ensure it reflects
underlying perfermance. A payment equivalent to the dividends
accrued on vesting performance shares is paid at the

point of vesting narmalty 1n shares but in excepticnal
circumstances cash,

On vesting, sufficient performance shares may be sold to cover
an individual's kability to income tax and National Insurance
contributions and related costs of sale. The remaining
periormance shares must be held for iwa years following
vesting belore they are permitted to be transferred or sold,
regardless of whather or not the individual remains an
employee of British Land throughout this period.

LTIP awards may be forfeited and/or clawed back fram the date
of grant unlil three years after the determination af the vesting
level of an award in certain circemstances. These are set out on
page 137. If it is discovered that an LTIP award was granted or
vested on the basis of materially misstated accounts or other
data the Commitiee may require some or all of the perfermance
shares to be ferfeited or clawed back during the five-year periad
following the grant date.

The maximum

value [using the

share price at

the time of award

multiplied by
the number of
shares) of an
LTIP award
which may

be granted

is equivalent
to 300% of
basic salary.

The LTIP performance conditions are chosen
to reward performance that is aligned with
British Land’s strategy. At least 75% of the

award will he based on financial related

performance conditions, with the remainder

based on non-financial/strategic
performance conditions,

Within these limilts, the relative weighting

of the performance conditions may be varied

by the Cammittee ta ensure the LTIP best
supports British Land’s strategy and to
reel investor preferences.

For relative metrics, the Committee may
amend the comparaltor groups during the
performance period (f there is a corporate
event affecting any member of the gréup.

The Committee may alss amend a target or
performance benchmark if a different target
or benchmark is deemed more appropriate.

Perfermance canditicns are challenging,
requiring significant culperformance for
100% of the LTIP award to vest. No more
than 20% of the award will vest ii the

minimum performance threshold is achieved;
performance below the minimum threshold

for a performance condition will result
in the LTIP award in respect of that
condition kapsing.

Policy on shareheldings of Executive Directors

[To encourage Executive Directors to build and maintain a shareholding in the Gompany. including post-cessation

of employment]

The Company has a policy that Executive Directors will be
required to build and retain a level of shareholding in the
Company, including post-cessation of employment.

The application of this will be contained from tirme to time in the
Annual Repert on Remuneration and is currently 225% cf salary
for the CEO and 200% of salary for the CFO with this level being
required to be held for two years following cessation. The
Committee retains discretion to operaie the shareholding
requirement as approgriate in specific circumstances.

The Policy
requirement
is that the
Executive
Directors

are expecled
to build up a
shareholding of
at least 200%
of salary lin
practice the
operation may
be higherl.

Nat applicable.
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Non-Executive Directors’ New 2022

Remuneration Policy

Operation [and sirategic purpose]

Mazimum opportunity Performance conditians

Chairman’s fee

{To attract and retain an individual with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience.}

The Chairman’s annual fee is set by the Remuneration Committee and
reviewed annually. The level of the Chairman’s annual fee is set taking
into account fees paid at comipanies of broadly similar size.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

{To attract and retain Non-Executive Directors with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience.|

Remuneration of the Non-Executive Oirectors is a matler for the
Executive Directors and Chairman, and fees are reviewed annually.

Nan-Executive Directors receive a basic annual fee plus additional fees
if they are members of a Committee, and ii they hold the position af
Senior Independent Qivector, Chair of a Cammitiee, perform additional
reles or have a greater time commitment.

The Campany's Policy is to deliver a total fee at a lavelin"life with
similar positions.

Typically increases, if required, wiil Not applicable.
be in line with market,
The maximum aggregate amount Not applicable,

of basic fees payable to all Non-
Executive Directors shall not exceed
the limit set in the Company's
Articles of Association, which is
currently £900,000. Basic fees do
not include the Chairman's fee or
fees for being.Senior lndepandent
Director, member or Chair of

a Commitiee.

Other arrangements for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Direclors
ITo support the Directors in the fulfilment of their duties.)

The Company may reimburse expenses reasonably incurred by the
Chairman and the Nen-Execulive Directors in fulfilment of the
Cornpany’s business, together with any taxes thereon.

The Company provides the Chairman and the Noa-Executive Directors
with Directors™ and Officers” Liability Insurance and may provide an
indemnity to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Act.

The maximum reimbursement
is expenses reasonably incurred,
together with any 1axes thereon.

Not applicable.

The maximum value of the Direclors’
and Officers’ Liability Insurance and
the Company's indernnity is the cost
at the relevant time.
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Notes to the New 2022 Remuneration

Policy table

Remuneration Policy for

other employees

Salary reviews across the Group are carried
out on the same basis as salary reviews

for the Executive Directors; consideration
is given tn the individual's role, duties,
experience and performance, along with
consideration of typical salary levels of
employees in similar roles in comparable
cornpanies, where the dalta is available.

Employees are entitled to taxable and
nan-taxable benefits including pension
contributions, with execulives being entitled
10 substantially the same benefiis as the
Executive Directors.

The Company’s all-employee share
schemes [the Share Incentive Plan and
the Sharesave Scheme| are alse open to
eligible employees.

The Company cperates annual incentive
arrangements throughout the business

which are cascaded from the AIP gbjectives,

tailored where appropriate to the specific
functions and individuals.

Senior employees may also paruicipate
inthe LTIP and/er Restricted Share
award schemes.

Choice of performance measures
Al teasl 60% of the Annuat Incentive

will be based on financial performance
conditions, with the remainder based

on non-financial/strategic performance
conditions. The specific performance
conditions are determined in line with

the strategic.priorities. . .

Illustration of application of the New 2022 Remuneration Policy
The bar charts below iliustrate the levels of remuneration receivable by the Executive Directars in the hirst year of operation ol the
proposed Remuneration Policy for varying levels of performance. ‘

At least 75% of an LTIP award will be based
on financial ralated performance conditions,
with the remainder based on non-financial/
strategic performance cenditions. The LTIP
pertormance conditions are chosen to
reward pertormance that is aligned

with Britssh Land's strategy.

The AIP and LTIP targets are set taking
into account the business plan and nvestor
expectations, with the Cormmittee ensuring
there is a robust and appropriate link
between payouts and performance.

Chief Executive

Chief Financial Ufficer

Maximum [with 8% | 23% EVEESY ook Maximumbwith 9% ] 3% 39% | 19% £3.162k

share price growth} share price growth)

Maximura B | 29% 48% €893k  Maximum nu| 3% 48% £2.549%

In line with In line with

expectations 0% omik oo S 0% £1.202%

Miaimum €893k Minimum 100% £589%
T T T T T T T T T T T T T T

1£'000] 0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 {£000) § SO0 1,000 1500 2000 2.500 3000 3500

M Fixed pay W Annualincentive  BLTIP BETIP value with 50% W Fixed pay W Annuallncenive  ELTIP BLTIP value with 50%

sharg prica growlh

share price growth

1+ Calculated using [a) salaries for the year ending 31 March 2023: [b) benefil values for 1he year ending 31 March 202Z; and lel pension policy as applicable for the year

ending 31 March 2023 i.e. 15% of salary.

Assumgtions:

Minimum: Fixed pay onlty consisting of salary, pension and benefits. No payouts under the AIP or LTIP.

In line with expectations: Fixed pay ptus 50% of maxirmum under the AIP and threshold vesting at 20% of maximum under the LTIP.

Maximum: Fixed pay plus 100% of maximum under the AIP and LTIP.

Maximum with share price growth: As for the "Maximum” scenario but illustrating the impact of a 50% share price increase on the LTIP.

8ritish Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022

135
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Approach to reeruitment
remuneration

Executive Directors

Basic salaryis set al a level appropriate
Lo recruit 3 suitable candidate, taking into
account external market competitiveness
and infernal equity. The level af basic
salary may initially be positioned below
the mid-market of the chosen comparator
group, with the intention of iIncreasing

it {o around the mid-market of the
comparator group afier an initial

period of satisfactory service.

individuals will he able to receive a
contributian to a pension plan, or cashin
lieu thereol, and the Company contribuiion
will not be greater than the rate available (e
the majority of the worikforce currently 15%
of salaryl.

Where a recruits forfeiting incentive
awards granted by his or her exisling
employer, cempeansation in ‘the taren of

a restricted share plan [RSP) award or
otherwise may be made lin accardance
with Listing Rule 9.6.2], the maximum value
o which will be thal which the Commitiee,
inits reasonable opinian, considers to be
equal ta the value of remuneration forfeited.

The vesting of the award may be subiect

to additional performance measures being
met gver the same periad. The Commitige
will determane the most relevanl measures
to use at the time of award, bearing in mind
the responsibilities of the individual being
appointed and the Company’s strategic
priarities at the lime.

The Company's Palicy 15 Lo give nolice
periods of no langer than 12 maonths,

136

Chairman and Non-Executive Directars
Gn recrytiment, the Chatrman will be
offered an annual fee in accordance with
tha Policy. The level of the annual fee may
initially be positicned betow the mid-market
tevel, with the intention of increasing it

1o around the mid-markel level of the
comparator group after an initial period
of satisfactory service. Non-Execulive
Directors will he oftered Non-Executive
Directors’ fees in accordance with

the Policy.

Appointment of interpal candidates

If an existing employee of the Group

15 appainted as an Executive Directar,
Chairman or Non-Executive Director,
any obligation or commitment entered
into with that individual prior to his ar
her appoiitment can be hanoured i
accordance with the terms of these
obligations or commitments, even where
they differ from the terms of the Policy

Policy on loss of office

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors’ service contracts
can be lawfully terminated by erther party
giving 12 months’ nolice, or by the Company
making a lump sum payment in Lieu of
notice [PILONI equal to the Execulive
Director's base satary for the notice period.
Additionally, when the Company makes a
PILON, it may either pay a lump sum equal
to the value of any benefits for the notice
period or continue to provide beneliss until
the notice period expires ar the Execulive
Director starts new employment lwhichever
is the eartier]. Thage lawful termination
mechanisms di not prevent the Cormpany,
in appropriate circumstancges, from
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terminating an Executive Director's
employment in breach of his er her service
contract and seeking to apply mitigation in
deiermining the damages payable. Where
this i3 achievable in negotialion with the
outgaing Director, settlament arrangements
are structured so that the tarmination
payment is paid in instalmenis and the
instalments are reduced by an amount
egual to any earnings received from the
outgoing Director’s new employment,
consultancy or olther paid work.

For departing Executive Direclors and
Executive Directors that have left British
Land the Committee may agree ta cash
cammutation of pension benefits under the
defined benefit scheme lincluding EFRBS
benefitsl and other pension arrangements
entered into prier ta the adoption of the 2022
Remuneration Policy. Any commutation
would take into actount valuations provided
by independent actuariz( advisers so as to
be undertaken on & basls considered by

the Committee to be cost neutral to

the Comnpany.

The circumsiances of the loss of office
dictate whether the individual is treated as
a good leaver ar otherwise, in actaerdance
with the Company’'s Policy, The Committee
uses its discration to form a view taking into
account the circumsiances. Good leavers
typically receive pro-rata Annual Incentive
and long term incentive awards, subject

lo performance measurement, and other
(eavers forfeil their entitlements, in the
evenl of a change of tonirol the rules

of the share plans generally provide for
accelerated vesting of awards, subject
(where applicable] to time apportionment
and achieverneni of performance fargeis.



Details af the Execulive Directors’ service contracts and notice perinds ace givanin the

table below:

Nermal notice geriod Lo be

Qireceos Lengih of service cantract Date of service centract given by ailher parly
_ Simon Carter 12 menths 18 November 2020 12 months
Bhavesh Mistry 12 months 19 July 2021 12 months

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The letters of appointment of Non-Executive Qirectors are subject o renewal on a triennial
basis, In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors stand for
elaclion or re-election by the Company's shareholders on an annual basis. The Directors’
service contracts and letters of appointment are availahte for inspection during narmal
business hours at the Company's registerad cffice and at the Annual General Meeting.

Ihe unexpired terms of the Chairman’s and Nan-Executive Directors’ Lettars of

appointment are shown below:

Qriginal date of

Eltective date of
appointrment in most
recent Letler of

Unexpired term at

Direcior: appoiniment appoiniment 31 March 2022 Imonths]
Tim Score [Chairman] 20 March 2014 19 July 2019 3
Preben Prebensen (SI0H 15eptember 2017 1 September 2020 i8
Mark Aady 1September 2021 1 September 2021 40
Lyan Gladden 20 March 2015 24 May 2021 28
" Irvinder Goodhew 1 October 2020 1 Gctober 2020 28
Alastair Hughes 1 January 2018 1 January 2021 28
Nicholas Macpherson 19 December 2014 19 December 2019 16
Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2015 24 May 2021 28
Loraine Woodhouse t March 2021 1 March 2021 28

Altheugh the Chairman’s and Non-Executive Directors’ appointments are for fixed

terms, their appointments may be terminated immediately withoul notice if they are nol
reappointed by shareholders or if they are removed from the Board under the Company’s
Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer themselves for re-election. In
addition, their appointments may be terminated by either the individuzl or the Company
giving three menths' written notice of terminatian lor, for the current Chairman, six
months’ written notice of termination). Despite these terms of appaintment, neither the
Chairman nor the Nan-Executive Directors are entitled to any compensation [other than
accrued and unpaid fees and expenses for the period up to the terminationl for less of
office save that the Chairman and Non-Executive Oirectors may be entitied, in certain
limited circumstances, such as carporate transactions, to receive payment in lieu of their
nolice period where the Company has terminated their appointment with immediate effect.

The British Land Campany PLC 00421920

Malus and Clawback

In relation 1o beth Annual Incentive Plan and
LTIP awards under this Policy. malus and
clawback provisions will apply in the
following circumsiances:

~ discovery of a material misstalement
resulting in an adjustment in the audited
accounts of the Group

- the assessment of any performance
condition was based on error, or
inaccurate or misleading information

- the discovery that any information used
to determine cash or share awards was
based an error, or inaccurate or
misleading infermation

- action or conduct of a participant which
amounts to fraud or gross misconduct

- corporale failure

- evenls or the behaviour of a participant
have led to the censure of a Group
company by a regulatory authority
or have had a significant detrimentat
impact on the reputation of the Group.

Discretion

The Cormmittee has discretion in several
areas of Policy as set out in this Report.
The Remuneration Committee may also
exercise cperationat and adminisirative
discretions under relevant plan rules
approved by shareholders as sel outin
those rules. In addition, the Committee has
discretion to amend the Palicy with regard
to mingr or administrative mailers where it
would be, in the opinien of the Cammittee,
disproportionate to seek or awail
shareholder approval.

In addition. the Committee retains the
discretion te override the formulaic
outcomes of incentive schernes. The
purpose of this discretion is ta ensure
that the incentive scheme outcomes
are consistent wilh overall Company
performance and the lang term
experience of shareholders.

Pre-existing obligations

and commitments

Itis a provision of this Palicy that the
Company can honour all pre-existing
obligatiens and commitments that

were entered into prior to this 2022
Remuneration Policy taking effect. The
terms of those pre-existing obligations

and commitments may differ from the
terms of the Remuneration Policy and may
include [without limiation) obligations and
commitments under service conlracts, long
term incentive schemes lincluding previous
Long Term Incentive Plans), pansion ang
benefit plans.
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How we intend to apply our new 2022 Remuneration Policy during
the year commencing 1 April 2022

The following pages set out how the Committee intends to apply the 2022
Remuneration Policy during the coming year, subject to shareholder approval.

Executive Directors’
remuneration
Basic salaries
The Executive Directors” salaries for
the year beginning 1 April 2022 will
remain at their levels on appointment
into their curren! roles |Simon Carter on
18 Novernber 2020 and Bhavesh Mistry
19 July 2021 For coniext, the average
! increase pravided to the wider employee
population on 1 April 2022 was 7%.
Basic salary
Direcior; [
Simaon Carter .
Bhavesh Mistry

750
490

Pension and benefits

Bath Executive Directors will receive a 15%
of salary pension contribution/allowance.
Benefits wilt be provided in line with the
policy and inciude a car allowance and
private medical insurance.

Annual Incentive awards

The maximum banus apportunity for
Executive Directors remains unchanged at
150% of salary. The performance measures
for the Annual Incentive awards have been
revised to pravide closer alignment to our
strategy under our new CEQ and CFO and.
tn particular, reflect more fully our
sustainability agenda. This js sat oul

in the table below.

The detailed targets that the Committee
sels are cansiderad Lo be commercially
sensitive and as such the specific targets
and performance against them will be
disclosed in the 2023 Remuneration Report.

In assessing how the Executive Directors
perform during the year commencing

T April 2022, the Commitlee will take into
account their perlormance against all of the
measures and make an assessment in the
round to ensure that performance warrants
the level of award determined by the

table below.

This year, once again, the Cormmittee will
assess performance in the context of the
wider stakeholder experience and overall
corporate cutcome. Discretion may be
exercised by the Committee and, if this is
the case, a full expianation witl be se{ out
in nexlt year's Report.

As disclosed previously, the Committee
agreed that for Annual Incentive awards,
the sector weighted MSCI March Annual
Universe benchmark [which includes sales,
acquisitions and develoepments and so takes
into account active asset management as
well as a more representalive peer groupl
would be most suitable.

In line with current practice, two-thirds of
any amount earned will be paid in cash with
the remaining one-third [net of 1axl used to
purchase shares which must be held for a
further three years.

Measure Targe! Weighling
Annual Financial budget targets for profitability
fitabili 0% payout far meeting a threshold level rising to 100% 30%
: pron ity payout for at Least matching 2 stretch level
, - |
| Quantitative
Financial Total Property Return outperformance targat
Measures: LU;ZT :’;u::e;‘t:dk:lur;::” 17% payout for matching the MSCI benchmark index rising 20%
&0% reward =19 ¥ to 100% payaut for outperfarming by 1.25%
weighling —_— -
Financial budget targets for development grafit -
! Development profit 0% payout for meeting a threshold level rising ta 100% payout 10%
for atleast matching a stretch level
N — |
Benchmark score targets tor GRESB rating. 0% payout for
. The Glohal Real Estate maating 3 threshold score rising to 50% payout far matching
Quantitative ESG Benchmark IGRESB) the scare that achieves a S star rating and rising to 100%
Environmental payaut for at least matching a stretch level score
Measures: 0%
20% reward AR rating across the estate. 0% payout for meeting a
weighting EPC rating across estate threshold Level, rising to 100% payout for at least matching
a stretch Level
O Raalising the patential
of Campuses
Strategic/personal/ Progressing value
customer objectives accretive developments
measures . - . 20%
20% reward O Targeting opportunities C_ﬂmmemauy sensafave se these wrll' b fully
weighting in Ratail & Fulfilment disclosed and explained in next year's Report

i Active capital
! recycling

O People
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Long term incentive awards

LTIP awards will be granted to Executive Directors during the year commencing 1 April 2022, after the canclusion of the 2022 AGM.
The size and timing of the award will be determined by the Committee at a later dale and disclosed in an RNS announcement.

Full details will be included in next year's Annual Report,

Subject to shareholder approval, the performance measures that are intended to apply to the 2022 |LTIP award are as below.
These performance measures will pe assessed over a period of three years. A two year posi-vesting holding period applies to

any shares vesting.

Measure Lin 1o skrategy Measured retative to Weighting
Total Accounting Return (TAR) The TAR measure is designed  TAR performance will be assessed against 50%
The growth in British Land's EPRA Net to link reward to perfermance at targelts set inihe context of the business
Tangible Asset Value [MAV] per share plus  the net property levet that takes  plan and invesior expectations over the
dividends per share paid over the LTIP accounl of gearing and our long term.
perfgrmanf:e ‘perlod, B dls-ll'l.bUUDnS to shareholders.). Threshold: 4% per anaum _ e
Maximum: 10% per annum
Total Property Return [TPR) The TPR measure is designed TPR performance will be assessed againsl! 25%
The change in capital value, less any capilal to link reward to strong the performance of an MSCI secior
expenditure incurred, plus net income, TPR performance at the gross weighted benchmark,
is expressed as a percentage of capital praperty level. )
ernployed over the LTIP periormance Threshold: £qual to Index
periad and is calculated by MSCI. Maximum: Index +1.00% per annum
Environmental, Social, Governance (E56] The ESG measure is designed ESG performance will be assessed against 25%

- Ogerational Carbon Reduclion
|COze per sqm!
- Qperational Energy Reduction

to link reward 1o delivering
our 2030 ESG commitments
measured against 3

2019 baseline.

targels setin line with achieving cur
sustainability vision.

Operational Carbon Reduction
Threshold: 10% reduction
intermadiate: 20% reduction
Maximum; 30% reduction

Operational Energy Reduction
Threshold: 7% reduction
Intermediate: 10.5% reduction
Maximum: 14% reduction

Mo vesting below threshold performance with 20% of the proportion attached to that measure vesting for thrashold perfermance.
There will be straight-line vesting between threshold and intermediate {if applicablel and strelch performance targets.

The Committee retains the discretion to averride the formulaic outcomes of incentive schemes. The purpose of this discretion is to
ensure that the incentive scheme outcomes are consistent with overall Company performance and the experience of our stakeholders.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

Fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directers are posilioned around mid-market with the aim of attracting individuals with the
appropriaie degree of experlise and experience. The fee structure set oui below is unchanged since being applied in 2019, The Chairs of

Committeas alsa receive 3 membership fee.

Chairman’s all inclusive annual fee £375.000
Non-Executive Direcior's annual fae £64.000
Senior Independent Directar's annual fee £10.000
Audit ar Remuneration Commitiee Chair's annuat fee £20,000
Audit or Remuneration Cormmiliee member’s annyal fea £8,000
CSR Committee Chair's annuzl fee £14,000
Nomination or CSR Committee member’s annual lee £5.000

British Land Annual Raport and Accounts 2022

137



DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

REMUNERATION AT A BLANCE Ta deliver on this strategy. we have developed four priorlties:

How we align
rewards to
delivering
our strategy

As set out in the Strategic
Report, we have a clearly
defined business madel
which underpins our key
‘areas of focusT Campuses
and Retail & Fulfilment.
Delivering against these areas lays the
foundation for future value crestion. We
take a long lerm approach to running our
bustness; our focus is to deliver positive
outcomes for all of our stakeholders en

a tonyg term. sustainable basis which can

mean that aciions taken in any one year
take time to deliver vatue.

140

Realising the
potential of

Progressing
value aceretive

our Campuses developments

The British Land Company PLC 00421520

Targeting
oppartunities

Active capital
recycling
in Retail &
Fuifilment

Peogle & Sustainability

We have developed a best in class platform,
including a broad range of skills across our
business, which will suppart the delivery of
qur strategy. Read more on pages 18-27.

Our remuneration ghilosaphy is to
_incentivise and reward employess across the
Group. We set objectives for our Executive
Directors which are cascaded throughout

tha business, with Executive Commit{ee
sponsors, 5o that they are integrated within
the day-to-day management of the business.

In determining whal the best measures

of perfarmance are for incentivising

our emplayees, the Commitlee strikes a
balance between the short term and longer
term gaals that it sets. The sharl term goals
are a mixture of the delivery of objectives
linked tw our priorities and annual

financial performance

Our new 2022 Remuneration Policy

) year performance

This creates an alignment with
shareholgers ensuring that the (evel of
annual bonus is not out of line with the
performance of the business in the
financial year.

Over the longer term, we measure our,

performance against selected market
benchmarks. We only deliver rewards
whers the business at {east matches
those benchrnarks and we share 2

small percentage of any culperlormance.
We tailor these benchmarks ta be as
retevant as possible to the composition of -
our business bul we recognise that there
may inevitably be a degree of mismatch.

The chart betow ilustrates the alignment
between lil whal we are focusing on

doing lour strategic objectives), (il what
we measure and report on and fiill what we
reward Execytive Directors for gelivering.

3year perlarmance

Annual

profitability - Profit (argets

Development Profit

- Targets for Development
Profit

Property valuatien changes

- Relative Toal Properly
Return outperformance

- Relalive Total Preperty

Return cutperformance

Total Accounting Return

;
- Absolute Total Accounting Return
performance againsl a target range

Environmental Measures

- EPC ratings across estate
- GRESB Real Estale
benchimark

- Operational carbon reduction
- Operational energy reduction

Realising the potential of
our Campuses

Prograssing value
accretive developments

Targeting opportunities
in Retail & Fulfilment

~ Strategic/personat/
cuslomer ohjectives 1o
deliver qur priariires

Active capital
recycling

O People
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Summary of the current 2019 Remuneration Policy and how we applied it
The Remuneration Policy was approved by sharehalders on 19 July 2019, The Policy will apply until the AGM in July 2022.
The Remuneration Policy is set out in full in the 2019 Annual Report and is available on our website britishland.com/committees.

Elemen(ofl Link o strategy Framework
remuneratian
Fizxed Basic salary Attracts and relains expert peaple with Reviewed annually and increases typically in line with
the appropriate degree of expertise and the market and general salary increases throughout
axperience to deliver agreed strategy the Group
Benefits Benelits are restricted to 2 maximum of £20,000 per
annum for car allawance and the amounl required te
continue providing agreed benefits at a similar level
year on year
Pension Defined centribution arrangements - cash allowances
contribution in lieu of pension are made 16 the CEQ and CFO at 15%
of salary
Variable Annual Performance measures related to British Maximum opportunity is 150% of basic salary. 2/3% is
Incentive Land's strategic focus and the Executive paid in cash with the remaining 1/3% [net of tax| used
Direclors’ individual area of responsibility to purchase shares on behalf of the Executive Director
are set by the Committee at the baginning [Annual Incentive Shares) which must be held for a further
of the financial year three years whether or not the Executive Director remains
an employee of British Land
Longterm  Total Property Return ITPR] links reward LTIP grants were set at 250% last year in the form of
incentive to gross property performance performance shares, within the maximum value of an

Total Accounting Return {TAR} links
reward to net property performance
ang shareholder distributions

Total Shareholder Return [TSR]
directly corretates reward with
shareholder returns

LTIP award of 300% of salary

Executive Directors’ remuneration
The tables below show the 2022 actual remuneration under ihe current 2019 Remuneration Policy against potential opportunity for the
year ended 31 March 2022 and prior year 2021 actual remuneration for each Executive Director. The figures for Bhavesh Mistry's actual
and patential 2022 remuneration are pro-rated ta reflect part service during the year and include the value of awards granted upon
appointment to replace pre-existing incentives from his previous employer as detailed on page 146,

Fuil disclosure of the single total figure of remuneration for each of the Direciors is set out in the table on page 142,

Simon Carter Bhavesh Mistry
£000 £'000
FY22 Actual £1.919 FY22 Actual Buyout £2,148
F¥22 Patential LTI £3,354 FY22 Potential Buyout £2.2'8
F¥21 Rarnunération in respect of CFQ rale until . . .

FY21 Actual 18 Noverriber 7020 and s CED unhl year end E1149 FY21 Actual N/A - joined British Land in July 2021

T T T T T T T T T T T T T T

0 500 1000 1500 2000 25000 3,000 3,500 0 500 1400 1500 2,000 2.500

Salary  Benelits Pension  Annualincentive Lang term incentives/
Buyauts
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How we applied our current Remuneration
Policy during the year ended 31 March 2022

The following pages set out how we implemented the Directors’ Remuneration Poticy during the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
remuneration received by each of the Directors.

Single total figure of remuneration (audited}
The fellowing tables delail all elemenis of remuneration receivable by British Land’s Executive Directors in respect of the year ended
31 March 2022 and show comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Pensian er  Gther itemsin

Taxable pension  the nature ol Annual Long term Fixed Variahle
Salary benetils allowance remuyneration® tncentives* incentives® Tatal remuneration remunerstion®
2022 2022 2022 2021 2022 2022 022 2022 022
Executive Dicectars £4950 £ooe 000 000 £000 £000 £000 EDOY (3
Simen Carter 750 20 113 1 1,028 0 1919 893 1,026 _ .
Bhavesh Mistry* ~ T k™ TTALTTT TR T 1,292 469 [ 2,172 415 1,757 . . T

. Estimnated auicomes. 2022 Annuat lncentive autcomes are subject to the publication ol final MSCI results.

. Forecast outcomes. 2622 Long Term Incentive gutcomes are subject to conlirmation of linal vesting levels in June 2022.

. Bhavesh Mistry was appoinied as a Qirectar on 19 July 2021 Amounts paid are time apporuoned accordingty.

. £1.288,044 of the amount paid to Bhavesh Mistry represents awards made to Bhavesh under the Campany s Long Term Incentive Plan ta replace pre-existing
awards fram his previous employer that lapsed when he left 1o join the Company. These are regacded as variable remuneration. Full details of the grants thatare
included in this amoum are described in Oetail or page 146,

B LA

Peasionor  Other itams in

Taxable pensren  the nalure of Annuat Leng tarm Fixed Variable

Salary* benefits allowance  remunecatian Incentives? incentives’ Tolal  remuneraiion  remunerstion

02 0 20 2021 2021 202} 00 2021 2021

£000 €009 £000 £000 €000 €000 (30 £000 £000

Simon Carter 557 20 89 10 473 \ 1,149 676 473

. As described within the 2021 Annual Report, Siman Carter's salary reflects the period from T April 2020 to 17 Novemnber 2020 as CFO for which he was paid a
pra-rated salary based on a {ull year equivalent of £500.008 and from the period fram 18 November 2020 fo 31 March 2021 as CEO lor which he was paid a pro-raied
salary based an a full year equivalent of £750,000. Additionally, as previously disclosed, the full Board waived an amaunt equal to 20% of their respective fees and
salaries far the four monihs from April te July 2020 wa respanse t the Covid-19 pandemic.

Confirmed outcomes. Actuat Annual Incentive and Long Tarm Incentive outcomes are ¢onlirmed alier publicalion of the Annual Report each year. Forecasl
estimated figures were published in the 2021 Reporl: the actual outcomes, which were unchanged fram the estimated figuras, are reflected in the table ahove.

~

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table (audited)
Fixed pay

Taxable benefit

Taxabte benafits inctude car allowance far Siman Carter of £14,700 and for Bhavesh Mistry of £11.746 and private medical insurance.

Other items in the nature of remuneration

I addition ta the joining awards made to Bhavesh Mistry as descrited int foatnate 4 to the single figure talile, ather iterns in the nature of
remuneration incluge: life assurance, permanent heslth insurance, annual medical check-ups, professional subscriptians, the valua of
shares awarded under the all-employee Share Incentive Plan and any notional gain en exercise for Sharesave eplions that matured
during the year, if any,

Pensions

Sirmon Carter is a member of the Defined Cantribution Scheme and utilises his Annual Pension Allowances, the remaining amount of
his pension is paid in cash, for him o make his own arrangemants for retirement. Sintan Carter is also a defarred member of the British
Land Defined Benefit Pension Scheme in respeact of his employment with British Land earber in his career. The lable below delails the
defined benefit pensions accrued at 3t March 2022. Bhavesh Mistry does nol participate in any Brilish Land pension plan. Instead he
receives a cash allowance in liey af pension to make his own arrangements for retirement.

Oefined nenefit
penson accrued al Nermal
31 March 2022 relicement
Executive Orrdcior £000 age
Simon Carter 40 &0

There are no additional benefits that will become receivable by a Director in the event that a Qirector retires early,
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Annual Ingentives FYZ22 {audited)

The level of Annual Incentive award is determined by the Committee based an British Land's performance and Executive Direciors’
performance against quantitative and strategic targets during the year. For the year ended 3} March 2022 the Committee’s assessment
and outcomes against Lhese criteria [before exercising any discretion] are set out below. Quantilative measures are a girect assessment
of the Company’s financial performance and in the very long term business we operate are a rellaciion of many of the decisions taken
in prior years. The delivery of strategic objeclives pasitions the future performance of the business so payouts under this part of tha
Annual Incentive Plan will nct necessarily correlate with payouts under the quantitative measures in any year. The level of bonus
calculated by applying the criteria below generated an outcome of ¢.137% of salary for the two Executive Direclors against 2

maximum opportunity of 150%.

Performance
in line with
mifimum
expectations Performance in ling Finat
0% Payoul Perlormence wilh maximum outcome Final
except TPR of in line wilh expectations 1% of autcome
The Quanlilalive measure Weighting 17% Payout) expectalions {100% Payout! mazt [% clsalary) Performance range
Net Asset Vajue changes 20%
Obps +125bps 17% paycut for
matching the MSCI
Total Property Return o o, Benchmark rising
vs MSCI Benchmark! 0% | -310kps @000 00w S payout for
outpertarming by
_ +240bps 125bps - -
Annual Profitahility 30%
£200m £20Zm £210m 0% payout for meeling
Undertying Profit 30% . 30.00% 45.00% a threshold level nsing
£251m to 100% payout
Balance Sheet Resilience  30%
Refinancing 24 months 36 months 0% payout for meeting
Assessed by comparin 2 threshold level rising
paring 10% @ [1000%  1500% to0100% payout for at
farecast net debt to the i
finance we have in place least maiching a
P 42 mihs stretch level
£1.0bn £1.50n 0% payout fer meeting
Liquidity a threshold level rising
Based an available 10% 10 00% 15.00% to 100% paycut for at
faciliies and cash s least matching a
€1.56n stretch level
Sub-total 0% 70.00% 105.00%

1. The above chart is a farecast of the 2022 TPR outcomes which will depend on performance 2gainst MSCI figures that wll only becomne available aiter the publication
of this Report and as such, represent an estimate of the final fligures,
2. £1.5bn is the average liguidity available througheul the year. [As 21 31 March 2022 available liquidity was £1.3bnl,
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Simon Carter

Measure

Weighung

Outcome

% gward

The British Land Campany PLC 00621920

Final outcome  Final aulcome
(% atmax)  [% of salary)

Active Capital recycting

5 00%

QOver E1bn of sales and two new joint ventures created;
corpleted on 50:50 Canada Water JV saie and exchanged
an sata of 75% stake in majority of assels at Paddington
Campus in April 2022.

£17%

Evatve our offer driving
leasing and uperational
outperformance

3.00%

3.9m sq {t of total leasing completed in FY22 and Storey
occupancy increased to 856%.

3.00%

Targeting Opportunities
in Retail & Fulfilment

5.00%

invested in Retail parks, purchasing the minority
interest in HUT and cempleting on a further £201m
Retail Park purchases.

Made sigrificant progress on investing in logistics and
have rapidly assembled a £ 1.3bn devetopment pipetine
focused on Londen.

3.00%

Realising the Potential
of Campusas

5.00%

Acquired £102m of assets outside of London aligned to
grawth and innovatien.

Plans in place to grow exposure Lo innevaiion eccupiers af
our Campuses. Completed lettings 1o innovation tenants
at Regent’s Place and Broadgate.

Progressing value
accraetive development

5.00%

1 Broadgate now fully let lor placed wnder option]
following pre-lets to JLL and A&D. Maintained momentum
with Campus development(s, with 1% of costs on
comritted schernes now contracted.

3.33%

People & Sustainability

7.00%

DE&I strategy appraved by CSR Committee: 8.4%
reduction in median gender pay gap ite 19.2%]} and

8.1% reduchion to median etbnicity pay gap (to 19.2%]

as at 5" April 2022

Engagerment survey conducted with score of 69%,
Delivered 18 Place Based initiatives in FY22.

Net Zero carbon audits completed, and plans incorporated
inlo the business planning process. EPC modelling across
managad assels being completed and aligned with net
zero pathways: embodied carban 632kgC0x/m? an office
devalopmeni pipating.

5.00%

21.17% 31.75%

Bhavesh Mistry

Measure

Weighhng

Ouicome

% award

Finat eutcoma  Final nuicome
(%ol max)  [% ok salary)

Active Capital Recycling

8.00%

Fitch rating of A alfirmed for unsecured credit,
Strong engagernant with Investors and Analysts across the
year including events at Norton Folgate and Canada Water,

5.3%%

Evalve our offer, driving
leasing and operational
cutperformance

12.00%

Strang rent collection levels achieved with 97% Rent
and 98% Service charge collected in FY22

Revised business planning process implemented and
embedded over the year.

7.00%

People & Sustainability

10.00%

DE&I strategy approved by CSR Committee; 8.4%
reduction in median gender pay gap {to 19.2%} and

8.1% reduclion to median ethnicily pay gap Ito 19.2%)

as at 5 April 2022

Engagement survey conducted with score of 69%.
Delivered 18 Place Based initiatives in FY22.

Net Zgro carbon audits compteted, and plans incorparated
into the business planning process. EPC modelling across
managed assets being completed and aligned with net
zerc pathways: ernbodied carbor 832kgC0/m? an oltice
development pipeline.

Maintained GRESB 5 star rating.

B.467%

21.00% 3.50%
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Fingl ulvwsne  Fingl pulcome

Tolal Payout [% al max) % of salaryl
Simon Carter 91.17% 136.75%
Bhavesh Mistry 91.00% 136.50%
[pra-rated applies from start date of 19 July 2021') 43.82% 95.74%"

1. Bhavesh Mislry's final bonus outcome has been pro-rated to take into account his starl dale of 1% July 2021,

One third of the annual bonus {after tax has been paidlis used tc purchase shares which are then held for three years by the
Executive Director.

2021 comparative: In June 2021, the Committee cenfirmed that the underpecformance of TPR compared to the IPD benchmark was
-3104ps in line with the estimate made for the purposes of the singie total figure of remuneration tabte in the 2021 Anniial Report,

Long term incentives (audited)

The information in the long term incentives cofurnn in the single total figure of remuneration table (see page 142] relates to vesting

of awards granted under the following schemes, including, where applicable, dividend equivatent paymenls on those awards. Tha below
note autlines forecasts of the 2022 long term incentive outcomes. The actual outcomes will only becorne available after the publication
of this Report.

Long Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Directors on 23 July 2019, and which will vest on 25 July 2022, were subject Lo three perfermance
conditions gver the three-year period to 31 March 2021. The first condition (40% of the award] measured British Land's Tolal Property
Returns ITPR) relative to the funds in the sector weighted MSCH Annual Universe [the Benchmark] previcusly the IPD UK Annual Property
Index; the secand (20% of the award} measured Total Accounting Return [TAR| retative to a comparator group of British Land and 15
other property companies; while the third {£0% of the award} measured Total Shareholder Return [TSRI, hatf of which was measured
against the FTSE 100 and the other hall measured against the comparator group of British Land and 15 other property companies.

The TPR element is expected to lapse. based on British Land's adjusted TPR of -1.6% per annum when compared to the Benchmark

of 0.4% per annum. The TAR element is also expected 1o lapse based on British Land’s TAR of -4.6% per annum campared to 2.2% per
annum for the property company median. The actual vesting of the TPR and TAR elemenis can only be czlculated once resulis have been
published by MSCI and all the companies within the comparatar group respectively. The actual percentage vesting will be confirmed by
the Cammittee in due course and details provided in the 2023 Remuneratien Report. Kern Ferry has confirmed that the TSR etement of
the award will lapse as Brilish Land's TSR performance over the period was 1.9% compared to a median of 17.9% and 23.4% for the FTSE
100 and Properly companies comparator groups respectively.

ncrease invalue as a
resuli of share prica

Estimaled value of Estimated dividend  rngvemaent between grant
Perfarmance  Number of perfermance award on vesting equivalent and interest and vesting

Exegitive Qiregor shares or gptions shares awarded €000 £oae
Simon Carler Shares 233,383 il il nil

2021 comparative: As set oul in the 2021 Annval Report, the 2018 LTIP awards lapsed in full on 26 June 2021 as expecled.

Share scheme interests awarded during the year (audited)

Long Term Incentive Plan T

The total face value of LTIP awards made te Executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2022 was equivalent to 250% of basic salary
atgrant.

The share price used to determine the face value of performance shares, and thereby the number of periormance shares awarded, is the
average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the day of award. The share price for determining the number of performance
shares awarded to Simon Carter was 494 47p and for Bhavesh Mistry, whase award was made after he joined the Company, was 912.67p.
The performance condilions altached to these awards are sel aut in the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders in July 2019 and
summarised below.

Performance against the LTIP measures will be assessed over a period of three years. If perfermance against a measure is equal ta

ihe index, 20% of the prapartion attached to thal measure will vest and if performance 1s below index the proportion attached ta that
measure will lapse. 100% of the proportion of each element of award aitached to each measure will vest if British Land's performance
is at a stretch level, Those streich levels are TPR 1.00% per annum, TAR 2.00% per annum, T5R {Real Estate] 3.00% per annum and TSR
[FTSE 1001 5.00% per annum. There will be straight-line vesting between index and stretch performance for each measure. Following a
change in the EPRA definition of NAV, TAR is now being measured using EPRA Net Tangible Asset Value per share.

The performance measures and weightings of the 2021 grant were the same as applied to the 2019 grant described abave.

Performance shares

Percentage vesting on

Number of Endol achievemenl ot minimurm

performance Face value performance perlarmance threshald

Executive Oirecior Granl daie shares granled £000 pericg Vesting dale %
Simon Carter 22/06/2021 377.686 1,875 31/03/2024 22/06/2024 20%
Bhavesh Mistry 02/08/2021 238,945 1,225 31/03/2024 02/08/2024 20%
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Bhavesh Mistry Joining Grant

On 19 July 2021, being the date of Bhavesh Mistry's appointment as Chief Financial Officer, the Company made the below listed grants of
performance shares lo replace awards that lapsad at the end of his previous @mployment in order to join the Company. The vesting dates
and performance conditions that apply to the grants replicate those that applied (o each of the awards that Bhavesh forfeited. Under the
terms of the granl, the net shareholding following the setilement of tax, national insurance and dealing fees must be hzld for two years
following vesting. Malus and clawback provisiens apply.

In addition te the awards listed below, the Company made a grant of 43,580 ordinary shares to Bhavesh in order to replace the cash
elemenl of bonus payments that he lost at the end of his previous employment. The shares had a face value of £217,256 representing the
net value of the award follawing the payrnent of tax and national insurance and must be held far twe years. The gross value of the award,
included within the single figure table on page 142 is £409,918.

The face value of all af the awards was calculated based on a share price of 498.50p, being the MMQ for British Land shares the working

day immediately preceding Bhavesh's start date, Friday, 16 July 2021.  —
Number of .

Aveard performance Face value

ne. shares granied £000 Vesting date Perigrmance Condisians
i 50,944 304 A9/107/2321 ' Subject to remaining in employment al the date of vesting.
2 2.403 47 20/06/2022 Subject to remaining in emplayment at the date of vesting,
3 19.612 98  20/04/2022 Subject 1o ramaining in employment at the date of vesting.
4 44,273 221 29/05/2023 Subject to remaining in employment at the date of vesting.
5 28,209 141 27/05/2024 Subject to remaining in employment at the gate of vesting.
& 9.403 47 26/05/2025 Subject to remaining in employment at the date of vesting.

The performance conditions and performance period that apply 16 the grant mifror
those made by Tesco plc ai the date of the original grant on 16 July 2018 which
replicated performance conditions and performance periods that applied to the original
grant made by Whitbread plc as disclosed in the Whitbread plc Annual Report &
Vi 6057 0 28/03/2022 Accounts. The perfarmance periad ended an 28 February 2022.
The performance conditions and performance period that apply to the grant mirror
those made by Tesco ple at the date of the original grant on 20 June 2019, as disclosed
in the Tesco plc Annual Report & Acceunts. The perfarmance period ended on
8 124 948 §23  20/0g/2022 28 February 2022,
The performance conditions and performance period that apply to the grani are the
same as those sel by the British Land Remuneration Commidtee in respect of the British
Land 2020 LTIP Grant as sel outin the 2020 British Land Annual Report and Accounts
9 121,787 407 03/07/2023 ) and an page 137 of this report.

in addition to the gross value of the award of £3.580 shares referenced above {£409.918]. awards 1 1o 4 in the above table are included
within the single ligure table under "other items in the nature of remuneration’ at a face value upen grant of £856,652. Award 7, was
subject to perfermance conditions and vested at 46.3% on 28 March 2022, 4,015 shares wera subsequently released to Bhavesh, who
then sold 1,893 shares at a price of 534.85p to settle tax and national insurance conlributions and deating fees. The gross value of the
proportion of the award that vested {£21.474] is included within the single figure (able under ‘other items in the nature of remuneration’,

Awards 8 and ¢ are subject to performance conditions. Measurement of the performance canditions for Award 8 will be included within
the Tesco plc 2022 Annual Report. The value of the prepertion of Award 8 that vests on 20 June 2022, will be reported within the 2023
British Land single figure table. Award 9 is suhject to the same perfarmance cenditions as the LTIP awards made to British Land
Executive Directors in 2020, the estimated outcame of which will be reported in the 2023 single figure table.
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Directors’ shareholdings and share interests (audited)
The table below shows the Directors’ sharehaldings, including shares held by connected persons, as at year end or, if earlier, the date of
retirement from the Board.

Although there are no shareholding guidelines for Non-Executive Direclors, they are each encouraged to hold shares in British Land. The
Company facilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares quarterly using their pest-tax fees. During the
year ended 31 March 2022, Mark Aedy, Irvinder Goodhew and Tim Score have each received shares in full or part satisfaction of their fees.

Quisianding schegme inlerests as at J1 March 2022 Shares held
Unvesled share Unvasted share Tetal shares

plan awards olan awards Vested bui subject o Total of all share

{subjeclio Inot subject kg unexercised outstanding plan awards and

gerdgrmance pefiormance share plan share plan Asat ) Aprit  As at 3t March shareholdings as

Director measures| measures} awards awards 2021 2022 al 31 March 2022
Simon Carter . 883.861 7,299 0 871,160 171.798 227,728 1,118,888
Bhavesh Mistry' 485,680 11,014 0 595,694 0 78,001 674,695
Tim Score {Chair] 80,905 100,526 100,524
Mark Aedy' 0 3,616 3,614
Lynn Gladden 18,339 18,339 18,337
Ivinder Goodhew 2,593 11,662 11,662
Alastair Hughes 13N 7,471 7371
Nicholas Macpherson 5.600 5,600 5,400
Preben Prebensen 20.000 20,000 20,000
Laura Wade-Gery 9,585 9,585 9,585
Loraine Woodhouse 4,038 8,760 8,760

1. Bhavesh Mistry and Mark Aedy were appointed to the Board on 19 July 2021 and 1 September 2021 respectively.

In additien, on 5 April 2022, the fellowing Non-Executive Directors were allotted shares at a price of 532.54 pence per share in hull or part
salisfaction of their fees:

Mon-Executive Direciar Shares altolted
Tim Scare 4,694
Ivinder Goedhew 1916
Mark Aedy 1,544

Acquisitions of ardinary shares after the year end
The Exgcutive Directors have purchased or been granted the foltowing fully paid erdinary British Land shares under the terms of the
parinership, matching and dividend elements of the Share Inceative Plan:

Daie of purchase Partnership

Executivy Director or award Purchase price shares  Matching shares  Dividend shares

Simon Carter 14/04/22 518.37p 29 58 -
16/05/22 $05.68p 30 40

Bhavesh Mistry 14/04/22 S18.37p 29 58 -
16/05/22 505.48p 0 60

Other than as set aut zbove, there have been no further changes since 31 March 2022.
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Shareholding guidetines

The sharehelding guidelines fas a percentage of salaryl for Exacutive Oirectors are 200% for the Chief Financiat Gfficer and 225%

for the Chief Executive. In addition, Executive Direclors are required ta retain shares equal to the level of this guideline [or if they

have not reached the guideline, the shares that coun! at that time) for the two years following their departure. There is no set timescate
for Executive Directors 1o reach the prescribed guidetine but they are expected to retain net shares received on the vesting of long termn
incentive awards until the target is achieved. Shares that count towards the holding guideline are those which are unfetterad and
beneficially owned by ihe Executive Directars and their connected persons, cenditional shares and all vested awards count towards

the requirement on a net of tax basis. All other awards that are still the subject of a perfermance assessment and any share options
do not count.

The guideline shargholdings for the year ending 31 March 2022 are shown belaw based on a VWAP for 31 March 2022 of 533p:

% of Salary Held

Guideline a5 Holding counting |Based an

percentage of Guideling toward guidelinesal 31 March 2022

Exacutive Direcior basic salary holding 31 March 2022 Shareholdingl
Simon Carter 225% 316,601 227.728 162%
Bhavesh Mistry 200% 183,863 78,001 85%

Unvested share awards {subject to performancej

Numbec Subject ta End gf
outsianding at parformance perlormance .
Exacutive Director Date ol gran! 33 March 2022 measures period Vasing dare
Simaon Carter LTIP performance shares 23/07/19 233,383 Yes 31/03/22 23/07/22
- LTIP perfarmance shares 22/06/20 272812 C Yes  31/03/23  22/04/23 i
LTIP performance shares - - 22/06/2) 377.666 Yes 31/03/24 22/06/24
Bhavesh Mistry  LTIP performance shares 19/07/21 124,948 Yes 28/02/22 20/04/22
LTIP performance shares 19/07/2) 121,787 Yes 31/03/23 03/07/23
LTIP performance shares 02/08/21 238945 Yoy 31/03/24 02/08/24
Unvested share awards {nol subject to perfermancel
Number Subpect ta
ouistanding at perfermance
Executive Direcior Date of graat 21 March 2022 MEAsures Vesting date
Bhavesh Mistry  LTIP performance shares 19/07/21 9.403 No 20/04/22
LTIP performance shares 19/07/24 19,612 No 20/06/22
LTIP performance shares 19/07/21 44,273 No 29/05/23
LTIP performance shares 19/07/23 28,209 No 27/05/24
LTIP performance shares 19/07/21 9.403 No 26/05/25
Unvested aption awards [nat available to be exercised) ’
Number Subjecl 10 End of
outstanding at Qption price performance parformancea Date bscomas
Exetuiive Direclor . Date of grant 31 March 2022 pence fmeasures period exercisable Exergisatle untit
Siman Carter Sharesave options 18/061% 4137 435 Na NIA 01/0%9/22 28/02/23

Other disclosures
Service contracts
All Executive Directors have rolling service contracts with the Company which have notice pericds of 12 months on either side.

Normal

netite period

DQate ol service 10 be given by

Direcior coniract Company
Simon Carter 18/13/20 12 months
Bhavesh Mistcy 19/07/21 12 months

in accordance with the Code, all continuing Executive and Non-Executive Directors stand for election or re-election by the Company's
shareholders on an annual basis. The Qireciors’ service contracis are avaitable for inspection during normal business hours at the
Company's registered affice and at the Annual Generai Meeting. The Company may terminate an Exzcutive Director’s appointment
with immediate effect witheut natice or payment in lieu of notice under certain circumstances, prescribed within the Executive
Director’s service contract,
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Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Oirectors may take up one nan-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to British Land Board approvat.
The Execulive Directors do not currently hotd any paid external appeintments.

Relative impartance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent on the remuneration for all employees lincluding Executive Directors! relative (o the amount
sgent on distributions to shareholders for the years to 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021. Remuneratian of employees increased by 21.5%
relative Lo the prior year. This is largely altributable to improved company perfarmance resuiting in larger bonus payments acress the
business. Distributions to shareholders during the year increased by 102% relative to the prior year. This increase represents a full year
of paying dividends as opposed to the previous year where the Board took a decision to temporarily suspend dividend payments during

the initiat outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Remunaration af employees Distribution
€7%m including Directors: to shareholders:
021/22 . -
£157m Wages and salaries ' PI0 cash dividends paid
' t ! ! ' Annval Incentives fo sharenolders
2 100 200 300 400 - - P10 tax withholding
Social security costs
€65m - Nan-PID cash dividentds paid
2020/21 Pension costs 1o shareholders
{78m Equily-setiled share-based Share buybacks
; - 7 - ; payments -
0 iog T 200 300 400

Tatal shareholder return and Chief Executive's remuneration B

The graph below shows British Land’s total sharehelder return for the 10 years from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2022 against that of the
FTSE All-Share Real Estate Investment Trusts [REIT] Total Return ndex for the same period. The graph shows how the total return
on a £100 investment in the Campany made on 1 Aprit 2012 would have changed over the 10-year period, compared with the tatal
return on 2 £100 investment in the FTSE All-Share REIT Total Return Index. This index has been selected as a suitable comparaiar
because it is the index in which British Land's shares are classified.

The table below sets out the latzl remuneration af the Chief Executive over the same period as the Tatal Shareholder Return graph

The Annual Incentive awards against maximum oppartunity and LTIP vesting percentages represent the year end awards and forecast
vesling outcome for the Chief Executive. The quantum of Annual Incentive awards granled each year and long term incentive vesting rates
are given as a percentage of the maximum oppoariunity available.

Chiel Exgeutive 201211 01014 201615 015106 200647 2007/18 201815 0i%0 020020 20222
Chief Executive’s single total figure of remuneration {£000] 4810 5398, 6551 3423 1938 2279 1,653 1534 1444 19
Annual Incentive awards against maximum opportunity (%) 7 90 96 &7 33 43 36 28 53 21
Long term incentive awards vesting rate against maximum

apportuniky %] 43 98 23 54 15 16 0 0 0 0

1. Confirmed outcome.
2. Forecast outcome,

British Land Annual Report and Atcounts 2022 149



DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Total shareholder return - .

The graph below shews British Land's total shareholder return for the 10 years to 31 March 2022, which assumes that £100 was invested
an 1 April 2012. The Company chose the FTSE All-Share REIT's sector s ar appropriate comparator for this graph because British Land
has been a constituent of that index throughout the periad.

CEO pay ratio . .

The 2021/22 CEQ pay ratio, prepared in tine with Method A of the reparting regulations, is set out betaw, atong with histaric data. In tine
with the method used last year, this method is considered io ke the most comparable approach to the Single Figure calculation used for
the CEQ. The pay data is based on employees as at 31 March 2022 and has been analysed on a full-time equivalent hasis, with pay for
individuals warking part-uime increased pro-rata to the hours worked. Employees on maternity/paternity teave have been included in
the analysis.

The table below shows the movement in median ratio since 2019/20. The median ratio has increased in 2021/22 due to the higher bonus
payoul for the CED. The median ratic is considered to be consistent with the pay and progression policies within British Land as the
remunecation policy lor the CEQ is set based on the same principles as the policy for the wider employee populatien. As such, salarias
for all employees are set Lo reflect the scope and responsibilities of their role and take into account pay {evels in the external market.
The majority of staff are also eligible o receive a bonus, and whitst variable pay represents a larger proportion of the CED's package,

in all cases, ihere is a strong link between payouts and the performance of both the Company and the individual. The Committee Chair
nas provided an explanation of the relationship between reward and performance on page 127.

CEOpayralio . 20920 2020720 2021422
Method C A A
CEQ single figure (£000) 1,534 1.644 1,91%
Upper quartile 14:1 16:1 17:1
Median 22:1 231 2é:1
Lower quartile 33:1 35:1 38:1

1. The 2020/21 single tolal ligure of remuneration represents a blended amount calculated by rederence to the amounts paid to Chris Grigg and Simon Carter far the
respective periods that they served as Chief Executive during the year,

The salary and tetal pay ior the individuals identified at the Lower quartile, Median and Upper Quartile pesitions in 2021/22 are set out
aver the page. Having reviewed the pay levels of these individuals itis felt thal these are representative of the structure and guantum of
pay at these points in the distribution of employees’ pay.
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2021422 Emplayee pay Salsry Taal pay
Upper quartila 84,150 113,761
Median 65,000 74,750
Lower quartite . 38,641 50,813

Oirectors’ remuneration compared to remuneration of 8ritish Land employees

The table below shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Directors’ remuneration relative to the previous financial
year and the average percentage changes in those elernents of remuneration for employees of the listed parent company The British
Land Company PLC. Positive changes in the {ees paid to Non-Executive Directors are attributable (o fees paid in respect of additional
Committae ar Beard resgonsibilities during the caurse of the year, rather than an increase in the level of fees paid. In addition, from
Aprit to July 2020, Directors waived 20% of their respective fees and salaries in respense to the Covid-19 pandemic which reduces the
fult year figure for 2021. The ingrease in pmplayee salarics was due to wilaliunary and promotional increases during the year. Similarly,
the increase in annual incentive refiects a higher campany rmultiplier in 2022 compared to 2021 as a result of stronger corporate
perforrnance against the targets. The salary increase for Simon Carier is due to his premation to CEQ during 2020/21, he did not receive
a salaryincrease in 2021/22. Similarly, the increase in annual bonus for Simon Carter is gue to the higher opportunity in 2021/22 as a
result of being in the CEQ rele for the fult year and z(so due te the higher bonus payout as set out on page §42. The reduction in taxable
banefits will be largely driven by a reduction in the company's private medical insurance premium,

Bhavesh Mistry, Mark Aedy, Irvinder Goodhew and Loraine Woodhouse are not included in the Labie below as they were either
appointed during the year under review or the pravious year and therefore do not have two fult years worlh of fees to campare. They
have not received an increase in salary or fees during the year beyond thase attributable to changes in Commitiee responsibilities for
Non-Executive Directors. Bhavesh's pay arrangements are unchanged since his appointment on 19 July 2021 and are explained fully
on page 142. .o

2072 vs 202) 2021 vs 2020

Base salary/lzes Benefits Annual bonus  Base salaryfees Benelits Annual bonus
Remunaration elemean| % change % change % change % change % change % change
Simon Carter 35% -2.8% 117% n/a n/a nfa
Tim Score 7% 0% nfa 20% 0% n/a
Lynn Gladden 7% 100% n/a -&% 0% nfa
Alastair Hughes 5% 0% nfa -3% 0% n/a
Nicholas Macpherson 7% 0% nfa -T% 0% nfa
Preben Prebensen 12% 0% n/a 12% 0% n/a
Laura Wade-Gery 13% 0% n/a 0% 0% n/a
Average employees &% -7% 50% 2% 1% nfa

The Commillee reviews, takes advice and seeks information Irom bath its independent adviser and the Human Resources department
on pay relatively within the wider market and the Company throughcut the year. The CEQ pay ratio, ethnicity and gender pay ratio help
to inform the Commiltee in its assessment of whether the levet and structure of pay within the Company is appropriate. The Committee
is satisfied with the current Policy and feels the opportunity and alignment are appropriate al the current {ime.
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Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration {audited)
The Yable below shows the fees paid i our Non-Executive Direclors for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020:

Fees! Taxable benefils® Total

2022 1 012 7071 1022 01
Chairman and Mon-Executive Direclors - £o00 £000 €000 000 £o0d £000
Tim Score {Chair? 375 350 & 0 375 354
Mark Aedy* : ] 39 - [ - 39 -
Lynn Gladden 77 72 2 0 79 72
Irvinder Goodhew 75 36 0 0 75 34
Alastair Hughes 98 88 0 0 96 88
Nichglas Macpherson 72 b7 0 0 72 67
Preben Prebensen 95 85 0 0 95 85
Laura Wade-Gery 97 86 0 0 97 8é
Loraine Woadhouse 92 b Q [\ 92 [

. Fees include the basic fee of £64.000 paid to each Non-Executive Director with exception of the Chair.

. Taxable benefits include the expenses incurred by Non-Executwe Directors. The Company provides the tax gross up on these benafits and the figures shown above
are the grossed up values. Thete is no variable etement to the Non-Executive Directors” fees

. Tim Score was appointed Chair in July 201%,
Mark Aedy was appointed on 1 September 2021.
All the direclors’ fees for 2021 reflect the impact of having waived 20% of their fees tor four months during the year.

[2 I NN

Remuneration Committee membership
As at 31 March 2022, and throughaut the year under review, the Committee was comprised wholly of independent Non-Executive
Directors. The members af the Commitlee, tugether with attendance al Committee meetings, are set out in Lhe table betow:

Date of appoiniment

Director Position Ito the Cammitleel Attendance
Laura Wade-Gery Chair - 13 May 2015 b/6
Lynn Gladden Mamber 20 March 2015 ) (303
Irvinder Goodhew Member 17 Novermber 2021 2/2
Preben Prebensen Member 1 September 2017 &/6

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Commitlee meeiings were also part attended by Tirn Score [Chairman), Simon Carter [Chief
Execultive Officer], Bhavesh Mistry {Chief Financial Officer}, Brona McKeown [General Counsel and Company Secretary), Kelly Barry
{Reward Director] and Gavin Bergin [Head of Secretariat] ather than for any item relaling to their awn remuneration. A representative
from Korn Ferry also routinety attends Committee meetings.,
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The Commitiee Chair holds regular meetings with the Chairman, Chiel Executive and HR Director te discuss all aspects of remuneration
within British Land. She atso meets the Committee’s independent remuneration adwisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each substantive meeating
to discuss mallers of governance, Remuneration Policy and any concerns they may have.

How the Committee discharged its responsibilities during the year

The Commiltee’s rale and responsibilities have remained unchanged during the year [having been amended in March 2019 to incorporate
changes to the Code) and are set out in full in its terms of reference which can be found on the Company’s website
britishland.com/commiitees. The Committee’s key areas of respansibility are:

~ the development of the 2022 Directors” Remuneration Policy to be presented for shareholder appraval at the 2022 AGM, including
policy design, stakeholder engagement and consultation with major shareholders:

- in developing the performance conditions ralating to the Company's 2030 Sustainability Strategy within the proposed 2022 Direciors
Remuneration Policy, the Committee received in-depth technical briefings from subject maller experts from the hisiness;

- reviewing the Remunerstion Molicy aad st alegy for members of the Executive Committze and other members of executive
management, whilst having regard to pay and emplayment condttions acrass the Group:

- defermining the total individval remuneration package of each Executive Director, Executive Commiltee member and other members
ol management;

- monitering performance against conditions attached to all annual and long term incentive awards Lo Executive Directors, Executive
Commiltee and other members of management and approving the vesting and payment outcomes of these arrangements; and

- selecting. appointing and setting the terms of reference of any independent remuneration consultants.

In addition to the Committee’s key areas cf responsshility, during the year ended 31 March 2022. the Committee also considered the
following matters, .

--- --reviewing and recomimending-tothe Board the Remuneration Report to be presented for shareholder approval: -

- remuneration of the Executive Direciors and members of the Executive Commiitee including achievement of corporate and individual
performance; and pay and Annual Incentive awards below Board-level;

- ihe exient to which performance measures have been mel and, where appropriate. approving the vesting of Annual Incentive and
long term incentive awards; .

- granting discretionary share awards; reviewing and setting performance measures for Annual Incentive awards and
Long Term incentives;

- reviewing the Commiltee’s terms of reference;

~ feedback from the HR Director and Remuneration Consultanis following consultation with a workforce panel set up to discuss
Executive remuneration;

- the Commitiee was made aware of the results of engagement surveys and any general themes that are impacting employees.
All-emnployes communications were seni from Executive Cammittee members. inciuding the CEQ, relating to wider
Company remuneration;

- considering gender and ethnicity pay gap reporting requirements; and

- receiving updates and lraining on corporate governance and remuneration matters from the independent remuneration consultant.

The Committee’s terms of reference have been reviewed by the Commiltee during the year and changes were made to define
responsibilities between the CSR Committee and the Remuneralion Commiltee and provide for one joint meeting per year as appropriate.

Remuneration tansultants

Korn Ferry was appointed as independent remuneration adviser by the Comamittee an 21 March 2017 following a compelitive tender
process. Karn Ferry is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to that greup’s Code of Conduct. The Commitlee
assesses the advice given by its advisers to salisly itsell that it is objective and independent. The advisers have private discussions with
the Committee Chair at least once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct. Fees, which are charged on a time and materials basis,
were £144,480 |excluding VATL Korn Ferry also pravided general remuneration advice to the Company during the year.

Voting at the Anpual General Meeting
The table below shows the voting cutcomes of the resolulions put to sharehalders regarding the Directors” Remuneralion Report al the
AGM in July 2021 and Remuneration Policy at the AGM in July 2019.

Resolution Volas for % far Volas against % against  Toial voles cast Voies withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Report (2021 612,435,184 98.61 8,657,032 139 421092216 1,307,558
Directors’ Remuneration Policy (2019) 499,935,009 98.30 12.073.236 1.70 712,008,245 840.435

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 17 May 2022

oo 15

Laura Wade-Gery
Chair of the Rernuneration Commitlee
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Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Directars present their Repact on the affairs of the Group, together with the audited financial statements and the repert of the auditor
far the year ended 31 March 2022. The Direclors’ Report also encompasses the entirety of cur Corporaie Governance Report from pages
99-157 and Other Information section from pages 239-248 for the purpose of section 463 of the Companies Act 2004 [tha "Act’). The
Directors’ Report and Strategic Repart together censtitute the Management Report for the year ended 31 March 2022 for the purpose

of Oisclosure and Transparency Ruie 4.7.8R. fnformation that 1s relevant o this Report, and which is incorporated by reference and
including information required in accordance with the Act and or Listing Rule 9.8.4R, can be located in the following sections:

Infprmg lipn Section in Annuat Repornt Page
Future developments of the business of the Company Sirategic Report 1810 27
Risk factors and principal risks Strategic Report B4 1o 96
Financial instryments - risk manzagement objectives and policies Strategic Report 811083
Dividends Strategic Report 79
Sustainability qovernance Sirategic Report 49 to 50
Greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and efficiency Strategic Report 58ta 5%
Vighility and gging cancern statemenis Strategic Report 97
Governance arrangements Governance 104 10 109
Employment policies and employee involvement Strategic Report 351037
Capitalised interest Financial Statements 182 to 187
Additional unaudited financial information Dther Information unaudited 239 to 244

Annual General Meeting (AGM)
The 2022 AGM will be held at $:30am on
12 July 2022 a1 100 Liverpool Streey,
ECZM ZRH.

A separale circular, comprising a letter
fram the Chairman of the Board, MNatice

of Meeting and explanatory notes on the
resolutions being proposed, has been
circutated to shareholders and is available
on our website dritishland.com/agm.

Articles of Assoeiation

The Company’s Articles of Association
(Articles| may only be amended by

spacial resolutran at a general meeting

of sharehaolders. Subject to applicable law
and the Company's Articles, the Directors
may exercise all powers of the Company

The Articles are available on the Company's
website britishland.com/governance.

Board of Directors

The names and biographical details of

the Directors and details of the Board
Committees of which they are members
are sel oul on pages 101-103 and
incorporated into this Report by reference.
Changes to tha Directors during the year
and up to the date of this Report are set
out an page 114. The Company's current
Articies require any new Bireclor to stand
for election at the naxt AGM following their
appeintmeni. However, in accordante wikh
the Code and the Campany’s currant
practice, all continuing Directors offer
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themselves for election or re-etection,
as required, at the AGM.

Details of the Direclors’ interests in the
shares ol the Company and any awards
granied to the Executivg Direclors under
any of the Company's all-employee or
executive share schemes are given in
the Oirectors” Remuneration Report

on page 147 The service agreemaents of
the Executive Directors and the tetlers of
appointment of the Non-Executive Direclors
are also surmmarised in the Directors’
Remuneration Repart and are avaitable
for inspection at the Company's
registered office.

The appointiment and replacement of
Directors is gaverned by the Company’s
Articles, the Code, the Companies Act 2008
and any related legislation. The Board may
appoint any person lo be a Director so long
as the wtal number of Directors does not
exceed the limit prescribad in the Articles.
The Articles provide that the Company may
by ordinary resolution at a general meeling
appoint any person to act as a Direcior,
provided that notice is given of the
resolution identifying the propesed person
by name and that the Campany receves
writien confirmation of that person’s
willingness to act as Director if he or she
has nat been recornmended by the Board,
The Articles also empower the Board

to appoint as 3 Director any person who

is willing to act as such. The maximum
possible number of Directars under the
Articles is 20, [n addition to any power
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of remaval conferred by the Companies Act
2006, the Articles provide that the Company
may by ordinary resotution {and without the
need lor any special notice) remove any
Direcior from office. The Articles also set
out the circumstances in which a parson
shall cease to be a Girector.

The Articles require that at each annual
general meeting each persan wha is 3
Director on 2 specific date selected by

the Board shall retire from office. The date
selected shall be net more than 14 days
hafore, and no {3ter than, the date of tha
notice of annual general meeling. A Director
who retires at an annual general meeling
shall be eligible for reappointment by the
shareholders.

Directors’ interests in contracts
and conflicts of interest

Na contracl existed during the year in
relation to the Company's business in which
any Director was materially interested

The Company’s procedures for managing
condlicts af interest by the Divectors are
set out on page 108. Provisions are also
contained in the Company's Articles which
allow the Directors to autharise potential
cantlicts of inferest

Directors’ liability insurance
and indemnity

The Company maintains apprapriate
Directars’ and Gfficers’ iability insurance



caver in respect ul any potential legal aciien
brought against its Directors.

The Company has also indemnified each
Director to the extent permitied by law
against any liability incurred in relation to
acis or omissions ansing in the ordinary
course of their duties. The indemnity
arrangements for all directors of the
Company are qualifying indemnity
provisions under the Act and were in
force throughout the year and are in
farce at the date of the Repart.

Share capital

The Company has one ctass of shares,
beirg ordinary shares of 75p each, alt

of whuch are fully paid The rights and
obligations attached to the Company’s
shares are sel out in the Articles. There
are no restrictions on voling rights or the
transfer of shares excepl in relation to
Real Estate lnvestment Trust resiriciions.
The Directors ware granted aulhori‘(‘y'a't the
2021 AGM to allot relevant securities up to
a nominal amount of £77,227,088 as well as
an additionat authority to altot shares to the
same value on a rights issue. This authority
will 2pply until the conclusion of the

2022 AGM or the close of business on

30 Sepiember 2022, whichever is the
seoner. At this year's AGM, shareholders
will be asked to renew the authority to

allot relevant securities.

The Directors were granted authority at the
2021 AGM to allet shares in the Company
and lo grant rights to subscribe for, or
convert any secufity into, shares in the
Cempany up lo a maximum aggregate
nominal amount of £11,584,063, as

well as an additional authority to allot
shares up to the same amount on a rights
issue only. This authority will appty until the
conclusion of the 2022 AGM. At the 2022
AGM, shareholders will be asked to

renew the altotment authority.

At the 2021 AGM a special resolulion was
also passed ta permil the Directors 1o allot
shares for cash on a non-pre-empive basis
both in connection with a rights issue or
similar pre-emptive issue and, atherwise
than in conneclicn with any such issue,

up to a maximum nominal amount ot
£11,584,063. A further special resolution
was passed lo permit Lhe Directars to

allot shares far cash on a non-pre-emptive
basis up to the same amount for use only in
connectien with an acquisition or a specified
capital investrment. At this year's AGM,
shareholders will be asked to renew

such powers.

The Company cantinued o hold 11,246,245
ordinary shares in treasury during the
whole of the year ended 31 March 2022
and lo the date of this Report.

Further details relating to share capital,
including movemnents during the year,
are set out in Note 20 to the financiat
statements on pages 213-215.

Rights under an employee
share scheme

Employee Benefit Trusts [EBTs) operate
in connection with some of the Company’s
employee share plans. The trusiees of the
EBTs may exercise all rights attached to the
Company’s ordinary shares in accordance
with their fiduciary duties other than as
specifically restricted in the documents
which govern the relevant employee
share plan.

Waiver of dividends

Blest Limited acts as trustee [Trustee|

of the Company’s dis¢retionary Employee
Share Trust [EST). The 5T hotds and,
from time to time, purchases British Land
ordinary shares in the market, for the
benefit of employees, including o salisfy
outstanding awards under the Company’s
various executive employee share plans. A
dividend waiver is in place from the Trustee
in respect of all dividends payable by the
Company on shares which it holds in trust.

Substantial interests
All notifications made te British Land under
the Disclosure and Transparency Rules

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

(DTR %) are published on a Regulatory
Information Service and made available
on the lnvestars section of our website.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had
been natified of the interesis noted at the
boitom of this page inits ordinary shares

in accordance with DTR 5. The infarmatien
provided is correct at the date of notification.

Change of control

The Group's unsecured borrowing
arrangemenis include provisions thal may
enable each of the lenders or bondhelders
to request repayment or have a put at par
within a certain period following a3 change
of control of the Company. In the case of the
Sterling bond this arises if the change of
control also results in a rating downgrade
to below investment grade.

There are no agreements between the
Company and its Executive Directors or
employees providing for compensation for
loss of office or employment that occurs
specifically because of a takeover, merger
or amalgamation with the exception of
pravisions in the Company’s share plans
which could result in options and awards
vesting or becoming exercisable on a
change of controh. All appointment letters
for Non-Executive Directors will, as they
are renewed, contain a provision that allows
payment of their notice period in certain
limited circumstances, such as corperate
transactions, where the Company has
terminated their appointment

with immaediate effect.

Interesls in
ordinary shares

Percentage halding
disclosed %

BlackRock, Inc.

- Brookfield Asset Management Inc.

Norges Bank
APG Asset Management N.V.
Invesco Lid.

97,459 024 10.5
55,038,184 5.94
74,998,395 8.0%
48,072,042 5.19
45,871,686 4,95

Since the year end, and up to 17 May 2022, the Company had been notified of the following
interests in its ordinary shares in accordance with DTR 5. The information prowided is

correct at the date of notification:

Interests in Percentage holding

ardinary shares disclosed %
BlackRock. Inc. 100,400,771 10.8
Brookfield Asset Management, Inc. 29.409.577 3.17

British Land Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Payments policy

Wa recognise the impartance of good
supplier relationships to the gverall success
of our business, We manage dealings with
suppliers in a fair, consistent and transparent
manner, For more information please visit
the Suppliers section of our website at
britishlznd.com/suppliers.

Events after the balance
sheet date

Details of subsequent events, if any, can be
found in Note 26 on page 218.

Political donations and
expenditure

The Company did not make any political
donalions or incur any expenditure during
the year 12021 nill.

Inclusive culture
-British-Land-employees are committed—
lo pramoting an inclusive, positive and
collaboarative ¢ulture. In 2021 we launched
our Diversity, Equality and Inclusion
Strategy to sel oul our commilments
and goals to make British Land the most
inclusive crganisation it can be, We treat
everyone equally irrespective of age, sex,
sexual arientation, race, colour, nationalily,
ethnic origin, religion, religious or other
philosophical beliel, disability, gender
identily, gender reassignment, marcital
or civil partner stalus, or pregnancy
or maternity. As stated in cur Equat
Opportunities Policy, British Land treats
‘all colleagues and job apphcants with
equality. We do not discriminate against
job applicants, employees, workers or
caniractars because of any pratected
characteristic. This applies to all
opportunities provided by the Company
including, but not imited to, job
applications, recruitlment and interviews,
training and developmaent, rale enrichment,
conditions of work, salary and performance
review’. The Company ensures that our
policies are accessible to all employees,
making reasonable adjustment
when required.
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Through its policies and more specifically
the Equal Opporlunitias, Disability and
Waorkplace Adjustment and Recruitment
policies, the Company ensures that entry
into, and progression within, the Company
is based solely on personal ability and
competence io meet set job criteria. Should
an employee, worker or contraclor become
disabled in the course of their employment/
engagement. the Company aims (¢ ensure
that reasonable steps are taken o
accommodate their disability by making
reasonable adjustments ta their existing
employment/engagement.

Community investment
Our financial community investment during

the year totalled £1,813.909 (202} £3.475,171],

Of this, £1.4m came from the Commumity
Investmeni Fund which is managed by the
Community investment Committee and
overseen by the C5R Commitiee.

The Company also supporis employee
fundraising and payroll giving which are
included in the figures above. For the year
ended 31 March 2022 this covered:

- 950% uplift of Britigh Land stati payrell
giving contributions [capped at £5,000
per person and £50,000 per annum for
the whole organisation]; and

- A stalf matched funding pledge,
matching money raised for community
crganisations by British Land staff up
to £500 per persan per year.

Qur community investment is guided by cur
Local Charter, working with local pariners
to make a lasting positive difference:

- connecting with lacal communities

~ supporting educatianal initiatives for
local peopie

~ supporting local training and jobs

- supporiing local businesses

~ contributing te lacal peapte’s
wellbeing and enjoyment
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Through cur commurily 1nvestment and
Lacal Charter activity, we connect with
communities where we operate, make
positive tocal contributions, help peaple
fulfil their potential, help businesses grow,
and promote wellbeing and enjoyment.
This alt supports our strategy to creale
Places People Prefer.

Auditor and disclosure
of information

‘Each of the Directors at the dale of appraval

of this Report canfirms that:

- o far as the Director is aware, there is

no relevant audit information that has
not been brought te the attention of
the audilor :

- the Director has taken all steps that
he/she should have taken io make
himself/herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that
the Company's auditer was aware of
that infermalion

PwC has indicated its willingness ta remain
in office and, on the recommendation of the
Audit Committee, a resolution Lo reappoint
PwC as the Company's auditor will be
proposed at the 2022 AGM.

The Directors” Repart was approved by the
Board on 17 May 2022 and signed on its
behalf by:

o WK

Brona McKeown
General Counsel and Company Secretary

The British Land Campany PLC
Company number: 621920



Directors’ Responsibilities
Statement

The Directors” Responsibilities Statement
below has been prepared in connection with
the Annual Report and financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022, Certain
parts of the Annual Report and financial
statemants have not been included in this
announcement as set cut in Note 1 to

the financial information.

The Directors are respensible for
oreparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors

to prepare financial statements for

sach financial year. Under that law the
directors have prepared the group financial
statemenls in accordance with UK-adopled
international accounting standards and

the company financial statements in
accordance with United Kingdem Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice [United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comgrising
FRS 101 "Reduced Uisctosure Framewark™.
and applicable law).

Under company law, Directors must not
approve the financial statements unless
they are salisfied thal they give a true ang
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and Company and of the profit or loss of
the Group and Company for that period.

In preparing the financial statements,

the directors are required to:

- select suitable accouniing policies and
then apply them consistently;

- state whether applicable UK-adopted
international accounting siandards have
been followed for the group financial
statenents and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 have been followed for the company
financiat statements, subject to any
material depastures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;

- make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasenable and
prudent; and

- prepare the financial statements ¢n
the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume thai the Group
and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The Direciors are also responsible for
keeping adequate accounting records

that are sufficient to show and explain the
Group’s and Company's transactions and
disclose with reasanable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group and
(lompany and enable them Lo ensure that
Lhe financial statements and the Directers’
Remuneration Repart comply with the
Companies Ack 2004,

The Oirectors zre responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the company's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may diifer from
legislation in ather jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations

The Directors consider that the Annual
Report 2nd Accounts, taken as a whole,
is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's and
Company’s pesition and performance,
business model and strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names

and functions are listed in Corporate
Governance report on pages 101-103,
conkirms that, to the best of thair knowledge:

- the Group financial statements, which
have been prepared in accerdance with
UK-adepted international accounting
standards and [FRSs issued by IASB,
give a true and fair view of the assels,
lizbilities, financial poasition and profit
of the Group;

- the Company financial statements, which
have been prepared in accerdance with
United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 101, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities and financial
position of the campany and profit of the
Company; and

- the Annual Reporl and Accounts includes
a fair review af the development and
perfermance of the business and the
position of the Group and Company.
together with a description of the
grincipal risks and uncerlainties
that it faces.

The British Land Company PLC 00621920

In the case of each director in office at the
date the Directors’ report is approved:

- so far as the Director is aware, thereis
no retevant audit intormation of which
the Group's and Company’s auditors
are unaware; and

- they have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as a Director in
order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and
to establish that the Group's and
Company’'s auditors are aware
of that information.

By order of the Board.

Bhavesh Mistry
Chiaf Financial Officer

17 May 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Independent auditors’ report to the members of
The British Land Company PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

- The British Land Company PLC’s Group financial stalements and Company financial statements (the “financial statements™] give
a true and fair view of the state of the Group’'s and of the Company's alfairs as at 31 March 2022 and of the Group's profit and the
Group's cash flows for the year then ended;

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards;

- the Company financia! statements have been praperly prepared in accerdance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting $tandards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framewark”, and applicable law}; and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Cnmpanses Acl 2006.

We have audited the financial statements included within the Annual Report and Accounts 2022 [the “Annual Repert”|, which compnse

the Cansolidated and Company Balance Sheets as at 31 March 2022, the Cansolidated Income Statement and the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income. the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and the Consclidated and Company Statemnents

of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant
accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Commiltee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with international Standards on Auditing [UKI ["1SAs IUK]"] a2nd applicable law. Qur responsibilities
under ISAs (U] are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We pelieve that the audit evidence wea have oblained is sufficient and apprepriate te provide a basis for our apinion.

Independence

We remained indepengent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant ta our audit of the financial
stalements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed pubtic interest entities, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these reguirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in Note S, we have provided no non-audit services to the Company or its controlled undertakings in the period
under audit.
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Qur audit approach
Overview

Audit scope - Woe lailored the scope of our audit te ensure that we performed encugh work Lo be able Lo give an
opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The Group financial statements are prepared on a
consalidated basis. and the audit team carries out an audit over the consolidated Group balances in
suppert af the Group audit opinion.

- Ia planning our audit, we made enquirtes with management to undersiand the extent of the potential
impact of climaie change risk on the financial statements. Management cancluded 1hat there was no
matenal impact on the financial statements. Our evaluation of this conclusion included challenging
key judgerments and estimates in areas where we considered that there was greatest potential for
climale change impact. We parlicularly considered how climate change risks would impact the
assumptions made in the valuation of investment properties as explained in our key audit matter
below. We also considered the cansistency of the disclosures in relation to climate change made
within the Annual Report, the financial statements and the knowledge obtained from aur audit. We
assessed the consideralion of the cost of delivering the Group's climate change and susiainability
strategy within the gaing concern and viability forecasts.

—__Keyaudit matters. .. ____ _= Valuation.af.investrment and development properties, either held directly ar through jointventures__ . . o .
{Groupl.
- Recoverability of tenant debtors and incentives {Groupl.
- Accounting for Canada Water partial disposal and joint venlure arrangement [Group),
- Taxation 1Groupl.
- Valuation of investments and loans to subsidiaries and joint ventures ‘l(:'omp'anyif
Materiality - QOverall Group materiatity: £98.4 million (2021: £88.8 million) based on 1% of total assets.
- Specific Group mateniality: £12.6 million [2027: £14.1 myllien]. based on 5% of the Group's underlying
profit before tax.
- Overall Camnpany materiality; £88.5 million 12021: £79.9 million) based on 1% of total assets.
~ Perfarmance materiality: £73.8 million [2021: £44.6 million] {Groupl and £65.4 million
[2021: £59.9 million) {Companyl.

The scope of our audit .
As parl of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.

Key audit matters

Key audil matters are these matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in \he audi of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material rmisstatement fwhether or not due to fraudi
identified by the audilors, including those which had the greates! effect on: the overall audil strategy; Lhe allocation of resources in the
audit: and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matlers, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures
thereon, were addressed in the conkext of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our epinian tharean, and we
do not provide a separale apinion on these matters.

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Accounting for Canada Water partial disposal and joint venture arrangement is a new key audit matter this year, Covid-19, which was a
key audit matter last year, 1s no longer inctuded because we have assessed the impact of the pandemic on key judgements or estimates
within the Group and Company financial statements through other key audil matiers included within this report. Otherwise, the key audit
matters below are consistent with last year.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties,
either held directly ar through joint ventures [Group)
Refer lg the Report of the Audit Committee, Notes to

the financial staterments - Note 1 [Basis of preparation,
significant aceouniing policies and accounting judgements],
Note 10 {Property] and Note 11 Lloint veniures).

The Group owns either directly or through jeint ventures

a partfolio of property consisting of Campuses, Retail &
Fullitment and Developments. The total property portfolio
valuation for the Group was £4.944 million (2021: £4,247 millioni
and for the Group's share of joint ventures and funds was
£3,545 million {2021: £3.067 million) as al 31 March 2022.
The valuations were carried out by third party valuers CBRE,
Jones Lang LaSalle, Cushman & Wakelield and Knight Frank
{the "Valuers'}. The Valuers were engaged by the Directors
and performed their work in accordance with the Royal
Instilute of Chariered Surveyors {"RICS”) Valuation -
Professional Standards and the requirements of International
Accounting Slandard 40 lnvestment Property’.

In determining the valuation of a property, the Valuers

take inlg account property-specific information such as the
current lenancy agreements and rental income, They apply
assumptions far yields and estimated market rent, which
are influenced by prevailing market yields and comparable
markel transactions, to arrive at the final valuation. For
developments, the residuval appraisal method is used, by
estimating the fair value of the completed project using a
capitalisation method tess estimated costs to completion
and a risk premium.

The valuation of the Group's property portiolio was identified
as a key audit maiter given the valuation is inherently
subjective due to, among other factars, the individual nature
of each praperty. its location and the expected future rentat
streams for that particular property. The significance of the
estimales and judgements involved, coupled with the fact
that only a small percentage difference in individual property
valualions, when aggreqated, could result in a material
misstatarmnent, warranked specific audit focus in this area.

Given the inherent subjectivity involved in the valuation of the property
portialia, and thersfore the need far deep market knowledge whan
determining the most appropriate assumptions and the technicalities
of valuation methadology, we engaged our'internal valuation experis
lqualified chartered surveyorsl io assist us in our audit of this area.

Assessing the Valuers' expertise and objectivity

We assessed the Valuers™ qualifications and expertise and read their
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there were
any matters that might have affecied their objectivity or may have
imposed scape limitations upon their work. We also consigered fees
2nd other contractual arrangements that might exist hetween the
Group and the Valuers. We found no evidence to suggest that the
objectivity of the Valuers was compromised.

Assumptions and estimates used by the Valuers

We read the valuation reports for the properties and confirmed_that the
valuation agproach for each was in accordance with RICS slandards.
We obiained details of each properiy held by the Group and set an
expected range for yreld and capital value movement, determined by
reference to published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market. We compared the investment yields vsed

by the Valuers with the range of expected yields and the year on year
capital movement ta our expected range. We also considered the
reasanableness of other assumptions that were not 50 readily
comparable with published benchmarks, such as estimated

rental value. For developments vatued using the residual valuation
methed, we obiained the development appraisal and assessed the
reasonableness af the Valuers' key assumgptions. This included
comparing the yield 10 comparable market benchmarks, comparing
the costs to compleie esbimales 1o development plans and contracts,
and considering the reasonableness of ather assumptions that are not
so readily comparable with published benchmarks, such as estimated
rental value and developers’ profit. We hetd discussions with each of
the Valuers ang challenged their approach to the valuations, the key
assumptions and their rationale behind the more significant valuation
movermnents during the year. Where assumplions were outside the
expected range or showed unexpected movernents based on our
knowledge, we undertook further investigations, hetd further
discussions with the Yaluers and obtained evidence to support
explanations received. We also challenged the Valuers as to the extent
to which recent market transactions and expected rental values which
they made use of in deriving their valuations teek into account the
impact of ctimate change. The valuation commentaries provided by the
Valuers and supporting evidence, enabled us to consider the property
specific Iactors that may have had an impact on value, including recent
comparabie transactions where apgropriale. We concluded thal the
assumptions used in the valuations were supportable in light of
available and comparable market evidence.
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Haw our audit addressed she key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties,
either held directly or through joint ventures [Groupl]
[cantinued)

Infarmation and standing dsta

We performed testing on the standing data in the Group’s information
systerns concerning the valuation process. We carried oul procedures,
on a sample basis, to satisfy ourselves of the accuracy of the property
information supplied ta the Valuers by managerment. For aperating
properlies, we agreed tenancy informalion to supparting evidence on

a sample basis. For developments, we confirmed that the supporting
information for construction contracts and budgets, which was supplied
to the Valuers, was alse consistent with the Group’s records for exarple
by inspecting original construction contracts. For developments,
capitalised expendriure was tested on a sample basis to invoices,

and budgeted costs to complete compared with supporling evidence.
We agreed the amounts per the valualion reports to the accounting
records and the financial statements.

We have no issues to report in respect of this work.

Recoverability of tenant debtors and incentives (Group)
Refer 1o the Repor! of the Audit Commitise, Noles to

the financial statements - Note 1 {Basis of preparation,
significant accounting policies and accounting judgements),
Nate 10 Property) and Note 13 [Debtors). The toral value of
trade debtors recognised within the Group is £53 millian
{2021: £82 million) and within joint ventures is £17 miltion
12021: €27 million] at 31 March 2022, against which an
Expected Credit Loss 'ECL’] provision of £47 miltion

{2021: £57 million) and £13 mittion {2021: €15 mitlion}
respectively has been recognised.

Total tenant incentives across the Group is £16% million
12021: €149 million! and acress joint ventures was

£100 million at 21 March 2022 (2021: £79 million), against
which an ECL provision of £23 million [2021: £23 million)
and £9 million [2021: £6 mitlion) has been recognised.

Covid-17 and the resulting economic and social disruption
brought unfereseen challenges to Londen and the wider
global economy; impacting the Group and in general the
averall cisk profite. Whilst condgitions improved in 2021/2022
as a resull of the vaccine programme, there remains a risk
of tenants defaulting or tenant failure, particularly in respect
1o the leisure, retail and hospitality sectors. The tevel of
arrears i3 higher than pre the pandemic and, although lower
than the prior year, a significant propertion of the arrears
relates to debtors that are greater than six months old,

Tha effects of the pandemic are likely to continue to be
experienced for some time, and therefore the estimation

of the ECL provision agains tenant debtors and incentives
remains highly subjective and contains significant
estimation uncertanty.

Tha Directars have applied the £CL mode{ under IFRS ¢
Financial Instrurnents and utilised a matrix methodolagy
to determine the provision. The key assumptions have been
the tenants’ risk ratmg and the related expected loss rate
for each rigk rating and ageing combination. Tenant risk
ratings have been determinad by the Directors, taking into
consideration information available surrounding a lenant’s
credit rating, financial position and historical defaull rates.
Consideration has also been given to the current impact of
Cuovid-19 and its potential future impact on the tenant's
business along with industry trends.

We have evaluated the methodology utilised by the Directors in
determining the ECL provisions as at 31 March 2022, We are satisfied
the approach is compliant with the requirements of IFRS ¢ Financial
Instruments’ We abtained and checked the mathematical accuracy,
and completeness, of the data used to calculale the provision balances.

Given the complexity and the manual nature of the ECL model,
we used anindependent application to check the integrity of the
spreadsheet used to calculate the provision.

On a sample basis, we perfermed detaited testing over the undarlying
data and information used in the ECL analysis including but not limited
ta verifying: the tenant’s year end outstanding deblor balance; the
tenant’s year end unamortised lease incentive balance; the tenant’s
credit histories and cusrent trading performance; the ageing of the
balances; the level of cash collections during the year; and the

forward looking macroeconomic environment amongst other factors.

We assessed the significant assumptions adopted by management

in the provision for ECL on tenant debters and incentives againsi
supparting evidence. For a sample we assessed the appropriateness of
the most significant assumptions being: the categorisation of tenants
into different risk ratings and the provisioning percentages applied 1o
each of these risk calegeries by agreeing to supporting documents.

We reviewed the disclosures made in relation to the ECL provision
and the sensitivity of the provision to the underlying probability of
default applied.

We have no matters to repart in respect of this wark.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recoverability of tenant debtors and incentives [Group)
{continued]

The expected loss rate has also taken into consideration the
ageing profile of the debtars and the histerical cash collected
over the pandemic peried.

The same key assumptions are applied in the ECL model
for tenant incentives, without the consideration of the ageing
profile and historical cash collections which are nat relevant
for tenant incentive balances. Gn Lthe basis that the
estimation of an ECL provision agains! the tenant debtors
and incentives balances has teen highly subjective and
contains significant estimation uncertainty, we have
identified this as a key audit matier.

Accounting for Canada Water partial disposal and joint
venture arrangement [Group)

Refer 1o the Report of the Audit Committee and Note 1
[Basis of preparation, significant accounting pelicies and

We understeod the nature of the transaction and assessad the

proposed accounting treatment in relation to the Group's accounting

policies and relevant IFRSs. For the disposal, we oblained and
reviewed the key supporling documentation such as Sale and

accounting judgements], Note 10 |Propertyl and Note 11
[Joint ventures),

Purchase Agreement and completion statements. Consideration
received or paid was agreed te bank statements. For the joint venture
arrangement, we read the underlying contracls and agreed the
accounting treatmant of the joint venture arrangement was in
accordance with IFRS 10 Cansolidated financial statements’, IFRS 11
“Joint arrangements’, and IFRS 12 'Disclosures of interests in other
entities and checked that the degree of control or influance held by
the Group is appropriale to recognise a jeint venture arrangement,

During the reporting period, the Group disposed of 50% of
its share in the Canada Water Masterplan |the "Masterplan’}
to AustralianSuper far £580m. The carrying value of BL's
share prior to the transaction was £474m and the disposal
resulted in 3 gain of E406m. IAS 28 requires the Graup 10
only recognise the proportion of the gain from unrelated
investors interests, and therefore 2 gain on disposal of
£é4m {after E8 million of transaction costs) has been
recognised at the Group level.

We have no matlers to report in respect of this work.

The Group formed a joint venture arrangement

with AustralianSuper, Management has classified the
arrangement as a joint venture that is equity accounied on
the basis that both parties have joint control of the entity. The
Group has recognised the investment in joint venture initially
a1t 50% of the carrying value at the date of the transaclion
{E238m| and then recagnised a £ 46m valuation gain thraugh
picking up a 50% share of total comprehensive incorme ol

the joint venture [representing the valuation movement to

31 March 2022|. Therefare the total gain geing through the
Incarne Statement is E90m of which £44m is classified in

the praofit on disposal of investment properties kne item

and £46m is classified in the joint ventures line item.

This warranted additional audit focus due to the size

and nature of the transaction.
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How owr audit addressad ihe key audil matier

Taxation (Group]

Reler lo the Report of the Audit Commitiee, the Nates

1o the financial statements ~ Note 1 {Basis of preparation,
significani accounting policies and accounting judgements)
and Note 7 {Taxation).

The UK Real Estate Investment Trust IREIT) regirme grants
companies tax-exemp! status provided they meet the rules
within the regime. The rules are complex, and the tax-
exernpl status has a significant impact on the financial
statemeants. The complexity of the rules ¢reates a risk of
an inadvertent breach and the Graup's profit becoming
subject to tax.

The Group's slatus as a REIT underpins its business madel
and sharehalder returns. For this reason, it warrants special
audit focys.

The obligations of the REIT regime include requirements o
comply with balance of business, dividend and income cover
tests. The Broadgate jaint venture is also structured as a
REIT and as such, REIT cornpliance is also of relevance

for this joint venture in addition to the overall Group.

Tax provisions are in place to account for the risk of
challenge of certain of the Group's tax positions. Given
the subjective nature of these provisions, additionat
audit locus was placed on tax provisions.

We confirmed our understanding of management’s approach to
ensuring compliance with the REIT regime rules and we involved our
internal taxation specialists to verily the accuracy of the application of
the rules,

We obtained management’s calculations and supporting
documentation, verified the inpuls to their calculations and re-
performed the Group’s and Broadgate’s annual REIT compliance tests.

We used our knowledge of tax circumstances and, by reading relevant
correspondence between the Group and Her Majesty's Revenue &
Custorms and the Group's exiernal tax advisors, we are satished that
the assumplions and judgements used by the Group in determining
the tax provisions are reascnable.

We have no 1s5ues te report in respect of this work.

Yaluation of investments and loans to subsidiaries and
joint ventures [Company)

Refer to the Moles 1o the financiat statements - Note A
Accounting paticies [Criticat accounting judgements and

key sources of estimation uncertaintyl and O (Investments

in subsidiaries and jaint ventures, loans to subsidiaries and
ather investments]. The Comgpany has investments and loans
to subsidiaries of £33,140 million [2021: £33,142 million}

and investments in joint veniures of £114 million

12021: £106 rmullion) as at 31 March 2022. This is following the
recogninon of a £32 million 2021: £34 millien] provision for
impairment on investrments in subsidiaries, a write back of
impairment of £221 million [2021: provision £.756 millian]
recognised on loans to subsidiaries, and a £22 million

[2021: €333 million] provision for impairment on investments
in joint ventures in the year. The Company’s accounting
policy for investments and loans is to hold them at cost

less any imgaiement, impairment of the loans is calculated
in accordance with IFRS 9 where expected credit losses

are considered to be the excess of the Company’s inlerest

in a subsidiary or joint venture over the subsidiary or joint
venture's fair value. Investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures are assessed for impairment in line with 1AS 36,

Given the inherent judgement and complexity in assessing
both the carrying value of a subsidiary or joint venture
company, and the expected credit toss of intercornpany
receivables, this was identified as a key audit matler.

We obtained the Directors’ impairment assessment for the
recoverability of investments and loans held in subsidianes and
joint ventures as at 31 March 2022.

We assessed the accounting policy for investments and loans in
subsidiaries and joint ventures to ensure Lhey were compliant with
FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”. We verified that the
methodology used by the Directors in arriving at the carrying value
of each subsidiary, and the expected credit loss 'simplified approach’
pravision for intercompany receivables, was compliant with FRS 101,

We identified the key judgement within the requirement for impairment
of bath the investments and Loans to subsidiaries and investments in
joint ventures to be the underlying valuation of investment property
held by the subsidiaries and joint ventures. For details of our
procedures over invesiment property valuations please refer

to the related Group key audit matter above.

We have no issues (o report In respect of this work,
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Key audil marier How our audil addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investments and loans to subsidiaries and
joint ventures [Coampany] [continued}

The primary determinant and key judgement within both the
fair value of each subsidiary and joint venture company and
the ECL of amounts ewed is the value of the investment
praperty held by each investee. As such it was over this
area that we apptied the most focus and audit efforl.

How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit ko ehsure that we performed enough work to be abie Lo give an opinian on the financial statements
as a whole, taking inte account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in
which they operate. The Group owns and invesls in a number of investment znd development properties in two segments, Campuses and
Retail & Fulfilmant, across the United Kingdom. These are held within a variety of subsidiaries and joint ventures with the Group financial
statements being 3 cansolidation of these enlities, the Company and the Group's joint ventures. The Broadgate Joinl Venture was subject
to 3 full scope audit, while the Meadowhall and Canada Water Jaint Ventures were scoped in far specific aceount balances. All work was
carried oul by the Group audi tearn with additional procedures performed at the Group level lincluding audit procedures over the

* consalldation dnd consalidation adjustments| to'ensure suffitiemt coverage and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion on the
Group financial statements &5 a whole.
The Group operates a comman IT environment, processes and controls across all reportable segments. In establishing the overall
approach te our audit, we assessed the risk of material misstatement, taking intg account the nature, likelihood and potential magnitude
of any misstaternent. Follawing this assessment, we applied professional judgement to determine the extent of lesting required over each
balance in the financial statements.

In respact cf the audit of the Company, the Group audit team performed a full scope statutory audit.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative threshelds for materiality. These,
together wilth qualitative cansiderations, helped us to determine the scope of our audil and the nature, iming and extent of our audit
procedures an the individuzl financial siatement line items and disclosures and in evalualing the effect of misstatements, both

individually and in aggregate on the financial staterenis as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Financial statements - Group . Financial statements - Company
Overall materiality £98.4 million [2021: £88.8 million). £88.5 mitlion [2021: £79.9 million).
How we determined it 1% of total assets. 1% of talal assets.
Rationale for benchmark A key deterrminant of the Group's value is The Company's main activity is the investmenls in
applied property investments, Due to this, the key area and loans to subsidiaries and joint ventures. Given

of focus in the audit is the valuation of investment  this, and consistent with the prior year, we set an
and development properties, either held directly  overall Company materialily level based on total

or through joint ventures. On this basis, and assets. For purposes of the Group audit, we
censistent with the prior year, we set an overall cappad the overall materiality for the Company
Group materiality level based on iolal assets. to be 90% of the Group overall materiality.

For each component in the scape of our Group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. The range
of materiality allocated across components was between £12m - £50m. Certain companents were audited to a local statutory audit
materiality that was also less than our overall Group materiality.

tn addition, we set a specific materiality level of £12.4 million [2021: £14.1 mitlion| for items within the underlying column of the Income
Statement. For 2022, this is based on 5% of the Group's underlying profit before tax. For 2021, this was based on 5% of the three year
average profil after tax, The henchmark for 2021 was determined on the basis that the measure used 1o calculate specific materiality had
Huctuated over the prior three years due to Covid-19. In arriving al this judgement, we had regard Lo the fact thal the underlying pre-tax
profil is a secondary financial indicator of the Group |refer to Note 2 of the financial statements where the term is defined in fulll.

We use performance materiality te reduce to an appropriately low level the prebability that the aggregate of uncerrected and undetected
misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of aur audit and the
nature and extent of our testing af account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes.
Qur perfarmance materialily was 75% [2021: 75%I of overall materiality, smounting to £73.8 million [2021: £64.6 mittion] for the Group
financial statements and E£46.4 million (2021: £59.9 million) for the Company financiat statements.
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In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment and
3ggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our nermal range was appropriate,

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report ta them misstaiements identified during our audit above £4.9 million [Group
audit] 12023: £4.4 million] and £4.4 million [Company audit} {2021: £4.0 million] as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in
our view, warranled reporting for qualitative reasons.

In addition we agreed with the Audit Commiltee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our Group audit above
£1.0 million [2020: €1.0 million} for misstatements related to underlying prefit within the financial slatements, as well as misstatements
below that amaunt that, in our view, warranted reporting lor qualitative rezsons

Conclusions relating to going concern

Qur evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group's and the Company's ability te continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included:

- Corroboraied key assumptions leg liquidity forecasts and financing arrangements] to underlying documentation and ensured this
was consistent with our audit work in these areas;
- Considered management’s forecasting accuracy by cumparlng how the forecasts made at the hatf year compare to the aciual
performance in the secand half-of the-year; - . I Rt b e - P e v m
- Understood and assessed the appropriateness of the key assumptions used both in the base case and in the severe but plausrble
downside scenario, including assessing whether we considered the downside sensitivities to be appropriately severe:
- Tesled the integrity of the underlying formulas and calculations within the going concern and cash flow models;
- Considered the appropriateness of the mitigating actions avaitable ta management in the event of the downside scenario i
rmaterialising Specifically, we locused on whether these actions are within the Group’s control and are achievable: and
- Reviewed the disctosures provided relating to the going concern basis of preparation and found thai these provided an explanation
of \he direclors’ assessinent thai was consislent with Lhe evidence we oblained. j

Basad on the work we have performed, we have not identified any materiat uncertainties retating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively. may cast signilicant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as 3 going concern fer a periad of at least
twelve months from when the financial statements are gutharised for issue. 1

In auditing the financial stalements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statemenis 1s appropriate.

However, because not all future avents ar congitions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group's and the |
Company's ability (o continue as a going concern,

In relation to the directors’ reparting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing materiat to add or
draw attention 1o in relation to the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate I
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Qur responsibilities and the respansibifities of the directors wilh respect ta going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this repart.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises atl of the information in the Arnual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The directors are respansible far the other information, which includes reporting based on the Task Force an Climata-related
Financiat Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations. Qur apinion on the financial siatements daes not cover the ather information and,
accordingly, we do nol express an audit opinion or, except 1o the exient otherwise explicitly stated 1n this report. any form of

assurance thergan, '

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, aur responsibility is to read the other infermation and, in doing 50, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financiat staternents or our knowladge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstaied If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform precedures to conclude whether there 1s a material misstatement of the financial statements or a materiat
misstatement of the other information. if, based on the work we have performed. we canclude that there is a material missisternent
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing Lo report based on these responsibilities.
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With respect lo the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and additional disclosures, we alse considered whether the disclosures
required by the UK Companies Act 2004 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Aci 2004 requires us alse te report certain opinions and matiers
as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and additional disctosures

Iy wur upiniun, based on the wark undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’
Report and additional disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their enviranment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any malerial misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and additional disclosures.

Directors’ Remuneration
In cur opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2004,

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ staiements in relaticn Lo going concern, longer-term viability and that part of
the corporale governance statement relating to the Cempany’'s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporale Governance Code
specified for our réview, Qur additional responsibilities with respect ta the corporate governance siatement as other information are
describad in the Repariing on other information section of this report.

.Based on the work ynderiaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the corporate governance
stalement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit, and we have nothing
matenal Lo add or draw attention to in relation te:

- The directors’ confirmatian that they have carried out a robusl assessment of the emerging and principal risks:

- The disclasures in the Annual Report that describe those principal risks, what procedures are in place to identify emerging risks and
an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated:

- Thedirectors’ statement in the financial statements about whether they considered it appropriate o adept the going ¢concern basis of
accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any material uncertainties 1o the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue to
do so aver 3 period of at leasl twelve months from the date of approval of the financial slatements;

- The directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the Group's and Campany's prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the pariod is appropriate; and

- The directors’ statement as to whether lhey have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be abte to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the peried of its assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any
necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Our review of the diractars’ statement regarding the lenger-term viability of the Group was substantially less in scape than an audit and
only consisted of msking inquiries and considering the directers’ process supporting their stalement; chacking that the statement is in
alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code; and censidering whether the statement is consistent with
the financial statemants and our knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their ervironment obtained in the course
of the audit,

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each aof the following elements of the corporate
governance statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and cur knowledge obtained during the audit:

- The directors’ statement thal they consider the Annual Report, 1aken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and provides
the informaticn necessary for the members to assess the Group’s and Company's position, performance, business model and strategy:

- The section of the Annual Report that describes the review of effactiveness of risk management and internal control systems; and

- The section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit Committee.

We have nothing to report in respect of our respensibility to repcrt when the directers’ statement relating te the Company’s compliance
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the Code specified under the Listing Rules for review
by the auditors.
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Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Respansibitities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ respansibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial

statements in accerdance with the applicabie tramework and for being satistied thal they gwve a true and fair view. The diractors are also

responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary ta enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
© material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company's abilily ta continue
as a going cancern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to gaing concern and using the going concern basis of accouniing unless
the dicectors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company ar lo cease aperations, or have no reabislic alternative but lo do 0.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financiat statements as a whele are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditars’ report that includes our cpinion. Reasonable assurance is

a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs [UK] will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or ercor and are considered material if. individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expecied to influence the econamic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial siaterments.

--- ~—--—lrregularitiesrincluding fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design pracedures in line with our

responsibitities, cutlined abave, to delect materizl missiatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which
our procedures are capable of getecting irregularities, including Eraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and requlations
.. relaled to cempliance with the Resl.Estale Investment Trust [REIT) status section 1158 of the Carporation Tax Act 2010 and the UK e e e iieme =
regulaiory principles, such 25 those governed by the Financial Conduct Authority, and we considered the extenl to which non-compliance
might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also censidered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on
Ihe financial slalements such as the Companies Act 2006, We evalualed manzgement’s incentives and opportunities for fracdutent
manipulation of ihe financial statements lincluding the risk of averride of controlsl, and determined thai the principal risks were related
io posting inappropriate journal entries te increase revenue. management bias in accounting estimates and judgemental areas of the
financial statements such as the valuation of investment and development properties and the expected credit loss provisions in respect
of tenant debtors and incentives [see related key audit matters abovel. Audit procedures performed by the engagement teamn included:

- Discussions with management and internal audit, including consideration of known er susgected instances of non-compliance with
laws and reguiations and fraud. and review of the reperts made by management and internal avdit:

- Understanding of management’s internal controls designed to prevent and datect irregularities;

- Reviewing the Group’s litigation register in so far as it related to non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;

- Reviewing relevant meeting minules, including those of the Risk Committee and the Audit Committee;

- Review of tax compliance with the involvement of aur tax specialists in the audit;

- Designing audit procedures to incorporate unpredictability around the nature, timing or extent of our (esting of expenses;

- Challenging assumpiions and judgements made by management in their significant areas of estimation; and

- ldentifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations, posted by
unexpected users and posied on unexpected days.

There are inherent limitations in the avdil procedures described above. We are less likely to becomne aware of instances of nen-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closety related to events and transactions reflected in the frnancial siatements.
Also, the risk of not detecting a materiat misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulling from error,
as fraud may involve deliberaie concealment by, tor example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. or threugh collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certan transactions and balances. possibly using data auditing
technigues. However it typically involves seleeting a limited number of items for 1esting, rather than testing complete populations.
We will aften seek Lo target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. (n other cases, we will use audit
sampling to enable us te draw a conclusion about the population fram which the sample is setected.

A further description of our respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements is lecated on the FRC's website at:
www._frec.org uk/auditorsresponsiilities. This description forms part of our auditers’ report.
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Use of this report

This repert, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume respeonsibilily for
any other purpose or Lo any other person to whom this report is shown or inte whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed
by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 20046 we are required 1o report to you if, in our opinion:

- we have not obtained all the information and explanatiens we require for our audit; or

- adequate accounling records have not bean kept by the Company, or returns adequale for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specttied by law are not made; or

~ the Company financial statements and the pari of the Direclors’ Remuneration Report {0 be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to repart arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Commiltee, we were appointed by the members on 18 July 2014 to audit the financiat
staternents for the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupled engagementis 8 years,
covering the years ended 31 March 2615 to 31 March 2022,

Other matter

In due course, as required by the Financial Conduct Autharity Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule 4.1.14R, these financial
statements will form part of the ESEF-prepared annual financial report filed on the National Storage Mechanism of the Financial
Conduct Authority in accordance with the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard 'ESEF RTS). This awditers’ repory provides no
assurance over whether the annual financial report will be prepared using the single electronic farmat specified in the ESEF RTS.

Sandra Dowling (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

17 May 2022
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS The British Land Company PLC 00621920

Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2027

022 2021
Capital Capiral
Underlying® and ather Total Underlying' and olher Tolal
Note £&m £m £m Em Em Em
Revenue 3 430 120} 410 468 ~ 468
Costs? 3 (1200 9} 129] {1801 - 1801
) 3 30 (29} 281 288 ~ 288
Joint ventures {see also below!® . 1 85 158 244 52 (4091 3577
Administralive expenses le8l - (e8] 174] ~ (74}
Valuation movement 3 - 471 471 - (888! {888)
Profit on disposal of investmert properties and investments - 45 45 - 8 28
Net financing costs
financing income ] - &7 87 - 13 15
financing charges ) {551 17 162} 1621 (3! 1451
155} 40 [ [62] 12 {50]
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 253 705 958 204 1257 {1.083)
Taxation 7 4 2] 2 [26) lé) {3n)
Profit {loss] for the year after taxation 257 703 9260 178 11,261) {1,083}
Attributable to non-centrolling interests 2 - 2 3 {551 1521
Attributable ta shareholders of the Company 255 703 958 173 [1.208) 11.031)
Earnings per share:
basic 2 103.3p 111.20p
diluted 2 103.0p 1111.2)p
All results derive from continuing operations.
2022 2021
Capital Capital
Underlying' and othar Total Underlying' and other Tatal
Nole £m £m £m Em Em Em
Results of joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method
Underlying Profit . 85 - 86 32 - 52
Valuatien movernent* 4 - 162 162 - 16091 [409]
Capilal financing cosis - {4 14} - - -
Loss on disposal of investment properties,
trading properties and investments - - - - {11 11
Taxaticn 7 - - - - I 1
1 84 158 244 92 {409) 1357

1. 5ee definition in Mote 2 and a reconciliation between Undertying Profit and IFRS prafitin Note 21.

2. Included within ‘Cests’ is a credit retating to provisions for impairment of lenant debtors, accrued incorme and tenant incentives and coniracied rent ingreases of £6m

2020/21: charge ol £60m). This is disclosed in further detail in Nate 10 and Note 13

Included within "Joint ventures’ is a charge relating lo provision for impairment of equity investments and loans ta joint ventures of £22m (2020/21: £144mll. disclosed in further

detail in Maote 11

4. included within the Vatuation movemant’ of £162m is 3 net valyation mavernent of £1#m and the realisation of gain on disposat of assets inta joint ventures of £52m, disclosed
in further detak in Note 11.

W
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
tm £m
Profit [loss) for the year after taxation 940 (1,083}
Other comprehensive incame [expense):
Items that will nat be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Nel actuariat loss on pension scheme - nal
Valuation movement on awner-occupied properties - 1
- 14}
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gains on cash flow hedges
- Group - 2
- Joint veniures 1 1
1 3
Reclassification of fareign exchange differences on disposal of subsidiary net investment to the income statement {12} -
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income - &
Other comprehensive expense for the year nn H]
Total comprehensive income |expense] for the year 949 11,088)
Attributable to non-contralling interests 2 {521
Attributable 16 sharehalders of the Company 747 11.038]
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Consolidated Balance Sheet

" As at 31 March 2022

2022

021

Note €m Em
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment and development properties 10 7,022 6326
Owner-pccupied properiies 10 - 2
7.032 5,328
Other non-current assets
Investments in joint veniures 1 2511 2,120
Other investmants ¥ 41 20
Property, plant and equipment 27 30
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 17 97 135
Debtors - &
9,708 8.639
Current assets
Trading properties 10 18 26
Debtars 13 k1 56
Corparation tax k} -
Cash and shori term deposits 17 T4 154
134 236
Total assets 9,842 8,875
LIABILITIES
-Currentliabiliies ~ — e me e e e
Short term barrowings and overdrafts 17 (89} [151)
Creditors 14 [245) (219]
Corporation tax - 17l
1434) (3871
Non-current liabitities
Debentures and loans 17 2,427} 12.24%)
Other non-current liabilities! 15 [152) (28]
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 17 196) {128]
{2,475) 12,505)
Total liabilities 13,109) 12,892)
Net assets 6,733 5,983
EQUITY
Share capital 234 234
Share premiym 1,307 1.307
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 5 16
Retained eamings 4,959 4,154
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 6,718 5.924
Non-conkrolling interests 18 59
Total eguity 6,733 5.983
EPRA Net Tangible Assets per share? 2 727p 448p

1. See toolnote 1in Note 3,
2. See delinition in Nota 2.

%w Ghora-

Tim Score Bhavesh Mistry
Chairman Chief Financial Officer

The financial statements on pages 170-220 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 17 May 2022,

Company number 621920
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2022

022 200
Maote tm £m
Rentalincome received from tenants 358 320
Fees and other incorne receivad k1] 38
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees {140) 1125)
Indirect taxes paid in respect of operating activities - 18]
Sale of trading properties a -
Cash generated from operations 254 218
Interest paid [62| (70
Corporation taxalion payments (8 {33]
Distributions and other receivables from joint ventures 11 57 34
Net cash inflow from cperating activities 245 149
Cash flows from investing activities
Development and other capital expenditure 1259) (1721
Purchase of investment properties 1594) 1521
Sale of investment properties 187 1,073
Sale of investrent properties to Canada Water Joint Venture 290 -
Purchase of investmenis 114) 8l
Sale of investrents - 108
Indirect taxes paid in respect of investing activities 15) (21
Loan repayments from joint ventures 133 40
investment in and laans te joint venlures 11211 184)
Capital distributions from joint ventures - 4
Net cash {outflow] inflow from investing activities . 1385) 910
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid 19 1155) 1761
Dividends paid Lo non-controlling interests (8 1
Capitat payments in respect of interest rate derivatives vd) (el
Purchase of non-controlling interests in Hercuies Unit Trust . el -
Decrease in lease liabilities (4} 171
Decrease in bank and other borrowings ’ [213) (1.218)
Crawdowns on bank and other barrowings 483 214
Net cash inflow {autflow] from financing activities 60 (1,098
Nel decrease in cash and cash equivalents (80) [39)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 154 193
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 74 154
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short term deposits ) 17 7h 154
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2022

The British Land Company PLC 90621920

Hedging
and Re- Nan-
Share Share transiaticn  valuatian Merger ined ing Total
capilal  premum ressrvet reserve reserye  earnings Total inferests equity
£m fm €m £m Em Em £m Em £m
Balance at 1 April 2021 234 1,307 14 2 213 4,154 5924 59 5,983
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 958 958 2 960
Gains on cash flow hedges - joint ventures - - - 1 - - 1 - 1
Reclassification af foreign exchange differences on
disposal of subsidiary net invesiment - - 112) - - - 1121 - 112}
Qther comprehensive income - - (121 1 - - (111 - (111
Tatal comprehensive [expense) income for the year - - 112) 1 - 958 947 2 949
Fair value of share and share oplion awards - - - - 2 2 - 2
Purchase of the units from pon-controlling interests? - - - - - 2 2 |40} [K]:1}
Oividends payable in year (16.96p per share] - - - - - (157 (1571 - (1571
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - 16] (6]
Balance at 31 March 2022 234 1,307 3 213 4,959 4718 15 4,733
Balance at 1 April 2020 234 1,307 12 26 213 5243 7.035 12 7147
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - - et hosi 1521 11,0831
Revaluation of owner-occupied property - - - il - - {m - it
Gains on cash flow hedges - Group - - 2 - - - ? - ?
Gains on cash flow hedges - joint ventures - - - 1 - - 1 - 1
Reserves transfer on disposal of owner-occupied property - - - {36} - 30 - - =
Net actuarial loss on pension scheme - - - - - (k)] (13) - (13
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income - - - .6 - - 6 - 5
Qther comprehensive income - - 2 124) - 17 15) - {5
Total comprehensive income fexp } for the year - - 2 124) - o141 038 1521 {1,088)
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - 3 3 - 3
Dhvidends payable in year {8.40g per share) - - - - - 178] 178) - 178
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - 11 m
Balance at 31 March 2021 234 1.307 14 2 213 4194 5924 59 5,983

k. The balance al the beginning of the current year includes £15m in relalion to translation and 1£1m in relation 1o hedging [2020/21: £15m and [£3mll Opening and closing ’

balanges in relation to hedging relate to continuing hedges only,

2. On 5 July 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of the remaining 21.9% units of Hercules Unit Trust that the Group did nat already own for a consideralion of £38m. Whilst
the transaction was completed on 5 July 2021, the Group obtained the risks and rewards of ownershig ol the 21.9% ol Hercules Unit Trust on 1 April 2021 and therelore, the
change in ownership percentage and resulting nan-cantralling interesis were reflected at this date i the financial statements. The book value of the net assels purchased
at t April 2621 were £40m and conseguently E40m has been transferred from non-corirolling inerests to shareholders equity.
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Basis of preparation, significant accounting policies and
accounting judgements

The financial staiements for the year ended 31 March 2022
have been prepared an the histarical cost basis, except for the
revaluation of properties, investments classified as fair value
through profit or loss and derivatives. The financial statements
are prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International
Accounting Standards and the applicable legal requirements
af the Cormpanies Act 2006 [IFRS).

On 31 December 2020 EU-adopted IFRS was brought into UK law
and became UK-adopted International Accounting Standards,
with future changes to IFRS being subject to endorsement by the
UK Endorsement Baard. The consolidated financial state ments
have transitioned to UK-adopted International Accounting
Standards for the year ended 31 March 2022, This change
constitutes a change in accounting framewaork, However, there

is no IMpact en recognition, reasurement ar disclosure in the
year reported as a resull of the change in framework.

In the current financial year the Group has adopted a number of
minor amendments to standards effective in the year, none of
which have had a material irmpact on the Group.

These amendments include IFRS 16 Leases - Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions, and amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2.

A number of new siandards and amendments to standargs

and interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective

for the current accounting period. These amendmentis include
amendments to TAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements’

on classificatian of Labilities, a number of narrow-scope
amendments tg JFRS 3, [AS 16, 145 17, 1AS 37, 1AS 1, 1AS 8, 1A5 12,
IFRS 10 and 1AS 28 and some annuat improverments on IFRS 1,
IFRS 9 1AS 41 and IFRS 16. The above amendments are not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group's results.

Going concern

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern

basis. The balance sheet shows that the Group is in 2 net current
liability position, predominantly due to short term borrowings and
overdrafls of £189m and other creditors of £245m. The Grovp has
access Lo £1.3bn of undrawn facilities and cash, which provides
the Directors with a reasonable expectation that the Group will be
able to meet thesa current liabilities as they fall due. In making
this assessment the Diractors took into account forecast cash
flows and covenant compliance, including stress testing through
the impact of sensitivities as part of a 'severe downside scenaria’.
Before factoring in any income receivable, the undrawn facilities
and cash would also be sufficient ta cover forecast capital
expenditure, property operating costs, administrative expenses,
maturing debt and interest over the next 12 months fram the
approval date of these financial statements.

Having assessed the Principal risks, the Directors believe that the
Group is well placed to manage its financing and other business
risks satisfactorily despite the uncertain economic climate, and
have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group
have adequate resources to continue in operation for at least

12 months from the signing date of these financial statements.

The British Land Company PLC 00421920

Accordingty, they telieve the going concern basis is an
appropriate one. See the full assessment of preparation on
a going concern basis in the corporate governance section
on page 109.

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of The British
Land Company PLC ['8ritish Land’] and all subsidiaries lentities
conirolled by British Land). Centrol is assumed where British
Land is exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns from ks
involvement with investees and has the ability to affect those
returns through its powar over those investees.

The results of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates acquired
or disposed of during the year are included frorm the effective date
of acyuisition or up to the effective date of dispesal. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries, joint ventures or asseciates which differ
from Group accounling policies are adjusted on consolidation.

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition
method. Any excess of the purchase price of business cambinations
over the fair value of the assets, babilities and contingent Liabilities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon is recognised as
goodwill. Any negative goedwill is credited to the income
statement in the period of acquisition.

Allintra-Group transactions, batances, income and expenses
are eliminated on conseolidation. Joint ventures and associates
are accounted for under the equity method, whereby the
consolidated balance sheet incorporates the Group's share
{investor's share] of the net assets of its jeint ventures and
associates. The consolidated income statement incorporates
the Group's share of joint venltures and associale profits after
tax. Their profits inctude revaluation movements on investment
properties. Where joint ventures and assaciates generate losses
after tax, these are recognised initially against the Group's equity
invesiment. If the Group’s equity investment is nil, these are
subsequently then recognised against other long termn interesis,
principally long term loans.

Distnbutions and other receivables from jaint ventures and
associates are classed as cash flows from operating activities,
except where they relate to a cash flow arising from a capital
transaction, such as a property or investment dispesal. In this
case they are classed as ¢ash flows from investing activities.

Properties

Properties are externally valued at the balance sheet date.
Investment and owner-occupied properties are recorded at
valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisabie value.

Any surplus or deficit arising an revaluing investment
properties is recognised in the capital and ather column of
the inceme statermnent.

Any surplus arising on revaluing owner-occupied properties
above cost is recagnised in other comprzhensive incorme, and any
deficit arising in revaluation below cost for owner-occupied and
trading properties is recognised in the capital and other colurmn
of the incame staternent. On disposal of an owner-cccupied
properly, any surplus is transferred directly te retained earnings.

British Land Annual Repart and Accounis 2022 175



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued The British Landg Company PLC 00421920

Notes to the Accounts continued

1 Basis of preparation, significant accounting policies and
accounting judgements cantinued

The cost of propertes in the course of development includes
attributable interest and other associatac outgeings including
attributable development personnel costs. Interest is calculated
on the development expenditure by reference to specific
borrawings, where relevant. and ptherwise on the weighted
average interest rate of Bntish Land Company PLC borrawings.
interest is not capitalised where no devetopment activity is taking
place. A property ceases to be treated as a development property
on practical completion.

Investment property disposals are recognised on completion.
Profits and losses ansing are recognised through the capital and
other column of the income statement. The profit on disposal is
determined as the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement

of the accaunting period plus capital expenditure in the period.
Where properties are disposed into a joint venture owned by the
Group, the subsequent profit or loss recognised in the capital and
other column of the income statement is limited to the extent of
the unrelated party’s interest.

Trading propertigs are initially recognised at the lower of cost and
ret realisable value. Trading property disposals are recognised in
line with the Group's revenue accounting policies.

Where investment properties are appropriated to trading properties,
they are transferred at market value. If properties held for trading
are appropriated to investrment properties, they are transferred at
book value. Transfers ta or fram an investment property occur
when, and only when, there is evidence of change in use.

Where a right-of-use asset meeats the definition of investment
property under IFRS 14, the right-of-use asset will initially be
calcutated as the present value of minimum lease payments
under the lease and subsequenily measured under the fair
value model, based on discaunted cash flaws of net rental
income earned under the lease.

The Group leases out investrent properties under operating leases
with rents generally payable monthly or quarterty. The Group is
exposed to changes in the residual value of properties al the end
of current lease agreements, and mitigates this risk by actively
managing its tenant mix in order to maximise the weighted
average lease term, minimise vacancies across the partfolio
and maximise exposure to tenants with strong financial
characteristics. The Graup also grants lease mcentives to
encourage high-quality tenants to remain in properties for
longer lease terms. Lease incentives, such as rent-free periods
and cash contributions to tenant fit-out, and cantracted rent
increases are recognised as part of the investment property
balance. The Group calculates the expected credil loss for

lease incentives and cantracted rent increases based on lifetime
expected credit losses under the IFRS 9 simplified approach.

Surrender prermia payable relating to investment properties

are recognised in the income statement, through the Underlying
column, except where the surrender premia payable is deermed to
be unusuat or significant by virtue of their size or nature, where
they are recognised through the capital and other column.
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Surrender premia payable relating to development properties are
capitalised as a property addition prowding they are a directly
attributable and necessary development expense.

Financial assets and liabilities

Debtors and creditors are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost and discounted as
appropriate. On initial recognition the Group calcuiates the
expected credit loss for debtors based on lifetime expected
credit losses under the IFRS 9 simplified approach.

Other investments include investments classified as amertised
cost and investments tlassified as fair value through profit

or loss, Loans and receivables classified as amortised cost

are measured using the effective interest method, less any
impairment, Inlerest is recognised by applying the effective
inierest rate. Investmenis classified as fair value through profit
or loss are inthially recorded at fair value and are subsaquently
externally valued an the same basis at the balance sheet date.
Any surplus or deficit arising on revaluing investments classified
as fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the capital and
other colurmnn of the income statement.

The lease liability associated with investment praperty which is
held under a lease, is initially calculated as the present value of
the minimum lease payments. The (ease hability is subsequently
measwred at amortised cost, unwinding as finance lease interest
accrues and lease payments are made.

Debt instrurnents are stated at their fair value onissue. Finance
charges including premia payable on settlement or redemption
and direct issue costs are spread over the period io maturity,
using the effective interest method. Exceptional Finance
charges incurred due to early redemption {including premial
are recognised in the income statement when they occur,

As dedined by IFRS 2, cash flow and fair value hedges are wnitially
recagnised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are
entered into, and subsequently remeasured at fair value. Changes
in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and gualify

as effective cash flow hedges are recognised direcily through
other comprehensve income as a rmovement in the hedging

and translation reserve. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as effectve fair value hedges

are recorded in the capital and other column of the income
staterment, along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged
item that is attributable to the hedged risk. Ary inetfective portion
ol 3ll derivatives is recognised in the capital and other ¢olumn of
the income statement. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are not in & designated hedging relationship under IFRS 9
are recorded directly in the capital and other column of the
income statement. These derivatives are carried at fair value

on the balance sheet.

Cash equivalents are limited to instruments with a maturity of
less than three months



1 Basis of preparation, significant acceunting policies and
accounting judgements continued

Revenue

Revenue comprises rental income and surrender premia,
service charge income, managernent and perfermance fees
and proceeds from the sale of trading praperties.

Rental income and surrender premia are recognised in
accordance with IFRS 16 ‘Leases’.

For leases where a single payment is received ta cover both rent
and service charge, the service charge componeni is separated
out and reported as service charge income.

Rental income, including fixed rental uplifts, from investment
property leased oul under an cperating lease is recognised

as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
ncentives, such as rent-free periods and cash contributions to
tenant fit-out, are recognised an the same straight-line basis
being an integrat part of the net consideration for the use of the
investment property. Any rent adjustments based on open markel
estimated rental values are recognised, based on management
estimates, from the rent review date in relation to unsettled rent
reviews. Contingent rents, being those lease payments that are
not fixed af the inceplion of the lease, including for example
turnover rents, are recegnised in the period in which they

are earned.

Lease medifications are defined as a change in the scope of
alease. or the consideration of a lease, that was not part of

the originat terms and conditions of the lease. Modifications to
aperating leases the Group holds as a lessor are accounted for
from the effective date of the modification. Modifications take into
account any prepsid or accrued lease payments relating to the
original lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
The revised remaining consideration under the modified tease

is then recognised in renial income on a straight-line basis

over the remaining lease term.

Concessions granted to tenants where rent has been reduced
or waived for a specified period are accounted for as lease
modifications. Concessions granted to tenants which allow the
deferral of rent payments io the Group are not accounted for
as lease modifications on the basis there is no change ta the
cansideration or scope of the lease.

Surrender premia for the early terminatian of a lease are
recognised as revenue when the ameounts become contractually
due. net of dilapidations and non-recoverable outgoings relating
to the lease concerned.

The Groug applies the five-step-model as required by IFRS 15
in recognising its service charge income, management and
performance fees and proceeds from the sale of trading praperties.

Service charge income is recognised as revenue in the period to
which it relates.

Management fees are recognised as revenue in the peried

to which they relate and relate predeminantly to the provision
of asset managernent, property management, development
management and admimstration services to jeint ventures,
Performance fzes are recognised at the end of the performance
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